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Description of the Corporation’s Business

Chapter A - Description of the Corporation’s Business
The Company is pleased to present the chapter “Description of the Corporation’s Business” for the year ended
December 31, 2018 (the “Reporting Date”) and the “Reporting Period”), which includes a description of the
Company and of the development of its business affairs during the Reporting Period and until March 11, 2019,
the approval date of the Financial Statements (the “Approval Date of the Report”).
Description of the general development of the Company’s business affairs
1. The Company’s activity and description of the development of its business affairs
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.1 (“Energix” or the “Company”) was incorporated in Israel on
December 7, 2006 as a private company. In May 2011, the Company became a public company and its
securities were listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. (the “Stock Exchange”). Alony
Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd. (“Alony Hetz”) has been the Company’s controlling shareholder
since it was founded.
The Company is engaged, independently and through subsidiaries and partnerships which are wholly or
jointly under its control (hereinafter, jointly: the “Group”), in the initiation, development, financing,
construction, management and operation of facilities for the production of electricity from renewable
energy sources, and in the sale of the electricity which is produced in those facilities, with the intention
of holding them over the long term.
Unless expressly stated otherwise, any reference to the Company and its activities is described on the
level of the Group.
1.1. The Company’s activities in the renewable energy market are divided into two segments:
1.1.1 Activity for the production of electricity using photovoltaic technology (the “Photovoltaic
Segment”) - The Company engaged in the initiation, development, construction, financing,
management and operation of photovoltaic systems, with the aim of holding such systems as the
owner over the long term. As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company has wholly owned
and jointly owned activities in the Photovoltaic Segment, as part of its activities within the framework
of joint ventures which it formed with entrepreneurial companies in Israel and in the United States.
For details regarding the Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic Segment, and for details regarding
the systems which it owns, see Section 7.1 below.
1.1.2 Activity for electricity production through wind turbines (the “Wind Energy Segment”) - The
Company is engaged in the initiation, development, construction, financing, management and
operation of wind farms for the production of electricity, with the aim of holding them as owner over
the long term. As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company has activities in the Wind Energy
Segment which are wholly owned and owned jointly with partners in Israel and in Poland.
For details regarding the Company’s activity in the Wind Energy Segment, and for details regarding
the systems which it owns, see Section 7.2 below.

1

The Company was incorporated in 2006 under the name Amot Mikbatzim Ltd., which was subsequently changed to Amot Energy
Ltd. in 2009, and later changed to Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd. in 2011.
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

1

Description of the Corporation’s Business
1.2. Total capacity of the Company’s systems - As part of the Company’s overall activities in Israel, the
United States and Poland, the total capacity of its systems amounts to a total of 258MW in commercially
active projects, approximately 150MWp in projects under construction and pre-construction, and over
1000MW in projects under development.
For quantitative data regarding the current systems, systems under construction, the Company’s initiation
activities, and estimated forecasts with respect to the Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Energy
Segment, see Section 3 in Part B of the Report - Board of Directors’ Report.
Additionally, beyond the expansion of its activities in the Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Energy
Segment, in the various territories where it is engaged, the Company also routinely evaluates possibilities
for entry into additional operating segments, or operating segments which offer synergies with its existing
operating segments.
Forward-looking information
The chapter “Description of the Corporation’s Business”, which includes a description of the Company,
its development and its operating segments, includes, from time to time, reference to forward-looking
information. Any use in this report of the term Forward-Looking Information (“Forward-Looking
Information”), means a forecast, estimate, approximation, or other information which refers to future
events or matters, the materialization of which is uncertain and is not under the sole control of the
Company and/or the Group and, therefore, such information meets the definition of Forward-Looking
Information pursuant to article 32A of the Securities Law - 1968. Such information is based on the
knowledge which is available to the Company or the Group as of the approval date of the Financial
Statements, which are subject to change, and includes estimates of the Company or its intentions
regarding the Company and/or the Group, as of the Reporting Date. It is hereby clarified that the
presented information or the actual results with respect to such information may be materially different
from the information which is presented, or the results which have been estimated, on the basis of such
information, and which are included in this report.
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2. Holding structure
Presented below is a diagram of the Company’s primary holdings as of the Approval Date of the Report:
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* Including the controlling shareholders of Alony Hetz.
** The Company holds 100% of the shares which confer management rights (including the appointment of all Board members),
and 73% of the shares which confer the right to receive dividends.
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3.

Investments in the Company’s capital and transactions with its shares
For details in connection with investments in the Company’s share capital, see Note 15 in Part C Financial Statements.

4.

Dividend distribution and dividend policy
Proximate to the Approval Date of the Report, following an evaluation by the Company’s Board of
Directors of the Company’s cash requirements, and in light of the fact that the Company requires
significant investments in order to promote its activities in the initiation and construction of new
projects, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved, at this stage, not to distributed dividends. In light
of the foregoing, a resolution regarding a dividend distribution will be passed by the Company, if any,
on an ad hoc basis, following an evaluation by the Company’s Board of Directors, from time to time, of
the Company’s needs and required scopes of investment, vs. the Company’s cash flows and balance of
distributable cash.

Other information
5.
Financial information with respect to the Company’s activity
For additional details regarding the statement of financial position (balance sheet) and the Company’s
results of operations, see Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements.
During the Reporting Period, the Company had income from the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel and
from the Wind Energy Segment in Poland. The expenses reflect amounts which are attributed to the
Photovoltaic Segment in Israel, and to the Wind Energy Segment in Israel and in Poland. For details
regarding each operating segment, see Note 29 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
For quantitative data regarding the current systems, systems under construction, the Company’s
initiation activities, and estimated forecasts with respect to the Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind
Energy Segment, see Section 3 in Part B of the Report - Board of Directors’ Report.
6.

General environment and impact of external factors on the Corporation’s activities
The profitability of the Company’s activity is based, to a large degree, on legislation, the decisions of
government entities and the decisions of various authorities which define the regulatory environment of
the electricity producers in the renewable energy sector in the countries where the Company is engaged
in general, and in the Photovoltaic Segment and the Wind Energy Segment in particular.
As part of the global trend of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, many countries, including Israel, are
encouraging investment in the construction of facilities for the production of electricity from renewable
energy sources, and are developing various arrangements for the sale of electricity from such sources.
As of the Reporting Date, more than 150 countries around the world are promoting policies to support
the production the Reporting Date of electricity from renewable energy sources2, whereby according to
the forecasts, in 2050, renewable energies are expected to provide 87% of electricity consumption in
Europe, and 55% of electricity consumption in the United States3.
Additionally, during the Reporting Period, 155 international conglomerates have set for themselves
targets to consume 100% clean energy by 2050, as part of the RE 100 initiative, including technology

2
3

Renewables 2018 Global Status Report (REN21)
New Energy Outlook 2018 – annual long-term economic analysis of the world’s power sector out to 2050 (BloombergNEF, 2018)
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giants such as Google and Amazon, which are promoting the purchase of green electricity, with the aim
of acquiring 100% clean energy4.
Accordingly, investment in renewable energies is currently in an uptrend: In 2018, USD 332.1 billion
was invested globally in the renewable energy sector, and in increasing the global installed capacity the fifth year in a row when the USD 300 billion threshold for investments of this kind was crossed5. In
Europe alone, an uptrend of 27% was recorded in capital invested in the sector.
6.1. The renewable energy market in Israel:
In 2009, government decision no. 4450 was passed, entitled “determination of target and formulation of
tools to promote renewable energies, particularly in the Negev and Arava regions”, which set forth the
policy of the Ministry of Energy and Water (the “Ministry of Energy”), and established a target for the
production of electricity from renewable energy sources, at a scope of 10% of energy consumption in
Israel in 2020.
Further to this decision, in the years 2010-2014, several decisions were reached pertaining to the
establishment of quotas for the production of renewable energy using various technologies, approval of
outline plans for the construction of photovoltaic facilities (National Outline Plan 10/D/10) and for the
construction of wind turbines (National Outline Plan 10/D/12), and the establishment of an interministerial taskforce, led by Prof. Eugene Kandel, to evaluate the economic benefits of integrating
renewable energy into the Israeli electricity sector.
In 2015, government decision no. 542 was passed, which formalized the target which had been set for
2020, and established additional national targets for the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and for
the production of electricity from renewable energy sources. A target was also set for the consumption of
electricity from renewable sources at a minimum rate of 17% of total electricity consumption in Israel in
2030, as well as an interim target for the production of electricity from renewable energy sources, of at
least 13% of total electricity consumption in 2025. Subsequently, in 2017, the Knesset passed an
amendment to the Electricity Sector Law - 1996 (the “Electricity Sector Law”), which formalized the
targets for production of renewable energy for 2030, as determined in the abovereferenced government
decisions in primary legislation, and also established an mechanism for annual reporting on the progress
in the field to the Knesset Committee on the Economy.
In this regard, it should be noted that in accordance with the publications of the Electricity Authority as
of the publication date of the report, the installed capacity for production of electricity from renewable
energy sources in Israel currently amounts to 1,450MW, representing slightly over 4% of total electricity
production sources, such that, for the purpose of meeting the 2020 target, installation of an additional
capacity of approximately 2,150MW from renewable energy sources is required.
In accordance with the above, the Ministry of Energy prepared a work plan for the promotion of renewable
energy facilities, and for the evaluation of the steps which are required in order to meet the targets, in
which it announced its intention to increase the electricity production quotas in the Photovoltaic Segment,
at an additional scope of 1,000MW, and multiplication of the quota for wind turbines, which is currently
730MW6.
As part of the above, during the Reporting Period, significant changes took place in the regulatory
environment in Israel, in a manner which benefits the Company’s activities, including ratification of the

4

RE100 Annual Progress and Insights Report (November 2018).
Bloomberg, Clean Energy Investment and Trends 2018 (January 16, 2019)
6 Work Plan for 2016, Ministry of National Infrastructures, Energy and Water.
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electricity sector reform (following its approval by the government), as an amendment to the Electricity
Sector Law. This reform is expected to result in a coordinated effort by the Electric Corporation to develop
the transmission segment, which remained underdeveloped in recent decades, and which constitutes one
of the major barriers to the development of a renewable energies-based electricity sector in Israel.
In addition to the reform, the Ministry of Energy and the Electricity Authority worked intensively during
the Reporting Period to regulate various segments of the electricity sector in Israel, and published, inter
alia, a road map for the manufacturing of the production segment; a plan for development of the
transmission segment, according to a production center-focused method, the development of which
constitutes a major barrier to the development of the renewable energies sector in Israel, and which, as of
the publication date of the report, has been approved by the Minister of Energy; as well as a vision
document prepared by the Minister of Energy with respect to 2030, including reference to an evaluation
of the possibility of increasing the targets for production of electricity from renewable energy sources,
beyond the targets which were set for 2030, and more.
For additional details regarding the arrangements which are relevant to the Company’s activity in Israel
in the Photovoltaic Energy Segment and in the Wind Energy Segment, see Sections 7.1.2 and 7.2.3 below.
For details regarding the legislation which is relevant to the Company’s activity in the renewable energy
sector, see Section 7.5 below.
6.2. The renewable energy market in Poland:
The electricity market in Poland is a relatively developed market, and includes the involvement of four
local electricity marketers (owners of the distribution grid in the electricity production regions) which are
under the control of the government of Poland, as well as a power exchange, in which many other players
are involved.
As of the Reporting Period, the share of renewable energy production in Poland amounted to
approximately 11% of the country’s total electricity production7.
The installed capacity of renewable energies in the country amounts to approximately 8GW, out of a total
of 43GW, of which approximately 6GW is from wind energy.8 As a member country of the European
Union, Poland is required to meet targets for the production of electricity from renewable energy sources
which are set by the EU. As of the publication date of the report, the target for 2020 is the production of
15% of total electricity produced from renewable energy sources, while in the last round of target updates
which was performed by the EU in December 2017, this target was not increased. However, the target
which is expected to be set for 2030 amounts to 21%.
Following a period of significant decline in activities to advance the renewable energy sector in Poland,
beginning in the second half of 2017, and during the Reporting Period, the government of Poland has
been making efforts to renew the activity in the renewable energy sector. In the fourth quarter of 2017,
the government of Poland reached understandings with the European Union regarding the granting of an
assistance package to Poland, in the amount of PLN 40 billion, to finance activities in the renewable
energy sector, depending on, inter alia, the government of Poland meeting targets for the production of
electricity from renewable energy. As part of the above, the Polish government decided to set a budget of
approximately PLN 87.6 billion to implement renewable energy projects in the country during the coming
years. In accordance with the understandings, in June 2018, an amendment to the Polish Renewable

7
8

Dento’s Guide 2019, Investing in renewable energy projects in Europe.
Bariga, Wholesale Electricity Market Report - Poland (December, 2018)
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Energy Law was published, and the arrangement regarding the publication of a tender tariff for the
construction of various facilities in the renewable energy sector was completed, by virtue of which a
tender was published, in November 2018, for a capacity of 1,000 MW, as well as an additional tender, for
a capacity of approximately 2,000-2,500 MW, which is expected to be published in the second or third
quarter of 2019.
For additional details regarding the arrangement in Poland and the publication of tariff tenders, and
regarding the Company’s activity in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland, see Section 7.2.4 below.
6.3. The renewable energy market in the United States:
The United States is one of the leading countries around the world in the field of electricity production
from renewable energy sources. The renewable energies sector in the United States is in a growth trend
in general, and particularly in the Photovoltaic Segment. In the photovoltaic market, the anticipated
increase due to the construction of additional new projects in the next 5 years is estimated at a total
capacity of approximately 90GW. In 2017, the production power of electricity from renewable energy
sources amounted to 161GW, representing 18% of total electricity consumption in the country. Divided
by sources, 90GW of the installed capacity is in the Wind Energy Segment, and 50GW is in the
photovoltaic technology segment9. During the last year, investment in the renewable energies segment in
the United States only amounted to USD 51 billion (second only to China), and the sector provides around
770 thousand jobs in the United States alone10.
The increase in the renewable energies sector is expected to continue, inter alia, in light of the maturation
of new technologies in the storage and grid balancing segments, and also thanks to the decrease in the
costs of producing electricity from renewable energy sources. As part of the above, the United States is
one of the countries in which the cost of electricity production using small systems has become lower
than the cost of electricity consumed from the grid. The targets for production from renewable energy in
the United States are determined on the state level, and therefore vary from state to state.
According to estimates, by 2050, the share of renewable energy production is expected to amount to
55%11. Furthermore, during the last year, the State of California announced a target of 100% renewable
energy by 2045.
Another significant factor which affects the growth of the renewable energies sector in the United States
is the increased demand in the private market for the consumption of electricity from renewable energy
sources: 51% of the companies in the United States hold or are promoting renewable energy electricity
policies, in the range of the coming two years, including giant companies which operate hundreds of
development centers and future electricity production.
For additional details regarding the arrangement which is relevant to the Company’s activity in the United
States, see Section 7.1.3b below.
For details regarding developments in the Company’s macro-economic environment which have a
significant impact on the Company in the various operating segments, see Sections 7.1.1 and 7.2.1 below.
For details regarding external factors which may affect the Corporation’s activities, see Section 30 below.
9

Global Overview, REN21
Irena, Rethinking Energy 2017
11 See footnote 3 above.
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7. Description of the Corporation’s business affairs during the Reporting Period by operating
segments
7.1. Photovoltaic Segment:
7.1.1. General
Photovoltaic systems include photovoltaic production facilities which take in radiation from
sunlight, using panels of photovoltaic cells, located on an appropriate construction (on land or on
rooftops). The flow of electricity which is produced by these panels is transmitted to flow
converters, and later, if necessary, to transformers which allow the flow of electricity produced by
them to the power grid. The maximum capacity which can be produced by the photovoltaic systems
is measured in peak kilowatt / megawatt units (MWp/KWp), which represents the capacity of the
solar panels (“Installed Capacity”) or the kilowatt / megawatt which represents the capacity of the
converters.
In contrast to the trend of declining equipment prices of photovoltaic facilities which characterized
the Photovoltaic Segment in the years preceding the Reporting Period, during the Reporting Period
there was a mixed trend in equipment prices, with an emphasis on an increase in the prices of solar
panels around the world in the first half of 2018, inter alia, in light of the increased quotas on the
importation of solar panels to the United States at in early 2018, and high demand in China.
Most of the Company’s activities in the Photovoltaic Segment during the Reporting Period were
focused on Israel and the United States.
7.1.2. The Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel:
A.
General
Beginning in 2017, upon the publication of two tariff-based tenders which had been
published by the Electricity Authority for the construction of low and high voltage
photovoltaic facilities was resumed, the activities involved in the development and
construction of photovoltaic facilities in Israel were intensively renewed. The results of the
competitive processes indicate the maturity of the photovoltaic sector in Israel, which does
not rely on government incentives, while the price of electricity production from such
facilities is less than NIS 0.2 per produced 1KWh - a price which is lower than the fixed
production tariffs of the Electric Corporation. However, the scope of activities in the segment
still depends on quotas which will be published by the Electricity Authority, by virtue of the
fact that the segment is regulated.
B.

Arrangements in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel
(1) Quota-based fixed Tariff Arrangement (“Tariff Arrangement”)
Until 2016, a tariff quota-based arrangement applied in Israel, according to which a fixed
tariff was determined (which varied from one quota to another) for a period of 20 years after
the commencement date of commercial operation, linked to the Consumer Price Index.
Winning the guaranteed tariff was dependent upon the fulfillment of milestones which were
determined within the framework of the arrangement, on a “first come, first served” basis.
The Company has commercially active systems which are subject to this arrangement
(through various tariffs, depending on the quota), with a total capacity of 49 MWp (the
Company’s share - 44.9 MWp). For additional details regarding the Company’s systems in
the Photovoltaic Segment which are commercially active, and regarding the tariffs to which
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they are entitled under the Tariff Arrangement, see Section 7.1.2d below, and Note 9 in Part
C of the Report - Financial Statements.
(2) Tariff tender-based arrangement (the “Tender Arrangement”)
Since 2017, photovoltaic facilities have been built as part of the arrangement regarding
competitive processes over electricity tariffs, by virtue of which the Electricity Authority
publishes, from time to time, tenders with respect to quotas for the construction of ultra-high,
high and low voltage photovoltaic facilities (including minimum quotas and retaining the
right to expand them) (“Tariff Tenders”).
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, and in accordance with publications issued by the
Electricity Authority and the Ministry of Energy, by 2020, the State of Israel intends to lead
to the construction of photovoltaic facilities with a total additional capacity of approximately
3,600 MWp (reflecting 3% of total energy production in Israel), the construction of which is
planned in accordance with the expected tariff tenders which the Electricity Authority has
announced, beyond the facilities which are currently in advanced planning stages, and in
construction.
Presented below is a review of the main terms of the tariff tenders, divided into two types of
systems - medium systems and large systems, as published by the Electricity Authority until
the Approval Date of the Report:
A) Photovoltaic electricity production systems with capacities from 51KW to 10MW,
which connect to the distribution grid (“Medium Systems”)
In tariff tenders for medium systems, the bidders compete over the lowest tariff per
produced KWh. The tariff in the competitive process is determined according to the
“clearing price” method, which grants winners a uniform tariff in the amount of the lowest
bid which did not win the tender (the “Winning Tariff”). The Winning Tariff will be
paid over a period of 23 years after the date of commercial operation, linked to a linkage
formula which is based on parameters for the selection of the bidder. As a minimum
condition for the submission of a bid, each bidder is required to deposit a bid guarantee
in the amount of NIS 100 for each proposed 1KW, which will be replaced, after winning,
with a construction guarantee in the amount of NIS 300 per 1KW. The winner is required
to reach commercial operation with respect to the entire quota which it won in the
Competitive Process within a period of 21 months after the date of the win (the effective
date, after which the Electricity Authority will begin forfeiting the construction guarantee
on a proportionate basis, until complete forfeiture for winners who have no reached
commercial operation within 7 months after the effective date). The Electricity Authority
is authorized to change the tender terms, as published from time to time (for example, in
the First Tender, the bidder was entitled to submit bids with a cumulative capacity no
greater than 70MW - a requirement which was canceled in the Second Tender).
For details regarding quotas for medium systems, which were published and which will
be published in accordance with publications issued by the Electricity Authority, see
Section 7.1.2c below.
B) Photovoltaic electricity production systems which connect to the transmission grid
(“Large Systems”)
In accordance with the decision of the Electricity Authority in meeting 525 from
September 2017, the bidders in a competitive process for large systems will compete over
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
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the lowest tariff per produced KWh, with priority given to bids with respect to projects
which have an approved plan at the time of testing feasibility the feasibility of connection
to the project, which constitutes a condition for the receipt of the winning notice. The
tariff will be determined for each winner according to its bid amount (“Discriminatory
Tender”), and space on the grid will be reserved for it, beginning from the date when the
win is announced. The tariff which was determined for each winner will be paid to it for
a period of 23 years after the date of commercial operation, or 24 years and 11 months
after the signing date of the land transaction between the winner and the Israel Land
Authority, whichever is earlier, linked to a linkage formula which is based on parameters
for the selection of the bidder. As a minimum condition for the submission of a bid, the
bidders will deposit a participation guarantee in the amount of NIS 100 for each proposed
KWh, which will be replaced, after winning, with a construction guarantee in the amount
of NIS 300 per KWh. The winner is required to reach commercial operation with respect
to the entire capacity which it won in the competitive process by the effective date which
will be determined (for the first process, the effective date is March 31, 2023). After that
date, the Electricity Authority will begin forfeiting the construction guarantee on a
proportionate basis, until it has been forfeited in its entirety, for winners who have not
reached commercial operation within 6 months after the effective date. As opposed to the
tariff tenders for the construction of medium systems, bids which are submitted within
the framework of this process include bids for the construction of facilities in a specific
site, and not a usage quota.
Further to the decision, the Authority published the first competitive process for the
construction of large systems, which included, inter alia, the criteria which apply to
participants in the process. As of the Approval Date of the Report, the results of the
aforementioned competitive processes have not yet been published.
For details regarding quotas for large systems, which will be published in accordance
with publications of the Electricity Authority, see Section 7.1.2c(2) below.

(3) Ad hoc decisions regarding the construction of designated facilities
In addition to the Tariff Arrangement and the Tender Arrangement, the Authority reaches
decisions, from time to time, to support the construction of designated photovoltaic
facilities. For details regarding the Ashalim Tender, see Section 7.1.2c(2) below.
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C.

Information regarding published tariff tenders and the Company’s share in the quotas
thereunder, and expectations regarding additional tenders
(1) Presented below are details regarding tenders which were published in 2017, and
regarding the Company’s share in the capacities which were published by virtue thereof:

Winning
Tenders
date
which
were
published
in 2017
(low
21.3.17
voltage
and high
voltage)

Total

Total winning
capacity
within the
framework of
the tender

The
Company’s
share in
the
winning
capacity

Approximately
235MW
70MW
(Approximately (90MWp)
306MWp)
Approximately
50.3MW
105MW
28.12.17
(*)
(Approximately
(65MWp)
137MWp)
Approximately
340MW
120.3MW
(Approximately (155MWp)
443MWp)

The
Company’s
share in
Winning
the
Tariff
winning
capacity, in
percent
29.8% NIS 0.199

47.9%

NIS
0.1978

Status

Construction
completed

Under
construction

35.3%

(*) Including a winning capacity of 10.7 MW (approximately 13MWp), which was
acquired in December 2018 from another entrepreneur.
(2) Presented below are details regarding the tariff tenders which were published during the
Reporting Period, and regarding future tenders which are expected to be published
during the coming year:
(i) First ultra-high voltage tender: During the Reporting Period, the first tariff tender
for the construction of large facilities which are connected to the transmission grid
(ultra-high voltage) was published, in which the deadline for submission of bids
was December 4, 2018.
As of the publication date of the report, the results of this tender have not yet been
published. However, the Electricity Authority announced that the total sum of bids
which were submitted in the tender amounted to a total capacity of 750MW, and
that all of the bids in the tender reflect a decrease from the winning tariff which
was determined in the last competitive process that was published by the Authority
(in December 2017), in the amount of NIS 0.1978 per KWh.
It was also announced that the total of 12 bids which passed to Stage B of the
process - evaluating the feasibility of connecting a facility by the Electric
Corporation, included 4 bids which were submitted by the Company.
The foregoing does not constitute a guarantee that any of the Company’s facilities
will win this tender.
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(ii) Additional high voltage tender: Subsequent to the Reporting Period, a third

competitive tender was published, for the production of electricity using
photovoltaic technology, in facilities which will be connected to high voltage and
to low voltage. The deadline for the submission of bids in this tender is March 19,
2019.
(iii) Ashalim Tender (tariff tender): The Company is one of the bidders in a tender
which was published by the Accountant General for the financing, planning,
construction, operation and maintenance of a solar electricity production system
using photovoltaic technology, with an installed capacity of up to 40 MWp, in
Ashalim. 10 companies are expected to participate in the tender, which passed the
pre-screening stage, including the Company, among which the winner will be
chosen based on the lowest tariff bid. As of the Reporting Date, the deadline for
submission of bids for the tender is May 12, 2019.
(iv) Intention to publish additional tenders: The Electricity Authority announced
that it intends to conduct two additional competitive processes in 2019: one for the
construction of large high voltage land-based facilities, and the other a ultra-high
voltage facility. The Authority also announced that, in 2019, it intends to publish
additional tenders for the construction of rooftop facilities and water reservoirs,
and for the construction of land-based facilities in Judea and Samaria, which was
also published during the period preceding the publication of the report.
Any reference in section 7.1 above to the business environment and to the
publication of additional tenders constitutes Forward-Looking Information.
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D.

Information regarding the Company’s systems in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel
(1) Electricity production systems which are in the commercial operation stage
As of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company sells
electricity from systems (wholly owned and/or jointly owned) which produce electricity
using photovoltaic technology, and which are connected to the power grid, with a total
capacity of approximately 139MWp, of which the Company’s share is approximately
130MWp. All of the commercially active systems operate by virtue of the Tariff
Arrangement, as specified in section 7.1.2 above.
Presented below is table summarizing all of the Company’s systems which are in
commercial operation stage in the Photovoltaic Segment as of the Reporting Date:
Net cash
Gross
FFO
flows
after
Connected systems as Installed Company’s Revenue profit in Projectproject specific
debt
of the Reporting
capacity share in
service
Date
(MWp) the systems
Actual results for 2018
(Company’s share, NIS millions)
System in Neot Hovav

37.5

100%

43.4

Systems of the first
competitive process
90
94%
2.2
(photovoltaic) (*)
Medium and small
11.6
64%
13.6
systems (photovoltaic)
Total connected
139.1
129.5
59.2
systems
* The systems were connected in the fourth quarter of 2018

40.1

29.8

9

1.7

1

1

9.9

7.2

2.4

51.7

38.0

12.4

For additional details regarding the Company’s systems in the commercial operation in the
Photovoltaic Segment, and material engagements in connection with the aforementioned
systems, including in connection with finance transactions, see Notes 9 and 13 in Part C of
the Report - Financial Statements.
(2) Systems under construction - first and second competitive processes
As of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company has nine
commercially active facilities, and the Company has begun working on the construction of
photovoltaic facilities which are owned by the Joint Venture (Israel), which are being built
by virtue of winning the Second Tender which was published by the Electricity Authority
in December 2017, with a total capacity of 65MWp, and which are subject to the conditions
of the second competitive process.
Presented below is information regarding the Company’s systems within the framework of
the first and second competitive processes:
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First tender
Second tender
Total
90MWp
65MWp
Guaranteed tariff NIS 0.199
NIS 0.1978
Total expected
scope of
268
175-200
443-468
investment (NIS
millions)
Expected project
financing (NIS
240 145 (*)
385
millions)
Expected revenue
32-34
23-25
55-59
(NIS millions)
Expected
EBITDA (NIS
25-27
18-20
43-47
millions)
Expected project
FFO (NIS
18-20
14-16
32-36
millions)
Net cash flows
after expected
10-12
8-10 18-22
debt service (NIS
millions)
Company’s
share in the
94%
70%
results
Connection and
In 2018/Q4
Until 2019/Q3
construction
* The scopes of investment, expected results and construction dates constitute Forward-Looking
Information.
For details regarding the acquisition of the Winning Projects in the First Tender, and the
Company’s preparation for the construction of the projects in the Second Tender, see
Sections 7.1.2d(1) and 7.1.2d(2) above, and Notes 9b, 9c and 14 in Part C - Financial
Statements. For details regarding the Company’s engagement in a transaction to finance
the aforementioned projects, see Note 13 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
(3) The Company’s project initiation and development activities in the Photovoltaic
Segment in Israel
The Company works continuously to expand its activities in the Photovoltaic Segment in
Israel. Most of the Company’s development and initiation activities are performed within
the framework of a Joint Venture which the Company created together with an Israeli
entrepreneurial company in July 2016, for the joint initiation, development, construction,
operation and maintenance of projects for the production of electricity from photovoltaic
energy in Israel (the “Joint Venture”). The venture operates through a Limited
Partnership in which the Company holds 70%.
The Company also participates, from time to time, in designated tenders which are
published for the construction of photovoltaic facilities, and evaluates, from time to time,
investment opportunities to expand its scope of activities.
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Presented below is information regarding the Company’s activities through the
Joint Venture (Israel):
A) As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Joint Venture has projects in various stages of
initiation, with a total capacity of over 300 MWp.
B) In March 2017, the Joint Venture (Israel) won the first competitive process which was
published by the Electricity Authority, with a guaranteed tariff of NIS 0.199 per 1KWh,
for the construction of projects with a capacity of approximately 90MWp (the maximum
quota for a single participant) of medium and high voltage (the “Winning Projects of the
First Tender”). In April 2017, the Company acquired the partner’s share (30%) in the
Winning Projects in the First Tender, such that those projects will be exclusively owned
by the Company (100%, instead of the Joint Venture).
C) In December 2017, the Joint Venture (Israel) won the second competitive process which
was published by the Electricity Authority, with a guaranteed tariff of NIS 0.1978 per
1KWh, for the construction of projects with a capacity of approximately 52MWp of
medium and high voltage. In December 2018, the Joint Venture engaged with an
entrepreneurial company (third party) for the acquisition of additional capacity in an
immaterial amount of 13MWp, for the construction of projects within the framework of
the second competitive process, under the same conditions, and in total, the Joint Venture
has a guaranteed tariff for the construction medium and high voltage of with a capacity
of 65MWp (the “Winning Projects in the Second Tender”). As of the Approval Date
of the Report, construction works on the Winning Projects in the Second Tender have
commenced.
For additional details regarding: 1) The Joint Venture (Israel), the terms of the
engagement between the parties to the Joint Venture in the Photovoltaic Segment, and
updates thereto during the Reporting Period, and regarding the acquisition of the Winning
Projects of the First Tender, see Notes 9c and 14 in Part C - Financial Statements, as well
as the Company’s immediate reports dated March 29, 2016 (reference no. 2016-01016827), July 26, 2016 (reference no. 2016-01-090484), and April 4, 2017 (reference no.
2017-01-036861), which are presented herein, in their entirety, by way of reference; 2)
The construction of the Winning Projects in the Second Tender by the Company, see
Section 7.1.2c(1) above, and Note 13b to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(4) Dispute with the entrepreneurial company
As a result of a dispute with the entrepreneurial company with which the Company
founded the Joint Venture (Israel), due to a breach of its undertakings to initiate the
activity of the Joint Venture (Israel), and the damages which the Company incurred as a
result, proximate to the Reporting Date, the Company filed a claim against the
entrepreneurial company in the amount of NIS 10 million, in addition to a motion for an
injunction against the distributions which are owed to the entrepreneurial company by the
Joint Venture (Israel), which constitute 30% of the balance of cash which will be
distributed to the partners in the Joint Venture, by virtue of their holdings (after repayment
of the shareholder’s loan which the Company extended to the Joint Venture). As of the
Approval Date of the Report, no response whatsoever has been received from the
entrepreneurial company.
It is hereby clarified that the foregoing does not adversely affect the Company’s activities
in the Photovoltaic Segment.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

15

Description of the Corporation’s Business
(5) The Company’s construction and operation activities in the Photovoltaic Segment
As part of its operating activities, the Company formed a construction and operation unit,
in order to provide a solution for the Company’s needs (including for the activities of the
Joint Venture (Israel), on all matters associated with the construction and operation of the
systems which it owns. As part of the above, the Company provides construction and
operation services for all of the photovoltaic projects which it owns, and particularly, the
construction of the Winning Projects by virtue of its winning of the First and Second
Tenders. As part of the above, the managing company operates a control, management
and logistics system with respect to all aspects of construction and operation pertaining
to the aforementioned projects, and engages, when necessary, with suitable
subcontractors for the performance of the works on the ground.
It is hereby clarified that the construction (EPC) and operation (O&M) works with respect
to the Company’s projects which originate from the Joint Venture (Israel), including the
Winning Projects of the First and Second Tenders, are performed through an Operating
Partnership which was established for this purpose (the Company’s share - 70%) (the
“Operating Partnership”). For this purpose, the Operating Partnership entered into
agreements with the leading providers of primary equipment in the world: First Solar
(panels), with which a long term collaboration agreement was signed, SMA and Siemens
(converters and electrical rooms), based on past experience and on the links between the
companies.
7.1.3. The Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States
In 2018, as part of its strategic plan, the Company continued developing and advancing its activities
in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States.
A. General
The Photovoltaic Segment in the United States is based on a sophisticated market of selling the
electricity which is produced from the system, plus a tax incentive which is determined on the
federal level, and revenues from the sale of green certificates.
The electricity sale market in the United States allows a great deal of flexibility in the sale of
electricity, and electricity producers can even sell electricity directly to consumers and/or to
financial institutions which serve as agents in the sale of electricity. Most of the electricity sale
transactions are performed vis-à-vis the local electric companies; however, in recent years, the trend
of transition to direct agreements with consumers and other players has increased, mostly to very
large companies (e.g., Google, Amazon, Facebook, etc.), which have set a goal for themselves to
consume 100% electricity from renewable energy sources. The electricity is sold directly from the
facility, or by way of a virtual agreement and settling of accounts vis-à-vis the local electric
corporation. Most of the electricity sale agreements (whether to the electric corporation or directly
to consumers) are for periods of 10-15 years.
B.

The regulatory framework in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States
(1) Federal tax benefit
The main incentive to entrepreneurs is given in the form of an Investment Tax Credit (ITC),
which currently allows the entrepreneur to enjoy a tax credit at a rate of 30% of the project
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costs, (the costs used to determine the benefit are calculated in accordance with the terms
prescribed in legislation) (the “Tax Benefit”). In order to receive the Tax Benefit, the
entrepreneur is required to engage with a local partner which is subject to federal tax in the
United States (“Tax Partner”). The tax partner usually joins at the stage when the facility
is connected to the grid, and usually provides approximately 45%-40% of the investment
cost required to build the facility, in consideration of the full tax benefits which the facility
is entitled to receive, as well as an additional reimbursement out of the project’s cash flows
during its first 5-8 years of operation. The rates of the Tax Benefit will gradually be
decreased by the regulator beginning in 2020, such that, with respect to a project whose
construction began in 2020 the tax benefit rate with respect to the project cost will be 26%;
while with respect to a project whose construction began in 2021, the tax benefit rate will
be 22%; and with respect to a project whose construction began in 2022 or later, the tax
benefit rate will be 10%. A project whose construction commenced in 2019, and which will
be connected to the grid by the end of 2023, will be entitled to the entire tax benefit, in the
amount of 30%. There is also a benefit of accelerated depreciation for 5 years with respect
to most of the project costs.
(2) Renewable energy certificates (REC’s)
Renewable Energy Certificates (REC’s) are given to producers of electricity from
renewable energy sources for each produced 1MWh. The value of the certificates varies
depending on the regulatory framework and market conditions in the relevant country.
(3) Approvals and permits for the construction of the project
The process of connecting to the grid is done vis-à-vis the relevant local electric corporation
in whose area the facility is located, or vis-à-vis the regional power grid manager. The
process of receiving the permits is done on the state level, and on the county level, with
requirements varying from state to state.

C.

The Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States
In December 2017, as the first stage of the Company’s activity in the United States, the
Company engaged with an American entrepreneur which owns a series of photovoltaic
projects in various stages of initiation and development in the United States, with a total
capacity of hundreds of megawatts, in a strategic agreement for the creation of a Joint Venture
intended for the construction, financing and operation of projects in the Photovoltaic Segment
in the United States.
Shortly before the Approval Date of the Report, and in light of the fact that 4 projects in
Virginia, with a capacity of approximately 85 MWp, are near financial closing (the “Projects
in Virginia”), the Company and the local entrepreneur engaged in an amendment to the Joint
Venture Agreement (the “Amendment to the Agreement”). As part of the above, the Joint
Venture purchased, through the Company’s financing, the entire series of projects, with a
capacity of hundreds of megawatts, which were owned by the local entrepreneur in Virginia
and Arizona, against the payment of a total of USD 13 million (the “Purchase
Consideration”). The purchase consideration is paid instead of payment of future initiation
fees to the partner, which the Joint Venture (USA) was obligated to pay under the venture
agreement, before the amendment to the agreement. The purchase consideration will be paid
according to the following milestones: a total of USD 1.2 million will be paid proximate to the
signing date, and the remainder, after deducing an advance payment to the entrepreneur in the
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amount of USD 5 million, which has already been paid, will be paid once the four projects in
Virginia reach financial closing.
As part of the amendment to the agreement, it was agreed that the Company’s share in the
Joint Venture (USA) would amount to 58% (the entrepreneur’s share - 42%). It was further
agreed that the initiation activity would be promoted by the Joint Venture (USA), financed by
a subsidiary owned by the Company, through the provision of capital or a shareholder’s loan,
bearing yield of LIBOR 3M + 7% (but no less than 8.5%), calculated on a quarterly basis, with
priority in the distribution of available cash flows from the Joint Venture (USA) to the partners.
The Company will provide construction (EPC) services to the Joint Venture (USA), for the
construction of its facilities in the United States.
As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company is preparing for the construction of the
Projects in Virginia in 2019. As part of the above, the Joint Venture in the United States is
currently in advanced negotiations with two of the world’s leading financial institutions (based
on memoranda of understanding which were reached between the parties) - the first with
respect to the engagement in binding agreements for the sale of electricity for 13 years (by
way of a hedging transaction), and the sale of all of the green certificates which will be issued
for the Projects in Virginia; and the second with respect to engagement in binding agreements
with a tax partner, which is expected to provide to the venture, upon the connection to the
power grid of the Projects in Virginia, approximately 40% of their construction costs, against
the receipt of tax benefits and a part of the revenue flows for an agreed-upon period.
For additional details regarding the update to the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement,
following its amendment, see the immediate report dated March 11, 2019, reference no. 201901-020782, which is presented herein in its entirety by way of reference, as well as Notes 9
and 14a(2) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
It is hereby clarified that information in connection with the Company’s activity and the
Joint Venture in the United States constitutes Forward-Looking Information
7.2. Wind Energy Segment
7.2.1. General
The Wind Energy Segment is the global leading segment for the production of electricity from
renewable energy sources, with a global cumulative installed capacity of over 539 GW.12
In recent years, the global wind industry has grown by an average annual rate of over 50GW, and
approximately 53GW13 during the Reporting Period, due to technological innovations which
allowed a reduction in the cost of electricity production from wind energy, and accordingly, a trend
of growth has occurred in recent years in investments in the Wind Energy Segment around the
world.
Currently, typical land-based wind turbines have capacities of 2-5.3 MW; blade diameters range
from 100-160 meters; and tower heights range from 100-150 meters. For the most part, the type of
turbine installed in a particular site will be determined in accordance with the characteristics and
wind conditions of the area.

12
13

GWEC, “Global Wind Statistics 2017”, February 14, 2018, Global Wind Energy Council
According to data published by the Global Wind Energy Council, headquartered in Brussels, Belgium.
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Turbine manufacturers are working to increase turbine efficiency, in order to allow the turbines to
produce more electricity per given wind regime. Increasing turbine efficiency allows manufacturers
to expand their market share also to areas where government incentives are low, or to sites with
less wind power.
For the purpose of ensuring the orderly operation of wind farms, routine maintenance is required,
which is provided, for the most part, by the turbine manufacturer, as part of a long-term service and
maintenance package.
7.2.2. Method of operation and primary components of large wind turbines
The production of electricity from wind energy is performed when kinetic energy originating from
the flow of air strikes the blades of the turbine, and creates a rotating motion of the blades. This
rotating motion is converted into electrical energy through an electrical generator which is located
at the top of the tower where the turbine is installed. The greater the wind power, the greater the
capacity produced from the generator, until the point where the generator reaches its capacity limit.
Due to the fact that the wind direction changes frequently, in accordance with the wind regime in
the area, the turbine has sensors which rotate the body of the turbine such that the blades are always
facing in the direction of the wind.
In farms which include several turbines, the turbines are mostly connected to each other through an
underground collection network, and from there to the connection point to the power grid.
7.2.3. The Company’s activity in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel
A. General
As of the Approval Date of the Report, the wind energy production operating segment in Israel
is mostly in the development and initiation stage, excluding several turbines which are
producing electricity from wind energy, at a limited scope. In Israel, several areas have been
identified as having the potential to leverage wind energy; however, the construction of a wind
farm in those sites is subject to conditions and restrictions which are derived from security
consideration, environmental considerations and planning considerations.
B.

Arrangement in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel for systems over 50KW (“Large
Wind Systems”)
The arrangement with respect to Large Wind Systems was published for the first time as part
of decision 349 of the Electricity Authority, on October 10, 2011, and which was updated from
time to time. In accordance with the arrangement which applies as of the Reporting Date, the
quota for electricity production using wind energy is 730MW, according to an outline of an
undertaking to acquire electricity of the Electric Corporation, at a guaranteed tariff for a period
of 20 years, CPI-linked.
The tariff is to be determined using a calculation formula which is based on a designated basic
tariff, including a distinction between facilities that are connected to the transmission network
and to the distribution network, and will be linked to various metrics, such as exchange rates,
an index that reflects the global cost of wind turbines, the CPI and interest rates.
In accordance with publications issued by the Electricity Authority, the weighted tariff as of
the publication date, until the exhaustion of the quota of 300 MW, is approximately NIS 0.36
per produced 1KWh, with respect to facilities which are connected to the transmission grid
(ultra-high voltage), and approximately NIS 0.33 per 1KWh with respect to facilities which
are connected to the distribution grid. After exhausting the initial quota, with a capacity of
300MW, the weighted tariff is updated, such that the weighted tariff with respect to facilities
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which are connected to the transmission grid (ultra-high voltage) is approximately NIS 0.33
per produced 1KWh, and with respect to facilities which are connected to the distribution grid,
approximately NIS 0.31 per produced 1KWh. The final tariff with respect to each facility will
be determined in accordance with the different variables which affect the base tariff as of the
date of approval of the actual tariff, as relevant.
C.

Minimum conditions for the completion of the regulatory process for the construction of
a wind farm in Israel, relative to the published arrangements
An entrepreneur which intends to build an electricity production system using wind energy is
required to met the conditions which were established in the relevant arrangement of the
Electricity Authority. Presented below is a general diagram of the milestones which are
required, in accordance with the current arrangements, as of the Reporting Date:

Connection to land

Feasibility survey
from IEC

Binding connection survey from
IEC

Proven equity

Conditional license
Approval for deposit of
construction plans / permit
Tariff approval

Bank guarantee

Proven experience
in the field

Binding term sheet

Construction permit

Financing agreement
Financial close
Construction of the project (including fulfillment of the milestones specified in the conditional license)
Permanent license
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D.

Wind farms which are being promoted by the Company
(1) Clean Wind Energy Project
A) General
The wind farm which is being developed by the Company in the Golan Heights, with a
capacity of approximately 130-150MW, through a private special purpose vehicle - Clean
Wind Energy Ltd. (the “Project Company” and the “Clean Wind Energy Project”),
respectively.
This wind farm is the Company’s leading project in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel,
and is being promoted as a national infrastructure project of great importance both for the
development of the Wind Energy Segment in Israel, and to support and develop the Druze
community in the northern Golan Heights.
The project is also expected to produce significant benefit for the economy - the project’s
expected electricity production capacity is approximately 480 GWh per year, which is
expected to provide electricity for around 63,000 households14.
B) Development status of the project:
During the Reporting Period, the Company continued its intensive activity towards the
promotion and development of the Clean Wind Energy Project, in accordance with the
timetables which were determined for the project. The project company has over 200
agreements which define its rights to the land on which the project will be built, vis-à-vis
the residents of the Druze community in the Golan Heights, mostly on unregulated land.
The project’s statutory plan is being advanced in the National Infrastructure Committee,
after in June 2016 the Committee decided to announce the preparation of a plan for the
construction of the project in accordance with the provisions of sections 76c(1) and 77 of
the Planning and Construction Law - 1965. Shortly before the Approval Date of the
Report, the plenum of the National Infrastructure Committee decided to continue
promoting the project’s statutory process, and to approve the submission of the project
plan for comments and objections, in accordance with section 76c(6) of the Planning and
Construction Law - 1965, subject to adjustments (the “Submission of the Plan”). In
accordance with the adjustments which were required according to the National
Infrastructure Committee’s decision, and subject to the completion of the statutory
process, the project plan will include up to 31 turbines. In light of the electricity
production capabilities of advanced modern turbines currently on the market, the project
capacity is expected to be in the range between 130-150 MW. Additionally, as part of its
preparation towards the financial closing in 2019, the Company is currently conducting
advanced negotiations with several of the world’s leading turbine suppliers, and is also
conducting negotiations with significant contractors, which are required for the project,
and for the construction thereof.
In parallel with its promotion of the project plan, subsequent to the Reporting Date, in
February 2019, the Company submitted the last supplementations to the conditional
application for a license to build the project, including updated feasibility surveys as of
January 2019, and is awaiting approval of the conditional license by the Electricity
Authority.

14Assuming

average electric consumption per household of approximately 7,600 KWh per year (according to the data of the Electric
Corporation).
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C) The Company’s rights to the project company and its liabilities
The Company holds 100% of the control and management shares of the project company,
and 73% of the shares which confer the right to receive dividends in the project company,
after the Company’s investment transaction in the Clean Wind Energy Project was
completed in September 2014.
In consideration of the Company’s rights in the project company as part of the investment
transaction, the Company has undertaken to work to develop and finance the Clean Wind
Energy Project, including providing the required equity on the financial closing date of
the Clean Wind Energy Project. The Company has a service agreement for the
accompaniment and development of the project during the period of the project’s
construction and operation, in consideration of payment of management fees in the
amount of approximately USD 35,000 per installed MW, per quarter (up to a maximum
limit which was agreed upon between the parties), the payment of which will only begin
after the project commences commercial operation.
D) Expected financial closing

The Company estimates that, depending on the progress of the licensing processes and
the statutory process vis-à-vis the National Infrastructure Committee, financial closing
can be reached in the second half of 2019.
E) Financial data regarding the project
The Company estimates that the total scope of the expected investment in the project is
in the range of NIS 550-700 million. Based on an estimated output of 3200 KWh per year
per installed 1KWh, and based on a tariff of approximately NIS 0.33 per produced 1KWh,
the forecasted annual income from the project is expected to be in the range between NIS
135-155 million per year.
The completion of the initiation and development of the project, as well as the
commencement of construction of the project, are conditional upon the arrangement (and
financing) of a technological solution which is required by the IDF due to the installation
of the turbines of wind farms which will be built throughout the country.
The information presented above on all matters pertaining to the Clean Wind Energy
Project, its advantages, its production capacities and market benefits, economic data and
timetables, constitute information which depends, inter alia, on the completion of the
regulatory and statutory process, on the receipt of approval from third parties, and on the
completion of the financing transaction for the project, and is based on the Company’s
estimates as of the Approval Date of the Report. This information constitutes ForwardLooking Information.
For additional information regarding the Clean Wind Energy Project, see Notes 9e and
14b in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
(2) Additional projects in the Galilee and in kibbutzim in Northern Israel
In addition to the promotion of the Clean Wind Energy Project, the Company is also
developing several projects, in various stages of initiation, with a total capacity of dozens
of MW.
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The Company is working on the development of projects in Israel, depending on wind
quality, regulatory and statutory feasibility, and restrictions of the Ministry of Defense.
Despite the fact that the Wind Segment in Israel suffers from many regulatory barriers, and
a lack of coordination between the various entities which are responsible for promoting it,
the Company intends to continue promoting its set of projects in the Wind Segment in
Israel, and to do everything in its power in order to achieve success in this segment.
It is hereby clarified that all of the projects specified in section 7.2.3d above, and
particularly on all matters associated with the Clean Wind Energy Project, which the
Company is developing in Israel, are in various stages of initiation and development,
and are subject to technological feasibility studies, economic feasibility studies and
completion of the regulatory and statutory process, which may change from time to
time, and any information in respect thereto is considered Forward-Looking
Information.
7.2.4. The Company’s activity in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland
A. General
Further to that stated in section 6.2 above, on all matters pertaining to the renewable energy
market in Poland, beginning in the second half of 2017, in light of the publication of legislation
supporting renewable energy, including in the Wind Energy Segment, activities towards the
initiation of the Wind Energy Segment have resumed with greater intensity. As part of the
above, the government of Poland announced that the construction of new facilities for the
production of electricity from wind energy (which have existing building permits) and from
photovoltaic energy, will constitute a separate sector from the other electricity production
sources. Accordingly, in 2018, a tender for the construction of new wind farms with a capacity
of approximately 1,000 MW was published, and proximate to the Approval Date of the Report,
the Polish regulator announced its intention to publish a tender with respect to a capacity of
2000-2500 MW, for the construction of new wind farms and photovoltaic facilities, during the
second or third quarter of 2019.
B.

Arrangements in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland
The wind farms in Poland operate by virtue of the renewable energies law, and by virtue of
regulations and directives which have been enacted pursuant thereto. The renewable energies
law was subject to significant amendments, which entered into effect in early 2015. In
accordance with the provisions of the law, the arrangement which will apply to wind farms is
divided into two parts - first, “green certificates arrangement”, which is based on the sale of
black electricity, and additionally, entitlement to green certificates, which applies to all wind
farms whose construction was completed by June 30, 2016; and second, the “tariff tenders
arrangement”, which guarantees a fixed tariff for 15 years, applicable to all wind farms whose
construction was completed thereafter. As of the Reporting Date, all of the Company’s wind
farms in Poland which are in the commercial operation stage are subject to the provisions of
the green certificates arrangement.
(1) Green certificates arrangement
The wind farm, which is subject to the green certificate arrangement, is entitled to two
types of revenues: (1) Sale of the electricity which is produced by the wind farms
(“Revenues from Black Electricity”); and (2) Revenues from the sale of “green
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certificates” which are provided to producers of electricity from renewable energy
sources, including wind farm operators, with respect to each MWh of produced electricity
(hereinafter: “Revenues from Green Certificates”). The green certificates constitute an
additional revenue component, for a period of 15 years from the date of initial production
of “green” electricity, for which green certificates have been issued.
Revenues from black electricity: The electricity which is produced in the wind farms
can be sold to the local electricity marketer (the owner of the distribution grid in the area
where the electricity is produced), or alternatively, the produced electricity can be sold
on the local power exchange or in direct agreements with the electric corporations which
trade and provide electricity in Poland, as well as other electricity traders which sell
electricity to end consumers (hereinafter: “Electricity Traders”).
Revenues from green certificates: The green certificates, which constitute another
revenue component in addition to the revenue from the sale of black electricity, are traded
on a designated exchange in Poland. The prices of green certificates are not fixed, and
vary depending on supply and demand.
Producers of electricity from non-renewable energy sources are obligated to purchase
green certificates or to pay a fine, as a substitute for purchasing them (hereinafter: the
“Fine”), at an annual rate out of all the electricity which is produced by them and
published by the regulator. During the Reporting Period, the annual rate for acquisition
of green certificates amounted to a rate of 17.5% of all electricity produced in Poland,
and in 2019, the annual rate amounts to 18.5% of all electricity produced in Poland.
The amount of the fine which was determined by the Polish regulator, as of August 2017,
amounted to a total of approximately PLN 300 per produced 1MWh. In August 2017, the
mechanism used to determine the fine amount was updated, such that the fine amount
will not be fixed, but rather will be calculated each year, and will amount to 125% of the
weighted average of the prices of green certificates in the preceding year, but no more
than PLN 300 per certificate. In parallel, it was clarified that it will not be possible to pay
the fine so long as an inventory of green certificates exists on the market.
In light of the increase in the prices of black electricity and in the prices of green
certificates, shortly before the Approval Date of the Report, the Polish regulator published
a draft amendment to the Renewable Energy Law (hereinafter: the “Draft Law”),
according to which the mechanism applicable to the fine amount would be changed, such
that the fine amount for a given calendar year will amount to a total representing the
difference between the base price which will be determined on the approval date of the
law, and the average price of black electricity during the preceding year. It is hereby
clarified that the foregoing constitutes a draft amendment to the law, which is subject to
changes and to the completion of the legislation process, insofar as it is approved.
The price of green certificates as of the Reporting Date PLN 135.20, relative to PLN 45
as of December 31, 2017. As of the Approval Date of the Report, the price of a green
certificate is PLN 90.48.
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(2) Tender arrangement
The relevant arrangement which supports the construction of facilities for the production
of electricity from renewable sources, whose construction was completed after June 30,
2016, is the Tender Arrangement. The construction of a wind farm which is subject to
this arrangement is conditional upon the fulfillment of minimum conditions regarding
eligibility to participate in the arrangement, and wining a tariff tender process.
Based on the aforementioned amendment to the Polish Renewable Energy Law, in June
2018, the Polish legislator began publishing tariff tenders for the construction of facilities
for the production of electricity from renewable energy sources, including new wind
farms. In November 2018, the First Tender by virtue of the new law published, for a total
capacity of 1000 MW, in which the Company also participated, but which it did not win.
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, in the second or third quarter of 2019, a Second
Tender is expected to be published, with an estimated capacity of 2000-2500 MW. In
accordance with the version of the Renewable Energy Law which is currently in effect,
the tender winner is expected to be entitled to receive revenues from the sale of electricity
which it has produced, according to the price at which it won the tender, with respect to
the capacity which it undertook to provide. The proposed amendment to the law, as
published, includes a proposal to amend the revenue mechanism, such that the tender
winner will be entitled to receive revenues from the sale of the electricity, according to
its price on the power exchange, but no less than the average electricity price by virtue of
which it won the tender (floor price).
The Company is evaluating the possibility of participating in the following tenders which
are expected to be published in 2019, and is also evaluating the possibility of building
additional wind farms at market prices.
(3) Additional legislation which is relevant to the wind farm activity in Poland:
A.

B.

C.

The Real Estate Tax Law (RET), which regulates, inter alia, the basis for calculation
of tax on all matters pertaining to wind turbines. For details regarding provisions
which were made by the Company with respect to its exposure to the payment of RET
with respect to 2017, see Note 30 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
The Distance Act and Building Law, which regulates aspects pertaining to the
planning and construction of wind farms. In accordance with the provisions of the law,
as they stand as of the Approval Date of the Report, these regulations restrict the
construction of new wind farms which do not have a valid building permit.

The Company’s systems in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland
As of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company sells
electricity and green certificates from systems which produce electricity by wind technology,
through farms wholly owned by the Company which are connected to the power grid in
Poland, at a total capacity of approximately 119MW, which are subject to the green certificate
arrangement. The Company has additional projects which are ready for construction, subject
to the winning of tariff tenders in accordance with the new arrangement in Poland.
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(1) Systems in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland which are in the commercial operation
stage
Net cash
Gross
FFO
flows
Revenue
profit
in
Projectafter
Connected systems as Installed Company’s
project specific
debt
of the Reporting
capacity share in
service
Date
(MWp) the systems
Actual results for 2018
(Company’s share, NIS millions)
Banie
106
100%
100.5
80.7
65.0
46.7
(*) Iława
13.2
100%
12.0
10.1
10.1
10.1
Total connected
119.2
119.2
112.5
90.8
75.1
56.8
systems
(*) During the Reporting Period, the Company acquired the minority interests in the project
(25%), and became the owner of 100% of the project. For additional information, see Note 9f(2)
in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
During the Reporting Period, the Company sold the electricity which was produced in two wind
farms in Poland to a local trader, at market prices, or according to a fixed price which will be
determined as part of a transaction to peg the selling price, which will be performed between
the parties, after deducting the adjustments which were specified in the agreement. The
Company also sold green certificates according to their prices on the green certificates exchange
in Poland. In light of the prices of black electricity during the Reporting Period, the Company
entered into transactions to peg the price of electricity, with respect to approximately 170 GWh,
which were sold during the Reporting Period at a weighted price of PLN 215 per produced
1MWh. Additionally, during the Reporting Period, the Company entered into transactions to
peg the selling price of electricity and green certificates, with respect to 75% of the expected
scope of electricity production In 2019, at a price of PLN 267 per produced 1MWh, and with
respect to approximately 25% of the expected scope of electricity production in 2020, at a price
of PLN 285 per produced 1MWh. The Company also performed price pegging transactions with
respect to 50% of the scope of green certificates which the Company is expected to receive with
respect to the two commercially active wind farms in Poland, at a price of PLN 152 per
certificate.
For additional details in connection with the Company’s wind farms which are in the
commercial operation stage, and material engagement in financing agreements, see Notes 9f and
13 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
(2) Initiated projects
For details regarding projects being initiated, and engagements which are to those projects in
the Wind Segment in Poland, see Note 14 in Part C - Financial Statements.
It is hereby clarified that any reference in section 7.2 above (including by way of reference
to the notes in the Financial Statements) with respect to the business environment, the
completion of the licensing stages and its readiness for construction and/or future
information in connection with systems which are in the initiation process, construction or
commercial operation stages, including the Company’s estimates in connection with the cost
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of construction, the capacity of the systems and/or the projected annual income, constitutes
Forward-Looking Information.
7.3. Changes in the scope of activities and profitability of the segment
During the Reporting Period, the Company worked to expand its portfolio of projects for the initiation
and construction of projects in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel and abroad, and to promote the initiation
and development of its portfolio of projects in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel and in Poland.
Subsequent to the Reporting Date, as part of an amendment to the agreement with respect to the Joint
Venture (USA), the Joint Venture in which the Company holds 58%, acquired a series of projects with a
capacity of hundreds of MWp in the United States, of which 4 projects have a capacity of approximately
85 MWp, which are before financial closing and are ready for construction.
For details regarding engagements and investments during 2018, see Notes 9 and 14 in Part C of the
Report - Financial Statements.
For details regarding changes in the scope of the Company’s activities in the operating segments, see
Sections 7.1.2, 7.1.3, 7.2.3 and 7.2.4 above, as well as Note 29 in Part C of the Report - Financial
Statements.
For details regarding changes in the profitability of the operating segment, see Section 5 above, and Note
29 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
7.4. Suppliers and raw materials in the operating segment
7.4.1. Suppliers and raw materials - Photovoltaic Segment
Photovoltaic systems are comprised of panels and converters, mechanical frameworks for the
installation of the panels, cables, connectors and power cabinets. The Company’s system in Neot
Hovav also includes a substation.
The Company ensures to engage and acquire components for its photovoltaic systems from leading
suppliers from around the world, who have accumulated significant experience and a strong
reputation in the Photovoltaic Segment. According to the Company’s estimate, due to the
multiplicity of companies around the world which manufacture components for photovoltaic
systems which have similar technical capabilities to the suppliers from whom the Company
acquires the aforementioned components, it is not dependent on any particular supplier.
Product warranty
According to most of the Company’s contractual agreements with the suppliers of the panels which
it has acquired in the past, the Company is entitled to receive a 5 year product warranty, a 10 year
output warranty for minimum output of 90%, and an output warranty for a minimum output of 80%
for an additional 15 years (after the aforementioned 10 year period). The Company currently
receives a 10 year product warranty, in addition to a 25 year output warranty, which begins with
warranty for 98% output in the first year, and decreases at a rate of 0.5% per year, on a linear basis.
In total, after 25 years, the output guarantee is 85.5% (under laboratory conditions). The converter
suppliers also provide a warranty of 2 to 10 years for the converters, with an option to acquire
additional warranty periods.
7.4.2. Suppliers and raw materials - Wind Energy Segment
The largest turbine manufacturers in the world include companies such as Siemens (Germany), GE
(USA), Vestas (Denmark), Nordex (Germany) and Enercon (Germany), which have similar
technical capabilities. Therefore, the Company believes that it will not be dependent on any
particular supplier.
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Product warranty
Within the framework of the engagement with the turbine manufacturer in the Company’s wind
farm in Poland (as amended in July 2017), the turbine manufacturer undertook to provide operating
and maintenance services for a period of up to 20 years with respect to the Banie project (until June
30, 2036), and 15 years with respect to the Iława Project, during which period the turbine
manufacturer will be responsible for the proper operation of the turbines, and for the replacement
of faulty components, at its own expense.
7.5. Restrictions, legislation and standardization which apply to the operating segment
7.5.1. The Company’s activity in Israel - general
The regulatory framework upon which the Company’s activity in Israel is based is the relevant
legislation for the electricity sector through the Electricity Sector Law - 1996 (hereinafter: the
“Law”), the Electricity Law - 1954 (hereinafter: the “Electricity Law”), and regulations and rules
enacted pursuant thereto, as well as the decisions of the Public Utilities Authority - Electricity
(hereinafter: the “Electricity Authority”), including the criteria book, and decisions made by the
Government of Israel and the Ministry of Energy and Water.
Additionally, the development and construction of the Company’s projects, similarly to other
infrastructure projects, is performed in accordance with the provisions of the Planning and
Construction Law - 1965 (the “Planning and Construction Law”) and regulations enacted
pursuant thereto, particularly on all matters pertaining to licensing of construction, permit
applications, calculation of areas and floor area ratios in plans and in permits. Therefore, the
project construction activity is subject to complex processes involving the approval of statutory
plans (zoning plans and/or national infrastructure plan) in the relevant planning and construction
institutions (e.g., regional committees, the National Planning and Construction Council and/or the
National Infrastructure Committee), in accordance with the stages and guidelines prescribed in
the Planning and Construction Law, and regulations enacted pursuant thereto.
Additionally, for the purpose of performing its activities, the Company is required to determine
its rights to the land on which it builds its facilities. Accordingly, its activities are affected by the
real estate laws which apply in the places where its facilities are installed, including the Israel
Real Estate Law, the Ottoman Real Estate Law, the Defense Regulations, etc. In this context, it is
noted that, during the Reporting Period, the Israel Land Authority published a transitional
provision which allows the exchange of areas between townships in national priority regions, in
a manner which will allow dealing with the limitation on area for the construction of photovoltaic
facilities.
Additionally, it should be added that the Company’s activity depends on the approval of other
entities, including local authorities, the Electric Corporation, planning and construction entities,
and various government offices, such as the Ministry of Agriculture, the Ministry of Interior and
the Ministry of Defense, as well as the decisions, policies and regulations of entities who operate
on their behalf. Additionally, the Company, in its role as operating and construction contractor,
may be exposed to the relevant aspects of legislation and regulation. In general, to the best of the
Company’s knowledge, the Company complies with the restrictions, legislation and
standardization which apply to its area of activity.
7.5.2. The Photovoltaic Segment in Israel
A. For details regarding the regulatory arrangement with respect to the Photovoltaic
Segment, see Section 7.1.2 above.
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B.

C.

D.

7.5.3.

Planning and construction considerations
In December 2010, national outline plan 10/D/10 entered into effect, regarding the
regulation of planning processes for photovoltaic facilities, from small rooftop systems
to land-based photovoltaic systems, with an area of up to 750 dunams, as it stands from
time to time.
Municipal tax ordinance for photovoltaic facilities
In March 2015, the Arrangements in the State Economy Regulations (General Municipal
Tax in Local Authorities)(Amendment) - 2015, were published (hereinafter: the
“Municipal Tax Regulations”). The Municipal Tax Regulations establish, for the first
time, a separate classification for photovoltaic facilities, and specify the minimum and
maximum permitted tariffs for the charging of municipal tax, including a separation
between facilities located on rooftops, and facilities not located on rooftops, and
according to the size of the facility. A low municipal tax tariff was established in the
regulations, which reflects the intent of the legislator to incentivize the activity in the
Photovoltaic Segment in Israel.
The Safety at Work Ordinance
Within the framework of the construction and operation services which the Company
provides to the projects which it owns in the Photovoltaic Segment, the Company may be
subject to laws pertaining to safety at work, and all laws which apply to the performance
relevant works, including all ordinances and all regulations enacted pursuant thereto,
including the Work Safety Ordinance (New Version) - 1970 (the “Safety Ordinance”)
and regulations and ordinances enacted pursuant thereto, and the Organization of Work
Supervision Regulations, etc., pertaining to aspects of safety at work. As part of the above,
the Company, which operates on behalf of the corporation that holds the rights to the
particular project, engages with one of the primary contractors int he project for the
purpose of fulfilling the undertakings by virtue of the Safety Ordinance and regulations
enacted pursuant thereto, including the appointment of a Safety Supervisor, and the
appointment of a professional manager for the various projects.

Photovoltaic Segment in the United States
A. For details regarding the regulatory arrangement with respect to the Photovoltaic Segment
in the United States, see Section 7.1.3 above.
B. In addition to the arrangement regarding the Photovoltaic Segment, in January 2018, the
President of the United States decided to impose an import tax (“Tariff”) on some of the
types of solar panels which are imported into the United States. As stated above, the tariff
does not apply to the importation of all types of solar panels; for example, it does not
apply to the panels which are manufactured by First Solar, and which are purchased by
the Company. The Company estimates that tariff will not have a significant impact on the
prices of the panels which the Company assess before entering into the agreement with
the American entrepreneur.
Additionally, in 2018, the President of the United States decided to impose customs tax
on the importation of steel and aluminium into the United States. These customs have an
effect on the prices of construction of the solar projects, with respect to some of the
suppliers (with an emphasis on those which import the products from China).
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7.5.4.

Wind Energy Segment
A. Israel
1) For details regarding the regulatory situation in the Wind Energy Segment, see Section 7.2.3
above.
2) Planning and construction considerations - National Outline Plan for wind facilities

In August 2014, National Outline Plan 10/D/12entered into effect, which established the
planning rules and guidelines which are required for the approval of wind turbines in plans
and in building permits, as amended from time to time.
3) Prevention of hazards
The Company’s activity in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel is subject to, inter alia, the
provisions of the Hazard Prevention Law - 1961, and regulations enacted pursuant thereto,
and particularly, the regulations with respect to the prevention of noise.
B. Poland
For details regarding the arrangement regarding the Wind Energy Segment in Poland, and
additional legal provisions which are relevant to the Company’s activities, see Section 7.2.4
above.
7.5.5.

Additional provisions of the law:
A. The Company may be affected by directives issued by the Commissioner of Banks
regarding a branch-specific restriction and restrictions on the obligations of a borrower in
a group of borrowers which may limit the Company’s ability to receive additional financing
in the projects which it is building.
B. The Company’s activity in Israel may be affected by the restrictions which will apply to it
by virtue of the Concentration Law, in accordance with the Law to Promote Competition
and Reduce Concentration - 2013. For additional details, see Section 22 below.

7.6. Technological changes which could have a significant affect on the operating segment
As of the present date, various technologies are in the development stages. In the Photovoltaic Segment,
some of the technologies place an emphasis on increasing the efficiency of photovoltaic energy systems,
while others focus on reducing production costs of photovoltaic systems.
In the Wind Energy Segment, technological developments place an emphasis on increasing the efficiency
and output of turbines (which are primarily reflected in the size of the turbines), mostly in connection
with increasing the efficiency of the turbines at low wind speeds, and increasing the capacity of the
turbines, whereby, as of the Reporting Date, land-based turbines are installed with a production capacity
of over 5.3MW. In this regard, it is also noted that technological developments in the field of electricity
storage will allow the Company to store the electricity which is produced in the wind turbines (inter alia,
during the evening and night hours, which are known to be less busy consumption hours) and in the
Photovoltaic Segment, and therefore may allow the Company to sell more electricity during the high
demand hours, and thereby affect the Company’s profitability. However, as of the Approval Date of the
Report, the prices of solutions in the storage segment are in a downtrend, but are still of limited economic
profitability.
It should be noted that technological development, insofar as it will mature, will affect the economic
profitability of the construction of future projects, and not the projects which are currently active as of the
present date.
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7.7. Critical success factors in the operating segment and changes occurring therein
According to the Company’s estimate, the critical success factors for the Company’s activity in the
operating segments are as follows:
1) Climate data (such as sunlight and wind power) in the Company’s projects.
2)
The publication of quotas and tender processes by the relevant authority and regulatory updates
(publication of new arrangements, updates to existing arrangements and changes to the electricity
purchasing tariffs, concentration aspects).
3) Coordination between the various authorities and reducing bureaucratic barriers - coordination
between the relevant government offices and local authorities, including real estate authorities;
entities overseeing electricity and the production and distribution thereof, as well as planning
institutions.
4)
Financial stability and the ability to obtain the financing which is required for the Company’s
activities.
5)
The required cost of capital for the investment in projects and energy production costs from other
sources.
6)
The ability to locate appropriate land reserves, and the availability thereof, as well as the
Company’s access to additional projects for investment with economic profitability.
7)
Reputation, experience and proven ability to initiate, develop and build projects of significant
scopes.
8) Ability to meet the specified timetables in accordance with the relevant arrangements for the
operating segments in the various countries.
9) The ability to leverage business contacts and relationships with leading contractors and suppliers,
in order to allow economic maximization of each project, as required in tariff tender-based
arrangement.
7.8. Main barriers to entry and exit in the operating segment
The Company believes that the factors specified below constitute the main barriers to entry in the
Company’s operating segments:
1) The existence of capital as required to finance the initiation stage and the provision of the equity
required for the construction, or alternatively, access to financing sources for the purpose of
providing the aforementioned required capital.
2) Ability to create a connection to the land - the possibility of identifying suitable lands and engaging
in rental/lease agreements in connection with the land / real estate on which the Company wishes to
install the systems properly operating or wind systems.
3) availability of the power grid which is managed by the IEC / the relevant electric corporation - Ability
to accept and connect the system to the power grid.
4) Familiarity with the various regulatory directives which apply to the operating segment, and
compliance therewith, within timetables which allow the creation of a competitive and sustainable
business plan, for the purpose of contending in and winning competitive processes and tariff tenders,
and the ability complete all of the planning and regulatory processes which are required in order to
build the projects quickly and efficiently.
5) The receipt of the regulatory approvals which are required for the purpose of completing the
construction of facilities for the production of electricity from renewable energy sources.
6) Reputation, professional experience in the planning, initiation, construction and connection of
facilities for electricity production using renewable energies.
7) Support from stakeholders for the relevant activity.
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The Company believes that the main barriers to exit in the operating segments (i.e., realization and
sale of projects to third parties) include:
1) Fulfillment of the regulatory conditions which are required from the owners of a project / company
which hold the project in case of transfer of control (equity, experience, concentration aspects).
2) The Company’s ability to be released from its liabilities by virtue of agreements with the land owners;
Financing entities; Service providers and partners in the activity.
For additional details regarding the competition in the Company’s operating segment, and the
concentration of risk factors in the Company’s activity, see Sections 12 and 30 below.
7.9. Alternatives to products in the operating segment and changes occurring therein
Renewable energy includes, inter alia, thermosolar energy, biomass, biogas, hydro-electric energy and
geo-thermal energy. Except for photovoltaic energy and wind energy, all types of renewable energy
constitute alternatives to the Company’s operating segment.
8. Products and services
During the Reporting Period, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company is engaged in the
sale of the electricity which it produces, through the systems for the production of electricity from
renewable energy in the Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Energy Segment, which it initiates, builds
and operates. For additional information, see Section 7 above and Notes 9 and 29 in Part C of the Report
- Financial Statements.
Additionally, as part of the Company’s activity, the Company provides construction and/or operation
services for the projects which it owns (in construction and/or commercial operation stages, as applicable).
9. Segmentation of revenue and profitability of products
As of the Reporting Date, the Company’s revenues from the sale of electricity from photovoltaic systems
in Israel amount to a total of approximately NIS 59.4 million, approximately 35% of the Company’s total
income during the Reporting Period. The Company’s revenues from the sale of the electricity which is
produced in the wind farm in Poland amount to a total of approximately NIS 112.5 million, approximately
65% of the Company’s total income during the Reporting Period. For additional information, see Section
10 below and Notes 16, 17 and 29 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
10. Customers
10.1. Sale of electricity in Israel
As of the Reporting Date, the Company’s only customer in Israel is the IEC (the critical service provider),
which, in accordance with the terms of the relevant arrangement, engages with designated corporations
which are owned by the Company in long term agreements (20-23 years, depending on the regulatory
terms). The engagement with the IEC is done in accordance with tariffs which were determined by the
Electricity Authority within the framework of the previous arrangement, and with respect to projects under
construction, such engagements will be done according to the tariff which was determined in the relevant
tender (for additional details the tariffs which are relevant to the Company’s facilities, see Section 7.1.2
above). Therefore, despite the dependence on this customer, in light of the Electric Corporation’s status,
and the government’s support for its liabilities, and for the electricity sector in its entirety, the Company
does not believe that the aforementioned dependence could significantly affect its activities. The
Corporation’s revenues from the IEC during the Reporting Period amounted to NIS 59.4 million, which
constitute a rate of approximately 35% of the Company’s total revenues.
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10.2.

Sale of electricity and green certificates in Poland
10.2.1. General:
Due to the fact that the electricity market in Poland is a developed market in terms of
customers, electricity in Poland can be sold to various entities which are active in the electricity
segment, and to electricity traders (electricity marketers, brokers and other entities).
10.2.2. Customers with whom the scope of the engagement exceeds 10% of total revenues:
During the Reporting Period, the project company in the Banie project sold to Axpo Trading
AG (“Axpo”), an electricity trader which operates in Poland, the entire amount of black
electricity which it produced, as well as all of the green certificates which were provided to it
in that project. In accordance with the terms of the engagement with Axpo, the electricity
which is produced in its facilities was sold according to its price on the exchange, after
deducting fees, and the green certificates were sold in consideration of their prices on the
Polish Power Exchange. The price is calculated based on the weighted average of the
certificate prices for a defined period. The Company’s income from Axpo during the Reporting
Period amounted to NIS 108 million, which constitute a rate of approximately 63% of the
Company’s total income in its consolidated reports. Additionally, beginning in 2018, and as
of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company sells to Axpo also the black electricity which
is produced in the Iława project.
For details regarding transactions to peg the price of electricity during the Reporting Period,
and to peg the price of electricity and the prices of green certificates in 2019 and 2020, see
Section 7.2.4(c) above and Note 9f(3) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.

10.3. Sale of electricity and green certificates in the United States
For details regarding advanced negotiations of the Joint Venture (USA) towards an agreement for the
sale of electricity, see Section 7.1.3c above.
11. Marketing and distribution
As of the approval date of the Financial Statements, the Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic Segment
in Israel does not require marketing and distribution, since the Company’s only customer is the critical
service provider, which is required, in accordance with the local arrangement, to engage in long-term
agreements with the Company, and which is responsible for the distribution of electricity to end
consumers.
On all matters pertaining to the Company’s activity in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland, upon the
Company’s engagement with another player in the local electricity market in Poland, for the sale of
electricity or the sale of green certificates which were provided for the Company’s wind farm, that entity
is responsible for the marketing and distribution of the produced electricity and of the green certificates,
to end consumers or to other entities which trade electricity or green certificates on the Polish Power
Exchange. For details regarding the engagement by the relevant project company for the sale of the
electricity which is produced in the Company’s wind farm in Poland, and regarding the sale of the green
certificates which are provided to them, see Section 10.2 above. Note 9f in Part C of the Report - Financial
Statements.
12. Competition
As of the Reporting Date, many companies operate in Israel and in other markets in which the Company
is engaged in the renewable energy sector in general, and in the Photovoltaic Segment and the Wind
Energy Segment in particular.
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In general, according to the Company’s estimate, the renewable energy sector is competitive, and since
the activities of entrepreneurs in the renewable energy sector in Israel and in Poland depend on the quotas
which are published by the Electricity Authority, or by the local regulator, or in tariff tenders, the
Company’s ability to execute the projects which it is promoting may be restricted, insofar as the quotas
which will be published by the regulator are fully used by competitors, or if the Company does not win
the tariff tenders. According to the Company’s estimate, as of the Reporting Date, 5-10 relevant
competitors are active in the market for medium and large photovoltaic facilities in Israel. The segment
for large photovoltaic facilities which are connected to the transmission grid has fewer competitors, due
to the high barriers to entry, and the Company estimates that it has around five main competitors in this
segment. In the medium and large facilities segment, there is a trend of increasing the market share of
players with significant equity.
There is less competition in the Wind Energy Segment, due to the need for significant investments in the
project development stags, and due to the high barriers involved in their construction. Significant
competitors: To the best of the Company’s knowledge, several companies are currently active in the Israeli
market which compete directly with the Company, or which have the ability to compete with the Company
in Israel.
The photovoltaic market in the United States is divided into 50 different markets (according to the states),
and features saturation of producers and consumers, and as part of the above, competition takes place on
all matters pertaining to long term agreements for the sale and purchase of electricity.
As of the Reporting Period, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company estimates that its
share in the wind energy market in Israel and in Poland, and in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United
States, is immaterial.
Dealing with the Corporation’s competition and competitive position:
According to the Company’s estimate, factors such as experience and professionalism, rapid and highquality decision making ability, broad commercial connections with the leading entities in the renewable
energies field, the ability to execute and manage projects, accessibility and identification of suitable projects
for the Company’s activity, while providing accessible capital for investment in such projects - have the
potential to affect the success in the field, and to help deal with the current competition in its areas of
activity. On the other hand - the entry of additional players into the sector, which are able to build and
finance large scale projects; The multiplicity of players, which may lead to the exhaustion of quotas for the
sale of electricity, while using low quality products, of low prices, by some market players, which could
cause an erosion of profitability, and could adversely affect the Company’s competitive position. However,
the Company is working to continuously improve its performance in all of the aforementioned areas.
13. Production capacity
For information regarding the Company’s electricity production capacity, see Note 9 in Part C of the Report
- Financial Statements.
14. Seasonality
The sunlight and the speed of the wind in the different seasons naturally have an effect on the output of the
photovoltaic systems and wind farms. As regards the photovoltaic activity, in the spring and summer, in
which the sunlight is stronger, the output of the photovoltaic systems is higher. In the fall and winter, in
which the sunlight is relatively weak, the output of the systems decreases. In regards to the wind energy
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activity, the production of electricity is subject to changes in wind patterns over the seasons of the year,
according to the specific area in which the turbines are located, and also to variations in wind patterns
between the years. Based on the wind measurements which were made in the area of the Company’s wind
farms in Poland, the expectation is that the autumn and winter periods (first and fourth quarters), which are
characterized by strong winds, will be the months of increased output in the wind farms. It is hereby
clarified that actual weather conditions during a certain period may have a significant impact on the ability
of the Company’s facilities to produce electricity, whether in the Photovoltaic Segment or in the Wind
Energy Segment.
Presented below is the distribution of revenue from the sale of electricity from the Company’s
systems during the Reporting Period:
Distribution of income due to
seasonality
In the Photovoltaic Segment in
Israel
In the Wind Energy Segment in
Poland

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

20.0%

30.0%

30.0%

20.0%

100%

30.0%

20.0%

20.0%

30.0%

100%

15. Fixed assets
The Company’s facilities are installed on land and rooftops which are not owned by the Company. The
lease areas are leased to the Group for long periods of up to 24 years and 11 months in Israel, or 29 years
in Poland. The property of the facility is owned by the Company (but may be pledged in favor of financing
entities), and includes, in the Photovoltaic Segment, primarily the panels, the converters, the installation
infrastructure, and, if necessary, also substations, and in the Wind Energy Segment, includes the wind
turbines, substations (if any are installed in the wind farm), and the electricity infrastructure which is used
to connect the wind farm and transmit the electricity produced therein to the Polish power grid. It is hereby
clarified that insofar as the Company (directly or through companies and partnerships which it owns)
receives financing with respect to the facilities which it owns, all of the rights to those facilities are charged
to secure the Company’s liabilities by virtue of the financing agreements.
The Company has no material fixed assets other than the electricity production systems which it owns. For
additional information, see Note in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
For details regarding the rental of rooftops and areas for the purpose of building projects, see Note 9 and
Note 18 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
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16. Human capital
16.1. Organizational structure
Presented below is a diagram illustrating the Company’s organizational structure as of the date of the
report:

Construction and
engineering
department

Business
initiation
and
development in
Israel

CEO
Business
Legal
initiation
and department
development

Finance
department

Office of the
CEO
and
Administration

During the Reporting Period, and until the Approval Date of the Report, the Company expanded its
workforce as part of its preparations for the increase in its activities during the Reporting Period, and
towards 2019. As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company employs, directly and indirectly, 39
employees, as compared with 33 employees as of the Reporting Date last year, all of whom are adequately
qualified for their positions. All of the Company’s employees are employed through personal employment
contracts. The employment agreements include the employee’s employment terms, social benefits,
vacation days, food and lodging expenses (for some employees), convalescence, advance notice prior to
conclusion of employment, confidentiality undertaking, etc. For the most part, the Company’s liabilities
for employee severance benefits are covered by provisions to managers’ insurance policies and a
severance pay reserve. Additionally, it is the Company’s practice to grant equity compensation to
employees (for details, see Section 16.6 below), holiday gifts and annual bonuses (in cash or as equity
compensation), in accordance with the employee’s performance during the relevant year, and the
Company’s business results.
The Company also receives management and support services from Alony Hetz, through its employees,
in various areas, including strategic accompaniment, business policy, business development, assistance
with raising capital and financing, accounting and legal considerations, and tenure of Alony Hetz
employees as directors in the Company (hereinafter: the “Management Services”). The management
services, and the consideration with respect thereto, are regulated within the framework of the
management agreement with Alony Hetz. For additional details, see Regulation 22 in Part D of the Report
- Additional Details, and Note 25 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
The Company has no significant dependence on any particular employee.
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16.2. Corporate officers and executives in Israel
The Company’s corporate officers who are not directors are employed through personal employment
agreements, and in accordance with the compensation policy.
(1) For details regarding the chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, and the provision of services
by him in accordance with the management agreement with Alony Hetz, see Note 25a in Part C of the
Report - Financial Statements. (2) For details regarding the main terms of the employment agreement
with the Company’s CEO, decisions regarding annual compensation and options which were granted to
him, see Regulation 21 in Part D of the Report - Additional Details, and Note 25c in Part C of the Report
- Financial Statements; (3) For details regarding the main terms of the employment agreements with the
Company’s corporate officers, including decisions regarding annual compensation and options which
were provided to each of them, as applicable, and regarding the resolution of the Company’s Board of
Directors (after a recommendation from the Compensation Committee was received) to amend their
employment agreements, as applicable, see Regulation 21 of Part D of the Report - Additional Details.
For details regarding release, indemnity and insurance for corporate officers, including an update thereto
following resolutions of the Company’s Compensation Committee and Board of Directors proximate to
the Approval Date of the Report, see Regulation 21 in Part D of the Report - Additional Details, and Note
25D in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
16.3. Corporate officers and executives abroad
For the purpose of addressing the Company’s activity in the United States, and the commencement of
works for the construction of the Projects in Virginia, an American subsidiary owned by the Company
engaged with an executive highly experienced in the construction of photovoltaic facilities in the United
States, to serve as VP Construction and Development for the Company’s projects in the United States,
which will enter into effect on April 8, 2019.
16.4. Material changes in the Company’s workforce during the Reporting Period
No material changes occurred in the Company’s workforce during the Reporting Period. With respect to
the corporate officers, on May 2, 2018, Ms. Miriam Gez began serving as a director in the Company,
instead of Ms. Dorit Ben Simon, whose tenure concluded.
16.5. Compensation plans for corporate officers
For details regarding the compensation policy for the Company’s corporate officers, as approved by the
general meeting on May 4, 2016, see the supplementary immediate report regarding the convention of the
general meeting from April 24, 2016, reference no. 2016-01-046399, which is presented herein, in its
entirety, by way of reference.
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16.6. Options plan for employees and corporate officers
The Company considers the provision of equity compensation, which constitutes long-term
compensation, as consistent with the Company’s objectives, and as creating an identity of interests
between the employee and the Company’s success. Additionally, the provision of options-based
compensation does not involve any cash flow expense for the Company.
As of the approval date of the Financial Statements, the Company has 3 options plans, by virtue of which
options were granted, or can be granted, to employees and corporate officers in the Company for the
acquisition of Company shares, in accordance with the provisions of section 102 of the Income Tax
Ordinance (New Version) (Hereinafter: “Section 102”):
(1) First and second plans: Options which were granted in accordance with the plan will be granted on a
four year basis, will be subject to a (gradual) 4 year vesting period, and will expire five years after the
date of the resolution. The exercise price was determined in accordance with the Board of Directors’
resolution.
Beginning on January 1, 2014, the Company has not granted any additional options by virtue of the first
and second plans, and the balance of options which were allocated thereunder expired (insofar as they
were not exercised into Company shares in accordance with their terms) in July 2018.
(2) Third plan: In accordance with the terms of the plan, and unless the Company’s Board of Directors has
decided otherwise, options which were granted in accordance with the plan will be subject to a two year
vesting period, and will be exercisable until 3 years after the date of the Board of Directors’ resolution to
grant them, with respect to options which were granted until March 5, 2017, and until 3 years after their
granting date, with respect to options which will be granted from that date onwards. The exercise price
will be determined in accordance with the higher of:
A) The weighted average of the Company’s share price on the stock exchange during the 30 trading
days ending one day before the Board of Directors’ resolution to grant the options.
B) 8% over the share price, at the end of the stock exchange trading day before the date of the Board of
Directors’ resolution to grant the options.
On March 11, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to amend the third plan, according to
which the number of options subject to the plan was increased from 20 million options to 32 million
options, and also, a possibility will be given to exercise options through a “net exercise” mechanism,
according to the formula specified in the options plan. Additionally, according to the aforementioned
amendment, and in accordance with the terms of the plan, the granting of options to offerees who are not
residents of Israel will also be allowed. The proposed amendment to the third plan will enter into effect
within 30 days after the date of its submission to the tax authorities.
It is hereby clarified, within the framework of allocations by virtue of the third plan, that some of the
options were granted to corporate officers or employees instead of a cash bonus, and therefore, the
Company’s Board of Directors, by virtue of its authority in accordance with the third plan, accelerated
the vesting of those options which were granted instead of cash, such that they will be immediately
exercisable.
Long term options plan to the Company’s CEO: For details regarding a designated options plan for the
Company’s CEO, as approved in the general meeting on May 2016, and regarding the options which were
allocated to the Company’s CEO in accordance with the aforementioned plan, see Note 25c in Part C of
the Report - Financial Statements, and the supplementary immediate report regarding the convention of
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the general meeting on April 24, 2016, reference no. 2016-01-046399, which is presented herein, in its
entirety, by way of reference.
For details regarding the granting of options to the Company’s employees and to the Company’s corporate
officers, including subsequent to the Reporting Date, see Note 32D in Part C of the Report - Financial
Statements, and Regulation 21 in Part D of the Report - Additional Details.
17. Raw materials and suppliers
For details regarding the raw materials which are relevant to the Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic
Segment and in the Wind Energy Segment, and the Company’s liabilities vis-à-vis suppliers, see Sections
7.4.1 and 7.4.2 above, respectively.
18. Working capital
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has no working capital deficit.
19. Financing
19.1. General:
The Company is required, or may be required, to provide significant capital to finance the construction of
the electricity production projects in which it is involved in the Photovoltaic Segment and in the
Photovoltaic Segment. As a result, the Company’s activity is financed by the Company’s equity, or by a
combination of the equity component and the long-term external financing component, which is
implemented in a project finance outline, and is based on the expected income from a third party
undertaking to acquire the electricity which is produced from the relevant systems in long-term
agreements.
For additional information regarding external financing agreements to which the Company is party, see
Note 13 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
19.2.

Reportable credit:
19.2.1. As of the Reporting Date and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company has
financing agreements with third parties structured as project finance and on a non-recourse
basis, which are secured by the facilities owned by the Company (directly or indirectly). For
details regarding material agreements for the provision of a credit facility, see Note 13 in Part
C of the Report - Financial Statements.
19.2.2. For details regarding credit which was received in the period from the Reporting Date until
proximate to the approval date of the Financial Statements, see Note 13 in Part C of the Report
- Financial Statements.

19.3.

Presented below is information regarding additional financing sources which may be available
to the Company and the Group:
19.3.1. For details regarding the Company’s engagement in agreements to finance the construction of
the Winning Projects in the first and second competitive processes of the Electricity Authority,
see Notes 13a and 13b in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
19.3.2. For additional information regarding the Company’s unused credit facilities, see Note 13 in
Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
19.3.3. The Company has a shelf prospectus which is in effect until May 29, 2019, which could serve
as a platform to raise funds from the Company, if necessary. The Company intends to work
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towards the publication of a new shelf prospectus, subject to the approval of the Israel
Securities Authority.
20. Taxation
20.1. Taxation of companies
For additional information, see Note 28 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
20.2. Taxation of land
In general, the Company’s activity does not involve the acquisition and sale of real estate properties, but
rather, engagements for the rental of real estate for periods which do not exceed 24 years and 11 months
in Israel, and 29 years in Poland, for the purpose of the operation of electricity production facilities. The
Company may be exposed to claims from the tax authorities and/or local committees, regarding the
payment of fees, levies, and various taxes. Additionally, land taxation applies in Poland which is based
on the cost of the fixed parts of the projects, mostly turbine bases and columns. For details regarding
changes in the method used to calculate tax, see Note 28 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
21. Environmental considerations
21.1. Photovoltaic Segment:
Environmental considerations which pertain to the Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic Segment in
Israel may apply on all matters associated with the wear and tear of the components in the photovoltaic
systems at the end of their activity periods. In this regard, the Environmental Treatment of Electrical and
Electronic Equipment and Batteries Law - 2012 prescribes various obligations which apply to the owners
of electronic equipment and of batteries, including regarding the removal and handling of electronic
waste. As of the Approval Date of the Reports, the law has no significant impact on the Company’s
activity, as currently phrased; however, it may have an impact in the future, insofar as the systems,
including their constituent parts, constitute “electronic waste”. The statutory promotion of the
construction of facilities also includes taking into account environmental considerations, and the facilities’
impact on the environment, including in terms of land use and landscape effects. The Company’s project
in Neot Hovav may involve additional considerations, due to the fact that the system in Neot Hovav was
built in areas of restored pools on land which was previously polluted, and which underwent a recovery
process, the completion of which was approved and is monitored by the Ministry of Environmental
Protection. On this matter, it should be noted that, within the framework of the agreements between the
Company and Neot Hovav Council, the Council approved that the Company will not bear any liability
whatsoever in connection with the area of the system which is leased from the Council, except in case of
a breach, by the Company, of its undertakings with respect to the land.
On all matters pertaining to the Company’s activity in the United States, the projects which will be built
in this framework are subject to environmental laws on the local and federal levels, the majority of which
are generally managed by the department of environmental quality in the relevant state. A condition for
the receipt of the required permits for the construction of the projects is the performance of environmental
surveys and various tests, including archaeological, biological, historical and environmental surveys, as
well as an evaluation of the effects of each project on the surrounding environment, as well as compliance
with the environmental provisions which apply to each project site.
21.2. Wind Energy Segment
On all matters pertaining to the Wind Energy Segment, due to the very nature and size of wind energy
electricity production facilities, environmental considerations affect this area of engagement. As a result,
the Ministry of Environmental Protection and/or environmental organizations in Israel and in Poland are
actively and closely involved in the development and planning process of wind farms, and in monitoring
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their construction and operation. In each project which is promoted by the Company, an in-depth
evaluation process is performed in order to evaluate the effect of the project on environmental
considerations, the environment, and sustainability considerations. The selection of the land is done in
advance on polygons which were evaluated and approved, in advance, as areas which minimize and
balance, in the best possible way, the wind quality in the project, and minimum harm to the environment.
The Company evaluates and invests a great deal of resources in monitoring and in the performance of bird
and bat surveys, noise measurement, evaluation of the project’s landscape impacts, and optimal planning
of the distribution of turbines, minimization of the flicker effect, and compliance with the
recommendations of the Ministry of Health.
21.3.

Environmental risks and methods for the management thereof
As of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, and subject to the provisions
specified below, the Company is not aware of any environmental risks which have, or could have, a
significant impact on the Company, or on the provisions of the law with respect to environmental risks,
which have significant implications on the Company’s and its activities.
The Company complies with all applicable laws to reduce environmental risks, and to the best of its
knowledge, it complied with all environmental regulations required in order to receive the permits for the
operation of the Company’s facilities.
The Company’s policy with respect to the management of environmental risks constitutes a part of its
general risk management policy, and focuses on activities to reduce to the minimum any possible negative
effects on the Group’s activities. Risk management is primarily performed by the Company’s CEO,
through routine monitoring of the regulatory developments which pertain to the Company’s activity,
including with respect to environmental risks. As part of the overall risk management of the Group, the
Company’s Board of Directors has determined that the CEO of the Company will regularly report to the
Chairman of the Board of Directors on the existing level of exposure.
As of the Reporting Date, the Company’s is not party to any legal proceedings (including any material
legal or administrative proceedings) associated with the environment, to which the Company or any of its
corporate officers are party. Additionally, the Company was not party to any such proceedings during the
year preceding the date of this report. As of the Reporting Date, no amounts were ruled, and no provisions
were recognized, in the Financial Statements, and no other environmental costs applied to the Company.

22. Restrictions and supervision of the Corporation
The Concentration Law
On December 11, 2013, the Law to Promote Competition and Reduce Concentration - 2013 was published
in the Official Gazette (hereinafter, in this section: the “Concentration Law” or the “Law”), by virtue of
which, in December 2014, the Committee for the Reduction of Concentration published for the first time
a list of concentration entities, a list of significant real corporations, and a list of significant financial
entities. In the committee’s last publication in the Official Gazette, on October 28, 2018, the names of the
Company and of its owned subsidiaries appear both on the list of concentration entities, and on the list of
significant real corporations, due to the fact that the Company is indirectly controlled by a concentration
entity.
In accordance with the law, in an allocation of rights, including a license for the operating segment which
is defined as a critical infrastructure segment, the entity granting the right must take into consideration
branch-specific competition considerations, in consultation with the Antitrust Commissioner.
Additionally, in an allocation of such rights to a concentration entity, the entity granting the right must take
into account industry-wide concentration considerations, in consultation with the committee for the
reduction of concentration, in the manner prescribed in the law.
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The foregoing may affect the Company, which is defined as a concentration entity in a critical
infrastructure segment, due to the fact that its controlling shareholder (indirectly) is a concentration entity,
in the event that the Company applies for a production license which pertains to the construction and
operation of an electricity production power plant, at a capacity exceeding 175MW, which is connected to
the power grid. It is noted that this capacity is considered large, and the Company does not currently have
an active project of this scale in Israel, nor is it developing any such porject in Israel as of the Approval
Date of the Report.
Credit restrictions - Section 26 of the Concentration Law determines that the Minister of Finance, or any
entity authorized by him for this purpose, and the Governor of the Bank of Israel, or any entity authorized
by him for this purpose, will determine provisions regarding restrictions on credit which will be given to a
corporation or to a business group by financial entities, cumulatively, in consideration of, inter alia, the
liability of each corporation, or the total liability of the business group, as applicable. In this section,
“business group” means a controlling shareholder and companies under its control, “financial entity”
means an institutional entity, banking corporation, auxiliary corporation and clearing entity. It is noted
that, despite the fact that the Concentration Law prescribes that the first provisions regarding credit
restrictions will be determined within one year after the publication date of the law (including to option to
extend by an additional year), i.e., until December 11, 2015, after the aforementioned extension, to the best
of the Company’s knowledge, the said provisions have not yet been established.
The significance of section 26 of the Law is that credit restrictions on the Company’s controlling
shareholders, if and insofar as any are imposed, will also apply the Group’s member companies, with
respect to the credit which is received from financial entities in Israel.
In addition to the foregoing, the Concentration Law may have a direct impact on the Company’s controlling
shareholders, or on institutional entities which hold, or which may hold, its shares, with respect to their
holdings in the Company, as follows:
1. The Concentration Law prescribes, inter alia, that the controller of a significant real corporation will not
control a banking corporation which constitutes a significant financial entity, and will not hold more than
10% of a certain type of the means of control of a banking corporation (the Governor of the Bank of Israel
is entitled to determine a lower rate, which will not fall below 5%). The Concentration Law further
determines that anyone who duly held, prior to the publication of the law, the means of control of a banking
corporation, as stated above, above the aforementioned rate, will be entitled to keep such holdings until 6
years after the publication date of the law (December 11, 2013), subject to the provisions which were
determined in the law15.
2. The Concentration Law determines that an insurer will not hold more than 10% of a certain type of the
means of control in a significant real corporation (the holding rate will not include the holdings of a
financial entity under the control of an insurer)16.
It is emphasized that the responsibility for complying with the aforementioned provisions of the law applies
to the aforementioned controlling shareholders / shareholders, and not to the Group.
For details regarding additional restrictions and supervision of the Corporation, see the section regarding
restrictions and supervision of the Corporation, in section 7.5 above, and environmental risks and methods
for the management thereof, in section 21 above.
23. Material agreements
David Wertheim, one of the controlling shareholders of Alony Hetz, the Company’s controlling shareholder, holds (indirectly) shares
of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd., including shares which are included in the bank’s control core.
16 As of the date of this publication, there is no insurer which holds (nostro) 10% or more of the Company’s capital.
15
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The Company has no material agreements which are not in the ordinary course of business, to which the
Company is party. However, presented below are the significant agreements which constitute a part of the
Company’s activity during the Reporting Period:
23.1. Collaboration agreements as specified below in section 24.
23.2. For details regarding external financing transactions for the Company’s projects, including the
engagement, during the Reporting Period, in a financing transaction for the construction of the winning
projects in the Second Tender (52MWp), see Note 13(c) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
23.3. For details regarding the Company’s management agreement with Alony Hetz, its controlling
shareholder, see Note 22 in Part D - Additional Details, and Note 25A in Part C of the Report Financial Statements.
23.4. For details regarding the Company’s engagement in an agreement for the acquisition of the entire stake
in the Iława wind project in Poland, with a capacity of 13.2 MW, see Note 9f(2) in Part C of the Report
- Financial Statements.
24. Collaboration agreements
24.1. Joint venture (Israel) agreement - See Notes 14a(1) and 9c in Part C of the Report - Financial
Statements.
24.2. Joint Venture Agreement with respect to activities in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United
States - The Company has an agreement with an American entrepreneur for the construction of a Joint
Venture whose purpose is the construction, financing and operation of projects in the Photovoltaic
Segment in the United States, whcih was amended proximate to the Reporting Date. For additional
information, see Section 7.1.3b above and Notes 14a(2) and 9d in Part C of the Report - Financial
Statements.
25. Legal proceedings
As of the Reporting Date, the Company is not involved in any material legal proceedings.
26. Goals and business strategy
The Company has set for itself the goal of being an independent power producer (IPP) which initiates,
develops and owns, for the long term, projects in the field of renewable energies, and as a strategy, has
decided to specialize in the operating segments involving the production of electricity from photovoltaic
energy and from wind energy, in Israel and abroad. Accordingly, since the commencement of its activities
as a company in the renewable energy sector, the Company set for itself a central goal of focusing on the
initiation and development of projects in Israel, both in the Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Segment,
and has substantiated its position in the photovoltaic market as a major player and leader. In parallel, the
Company also operated in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland, while identifying investment
opportunities.
In 2016, the Company performed comprehensive work in order to evaluate its long term strategy, including
the evaluation of new markets. According to the strategic work conclusions, the Company is working to
maintain its basic anchor as a leading and central player in Israel, is retaining its advantages as a strong
and active player in the Wind Segment in Poland, and in parallel, is working to create another significant
anchor in the United States, with priority for the photovoltaic market in the states of the East Coast.
According to the Company’s estimate, in the coming period, the activity anchor in Israel, and in the Wind
Segment, in Poland as well, will continue being dominant and primary in its activities, whereas the activity
in the United States will become significant in the coming years, in parallel with the activities in Israel and
in Poland. In accordance with the goals of the strategic plan, the Company’s vision is to reach 700MW of
connected projects by the end of 2020, and approximately 1GW of connected projects by the end of 2022.
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In addition to the above, the Company also routinely evaluates the expansion of its activities in the
Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Energy Segment in various territories, as well as the expansion of
its operating segments in Israel (including extraction facilities).
The information presented above constitutes Forward-Looking Information.
27. Anticipated developments in the coming year
Further to the continued production of clean electricity with installed capacity of 258MW in the Company’s
current commercially active facilities, and completion of the construction of photovoltaic facilities with
installed capacity of 150MWp, the Company anticipates that, in the coming year, it will continue
developing and expanding its business operations in the Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Energy
Segment in the countries where it is engaged.
The Company estimates that it will focus on the construction of the facilities in the Photovoltaic Segment,
as part of its winning of the Second Tender of the Electricity Authority, and as part of its activity in the
United States, with a total capacity of 150 MWp. The Company is also expected to prepare for the
construction of additional facilities, and for bringing the portfolio in the Photovoltaic Segment to a state of
pre-construction preparedness, depending on its wining of additional tariff tenders which were published
by the Electricity Authority during the Reporting Period and until the publication date of the report, as well
as tenders which will be published in 2019.
In the Wind Energy Segment in Israel, the Company will continue promoting the initiation and
development of projects in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel, and particularly, the promotion of the Clean
Wind Energy Project, with the aim of reaching a financial closing in the second half of 2019. In the Wind
Energy Segment in Poland, the Company intends to participate in the tender tariff which is expected to be
published by the government of Poland in the second or third quarter of 2019, and to prepare for
commencing the construction of two wind farms which it owns, depending on its winning of the tender, or
on the market conditions in Poland. The Company also routinely evaluates the expansion of its series of
owned projects. As part of the above, the Company may work towards the acquisition of wind farms in
development, construction or commercial operation stages.
In the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States - Along with the construction of the first projects, the
Company intends to continue expanding its activities, while promoting and expanding the series of projects
in development which are owned by the Joint Venture (USA). However, in light of the market’s
complexity, and the fact that it is a new market for the Company, the Company intends to continue adopting
a relative moderate approach on this matter.
The information presented above constitutes Forward-Looking Information.
28. Extraordinary changes in the Company’s business
The Company is not aware of any extraordinary changes in its business affairs, including in the ordinary
course of business, during the period from the date of the Financial Statements until the Approval Date of
the Report. For information regarding events after the Reporting Date, see Note 32 in Part C of the Report
- Financial Statements.
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29. Events or matters which are not in the Company’s ordinary course of business
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there is no event or matter which was not addressed in sections
7 to 28 of the report, and which deviates from the Company’s ordinary course of business, due to its nature,
scope, or possible result, and which have, or may have, a significant impact on the Company.
30. Risk factors

30.1.

Macro-economic risk factors:
Exchange rate
The Company’s financial statements are prepared in the currency of the main economic environment
in which it operates - the New Israeli Shekel. In light of the Company’s activity in Poland and in the
United States, and due to the fact that its revenues and expenses in these environments are in Zloty
and in US Dollar, respectively, the Company is exposed to changes in the Zloty exchange rate and the
Dollar exchange rate. Additionally, until the operation date of the systems (both in the Photovoltaic
Segment and in the Wind Segment), the Company’s cash flows may be exposed to the exchange rate
of the NIS relative to foreign currencies, due to the fact that the majority of equipment is purchased
from its suppliers in foreign currency.

30.2.

Increase in input costs
Increases in input costs (including the prices of photovoltaic panels, or wind turbine components) may
affect increases in the prices of raw materials which are used in the production of the photovoltaic
systems or the wind turbines, and as a result, the price at which the Company acquired its systems
from manufacturers and suppliers. Any such change may affect the Company’s future cash flows, and
may affect the economic profitability of the acquisition and construction of the systems, or their
components.

30.3.

Exposure to changes in interest rates
As of the Reporting Date, all of the Group’s financing agreements are at fixed interest, excluding the
financing agreement for the Banie Project, in which interest is linked to the WIBOR. In the financing
agreement, it was determined that the interest on the loan, with respect to no less than 75% of the loan
amount, will be hedged to a fixed price for periods of five (5) years (except it agreed otherwise between
the parties), and therefore, the Group is exposed to changes in the interest rate with respect to the
remaining 25%, and to changes in interest rates in periods after five (5) years. Changes in the interest
rates in the economy and around the world may affect the prices of credit to finance future projects in
the Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Energy Segment, and may affect the economic profitability
of the acquisition and construction of additional systems.

30.4.

Exposure to changes in the index
The Company has an accumulated income from electricity in Israel, in accordance with a tariff which
is updated once per year, according to the Consumer Price Index. Additionally, in accordance with the
new arrangement regarding the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel, the tariff will be linked to different
indices (as chosen by the winner). On the other hand, in most the Company’s engagements with lessors
of assets for the projects, the payment of rent is performed through linkage to the Consumer Price
Index. Additionally, most of the Group’s external financing with respect to the projects in Israel is
CPI-linked. Therefore, the Company is exposed to fluctuations in the Consumer Price Index, and
accordingly, the Company’s future cash flows are also exposed to changes in the Consumer Price
Index.
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30.5.

30.6.

Cybersecurity risks
Cyber attacks could affect the operation of the Company’s wind turbines (which are operated by
computerized systems), and as a result, the scope of production of those wind turbines. The Company
works to prevent or reduce the exposure to cybersecurity risks, using cybersecurity defense systems
which are installed on the Company’s control and monitoring systems, in collaboration with a
cybersecurity consultant, and under the Company’s ongoing supervision.
Branch-specific risk factors:
Non-receipt of licenses, quotas, and winning of tariff tenders
Non-receipt of licenses for the production of photovoltaic or wind energy by the Company and/or the
exhaustion of quotas for the acquisition of photovoltaic or wind energy in the Company’s operating
environment, and non-winning of relevant tariff tenders, will affect the Company’s goals and business
strategy, with respect to the performance of additional investments in the photovoltaic and Wind
Segment in Israel and abroad.

30.7.

Dependence on the receipt of a permits and approvals
For the purpose of building the photovoltaic facilities and wind facilities, it is necessary to perform
works on the land, and to obtain all of the relevant permits and approvals from the various authorities
in Israel, Poland and the United States, such as, inter alia, local authorities and planning and building
committees, various government offices (in Israel also the Ministry of Defense, in certain cases), the
Israel Land Authority, environmental authorities, and the holders of the land rights. There is no
certainty that all of the permits and approvals will indeed be given, or that they will be given in
accordance with the planned timetable for each project. Additionally, the aforementioned permits may
be contingent on various conditions, which could cause delays in the schedule, or increased costs
associated with the process, to the point where the project could become unprofitable for the Company.

30.8.

Dependence on a long term engagement with an electricity consumer / electricity buyer in the
United States
The sale of the electricity which is produced in the Company’s facilities in the United States depends,
inter alia, on the Company’s ability to find an electricity consumer / electricity buyer. There is no
certainty that the Company will succeed in finding an electricity consumer that will be interested in
buying the electricity at a price which allows reaching the desirable returns for the Company, and with
a long term commitment, and the Company’s success depends on the contacts that it manage to create
with potential electricity consumers in the market, and on winning tariff tenders which will be
published by the electric electricity corporations.

30.9.

Weather conditions and changes in climate
The Company’s ability to produce electricity, and electric from the sale of such electric, is significantly
affected by weather conditions - in the wind farms, due to the wind power and actual wind quantity,
and in the photovoltaic systems, the output of the Company’s systems is primarily a result of the
intensity of sunlight (sunlight intensity and sunlight hours), temperature conditions and other climate
parameters. Therefore, climate and weather changes have a direct impact on the scope of electricity
production in the facilities owned by the Company.

30.10. Lack of financing sources or difficulty in obtaining financing
A recession in economic activity around the world and/or geopolitical changes could reduce financing
sources and lead to an increase in financing costs for the projects, which would harm the profitability
of the projects and the Company’s profitability, and could pose risk to the Company’s ability to build
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projects. Additionally, the Company may be subject to credit restrictions of financing entities, by virtue
of legislation and regulatory directives on the matter, whether by virtue of the provisions of directives
issued by the Commissioner of Banks regarding a branch-specific restriction or a restriction on an
individual borrower or group of borrowers.
30.11. Breaches by the system manager or critical service provider
The transmission of electricity which is produced at the Company’s facilities to the power grid, and
the sale thereof, depends, inter alia, on the availability of the power grid to accept the aforementioned
electricity. Breaches by the manager of the power grid or critical service provider which is responsible
for the operation of the grid and intaking the electricity which is produced in the Company’s systems
may create exposure for the Company with respect to electricity which has not been accepted into the
grid, for which consideration will be received.
30.12. Changes to the tariff per KWh which is sold to the IEC
Further to that stated in section 7.2.3 above, regarding the arrangement in the Wind Segment in Israel,
as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Electricity Authority is working to link the tariffs for the
acquisition of electricity, with respect to projects which have not yet been connected, to calculation
formulas which are based on different variables, including the Bloomberg Index for the estimated
construction costs of renewable energy facilities around the world, changes to the USD and EUR
exchange rates, and the Consumer Price Index. Due to the fact that there is uncertainty regarding the
question of whether the tariff which will be determined on the date of issuance of the tariff approval
indeed correctly reflect the construction costs of facilities and the economic variables, any future
change in the tariff amount will affect the Company’s flows from the wind facilities which will be
installed, the profitability of entering into new projects in the Wind Segment, and its ability to service
its liabilities towards financing entities. Additionally, the Electricity Authority may change the policy
regarding the determination of tariffs for the acquisition of electricity with respect to the connected
facilities. It is noted that, with respect to the tariff regarding income from electricity for systems which
were connected to the power grid, or which have already been given fixed tariff approvals, the
Company believes that there is low exposure to the possibility that changes will be implemented to
them retroactively.
30.13. Changes to the electricity prices in Poland
The electricity prices in Poland are determined based on the trading on the electricity stock exchange,
and are affected by the supply and demand for electricity in Poland. The Company’s revenue from the
sale of electricity in Poland is based on the prices of electricity on the power exchange, and
accordingly, a decrease in such prices would reduce the cash flow income from the Company’s projects
in Poland.
30.14. Changes to the prices of green certificates in Poland
The prices of green certificates in Poland are determined based on trading on a designated stock
exchange, and are affected by the supply and demand for certificates, which are affected by the
renewable energy arrangements in Poland. The Company is exposed to risk of a decrease in the prices
of green certificates, or to a decline in the demand for them, and therefore, the cash flow income from
the Company’s projects project will be reduced.
30.15. Changes to the electricity prices in the United States
The prices of electricity in the United States are specified in an agreement for the sale of electricity
which is sold to the local electric corporation or to another electricity consumer. The price of electricity
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in agreements of this kind is determined in accordance with market conditions, which are affected by
macro-economic factors, and supply and demand in the market at that time. Therefore, the Company
is exposed to the risk of declining electricity prices in the market, before signing electricity sale
agreements, or after the expiration thereof, which would reduce its revenues. Additionally, in
agreements with private electricity consumers, the price of electricity in the agreements is based on
the electricity prices on the local power exchange, including a certain hedge for deviations in price,
and accordingly, a decrease in those prices would reduce the income flows from the Company’s
projects.
30.16. Changes to the prices of green certificates in the United States
The prices of green certificates in the United States are specified in the agreement for the sale of
certificates which are based on similar market transactions. These prices are affected by macroeconomic factors, and by supply and demand in the market at that time. Therefore, the Company is
exposed to the risk of declining prices of green certificates in the market, before signing certificate
sale agreements, or after the expiration thereof, which would reduce its revenues.
30.17. Compliance with the required conditions to receive tax benefits in the United States
The costs of installing facilities in the United States are based on the establishment of tax incentives,
which allow receipt of a benefit which reduces the construction cost of the projects, and which is are
given on the date when the facility is connected to the power grid (with respect to photovoltaic
facilities). The benefit which is received is generally sold by the entrepreneur to a company with a tax
liability, which pays for the tax benefit. If the Company does not meet the required conditions to
receive the benefit, beginning from the date of receipt of the benefit, and during the subsequent five
years, the Company may lose some or all of the tax benefits which were provided to it. If the Company
engages in a transaction for the sale of the tax benefit to another company, the loss of tax benefits in a
significant amount may result in a breach of the engagement. The loss of benefits, as stated above,
could adversely affect the Company’s cash flows, and its effectively received returns.
30.18. Functionality of facilities, natural hazards, war and terrorism
The Company’s income depends on the functionality of its facilities and the production of electricity
from the facilities. The Company is therefore exposed to problems involving the functionality of its
facilities, including malfunctions in the actions of the substations with respect to the transmission of
electricity to the grid. The Company may also be exposed to acts of terrorism, vandalism, theft, the
presence of unexploded ordnances in areas where facilities are planned for installation, and natural
hazards in the area of the facilities. All of the above may create delays in the planned timetables of the
projects and/or additional costs for the removal or treatment of those hazards.
30.19. Exposure to land issues (general)
The construction of facilities for electricity production require the creation of a connection to the land
on which the facilities are installed and the receipt of various permits and approvals for the purpose of
transferring infrastructure and installing the equipment as required for the Company’s systems. The
associated costs involved in creating the connection to the land may have a significant impact on the
level of profitability and feasibility of the projects being promoted by the Company, and the Company
is working to reduce the impact of those exposures on the projects which it is developing, or to hedge
against them in advance.
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30.20. Exposure to land issues in Poland
The relevant rental agreements for the construction of the project include an undertaking on the part
of the lessor not to charge the leased land, or to perform any action with respect to it in a manner which
could harm or restrict the use of the land in favor of the project. However, in accordance with Polish
law, insofar as enforcement or bankruptcy proceedings will be initiated against any of the owners of
the lands which are leased in favor of the project, and within the framework of the enforcement or
bankruptcy proceedings, new owners will have the land, and only in the aforementioned cases of
enforcement and bankruptcy, the new owner will be entitled not to be bound by the rental agreements
in place of the original lessor, subject to the provision of notice on the matter to the lessee one month
after the date of their acquisition of the land, when the cancellation came into effect one year after the
cancellation notice.
30.21. Environmental considerations
The Company’s activity may involve various environmental risks. For additional details, see Section
21 above.
30.22. Changes in the regulatory environment in Israel
As specified in sections 7.2.1 a-c, 7.2.3 a-c and 7.5 above, the Company’s activity is subject to the
arrangement which applies in Israel. The Group’s income from such activity is exposed to changes
which may occur in the regulatory environment, inter alia, in connection with the tariffs which were
determined for the sale of electricity, the IEC, and various conditions which the Company is required
to meet in order to receive the licenses for the construction of renewable energy facilities.
30.23. Changes to the regulatory environment in Poland
The Company’s activity is subject to the Polish arrangement and to the Polish Renewable Energies
Law. Changes to the regulatory environment in Poland may have a significant affect on the Company’s
activity. For additional details regarding the regulatory environment in Poland, see Section 7.2.4
above.
30.24. Changes in the regulatory environment in the United States
The Company’s activity as part of the Joint Venture in the United States is subject to the American
regulatory framework, and is particularly affected by the American tax regime. Regulatory changes,
such as reduction of the tax benefits which are given for photovoltaic facilities in the United States,
may expose the Company to loss of incentives, or may impose on the Company additional unplanned
costs. The reduction of the corporate tax rate in the United States may have a negative effect on the
Company’s ability to engage with partners to finance its activities. For additional details regarding the
regulatory environment in the United States, see Section 7.1.3 above.
30.25. Non-fulfillment of construction timetables by contractors
The timetables for the construction of the Company’s facilities have a significant impact on its ability
to meet the regulatory milestones for the purpose of receiving benefits and incentives. Insofar as
material contractors with which the Company will engage (directly and/or through companies which
it owns) do not meet the timetables which have been agreed upon with them, the Company may be
exposed to loss of incentives or additional unplanned costs, and the matter may significantly affect the
facilities’ financing agreements.
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Presented below are the risk factors described above and their impact, according to the assessment of
Company management, on its business results:
Extent of the risk factor’s impact on
the Group’s activity
Major
Macro-economic risk factors:
Exchange rate
Increase in input prices
Exposure to changes in interest rates
Exposure to changes in the index
Cybersecurity risks
Branch-specific risk factors:
Non-receipt of licenses, quotas, and winning of tariff tenders
Dependence on the receipt of a permits and approvals
Dependence on long term engagements with electricity
consumer / electricity buyer in the United States
or quotasconditions and changes in climate
Weather
Shortage in financing sources or difficulty in obtaining
financing
Breaches by the system manager or critical service provider
Changes in the tariff per KWh sold to the IEC
Changes to the electricity prices in Poland
Changes to the prices of green certificates in Poland
Changes to the electricity prices in the United States
Changes to the prices of green certificates in the United States
Fulfillment of the conditions required to receive tax benefits in
the
United States
Functionality
of facilities, natural hazards, war and terrorism
Exposure to land issues (general)
Exposure to land issues in Poland
Environmental considerations
Changes to the regulatory environment in Israel
Changes to the regulatory environment in Poland
Changes in the regulatory environment in the United States
Non-fulfillment of construction timetables by contractors
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Minor

X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
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31. Details regarding material subsidiaries and related companies
31.1. Investments in subsidiaries and related companies as of December 31, 2018
For details regarding the investments in subsidiaries and related companies, see Regulation 11 in Part
D - Additional Details, and Note 10 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
31.2. Income of subsidiaries and related companies, and the Corporation’s income therefrom, in 2018
(NIS in thousands)
For details regarding the investments in subsidiaries and related companies, see Regulations 12 and 13
in Part D - Additional Details.

________________________________
Nathan Hetz - Chairman of the Board
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Asa Levinger - CEO
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Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd. (the “Company”)
Board of Directors’ Report Concerning the State of the Company’s Affairs
The Company’s Board of Directors is pleased to present its report concerning the state of the Company’s
affairs for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Reporting Period”).
Any reference to the “Company” or the “Group” in this report means the Company and/or the
Company through its subsidiaries and/or through partnerships under its control. Unless expressly stated
otherwise, the terms appearing in this chapter are as defined in Chapter A of the Report – Description
of the Corporation’s Business.
Part A - The Board of Directors’ Explanation of the Company’s Business Situation
1. Summary description of the Company’s activity
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.17 (“Energix” or the “Company”) was incorporated in Israel on
December 7, 2006 as a private company. In May 2011, the Company became a public company and
its securities were listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. (the “Stock Exchange”).
Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd. (“Alony Hetz”) has been the Company’s controlling
shareholder since it was founded.
As of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company is engaged,
independently and through subsidiaries and partnerships wholly under its control, or under its joint
control (hereinafter, jointly: the “Group”), in the initiation, development, financing, construction,
management and operation of renewable energy based facilities and the sale of the energy produced.
Any reference to the Company and its activities, save if expressly noted otherwise, is described on the
level of the Group.
For details regarding the Company’s activity, see Section 1 in Part A of the Report - Description of
the Corporation’s Business, section 3 below, and Note 1A in Part C of the Report - Financial
Statements.
2. Notable events during the Reporting Period and as of the Approval Date of the Report:18
2.1. Fulfillment of forecasts and increase in the Company’s revenues: During the Reporting Period,
the Company fulfilled the Company’s revenue and performance forecasts, including with respect to
the Company revised forecasts, which upwards the forecasts in the first and third quarters of the
Reporting Period, in which the Company’s revenues during the Reporting Period increased by a rate
of 20% relative to the corresponding period. Additionally, during the Reporting Period, the
Company’s installed capacity increased by 53% relative to the Reporting Period last year.
Accordingly, the Company’s income revenues for a representative year increased by approximately
40% relative to the Reporting Period last year. For further details regarding the Company’s revenues
see the table summarizing the Company’s activity in Section 3 hereunder.
17

The Company was incorporated in 2006 under the name Amot Mikbatzim Ltd., which was subsequently changed to Amot Energy
Ltd. in 2009, and later changed to Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd. in 2011.
18 Includes Forward-Looking Information.
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2.2. Strengthen of the Company’s positioning as a leading player in the Photovoltaic Segment in
Israel:
2.2.1. Connection of projects with a capacity of approximately 90 MWp as part of the Company
winning quota in the first competitive process in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel (the
Company’s share: 94%): The Company completed the construction and connection to the
grid of 9 photovoltaic projects, with a total capacity of approximately 90 MWp, located in
Southern Israel. The Company completed the projects in a challenging timetables determined
as part of Israeli procedure. The construction of the projects was financed externally, under
project finance conditions.
For additional details regarding the projects and the financing transaction, see Section 3.2.1
below.
2.2.2. Commencement of construction of additional projects in the Photovoltaic Segment with
a capacity of approximately 65 MWp in Israel, (the Company’s share: up to 70%): The
Company began construction works on additional projects with a capacity of approximately
65 MWp, as part of its winning quota in the second competitive process for medium voltage
photovoltaic facilities. The company have won a total capacity of approximately 52 MWp and
acquire during the Reporting Period, an additional amount of 13 MWp from another
entrepreneur, in an immaterial amount. For additional details regarding the projects and the
financing transaction, see Section 2.7.1 below.
2.2.3. One of the largest projects pipeline in Israel: As of the Approval Date of the Report, the
Joint Venture holds rights to build medium voltage and high voltage projects with a total
capacity of over 300MW, which are in various stages of development and used by the Joint
Venture for the purpose of participating in the competitive process (tariff tenders) published
by the Israeli Electricity Authority from time to time. As of the Approval Date of the Report,
the Company waits to receive the results of a high voltage projects competitive process, which
was published in December 2018, and intends to participate in a tender for the construction of
medium voltage facilities, which is expected to be held after the publication of the report.
For additional details regarding the Company’s initiation activities in the Photovoltaic Segment,
financing transaction thereunder, the activities of the Joint Venture and the terms of the new
arrangement, see Section 7.1.2 in Part A of the Report - Description of the Corporation’s Business,
and Note 14a(1) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
2.3. –the Clean Wind Energy Wind farm Project (ARAN): The Company’s flagship project which was
recognized as a national infrastructure project by Israeli government. This project is planned to be
constructed on Druze citizen lands in the Northern Golan Heights. Subsequent to the Reporting Date,
the Company received approval from the National Infrastructure Committee to publish the plan for
public comments and objections, before submitting the plan. The plan includes 31 turbines, which are
expected to be of the most advanced type available in the market and accordingly, the expected total
capacity of the project was updated to the range of 130-150MW. In parallel, the Company is
continuing to promote the project towards a financial close in 2019. For additional details regarding
the project, see Sections 7.2.3 in Part A - Description of the Corporation’s Business, and Notes 9f and
14b(1) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
2.4. Substantiation of the Company’s activities in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States:
Shortly before the Approval Date of the Report 4 projects with a capacity of approximately 85 MWp
in Virginia reached final stages of financial closing, including advanced negotiations with two of the
world’s leading banks towards signing of binding agreements for long-term sale of electricity and
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engagement as a tax partner. Further the above, the company sign an amendment to the Joint Venture
agreement which the Company formed with a local developer for the purpose of its activity in the
United States. As part of the amendment, the Joint Venture acquired the projects pipeline in the
capacity of hundreds of MWp in various stages of development held by the local developer (the
Company’s share: 58%). Accordingly, the Company is preparing for the construction of the projects
in Virginia in 2019. For additional details, see Section 6.3 and Section 7.1.3 in Part A - Description
of the Corporation’s Business, and Notes 9d and 14a(2) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
2.5. Pegging the prices of black electricity and of green certificates in Poland for 2019: In light of the
continued increase in the prices of black electricity and of green certificates in Poland during the
Reporting Period, the Company carried out hedge transactions in order to peg the price of electricity
in its projects in Poland, with respect to approximately 75% of the expected scope of electricity
production in 2019, at a price of approximately PLN 267 per 1MWh produced and with respect to
approximately 25% of the expected scope of electricity production in 2020, at a price of
approximately PLN 285 per 1MWh produced. It is hereby clarified that the final electricity price will
be determined subject to adjustment of the price according to the wind farms actual electricity
production hours' profile. The Company also carried out transactions to hedge the price of green
certificates in 2019 with respect to approximately 50% of the expected scope of green certificates
which will be issued for the wind farms at a price of approximately PLN 152 per certificate.
2.6. The Company’s acquisition of the entire stake in the Iława wind project in Poland (13.2 MW)
in Poland: In May 2018, the Company entered into an agreement for the acquisition of the entire
stake of the other partners in the Iława wind project with a capacity of 13.2 MW. As a result of the
transaction the Company recorded non-recurring income (before tax) in the amount of approximately
PLN 6.8 million (equal to approximately NIS 6.9 million). For additional information, see Note 9f(2)
to the Financial Statements.
2.7. Financing transactions and engagements for capital raising during the Reporting Period:
2.7.1. Financing of the Winning Projects in the second competitive tender, with a capacity of
approximately 65 MWp: During the Reporting Period the Company engaged with financial
entities through a partnership owned by the venture, , in an agreement for the financing in amount
of up to NIS 145 million for the construction of projects as part of the company winning quota
in the second competitive process (the “Construction Financing 2”). The Construction
Financing 2 applies to the capacity of 52MWp, and will be provided to the partnership as a loan
facility to finance the construction of the projects provided under the customary conditions for
project finance transactions. For additional information, see Note 13b in Part C of the Report Financial Statements.
2.7.2. Capital raising through a private issuance: Subsequent to the Reporting Date, the Company
completed a capital raising through a private issuance in the amount of approximately NIS 103.4
million, and in exchange, the Company issued 22,000,000 shares. For additional information,
see Note 15c2 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
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Forward-Looking Information
The foregoing in section 2, and the continuation of the Board of Directors’ Report, includes, from
time to time, reference to Forward-Looking Information. Any use in this report of the term “forwardlooking information” (hereinafter: “Forward-Looking Information”), means any forecast,
estimate, approximation, or other information which refers to future events or matters, the
materialization of which is uncertain and is not under the sole control of the Company and/or the
Group and, therefore, such information meets the definition of Forward-Looking Information
pursuant to Section 32A of the Securities Law - 1968. Such information is based on the knowledge
existing in the Company or the Group as of the Approval Date of the Report, and it includes
assessments of the Company or its intentions pertaining to the Company and/or the Group, as of the
Reporting Date. It is hereby clarified that actual results with respect to such information may be
materially different than the results which have been estimated on the basis of the information, or
are implied by such information, and which are included in this report.
3. Principal data regarding the Company’s activities:
The Company owns systems for the production of electricity in the Photovoltaic Segment and in the
Wind Energy Segment (i.e., which are connected to the power grid, and which produce and sell the
electricity produced therein), as well as projects in various stages of construction, initiation and
development.
3.1. Commercially active systems as of the Reporting Date, with respect to 2018:
Net cash
Gross
FFO
flows
Revenue
profit
in
Projectafter
Connected systems as Installed Company’s
project specific
debt
of the Reporting
capacity share in
service
Date
(MWp) the systems
Actual results for 2018
(Company’s share, NIS millions)
Banie (Wind) (*)
106
100%
100.5
80.7
65.0
46.7
Iława (wind) (*)
13.2
100%
12.0
10.1
10.1
10.1
System in Neot Hovav
37.5
100%
43.4
40.1
29.8
9.0
(photovoltaic)
Systems of the first
competitive process
90
94%
2.2
1.7
1.0
1.0
(photovoltaic)
Medium and small
11.6
64%
13.6
9.9
7.2
2.4
systems (photovoltaic)
Total connected
258.3
248.7
171.7
142.5
113.1
69.2
systems
(*)
(**)

The results of the wind projects include revenues with respect to the sale of green certificates during the Reporting
Period, at a price which exceeds their original cost in the amount of NIS 7.8 million.
The figures in the above table do not include the Company’s cash flows with respect to general and administrative
expenses, which are not attributed to the connected systems.

For additional information regarding the activities of the Company and its owned projects, see Sections
7.1 and 7.2 in Part A - Description of the Company’s Business, and Notes 9b and 9f and 14 in Part C
of the Report - Financial Statements.
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3.2. Development and initiation activities in the Photovoltaic Segment:
3.2.1. Representative year of connected projects and projects under construction in the
Photovoltaic Segment in Israel:
First tender
90MWp

Second
tender
65MWp
NIS 0.1978

Total

Guaranteed tariff NIS 0.199
Total expected
scope of
268
175-200
443-468
investment (NIS
millions)
Expected project
financing (NIS
240 145 (*)
385
millions)
Expected revenue
32-34
23-25
55-59
(NIS millions)
Expected
EBITDA (NIS
25-27
18-20
43-47
millions)
Expected project
FFO (NIS
18-20
14-16
32-36
millions)
Net cash flows
after expected
10-12
8-10 18-22
debt service (NIS
millions)
Company’s share
94%
70%
in the results
Connection and
Until
In 2018/Q4
construction
2019/Q3
(*) Refers to a capacity of 52 MWp
In addition to the aforementioned projects, the Company has over 300 MWp of high voltage
and ultra-high voltage projects which are in the initiation stages.
For additional details, see Section 7.1.2 in Part A - Description of the Corporation’s
Business, and Notes 9c and 14a in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
3.2.2. Initiation Activities in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel
For details regarding the Company’s initiation activities, see Section 2.2 above, Section 7.1.2 in
Part A of the Report - Description of the Corporation’s Business, and Note 14a(1) in Part C of
the Report - Financial Statements.
3.2.3. Development and initiation activities in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States
For details regarding the Company’s activities in the United States, see Section 2.4 above,
Section 7.1.3 in Part A of the Report - Description of the Corporation’s Business, and Note
14a(2) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
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3.3. Development and initiation activities in the Wind Segment:
3.3.1. Activities in Israel
During the Reporting Period, the Company continued to develop and initiate projects in Israel
having a capacity of approximately 200MW, in which the Company works to advance a Clean
Wind Energy Project with a capacity of up to 130-150MW.
Project
Number Total
Company’s share in the
under
of
capacity
farm
development farms
(MW)
Clean Wind
Energy
Project
Wind
projects in
Northern
Israel
Total
projects
under
development

Total expected Total expected
investment in annual income
the project (*)
(**)
(NIS millions) (NIS millions)

1

130MW150MW

73%

95MW109.5MW

550 - 700

135 - 155

3

50MW

74%100%

37MW50MW

225 - 275

40 - 45

4

180MW200MW

132MW159.5MW

775 - 975

175 - 200

(*) The estimated investment per installed 1MW is approximately NIS 4-5.5 million.
(**) The calculation of expected income, based on estimated output of 3,200 produced 1KWh per year, per 1KW
installed in the Clean Wind Energy Project, 2,800 produced 1KWh per year per 1KW installed in the other
projects, and based on the tariff which was published by the Electricity Authority in its publication dated
March 5, 2017, in the amount of approximately NIS 0.33 per produced 1KWh.

For additional details, see Section 7.2.3 in Chapter A - Description of the Corporation’s
Business, and Notes 9e and 14b(1) in Part C - Financial Statements.
3.3.2. Activities in Poland
The Company wholly owned 2 wind farms with a total capacity of up to 120 MW, which are
ready for construction, including eligibility to participate in public tenders published within the
framework of the Tariff Tender procedure in Poland. The Company expects, in accordance with
a draft of the relevant legislation that was published, that in the first half of 2019 tariff tenders
will be published with a capacity of 2,000-2,500 MW for projects in the Wind Segment. The
Company is examining the option to construct all or some of the projects, while selling the
electricity within the framework of long term agreements, or as part of a winning quota in the
abovesaid tenders, depending on the actual market conditions and provided that a rate of return
is maintained which is appropriate for the Company’s activity and objectives. For additional
details, see Section 7.2.3 in Part A of the Report - Description of the Corporation’s Business,
and Note 14b(2) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
The information presented in section 3 above, concerning the volume of the projects being
developed, new arrangements and reference to the construction of the projects, also includes
Forward-Looking Information. Actual results may be materially different from those expressed
or implied in such Forward-Looking Information (in whole or in part).
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3.4. Results of operations and forecasts as of the Approval Date of the Report (systems commercially
active):
Project-specific FFO

Gross profit

Annual revenue from electricity sales

Comments regarding the graph:
1.

2.

3.

The Company’s forecasts for 2019 are based on the forecast of revenue from photovoltaic projects,
relative to the average production forecast (P50). The forecasted revenues and results with respect to
the projects in Poland are based on the Company’s estimates with respect to average production (P50),
and an overall price per 1MWh produced (electricity + green certificate) of approximately PLN 370,
with respect to capacities for which price pegging transactions were not made, in consideration of the
fact that the Company pegged the selling price of black electricity and of green certificates with respect
to approximately -75% and approximately 50% of the expected average production in that year,
respectively. The projects' production as from the Reporting Date until the Approval Date of the Report
was consistent with actual production. For details regarding capacities for which price pegging was
performed, see Note 9f(3) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements. The exchange rate which
served as the basis for the calculation was PLN 1 to NIS 0.97.
The Company’s actual revenues from the wind farm in Poland are directly affected by changes
in (i) the prices of electricity and green certificates, which are determined according to their
prices on the relevant power exchanges in Poland, and are directly affected by legislative activity
and market powers in Poland (relative to unhedged transactions); (ii) the NIS/PLN exchange
rates; (iii) the weather conditions and wind quality in the areas of the wind farms; and (iv) the
availability and proper functioning of the turbines in the electricity production wind farms.
Changes in the revenues from wind farms in Poland may have a significant impact the
Company’s forecasts and expectations, as presented in this report.
The Company’s results are presented according to proportionate consolidation, including its share in
the results of the presented companies according to their carrying amounts. Not including initiation
costs and the Company’s general and administrative expenses, which are not attributable to projects.
Sensitivity analysis to the Company’s revenue and results forecast for 2019:
The Company’s forecasts may change according to different variables, primarily including weather
conditions and production ability, the market prices of electricity and green certificates, and changes
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in exchange rates. Presented below is a partial sensitivity analysis with respect to these variables (each
pertaining to itself only, without cross changes), which the Company performed:
•

•
•
•

A change of PLN 20 in the price of black electricity per produced 1MWh would affect the
Company’s revenues and results by approximately NIS 2 million.
A change of PLN 20 in the price of green certificates would affect the Company’s revenues and
results by approximately NIS 4 million.
If the annual production in Poland is 10% less than the average annual production, the
Company’s revenues and results will decrease by approximately NIS 13 million.
A change of 3 agorot in the PLN/NIS exchange rate would affect the Company’s revenues and
results by approximately NIS 4 million.

The forecasted income, gross profit and FFO data for 2019 constitute Forward-Looking Information, as the term is defined
in this report. Actual results may be materially different from those expressed or implied in such Forward-Looking
Information (in whole or in part).

3.5. Stock exchange indexes
The Company’s shares are listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. As of the Approval
Date of the Report, it is one of the companies on the Tel Aviv 90 Index. Additional stock exchange
indexes on which the Company’s shares are listed for trading include TA 125, TA Global-Blue Tech,
TA Tech-Elite and TA Technology.
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4. The Board of Directors’ explanation of the Company’s business situation, results of operations,
shareholders’ equity, cash flows and other matters
4.1. Results of operations
Presented below is a tables of the condensed business results, in thousands of NIS (including
quarterly distribution in 2018):
Year ended December 31

Q4

2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)

Q3

Q2
2018
NIS in thousands
(Unaudited)

Q1

Revenues
Revenues from the sale of electricity
Revenues from the production of green
certificates
Revenues from the construction of
facilities
Other revenues, net (**)

Expenses
Rental expenses
Maintenance of systems and others (**)
Facility construction costs
Initiation expenses
Payroll and related expenses
Administrative, headquarters and other

123,229

121,189

95,440

33,767

30,513

30,875

28,074

39,451

15,580

15,924

16,492

9,791

6,596

6,572

7,954

4,598

279
1,576

1,677

2,677

9

3,591

170,634

141,367

113,219

51,936

42,981

37,480

38,237

6,905
31,245
1,205
8,999
10,964
59,318

6,529
25,244
1,953
8,303
10,467
52,496

4,202
23,737
241
1,891
7,974
8,987
47,032

1,806
8,231
223
2,494
2,710
15,464

1,665
12,770
556
2,328
2,568
19,887

1,665
4,970
127
2,288
3,075
12,125

1,769
5,274
299
1,889
2,611
11,842

Profit before financing, taxes,
depreciation and amortization
111,316
88,871
66,187
36,472
23,094
25,355
26,395
Reversal of provisions for doubtful debts
3,594
Depreciation and amortization
(43,587) (41,688) (36,400) (11,473) (10,384) (10,868) (10,862)
Profit before financing and taxes
67,729
47,183
33,381
24,999
12,710
14,487
15,533
Financing income
2,272
1,748
478
Financing expenses
(35,091) (29,390) (28,646)
Profit from the acquisition of loans
6,907
Financing expenses, net
(25,912) (27,642) (28,168)
Profit after financing, net
41,817
19,541
5,213
Company’s share in the results of equityaccounted investees
1,263
1,537
1,501
Profit before taxes on income
43,080
21,078
6,714
Taxes on income
(12,188) (5,058) (1,653)
Profit for the period
30,892
16,020
5,061
Profit for the period attributable to the
owners of the Company
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests
Total profit for the period

463
(8,900)
(8,437)
16,562

526
(8,360)
(7,834)
4,876

627
(9,586)
6,907
(2,052)
12,435

656
(8,245)
(7,589)
7,944

89
16,651
(5,007)
11,644

499
5,375
(1,367)
4,008

487
12,922
(3,275)
9,647

188
8,132
(2,539)
5,593

31,373

17,055

6,225

11,670

3,922

9,948

5,833

(481)
30,892

(1,035)
16,020

(1,164)
5,061

(26)
11,644

86
4,008

(301)
9,647

(240)
5,593

(*) Seasonality - for details regarding seasonality, see Section 14 in Part A - Description of the Corporation’s Business.
(**) Maintenance of systems and others includes impairment, other revenues include reversal of impairment and sale of green
certificates above the inventory price.
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Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
(Audited)
Data regarding earnings per share
Income per share (*)
Gross earnings per share (*) (**)
FFO per share (*) (**)
Earnings (loss) per share - basic (***)

0.46
0.38
0.30
0.08

0.40
0.31
0.24
0.04

0.36
0.28
0.22
0.02

(*) According to the data presented in Section 3.1.
(**) Not including initiation costs and the Company’s general and
administrative expenses which are not attributable to projects.
(***) According to the data presented in Section 4.1.
4.2. Results of business operations:
During the Reporting Period the Company recorded profit attributable to the owners of the Company
in the amount of approximately NIS 31.4 million, as relative to profit of approximately NIS 17.1
million in the Reporting Period last year, and profit of approximately NIS 6.2 million in 2016. The
increase in profit in 2018, relative to last year, was primarily due to the increase in revenue in the
amount of approximately NIS 29.3 million, mostly due to the uptrend in the prices of green
certificates which continued throughout 2018. Additionally, profit from the acquisition of loans was
recorded in the amount of approximately NIS 6.9 million. On the other hand, the Company record
an increase in systems maintenance expenses, primarily due a non-recurring provision with respect
to 2017 real estate tax payment in Poland and an increase in depreciation, financing and tax
expenses.
Presented below are the main items which affected the results of operations:
Revenues from the sale of electricity and green certificates – Amounted to approximately NIS
162.7 million during the Reporting Period as relative to total revenues of approximately NIS 136.8
million in the corresponding period of last year. The increase in revenue was recorded primarily due
to the increase in revenues from the production of green certificates in the amount of approximately
NIS 23.8 million as relative to the corresponding period last year, constituting an increase of
approximately 153%. The increase recorded due to the uptrend in the prices of the green certificates,
beginning in the last quarter of 2017, and during 2018.
Other revenues – Amounted to approximately NIS 8 million in the Reporting Period, compared
with approximately NIS 4.6 million in the corresponding period of last year. The other revenues
during the Reporting Period were mostly due to the sale of green certificates, which were produced
this year and in 2017, in an amount which was higher than their carrying amount by a total of NIS
7.8 million. In the corresponding period, sales of green certificates in an amount which was higher
than their cost amounted to a total of 3.7 million, and impairment reversals were recorded with
respect to previous periods in the amount of approximately NIS 0.7 million.
System maintenance expenses – Amounted to approximately NIS 31.2 million in the Reporting
Period, compared with approximately NIS 25.2 million in the corresponding period of last year. The
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increase recorded primarily due to a non-recurring provision in respect with real estate tax in Poland,
with respect to 2017 only, in the amount of approximately NIS 7.8 million. For additional details,
see Note 30c in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements. Additionally, an increase occurred in
maintenance expenses for the supplier of turbines in Poland, in accordance with the terms of the
engagement which was signed with it. On the other hand, a decrease occurred due to the savings in
operating expenses in the Neot Hovav project in the amount of approximately NIS 2.1 million.
Financing expenses – Amounted to approximately NIS 35.1 million during the Reporting Period,
compared with approximately NIS 29.4 million in the corresponding period of last year. During the
Reporting Period, an increase occurred in financing expenses with respect to loans from financial
institutions in the amount of approximately NIS 3.9 million, primarily due to amounts which were
withdrawn from financing facilities in the second half of 2017, and which remained throughout all
of 2018. Additionally, an increase occurred in linkage expenses on liabilities to financial institutions,
in the amount of approximately 2.2 million, as a result of the CPI’s increase in 2018.
Financing income from the acquisition of loans - Amounted, during the Reporting Period, to
approximately NIS 6.9 million with respect to the acquisition of loans of partners which held the
Iława project, by 25% before the acquisition.
Equity – As of the Reporting Date, equity attributable to the Company’s owners amounts to
approximately NIS 723.8 million, compared with shareholders’ equity attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately NIS 682.5 million as of September 31, 2017. The increase in equity
was primarily due to profit attributable to shareholders in the amount of approximately NIS 31.4
million, and the movement in capital reserves and premiums, in the amount of approximately NIS
9.9 million.
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4.3. Cash flows, liquidity and sources of financing
4.3.1. Cash flow
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s balance of cash and cash equivalents decreased by the
amount of NIS 4.4 million.
The following table summarizes the sources and uses:
Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS millions
(Audited)
Operating activities
Sources
Long-term loan received from financial institutions
Short-term loans received from banking institutions
Release of cash in trust
Consideration from issuance of shares
Consideration from exercise of share options
Investment of capital by non-controlling interests in
consolidated companies
Consideration from sale of fixed
assets
Repayment of loans to equity-accounted investees
Uses
Investment in electricity production systems
Decrease (increase) in pledged deposit and restricted cash, net
Payment related to the acquisition of a project
Repayment of long-term loans from financial institutions
Costs of credit raising
Investment in other fixed assets
Settlement of financial instruments
Transaction with non-controlling
interests
Payment with respect to the
acquisition of loans
Return of capital to minority interests
in consolidated company
Repayment of short-term loans from banking institutions
Dividend paid to Company shareholders
Total surplus of sources over uses (uses over sources)
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at end of period
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73.1

81.6

35.9

206.5
3.3
12.6

155.5
127.9
3.3

315.7
136.5
10.0
38.0

3.4

-

-

3.7
229.5

0.1
2.3
289.1

2.7
502.9

(319.5)
75.7
(44.7)
(0.6)
(2.0)
(9.1)

(94.4)
(103.0)
(37.4)
(3.9)
(1.4)
(6.6)

(361.2)
(11.0)
(57.7)
(21.3)
(7.0)
(1.9)
(3.2)

-

(1.0)

-

(3.5)

-

-

(3.3)
(307.0)
(4.4)
96.4
92.0

(0.2)
(65.5)
(313.4)
57.3
39.1
96.4

(97.0)
(12.8)
(573.1)
(34.3)
73.4
39.1
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4.3.2. Cash, cash equivalents and credit facilities
As of the Reporting Date, the Company has a balance of liquid sources of NIS 92.0 million. In
addition, the Company has an amount of NIS 48 million on deposit in debt service reserve funds
to secure the repayments of the Group’s loans. For details regarding a capital raising which was
performed subsequent to the Reporting Date, in the amount of approximately NIS 103 million,
see Note 15c in Part C - Financial Statements.
4.3.3. Financing sources
4.3.3.1 As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company’s activity is financed by the cash
balances at its disposal following financing rounds that which it executed, the exercise of
share options and withdrawals that were made in the framework of financing transactions
to which the Company is party, as described below in section 4.3.3.4.
4.3.3.2 The Company has a shelf prospectus which allows the Company to raise funds from the
public, insofar as funds may be required in order to finance its operations, which is in
effect until May 29, 2019. In light of the coming expiration of the shelf prospectus, the
Company intends to publish a new shelf prospectus, subject to a permit from the Israel
Securities Authority.
For additional information regarding the Company’s shelf prospectus, and the extension
thereof, see the Company’s immediate reports dated May 29, 2016 (reference no. 201601-036930) and April 8, 2018 (reference no. 2018-01-035134), which are presented
herein, in their entirety, by way of reference.
4.3.3.3 For details regarding a private offer, subsequent to the Reporting Date of 22,000,000
ordinary Company shares, see the immediate report dated January 13, 2019 (reference no.
2019-01-005307), and Note 15C in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.3.3.4 As of the Reporting Date, the Company has financing agreements with third parties
structured as project finance and on a non-recourse basis, which are secured by the
systems owned by the Company (directly or indirectly). For additional details in
connection with the aforementioned financing agreements, including the financial
covenants by which the Company is bound, and the credit facilities which are available
to the Company, see Note 13 to Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.3.4. Pledged assets
For details regarding liens and guarantees furnished by the Company as of the Reporting
Date and the date of approval of the Financial Statements, see Note 30 in Part C of the
Report - Financial Statements.
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Part B - Exposure to Market Risks and Management Thereof
The Company’s Chief Risk Officer - Mr. Asa Levinger, the Company’s CEO, also serves as its Chief Risk
Officer. For additional details regarding the Chief Risk Officer, see Regulation 26A in Part D of the Report Additional Details.
4.4. Description of market risks to which the corporation is exposed: For details regarding the
exposures to changes in the index, exchange rates, interest rates, tariff per KWh in connection with
electricity which is sold to the Israel Electric Corporation, and changes in the prices of electricity
and green certificates in Poland, see Section 30 in Part A of the report Description of the
Corporation’s Business.
4.5. The Company’s policy for managing market risks
The Company’s risk management focuses on actions to reduce to a minimum the possible exposures
on the Company’s financial performance. The risk management is carried out primarily by the
Company’s CEO and CFO, by constantly keeping track of developments in the relevant markets. As
part of the overall risk management of the Company, the Company’s Board of Directors has
determined that the CEO of the Company will regularly report to the Chairman of the Board of
Directors on the existing level of exposure. In the event of extraordinary developments in the
currency and interest markets, they review the data and occasionally the modes of operation in the
derivatives market is reviewed in order to hedge interest rate and foreign currency risks. On all
matters associated with the Company’s exposure to Polish currency, the Company’s Board of
Directors adopted a hedging policy according to which, during the construction period, the exposure
will be limited to a rate which will not exceed 30% of the Company’s total investment, which is
financed out of its equity. During the operation period, it was determined that the Company’s
exposure will not exceed a total of 20% of the Company’s equity. With respect to other exposures,
no quantitative restrictions were established, and the Company’s Board of Directors receives a
quarterly report from Company management regarding the developments in this segment, if any.
For details regarding the Company’s implementation of the market risk management policy which
was adopted by the Board of Directors, see Note 31b in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.6. Linkage bases report
See Appendix A hereunder for a linkage bases report as of December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017.
4.7. Sensitivity tests
See Appendix B hereunder for sensitivity tables for sensitive instruments according to changes in
market factors as of December 31, 2018.
4.8. The Corporation’s liabilities according to payment date
See Appendix C below for information regarding the Corporation’s liabilities according to payment
dates.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

65

Board of Directors’ Report
Part C – Corporate Governance Aspects and Updates Concerning the Company’s Activities
Directors with accounting and financial expertise; independent directors
As of the publication date of this report, the Company’s Board of Directors includes six directors, of
which two are outside directors, who therefore constitute independent directors, as this term is defined in
the Companies Law. The Company has chosen not to adopt, in its articles of association, a provision
regarding the number of independent directors. Among the six Board members, five have accounting and
financial expertise (as compared with the minimum condition set by the Board of Directors, of at least 2
directors).
For additional details regarding the Board members, see Regulation 26 in Part D of the Report Additional Details.
The Company’s Internal Auditor - For details regarding the Company’s Internal Auditor, see
Appendix D.
The Company’s Auditor
The Company’s Auditor is Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co. (Deloitte Israel).
Presented below is information regarding the salary paid for audit services, and for services associated
with audit and tax services, and the hours which were invested in the provision of such services in 2017
and 2018:
2018

2017

Audit and
Other
Audit and
Services
tax services
services
tax services
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co. (Deloitte) Israel
Professional fees, NIS in
480
400
thousands
Work hours
3,104
3,050
Deloitte Poland
Professional fees, NIS in
172
18
102
thousands
Work hours
840
90
410
Other accountants in Poland
Professional fees, NIS in
14
thousands
Work hours
85

Other
services
261
830
107
216
-

The accountant’s professional fees were determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, which was
authorized for this purpose by the general meeting of the Company’s shareholders.
Administrative enforcement program
On May 15, 2014, the Company adopted an internal enforcement program with respect to securities, in
accordance with the criteria for effective enforcement programs which were published by the Israel
Securities Authority on August 15, 2011. In November 2018, the enforcement program was updated in
accordance with relevant legislative updates.
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Material engagements
4.9. For details regarding projects which are being developed by the Company in the Wind Energy
Segment in Israel, and particularly, the Clean Wind Energy Project (ARAN), see Section 7.2.3 in
Part A of the Report - Description of the Corporation’s Business, and Notes 9e and 14b(1) in Part C
of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.10. For details regarding the Company’s activity within the framework of a Joint Venture in connection
with the activity in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel, see Section 7.1.2 in Part A - Description of
the Corporation’s Business, and Notes 9c and 14a(1) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.11. For details regarding the Company’s activity in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States,
within the framework of a Joint Venture Agreement with an American local developer and the
amendment thereto, and regarding negotiations towards the signing of agreements regarding
financial closing an the sale of electricity, see Section 7.1.3 in Part A of the Report - Description of
the Corporation’s Business, and Notes 9d and 14a(2) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.12. For details regarding external financing transactions for the Company’s projects, including the
engagement, during the Reporting Period, in a financing transaction for the construction of the
winning projects (65MWp) in the First Tender, see Note 13 in Part C of the Report - Financial
Statements.
4.13. For details regarding the Company’s systems which are under commercial operation, see Section
7.2.3 (with respect to the Wind Energy Segment) and section 7.1.2 (with respect to the Photovoltaic
Segment) in Part A of the Report - Description of the Corporation’s Business, and Note 9b in Part
C of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.14. For details regarding the Company’s management agreement with Alony Hetz, its controlling
shareholder, see Note 25a(1) in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
4.15. For details regarding the Company’s engagement in an agreement for the sale of the entire stake in
the Iława wind project in Poland, with a capacity of 13.2 MW, see Note 9f(2) in Part C of the Report
- Financial Statements.
Legal proceedings
The Company is not involved in any material legal proceedings. For details regarding legal proceedings
to which the Group is party, see Note 30A in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
Donations
In January 2019, subsequent to the Reporting Date, , the Company adopted an internal donations policy
which is consistent with its core business activities and w guiding values. As part of this policy the
Company will focus its activities in the community on a limited number of principle topics, with the aim
of ensuring that the Company’s core activities in the community integrate with the Company’s business
activities, while promoting interests in three spheres: society, environment and community. The decision,
budgeting and actual granting of donations will be determined in accordance with an internal policy
regarding the formulation and approval of donations, in which it was determined, inter alia, that the
Company’s annual donation budget will amount to a total of approximately 1% of the Company’s pretax profit in the year preceding the determination of the work plan. During the Reporting Period, the
scope of the Company’s donations amounted to approximately NIS 215.5 thousand. To the best of the
Company’s knowledge, and according to an evaluation which it conducted, there are no links between
entities, where the scope of donations to them in 2018 exceeded a total of NIS 50 thousand, and the
Company, or its CEO, or any of its directors, controlling shareholders, or any of their relatives.
Disclosure requirements concerning financial reporting of the Corporation
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
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Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of Financial Statements requires management of the Company to use estimates or
assessments regarding transactions or matters that their final effect on the Financial Statements cannot be
accurately determined at the time of their preparation.
For the critical estimates which apply to the Company, For additional details, see Note 2f in Part C of the
Report - Financial Statements.
Additional information and events subsequent to the Reporting Date
For information regarding events subsequent to the date of the report, see Sections 2.2, 2.3, 2.5, 2.7.2,
3.3.2, 3.4, 4.3.3.2 and 4.3.3.3 above, as well as Notes 9, 13, 14, 15, 25 and 32 in Part C of the Report Financial Statements.

The Company’s Board of Directors would like to thank the holders of the Company’s securities for
their confidence in the Company.

March 11, 2019
Signing Date of the
Annual Financial
Statements

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

Nathan Hetz
Chairman of Board of
Directors

Asa Levinger
CEO
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Appendices to the Board of Directors’ Report concerning the state of the Company’s affairs:
Appendix A

–

Linkage Bases Report for Monetary Balances.

Appendix B

–

Sensitivity Tables for Sensitive Instruments as of December 31, 2018, According to
Changes in Market Factors.

Appendix C

–

The Corporation’s Liabilities by Payment Dates.

Appendix D

–

Information Regarding the Internal Auditor.
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Appendix A – Linkage Bases Report for Monetary Balances
December 31, 2018

EUR

PLN

Unlinked
CPI-linked
NIS
NIS
NIS in thousands

USD (*)

Non-financial
assets
(liabilities)

Total

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

813

25,089

280

65,801

-

-

91,983

Pledged deposit

-

-

-

13,397

-

-

13,397

Trade receivables

-

13,300

-

5,609

-

-

18,909

Green certificates

-

-

-

-

-

11,413

11,413

Receivables and debit balances

-

-

-

7,817

-

23,218

31,035

Hedging financial instruments

-

844

-

-

-

-

844

813

39,233

280

92,624

-

34,631

167,581

Non-current assets
Long-term pledged deposit and restricted
cash

-

17,667

-

30,738

-

-

48,405

Prepaid land lease expenses

-

-

-

-

-

23,871

23,871

Connected electricity production systems

-

-

-

-

-

1,301,950

1,301,950

Systems under construction and inventory

-

-

-

-

-

151,388

151,388

Fixed assets

-

-

-

-

-

4,098

4,098

Investment in equity-accounted investees

-

-

-

-

-

11,685

11,685

Other receivables

-

-

-

-

4,627

622

5,249

Long-term financial instruments

-

27

-

-

-

-

27

Deferred taxes, net

-

-

-

-

-

9,385

9,385

-

17,694

-

30,738

4,627

1,502,999

1,556,058

813

56,927

280

123,362

4,627

1,537,630

1,723,639

-

19,417

-

-

36,517

(1,139)

54,795

6,303

7,632

409

20,963

333

16,969

52,609

-

6,496

-

-

-

-

6,496

6,303

33,545

409

20,963

36,850

15,830

113,900

Total assets
Current maturities of long-term loans
Trade payables, other payables and credit
balances
Hedging financial instruments

Non-current liabilities
Liabilities for employee severance
benefits

-

-

-

-

-

361

361

Loans from financial institutions

-

289,277

-

-

553,899

(10,863)

832,313

Other long-term liabilities

-

-

3,748

7,239

-

7,721

18,708

Hedging financial instruments

-

10,791

-

-

-

-

10,791

Deferred taxes

-

-

-

-

-

15,457

15,457

-

300,068

3,748

7,239

553,899

12,676

877,630

Total liabilities
Total surplus of assets over liabilities
Financial derivatives
Surplus of financial assets over
financial liabilities (financial liabilities
over financial assets)
Distribution of non-monetary assets
(liabilities), net - by linkage bases
Surplus of assets over liabilities
(liabilities over assets)

6,303

333,613

4,157

28,202

590,749

28,506

991,530

(5,490)

(276,686)

(3,877)

95,160

(586,122)

1,509,124

732,109

-

(319,744)

-

319,744

-

-

-

(5,490)

(596,430)

(3,877)

414,904

(586,122)

1,509,124

732,109

(2)

745,268

42,524

721,334

-

(1,509,124)

-

(5,492)

148,838

38,647

1,136,238

(586,122)

-

732,109

(*) Primarily comprised of balances in USD.
(**) For details regarding the Company’s engagement in forward transactions to hedge its exposure to the USD exchange rate,
see Note 31b(3) to the Financial Statements.
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December 31, 2017

EUR

PLN

Unlinked
NIS

USD (*)

CPI-linked
NIS

Non-financial
assets
(liabilities)

Total

NIS in thousands
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

39,471

34,478

75

22,420

-

-

96,444

Pledged deposit

-

3,199

-

90,009

-

-

93,208

Trade receivables

-

8,565

-

3,416

-

-

11,981

Green certificates

-

-

-

-

-

8,218

8,218

Receivables and debit balances

-

-

-

3,030

-

9,129

12,159

39,471

46,242

75

118,875

-

17,347

222,010

Long-term restricted cash

-

17,366

-

25,657

-

-

43,023

Prepaid land lease expenses

-

-

-

-

-

25,469

25,469

Connected electricity production systems

-

-

-

-

-

1,073,645

1,073,645

Systems under construction

-

-

-

-

-

126,952

126,952

Fixed assets

-

-

-

-

-

2,998

2,998

Investment in equity-accounted investees

-

-

-

-

-

14,200

14,200

Other receivables

-

-

-

-

4,087

2,078

6,165

Long-term financial instruments

-

261

-

-

-

-

261

Deferred taxes, net

-

-

-

-

-

12,765

12,765

-

17,627

-

25,657

4,087

1,258,107

1,305,478

39,471

63,869

75

144,532

4,087

1,275,454

1,527,488

-

18,437

-

-

26,241

(1,181)

43,497

3,019

10,419

37,444

7,275

1,435

8,007

67,599

Non-current assets

Total assets
Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term loans
Trade payables, other payables and credit
balances
Trade payables, other payables and credit
balances

-

5,449

1,526

-

-

-

6,975

3,019

34,305

38,970

7,275

27,676

6,826

118,071

Non-current liabilities
Liabilities for employee severance
benefits

-

-

-

-

-

417

417

Loans from financial institutions

-

307,503

-

-

379,023

(10,341)

676,185

Other long-term liabilities

-

10,013

3,467

7,185

-

7,473

28,138

Other long-term liabilities

-

9,432

-

-

-

-

9,432

Deferred taxes

-

-

-

-

-

10,651

10,651

Total liabilities
Total surplus of assets over liabilities

-

326,948

3,467

7,185

379,023

8,200

724,823

3,019

361,253

42,437

14,460

406,699

15,026

842,894

36,452

(297,384)

(42,362)

130,072

(402,612)

1,260,428

684,594

-

(348,363)

98,026

250,337

-

-

-

36,452

(645,747)

55,664

380,409

(402,612)

1,260,428

684,594

548

773,287

19,804

466,789

-

(1,260,428)

-

37,000

127,540

75,468

847,198

(402,612)

-

684,594

Financial derivatives
Surplus of financial assets over
financial liabilities (financial liabilities
over financial assets)
Distribution of non-monetary assets
(liabilities), net - by linkage bases
Surplus of assets over liabilities
(liabilities over assets)

(*) Primarily comprised of balances in USD.
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Appendix B – Sensitivity Tables for Sensitive Instruments as of December 31, 2018, According to
Changes in Market Factors.
Presented below is an analysis of the Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency:
The table presented below details the effect of a 5% change in the exchange rate on profit or loss in respect of
financial assets and liabilities that are exposed to risk as aforesaid (before the tax effect):
December 31, 2018
Decrease of
5%
Carrying
Profit (loss)
amount
Profit (loss)
Increase of
5%

NIS in thousands
In EUR:
Cash and cash equivalents

41

813

(41)

(315)

(6,303)

315

1,254

25,089

(1,254)

Trade receivables, receivables and debit balances

665

13,300

(665)

Long-term pledged deposit and restricted cash

883

17,667

(883)

(821)

(16,416)

821

(15,435)

(308,694)

15,435

(382)

(7,632)

382

14

280

(14)

(20)

(409)

20

(187)

(3,748)

187

Trade payables, other payables and credit balances
In PLN:
Cash and cash equivalents

Hedging financial instruments
Short and long-term loans from financial institutions
Trade payables, other payables and credit balances
In USD:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables, other payables and credit balances
Other long-term liabilities

Presented below is an analysis of the Group’s sensitivity to the Consumer Price Index (CPI):

Increase of
2%
Profit and
loss

December 31, 2018
Decrease of
2%
Carrying
Profit and
amount
loss
NIS in thousands

Loans from financial institutions

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
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Presented below is an analysis of the Group’s sensitivity to changes in the interest rate:
The Company is exposed to changes in short and long-term interest rates on the international markets on which
it operates. The Company’s loans at variable interest are in Zloty, and as of December 31, 2018, amount to
approximately NIS 77,191 thousand.
The following table presents sensitivity tests to the value of the fixed rate loans according to changes in the
interest rate (in NIS thousands):

Sensitive instruments

Fixed rate instruments
CPI-linked loans in NIS
Loans in PLN (*)
Total

Increase of
Increase of
10%
5%
Loss from the changes
(Before tax effect)

12,635
5,923
18,558

December 31, 2018
Decrease of Decrease of
5%
10%
Profit from the changes
Fair value
(Before tax effect)
NIS in thousands

6,369
2,989
9,358

591,373
231,574
822,947

(6,474)
(3,045)
(9,519)

(13,055)
(6,148)
(19,203)

(*) The Company’s loan in PLN is variable rate. According to the financing agreement the Company is
obligated to fix 75% of the loan to a fixed rate by means of hedging instruments, and accordingly the
hedged part of the loan is presented as a fixed rate instrument.
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Appendix C – The Corporation’s Liabilities by Payment Dates
Presented below are the Group’s liabilities that are payable after December 31, 2018:
Loans from
financial
institutions
Percentage
Current maturities
6%
56,008
Second year
6%
58,191
Third year
7%
60,093
Fourth year
7%
62,033
Fifth year and thereafter
74%
662,785
Total payments
100%
899,110
Balance of loan discount
(12,002)
Total financial debt

887,108

As of December 31, 2018, the total sum of off-balance sheet liabilities in respect of guarantees amounted to
approximately NIS 84.9 million (of which NIS 22.2 million constitutes guarantees which were given to
subsidiaries and subsidiary partnerships).
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Appendix D – Information Regarding the Internal Auditor

Section
Name

Commencement
of tenure

Details
Israel Gvirtz, qualified internal auditor, partner in the firm Fahn Kanne Control
Management Ltd., BA in accounting and economics from Bar-Ilan University, CPA,
CIA.
July 5, 2016

Compliance with
the provisions of
the law
Holdings in the
securities of the
Company or of a
related entity

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Auditor complies with the provisions of
Section 146(B) of the Companies Law - 1999 and of Sections 3(A) and 8 of the Internal
Audit Law - 1992.
To the best of the Company’s knowledge, as of the date of this report, the Internal
Auditor does not hold any securities of the Company, or of a controlling shareholder
in the Company, an entity controlled by the Company or by a controlling shareholder
in the Company or by entities related to either of them.

Significant
business
connections or
other significant
connections with
the Company or
an entity related
to it
Is the Auditor an
employee of the
Company or an
external service
provider
Appointment
process

The Internal Auditor does not perform a role that creates or can create a conflict of
interests with his role as the Company’s Internal Auditor.
The Internal Auditor is not an interested party in the Company and is not a relative of
an interested party or of an corporate officer in the Company and he does not serve as
the Company’s independent Auditor or on its behalf.

The person in the
organization who
is responsible for
the Internal
Auditor
Work plan

The Internal Auditor shall provide internal auditing services on an external basis and
he is not an employee of the Company. In performing the audit, the Internal Auditor
shall be assisted by a team of people from his firm as necessary. The Internal Auditor
does not fill any other position in the Company besides internal auditing.
The appointment of the Internal Auditor was approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors on July 5, 2016 following the recommendation of the Audit Committee from
June 21, 2016. The basis for the appointment was his skills and experience in internal
auditing.
Chairman of the Board.

The Internal Auditor will submit to the Audit Committee, for approval, a proposed
annual or periodic work plan, and the Audit Committee will approve it, subject to
changes in its discretion.
The annual planning of audit tasks is affected by the following factors: the exposure
to risks of activity and areas in accordance with a risk survey, findings of previous
audits, issues in which an audit is requested by the Company’s Board of Directors and
management, and the need to maintain the periodicity of audits over the years.
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The Internal Auditor’s annual work plan which was approved for 2018 included
auditing of the following matters: (1) construction and purchasing of projects in Israel;
(2) monitoring and implementation of recommendations from the audit reports for
2017; (3) corporate governance and internal enforcement. The Internal Auditor is not
permitted to deviate from the work plan which was determined in his exclusive
discretion.
Audit in foreign
countries or of
investee
companies
Scope of
employment

The Auditor’s work includes auditing investee companies and foreign investee
companies.

The plan approved for 2018 includes 380 hours of work. The scope of the Auditor’s
position was determined after the Corporation and the Auditor estimated a scope of
work hours which reflects the required level of investment by the Internal Auditor for
the purpose of performing the required audit.
During the period from January 1, 2018 until the publication date of this report, the
following reports of the Internal Auditor were submitted in writing to the Company
and to the Audit Committee:
Subject
report

of

the

Corporate
governance and
internal
enforcement
Implementation of
the
recommendations
in the audit report
regarding financial
exposure
Implementation of
the
recommendations
in the audit report
regarding
information
security
Construction and
purchasing in
Israel

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
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Date
of
submission
in writing

Date of the
Audit
Committee’s
discussion

Work hours
dedicated

Report
addresses the
Company’s
activity /
Report
addresses the
activities of
investees
outside of
Israel
The Company’s
activity (Israel)

February
2018

5.3.2018

120

February
2018

5.3.2018

25

The Company’s
activity (Israel)

February
2019

Not
yet
implemented

25

The Company’s
activity (Israel)

August 2018

8.8.2018

210

The Company’s
activity (Israel)
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Performing the
audit

Access to
information

Scope, nature
and
consecutiveness
of the Internal
Auditor’s activity
and work plan
Compensation

The professional standards that guide the audit work: According to the notification of
the Internal Auditor, the internal audit work is performed according to acceptable
professional standards for internal audits, professional guidelines and instructions that
were approved and issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors in Israel.
The Internal Auditor was granted free access as stated in Section 9 of the Internal Audit
Law, including continuous and unrestricted access to the Corporation’s information
systems (including for investee corporations and foreign investee corporations),
including financial data.
To the best of the knowledge of the Board of Directors, the Internal Auditor’s work
plan, as recommended by the Internal Auditor, is reasonable and it is adequate to
achieve the Company’s internal auditing goals. The Audit Committee has the authority
to broaden the scope of the work of the Internal Auditor, if and when necessary.

For details regarding the compensation of the Internal Auditor in 2018, see Note 25e
in Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements. There is no concern that the
compensation specified above, which is derived from the auditor’s budget of actual
work hours, could affect the auditor’s professional judgment.
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Regarding the Audit of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
In Accordance with Regulation 9B(c) of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) - 1970
We have audited internal controls over financial reporting of Energix Renewable Energies Ltd. and its subsidiaries (hereinafter:
the “Group”) as of December 31, 2018. These controls were determined in the manner described in the following paragraph.
The Board of Directors and management of the Group are responsible for ensuring the existence of effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls over the financial reports which are attached to
the periodic report as of the foregoing date. Our responsibility is to express an opinion regarding the internal controls over
financial reporting in the Group, based on our audit.
The internal controls over financial reporting which were audited by us were determined in accordance with Auditing Standard
104 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel, “Audit of internal controls over financial reporting”, including the
amendments thereto (hereinafter: “Auditing Standard 104”). These controls include: (1) entity-level controls, including
controls over the process of drafting and closing the financial reports, and general controls over information system; (2) controls
over the purchasing process for projects and revenue from the sale of electricity (all of the above together are referred to
hereinafter as: the “Audited Controls”).
We have prepared our audit in accordance with Auditing Standard 104. According to this standard, we are required to plan and
perform the audit in order to identify the audited controls, and to obtain a reasonable measure of assurance regarding whether
those controls were applied effectively, in all material respects. Our audit included reaching an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, identifying the audited controls, assessing the risk of the existence of any material weakness in the
audited controls, and evaluating and assessing the effectiveness of the planning and operation of those controls, based on the
estimated risk. Our audit, with respect to those controls, also included the implementation of other policies which were
considered necessary, in light of the circumstances. Our audit addressed only the audited controls, as opposed to internal controls
over all material processes in connection with financial reporting, and therefore, our opinion refers to the audited controls only.
Furthermore, our audit did not address the mutual effects between the audited controls and those which were not audited, and
therefore, our opinion does not take into account possible effects of this kind. We believe that our audit and the reports of the
other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion in the aforementioned context.
Due to inherent restrictions, internal control over financial reporting in general, and specific controls in particular, may not
prevent or discover misrepresentation. Additionally, the conclusions reached regarding the future, based on any current
evaluation of effectiveness, is exposed to the risk that he controls will become inadequate, due to changes in circumstances, or
that the extent of compliance with policies or procedures will change for the worse.
In our opinion, based on our audit, the Group has effectively applied, in all material respects, the audited controls as of December
31, 2018.
We have also audited, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and our
report, dated March 11, 2019, includes an unqualified opinion regarding those financial statements, based on our audit, and on
the reports of the other auditors.
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
Tel Aviv, March 11, 2019
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Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
We have audited the consolidated statements of financial position of Energix Renewable Energies Ltd. and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter: the “Group”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, as well as the consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the three years ended December 31, 2018. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors and management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion regarding these financial statements, based on our audit.
We have not audited the Financial Statements of a consolidated company, whose assets as included in the consolidation
constitute approximately 5.57% of total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2017, and whose income as included in
the consolidation constitutes approximately 6.33% and 3.26% of total consolidated income for the years ended December
31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Financial Statements of that company were audited by other auditors, whose reports
were submitted to us, and our opinion, insofar as it refers to the amounts which were included with respect to that
company, is based on the reports of the other auditors.
We have conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including standards set
forth in the Auditors’ Regulations (Auditors’ Mode of Performance) - 1973. In accordance with these standards, we are
required to plan and conduct our audit with the aim of obtaining a reasonable measure of assurance that the Financial
Statements include no material misrepresentation. An audit includes an evaluation, on a sample basis, of evidence to
support the amounts and information presented in the Financial Statements. An audit also includes an evaluation of the
accounting principles which were applied and of the significant estimates which were made by the Company’s Board of
Directors and management, as well as an evaluation of the adequacy of presentation in the Financial Statements in their
entirety. We believe that our audit and the reports of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audit and on the reports of the other auditors, the aforementioned financial statements
adequately reflect, in all material respects, the Group’s financial position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, as well as
its results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2018, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the provisions of the Securities
Regulations (Annual Financial Statements) - 2010.
We have also audited, in accordance with Auditing Standard 104 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel,
“Audit of internal controls over financial reporting”, including the amendments thereto, internal controls over financial
reporting in the Group as of December 31, 2018, and our report dated March 11, 2019 included an unqualified opinion
regarding the effective existence of those controls.
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
Tel Aviv, March 11, 2019
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Note
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged deposit
Trade receivables and income receivable from customers
Green certificates
Receivables and debit balances
Total current assets
Long-term pledged deposit and restricted cash
Prepaid land lease expenses
Connected electricity production systems
Systems under construction and initiation
Fixed assets
Investment in equity-accounted investees
Other receivables
Deferred tax assets, net
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term loans
Trade payables
Payables and credit balances
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Liability for employee severance benefits, net
Loans from financial institutions
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability, net
Total non-current liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Premium and capital reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

4
5
6
7
8

5
9b(1)
9
9
9
10b
8
28d

13
11
12

13
13
28d

15
15

December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
(Audited)

91,983
13,397
18,909
11,413
31,879
167,581

96,444
93,208
11,981
8,218
12,159
222,010

48,405
23,871
1,301,950
151,388
4,098
11,685
5,276
9,385
1,556,058
1,723,639

43,023
25,469
1,073,645
126,952
2,998
14,200
6,426
12,765
1,305,478
1,527,488

54,795
32,552
26,553
113,900

43,497
38,261
36,313
118,071

361
832,313
29,499
15,457
877,630

417
676,185
37,570
10,651
724,823

3,798
677,783
42,186
723,767
8,342
732,109
1,723,639

3,743
669,422
9,364
682,529
2,065
684,594
1,527,488

March 11, 2019
Date of signing of the
Financial Statements

Nathan Hetz
Chairman of Board
of Directors

Asa Levinger
CEO

Elad Cohen
CFO

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part thereof.
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Note

Revenues from the sale of electricity
Revenues from the production of green certificates
Revenues from the construction of facilities
Other revenues, net (*)

16
16

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)
123,229
39,451
7,954
170,634

121,189
15,580
4,598
141,367

95,440
15,924
279
1,576
113,219

6,905
31,245
1,205
8,999
10,964
59,318

6,529
25,244
1,953
8,303
10,467
52,496

4,202
23,737
241
1,891
7,974
8,987
47,032

111,316
(43,587)
67,729

88,871
(41,688)
47,183

66,187
3,594
(36,400)
33,381

2,272
(35,091)
6,907
(25,912)

1,748
(29,390)
(27,642)

478
(28,646)
(28,168)

Profit after financing, net
41,817
19,541
Company’s share in the results of equity-accounted investees
10b
1,263
1,537
Profit before taxes on income
43,080
21,078
Taxes on income
28
(12,188)
(5,058)
Profit for the year
30,892
16,020
Total profit (loss) for the period attributable to:
Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
31,373
17,055
Loss for the year attributable to non-controlling interests
(481)
(1,035)
Total profit for the year
30,892
16,020
Net earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of
the Company (NIS):
Basic
0.083
0.047
Diluted
0.083
0.047
Weighted average share capital used to compute the
earnings per share (thousands of shares):
Basic
27
377,281
360,908
Diluted
27
379,981
362,873
The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part thereof.

5,213
1,501
6,714
(1,653)
5,061

Expenses
Rental expenses
Maintenance of systems and others (*)
Facility construction costs
Initiation expenses
Payroll and related expenses
Administrative, headquarters and other

Profit before financing, taxes, depreciation and amortization
Reversal of provisions for doubtful debts
Depreciation and amortization
Profit before financing and taxes
Financing income
Financing expenses
Profit from the acquisition of loans
Financing expenses, net

17

18
19
21
20
22

9

23
24
23

6,225
(1,164)
5,061

0.020
0.020

315,192
318,892

(*) Other income, net, during the Reporting Period, was primarily comprised of profit from the sale of inventory of green
certificates, and reversal of impairment of inventory of green certificates. Expenses for the maintenance of systems and others
include impairment of green certificates.
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Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)
Income for the year
Other comprehensive income items that after initial recognition
in comprehensive income were or will be transferred to profit or
loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operation
Income (loss) from foreign currency differences with respect to
derivatives which were designated for the hedging of investments in
subsidiaries which constitute foreign operations, net of tax

30,892

16,020

5,061

4,419

40,227

(41,374)

(6,564)

(29,632)

13,470

Change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments, net of tax
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

(1,892)
26,855

(208)
26,407

459
(22,384)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

27,737
(882)
26,855

27,538
(1,131)
26,407

(21,268)
(1,116)
(22,384)

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part thereof.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2018 (audited)

Share
capital
Balance as of January 1, 2018
Income (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive loss for the
year
Exercise of share options
Share-based payment
Change in non-controlling interests
Balance as of December 31, 2018

Premium

3,743
-

701,636
-

55
3,798

14,059
715,695

Reserve
Capital
from
Capital
reserve
Total
translation
reserve
from
equity
of the
from
transaction
attributabl
Financial transaction
s with
Retained
e to the
Statements s with non- controlling earnings shareholde
NonHedge
of a foreign controlling shareholde (accumulat
rs of the
controlling
reserve
operation
interests
rs
ed loss)
Company
interests
NIS in thousands
251
(31,977)
(1,000)
512
9,364
682,529
2,065
31,373
31,373
(481)
(1,892)
(1,641)

(1,744)
(33,721)

(2,062)
(3,062)

512

(1,923)
3,372
42,186

(3,636)
12,191
3,372
(2,062)
723,767

(401)
7,159
8,342

Total
equity
684,594
30,892
(4,037)
12,191
3,372
5,097
732,109
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For the year ended December 31, 2017 (audited)

Receipts
on
account of
Premium
options

Share
capital

Reserve
from
translation
Capital
of the
reserve
Capital
Total equity
financial
from
reserve from
attributable
statements transactions transactions
Retained
to the
of a
with nonwith
earnings
shareholders
Nonforeign
controlling controlling (accumulated
of the
controlling
operation
interests shareholders
loss)
Company
interests

Hedge
reserve

Total
equity

NIS in thousands
Balance as of January 1,
2017
Income (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive
income (loss) for the year
Issuance of shares
Exercise of share options
Share-based payment
Expired share options
Acquisition of noncontrolling interests
Return of capital to noncontrolling interests
Balance as of
December 31, 2017

3,227
-

553,718
-

16,206
-

459
-

(42,677)
-

-

512
-

(10,867)
17,055

520,578
17,055

3,369
(1,035)

523,947
16,020

495
21
-

127,426
4,286
16,206

(16,206)

(208)
-

10,700
-

-

-

(605)
3,781
-

10,492
127,921
3,702
3,781
-

(96)
-

10,396
127,921
3,702
3,781
-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,000)

-

-

(1,000)

-

(1,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(173)

(173)

3,743

701,636

-

251

(31,977)

(1,000)

512

9,364

682,529

2,065

684,594

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part thereof.
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For the year ended December 31, 2016 (audited)

Balance as of January 1, 2016
Income (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
(loss) for the year
Acquisition of subsidiary
Exercise of share options
Dividend paid to Company
shareholders
Share-based payment
Balance as of December 31,
2016

Share
capital
NIS in
thousands
3,077
-

Receipts
on
account of
Premium
options

Capital
Reserve
reserve
from
from
translation
Total
transactio
of the
equity
ns with
financial
attributabl
controllin
Retained
statements
e to the
g
earnings shareholde
Nonof a
sharehold
(accumula
controllin
foreign
rs of the
ers
ted loss) Company g interests
operation

Hedge
reserve

Total
equity

509,578
-

21,342
-

-

(14,724)
-

512
-

(4,866)
6,225

514,919
6,225

4,495
(1,164)

519,414
5,061

150

44,140

(5,136)

459
-

(27,953)
-

-

(1,438)

(27,494)
37,716

49
(11)
-

(27,445)
(11)
37,716

3,227

553,718

16,206

459

(42,677)

512

(12,763)
1,975
(10,867)

(12,763)
1,975
520,578

3,369

(12,763)
1,975
523,947

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part thereof.
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Note

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)

Cash flows - operating activities
Income for the year
Expenses not involving cash flows (Appendix A)

30,892
61,290
92,182
(19,729)
72,453

16,020
51,651
67,671
11,222
78,893

5,061
46,225
51,286
(10,876)
40,410

(319,508)
(26,011)
101,388
(9,062)
3,700
(1,954)
(251,447)

(94,435)
(102,937)
(6,582)
2,250
(1,424)
107
(203,021)

(361,185)
(15,660)
5,023
10,000
(3,193)
2,650
(57,720)
(1,886)
(421,971)

15d

12,632

127,921
3,262

38,034

23

3,383
(626)
(3,510)

(3,908)
(1,000)
-

(6,522)
-

-

(173)

-

13

3,300

-

136,520

13

(3,300)

(65,501)

(97,039)

206,502

155,496

315,706

(44,686)
-

(37,425)
-

(21,290)
(12,763)

173,695
(5,299)

178,672
54,544

352,646
(28,915)

96,444

39,114

73,435

838

2,786

(5,406)

91,983

96,444

39,114

Changes in working capital (Appendix B)
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows - investing activities
Investment in electricity production systems
Increase in pledged deposit and restricted cash
Decrease in pledged deposit and restricted cash
Release of cash in trust
Settlement of financial instruments
Repayment of loans to equity-accounted investees
Payment related to the acquisition of a project
Investment in other fixed assets
Consideration from sale of fixed assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows - financing activities
Consideration from issuance of shares
Consideration from exercise of share options
Investment of capital by non-controlling interests
in consolidated companies
Costs of credit raising
Transaction with non-controlling interests
Payment with respect to the acquisition of loans
Return of capital to non-controlling interests in a
consolidated company
Short-term loans received from banking
institutions
Repayment of short-term loans from banking
institutions
Long-term loan received from financial
institutions
Repayment of long-term loans from financial
institutions
Dividend paid to Company shareholders
Net cash from financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash
and cash equivalents
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at end of
year

9
5
5

10
9
9

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part thereof.
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Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)
Appendix - Adjustments Required to
Present Cash Flows from Operating
Activities
a. Expenses (income) not involving cash
flows:
Financing expenses, net
Maintenance expenses not associated with
cash flows
Prepaid rent
Revaluation of loans, deposits and
marketable securities, net
Depreciation and amortization
Reversal of provision for doubtful debt
Company’s share in the results of equityaccounted investees
Tax expenses recognized in profit for the
period
Share-based payment
Profit from the acquisition of loans
Other
b. Changes in asset and liability items
(changes in working capital):
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables and
other receivables and debit balances
Decrease (increase) in inventory of green
certificates
Increase in trade payables and other payables
and credit balances
Non-cash activity
Investment in electricity production facilities
against financial liabilities
Receivables from non-cash exercise of share
options
Investment in electricity production facilities
against supplier credit and payables
Additional information
Interest paid in respect of operating activities
Interest received in respect of operating
activities
Taxes paid

378

1,064

3,374

7,867
1,560

1,560

1,560

9

2,150
43,587
-

(62)
41,688
-

6,432
36,400
(3,594)

10b

(1,263)

(1,537)

(1,501)

28
26

10,602
3,372
(6,907)
(56)
61,290

5,058
3,781
99
51,651

1,476
1,975
103
46,225

(15,855)

295

(6,061)

(3,154)

2,037

(9,233)

(720)
(19,729)

8,890
11,222

4,418
(10,876)

2,792

-

24,044

-

441

-

1,296

38,506

1,522

30,312

28,603

19,080

122

543

497

5,608

-

409

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part thereof.
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Note 1

- General
A. General description of the Company and its operations
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd. (hereinafter: the “Company”) is a public company
whose securities are listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange since May 2011.
Since its formation, the Company has been engaged in the initiation, development,
construction, financing, management and operation of systems for the production of
electricity from renewable energy sources, with the aim of holding such systems as the owner
over the long term. The Company’s controlling shareholder is Alony Hetz Properties and
Investments Ltd. (hereinafter: “Alony Hetz”).
The Company’s activities are divided into two segments:
(i) Activities to produce electricity using photovoltaic technology (the “Photovoltaic
Segment”) - As of the Reporting Date, the Company has activities in the Photovoltaic
Segment which are wholly owned or jointly owned through joint ventures in Israel and in
the United States.
(ii) Activities to produce electricity from wind energy (the “Wind Energy Segment”) As of the Reporting Date, the Company has activities in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel
and in Poland.
As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company has systems in the commercial
operation stage with a total capacity of approximately 258 MWp (the Company’s share:
approximately 249 MWp), projects under construction and pre-construction with a total
capacity of approximately 150 MWp (Company’s share: approximately 100 MWp), and
additional projects with a capacity of hundreds of megawatts in various stages of
development in Israel, the USA and Poland.
B. Definitions in these financial statements:
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as of December 31, 2018 comprise
those of the Company, the companies and partnerships under its control, and the Company’s
interests in Granot Partnership (as defined in section b. below) (the Company and the
companies and partnerships under its control, and the Granot Partnership, shall hereinafter
be referred to as: the “Group”). Any reference to the term “Company” in this report means
the Company, directly and/or indirectly through one of the entities in the Group. The
following are additional definitions which are relevant to the report:
Alony Hetz

As defined in Section 1a.

Amot

Amot Investments Ltd., as well as all of its subsidiaries, investees
and consolidated companies.

Interested Parties

As defined in Paragraph (1) of the definition of an “interested
party” in Section 1 of the Securities Law - 1968.
As defined in Section 1a. Any reference to the term “Company” in
this report means the Company, directly and/or indirectly through
one of the entities in the Group.

Company
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Note 1 -

General (Cont’d)
Joint Venture in the
United States
Joint Venture in
Israel
Group
Consolidated
Companies /
Subsidiaries
Investee Companies

A Limited Partnership which was founded by the Company (58%)
and a local partner (42%) for the joint initiation, development,
construction, operation and maintenance of projects for the
A
Limited Partnership
founded by
the Company
(70%)
production
of electricitywhich
fromwas
photovoltaic
energy
in Virginia,
and
an entrepreneurial company (30%) for the joint initiation,
USA.
development, construction, operation and maintenance of projects
As
in this section.
For details
of investee companies,
for defined
the production
of electricity
from photovoltaic
energy in see
Note
10.
Israel.
Companies, including partnerships, the Financial Statements of

which are fully consolidated, directly or indirectly, with the
Financial Statements of the Company.
Consolidated companies and companies, including partnerships or
a joint transaction, in which the Company’s investment is stated,
directly or indirectly, on an equity basis (see also Note 3a).
Electric Corporation Israel Electric Corporation Ltd.
/ Critical Service
Provider
Index / CPI
The Consumer Price Index as published by the Central Bureau of
Statistics.
Small Systems

Photovoltaic systems with an electricity production capacity of
up to 50 KWp each.

Medium Systems

Photovoltaic systems with an electricity production capacity
greater than 50KWp that are connected to the distribution
network.

Large Systems
Clean Wind Energy
Project
Neot Hovav Project

Photovoltaic systems for the production of electricity that are
connected
transmission
network.
As definedtointhe
Note
9e.

Banie Project

As defined in Note 9f(1).

Iława Project

As defined in Note 9f(2).

Related Party

As defined in IAS 24 (2009), “Related Party Disclosures”.

Granot Partnership

Granot Energix Solar Projects, Limited Partnership, which is
50% held by the Company and accounted for as a joint
transaction by the equity method.

As defined in Note 9b(2).

Projects Partnership Energix Projects 1, Limited Partnership, which is 100% held by
1
the Company.
Projects Partnership Energix Projects 2, Limited Partnership, which is 100% held by
2
Company.
Projects
Partnership
Energix Tender 2, Limited Partnership, which isthe
70%
held by
3
the Company.
Electricity Authority The Public Utilities Authority - Electricity.
Photovoltaic Segment As defined in Note 1a.
Wind Energy
As defined in Note 1a.
Segment
Green Certificates
As defined in Note 3f.
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General (Cont’d)

Note 1 -

Note 2 -

KWp

Peak kilowatt units which are used to measure the installed
electricity production capacity of photovoltaic systems.

MWp

1,000 peak kilowatt units that are used to measure the installed
electricity production capacity of photovoltaic systems.

MW

1,000 kilowatt units that are used to measure the actual
transmitted capacity of turbines that are operated with wind
energy.

EBRD

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

Vestas

A turbine manufacturer, as defined in Note 9f.

Basis of Preparation
A.

Statement of Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group have been drawn up in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter: “IFRSs”) and related
interpretations published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Furthermore, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Securities
Regulations (Annual Financial Statements) - 2010.
The Financial Statements were approved for publication by the Company’s Board of
Directors on March 11, 2019.

B.

Functional currency and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in NIS, which is the Company’s
functional currency, and have been rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise
indicated. During the Reporting Period, the NIS is the currency that represents the principal
economic environment to which the Company operates.

C.

Basis of measurement
The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the
following assets and liabilities:
• Financial, derivative and other instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss
• Cash flow hedging derivatives denominated in foreign currency that are measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
• Investments in equity-accounted joint transactions
• Money market funds that are presented under cash and cash equivalents and designated
at fair value through profit or loss
• Deferred tax assets and liabilities
• Provisions and assets to which were they capitalized
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Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)

Note 2 D.

Operating cycle
The operating cycle of the Group is 12 months.

E.

Classification of expenses recognized in the income statement
The classification of the Group’s expenses recognized in the statement of income is based
on the function of the expense. The Group has chosen to use this classification method
because in believes that it facilitates simple and clear presentation of profit before financing,
taxes, depreciation and amortization. This index is an important index for companies like
the Company, and contributes to a better understanding of the results of its business
operations.

F.

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management of
the Company to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. It
is hereby clarified that actual results may differ from these estimates. In formulating the
accounting estimates that are used in the preparation of the Financial Statements of the
Group, management of the Company is required to make assumptions as to circumstances
and events involving significant uncertainty. Management of the Company prepares the
estimates on the basis of past experience, various facts, external circumstances, and
reasonable assumptions according to the pertinent circumstances of each estimate.
The estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly. Changes in
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates were amended and
in every affected future period.
The following table summarizes the estimates and the principal assumptions on which the
Group relied in relation to the future and other main factors which could lead to uncertainty
with respect to estimates that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year, and the relevant notes:
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Note 2

- Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)
Estimate

Principal assumptions

RET provision

Evaluation regarding whether the active
wind farms which are owned by the
Company in Poland may be required to
pay real estate tax (RET) beyond the tax
which is effectively paid today,
including the exercise of significant
judgment, including with respect to
legal interpretations of the legal system,
and an evaluation of the various
components of the wind farms, for the
purpose of determining which of them
constitute a basis for the payment of
component, and which do not.
The determination of whether or not the
commitments of the Company in
connection with large and medium
facilities that it owns are within the
scope of IFRIC 12 is primarily based on
significant use of judgment, including in
relation to legal interpretations of the
codex, the licenses and the agreements
in the relevant arrangement for the
purpose of determining the extent of
control of public institutions over the
services provided as well as in respect
of the determination of the useful life of
the facility and the materiality of the
residual value at the end of the
arrangement period.
For the purpose of determining whether
a project constitutes an asset eligible for
capitalization, Group management
prepares an estimate regarding whether
the system of statutory permits, the link
to the land, the ability to connect to
electricity, etc., in the project, leads to
the conclusion that the project is
expected to generate economic benefits
for the Company (in other words, the
project is expected to reach completion
of construction and commercial
operation).

Determining
whether the
commitments
of the
Company to
sell electricity
are within the
scope of
IFRIC 12

Determination
regarding
whether a
project
constitutes an
asset eligible
for
capitalization

Potential
effects
Recording of
additional
maintenance
expenses

Reference

Selection of the
appropriate
accounting
treatment under the
financial asset
model (within
the scope of
IFRIC 12) or the
fixed assets
model

For information
regarding the
accounting treatment
of the large system and
the medium systems
that are owned by the
Group, see Note 3

Recording as an
asset or
recording as
initiation
expenses

For details regarding
the Clean Wind
Energy Project, see
Note 9e.

For additional
information, see Note
30c
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Note 2

- Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)
G.

Determination of fair value
Preparation of the Financial Statements requires the Company to determine the fair value of
certain assets and liabilities. Further information about the assumptions that were used to
determine fair value is included in Note 31 - Financial Instruments.
When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses observable market
data as much as possible. There are three levels of fair value measurements in the fair value
hierarchy that are based on the data used in the assessment, as follows:
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: inputs that are observable, directly or indirectly, which are not included in Level
1 above.
• Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data.

H.

Exchange rates and linkage base
Balances in foreign currency, or linked thereto, are included in the Financial Statements
according to the representative exchange rates which were published by the Bank of Israel
and by the Central Bank of Poland as of the Reporting Date.
Balances linked to the consumer price index are presented according to the last known index
at the end of the Reporting Period (the index for the month preceding the month of the
Reporting Date), or in accordance with the index in lieu for the last month of the Reporting
Period (the index for the month of the Reporting Date), in accordance with the terms of the
transaction.
Presented below are details regarding the consumer price index and the exchange rates of the
currencies which are relevant to the Company’s activity vs. the NIS, and regarding the
increase (decrease) of the consumer price index and changes in the exchange rates of those
currencies vs. the NIS, as of the Reporting Date and in the corresponding periods:
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Note 2

- Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)
As of December 31 / for the month of
December
2018
2017
2016

Consumer Price
Index
(According to base
2000)
In Israel (index in
lieu)
In Israel (known
index)
Exchange rate vs.
the NIS
PLN
EUR
USD
Note 3

Change during the year ended
December 31
2018
2017
2016
%
%
%

132.76

131.71

131.19

0.80

0.40

(0.20)

133.16

131.58

131.19

1.20

0.30

(0.30)

1.00
4.29
3.75

1.00
4.15
3.47

0.92
4.04
3.85

0.39
3.35
8.10

8.18
2.79
(9.95)

(8.00)
(4.94)
(1.28)

- Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements.
A. Basis of consolidation
(1)

Control
Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with a subsidiary (as defined below) and it has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the subsidiary. Substantive rights held by the Group and
others are taken into account when assessing control.

(2)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Financial Statements of
subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that
the Company achieves control over the relevant entity until the date that control is lost.

(3)

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests comprise the equity of a subsidiary that cannot be attributed,
directly or indirectly, to the parent company.
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Allocation of profit or loss and other comprehensive income among the shareholders
Profit or loss and any component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to non-controlling interests. Total profit or loss and the
other comprehensive income are allocated to the owners of the Company and the noncontrolling interests, even when the result is a negative balance of the non-controlling
interests.
(4)

Investment in joint transactions
Joint transactions are joint arrangements in which the Group has rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. Investments in joint transactions are accounted for using the equity
method and are initially recognized at cost.
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Group’s share of the income and
expenses in profit or loss and of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted
investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group,
from the date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases.

(4)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising
from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with joint transactions are
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in these
investments.

B. Functional currency and presentation currency
(1)

Translation of transactions in currencies other than the functional currency:
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the
Group according to the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the Reporting Date are translated to
the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or
loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments
during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange
rate at the end of the year.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
measured at fair value, are translated to the functional currency according to the
exchange rate as of the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
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that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rate as of the date of the transaction.
Exchange differences arising from translation to the functional currency are generally
recognized in profit or loss, other than differences arising from the translation of
derivatives that are used to hedge cash flows, in respect of the effective portion of the
hedge, which are carried to other comprehensive income.
(2)

Foreign operations
As a rule, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to NIS at
exchange rates at the Reporting Date. The income and expenses of foreign operations
are translated to NIS at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in the foreign
operation translation reserve. Foreign currency differences in respect of loans received
from or granted to foreign operations, including foreign operations that are subsidiaries,
are recognized in profit or loss in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from loans received from or granted to a
foreign operation, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the
foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign
operation and are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented within
equity in the translation reserve. The capital reserve from translation differences is
recognized in profit or loss upon the disposal of the investment in the foreign
operation.

C. Financial instruments
(3)

Non-derivative financial assets
(a) General
Financial assets are recognized in the statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the instrument’s contractual terms. In case the
acquisition or sale of an investment are covered under a contract whose terms
require transferring the investment in the timeframe which is acceptable to the
applicable market, the investment is recognized or derecognized on the trade date
(the date when the Group undertook to purchase or sell the asset).
Investments in financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus
transaction costs, except for financial assets which are classified under fair value
through profit and loss, which are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction
costs with respect to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are charged
immediately as an expense to profit or loss.
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After initial recognition, financial assets are measured at amortized cost or at fair
value, depending on their classification.
(b) Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost upon the fulfillment of the
following two conditions:
• The Group’s business model is to hold the assets with the aim of collecting
contractual cash flows, and
• The contractual terms of the asset establish precise dates when the contractual
cash flows will be received which constitute principal and interest payments
only.
Debt instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
upon the fulfillment of the following two conditions:
• The Group’s business model is to hold the assets with the aim of collecting
contractual cash flows, and
• The contractual terms of the asset establish precise dates when the contractual
cash flows will be received which constitute principal and interest payments
only.
All other financial assets are measured at fair value through profit and loss.
Notwithstanding the foregoing:
On the date of initial recognition, the Group is entitled to designate
investments in equity instruments, which are not held for trading, and which
do not constitute contingent consideration in a business combination, at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Such designation cannot be
canceled in subsequent periods, and can be done for each investment
separately, independently of the designation or non-designation of other
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income. Consultants
designated by it on the initial adoption date of IFRS 9 at fair value through
other comprehensive income.
(c) Financial assets measured at amortized cost and the effective interest method
The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset
is measured upon initial recognition, after deducting principal payments, plus or
less accumulated amortization, using the effective interest method, of any
difference between the initial amount and the repayment amount, adjusted for any
loss provision.
The effective interest method is a method which is used to calculate the amortized
cost of a debt instrument, and to allocate and recognize the interest income in
profit or loss over the relevant period.
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Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method. The calculation
is performed by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset.
d) Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from that financial asset have expired, or when the Group substantially
transfers all of the risks and benefits arising from the ownership of that financial
asset. When the Group does not substantially transfer all of the risks and benefits
arising from the ownership of the financial asset, but also does not keep all of the
risks and benefits, and the Group maintains control of the transferred asset, the
Group recognizes the financial asset in accordance with the extent of its ongoing
involvement in the financial asset, and in its associated liability. When the Group
keeps all of the risks and benefits arising from the ownership of the transferred
financial asset, the Group continues recognizing the transferred financial asset,
and recognizes a financial liability with respect to the received consideration.
(2)

Financial liabilities
(a) Classification as a financial liability or as an equity instrument
Liabilities and equity instruments which were issued by the Group are classified
as financial liabilities or as equity instruments in accordance with the nature of the
contractual arrangements, and the definition of a financial liability and equity
instrument.
(b) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract indicating residual interests in the Group’s
assets, following the amortization of all of its liabilities. Equity instruments which
were issued by the Group are recorded according to their issuance consideration,
after deducting expenses which are directly attributable to the issuance of those
instruments.
(c) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
The other financial liabilities which are not measured at fair value through profit
or loss are initially recognized at fair value, after deducting transaction costs.
Following the date of initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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The effective interest method is a method for calculating the amortized cost of a
financial liability, and for allocating the interest expenses throughout the relevant
credit period. The effective interest rate is the rate which accurately discounts the
forecasted future cash flows over the expected lifetime of a financial liability to
its carrying amount, or, when appropriate, over a shorter period.
(d) Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when and only when the financial
liability has been repaid, or has canceled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the settled financial liability, and the consideration which was
paid, is recognized under profit or loss.
(3)

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the statement
of financial position when the Group has a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the amounts recognized and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

(4)

Hedge accounting
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its cash flows or to hedge a
net investment in a foreign operation.
On initial designation of the hedge, the Group formally documents the relationship
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk management
objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the methods
that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.
The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well
as on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly
effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective
hedged items during the period for which the hedge is designated, and whether the
actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80-125 percent.
(a) Cash flow hedge

For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly
probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that
could ultimately affect profit or loss.
Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value. Attributable transaction costs are
recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
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derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as
described below:
Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as a cash flow hedge, in respect
of the effective portion of the hedge, are recognized through other comprehensive
income directly in a hedging reserve. Changes in fair value relating to the
ineffective portion are recognized in profit or loss. The amount recognized in the
hedging reserve is reclassified to the income statement in the period in which the
cash flows affect the statement of profit or loss and is presented under the same
line item of the hedged item.
If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued.
The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the hedging reserve through
other comprehensive income remains in the reserve until the forecasted
transaction occurs or is no longer expected to occur. If the forecasted transaction
is no longer expected to occur, then the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in the hedging reserve in respect of the hedging instrument is
reclassified to profit or loss. In other cases, the amount recognized in the hedging
reserve is transferred to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item
affects profit or loss.
(b) Hedging of net investment in a foreign operation

The Group applies hedge accounting for the net investment in a foreign operation
in respect of investments, less loans received in the local currency of the
transaction.
The hedging of investment in investee companies is accounted for similarly to the
hedging of cash flows. The effective part of the total change in fair value of
financial instruments which are intended for hedging of a net investment in a
foreign operation is recognized under other comprehensive income, in the section
for “Profit from foreign currency differences with respect to derivatives which
were designated for the hedging of investments in subsidiaries which constitute
foreign operations, net of tax”. The non-effective portion is recognized in profit
or loss.
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are classified to profit or loss
on the date of disposal of the investment of the foreign operation, as well as upon
the partial disposal of the foreign operation that involves the loss of control or
upon the transition from an equity-accounted investment to a financial asset. The
change in the fair value of hedging instruments that do not qualify as accounting
hedges is recognized in profit or loss in accordance with IAS 39.
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(4) CPI-linked assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair value
The value of CPI-linked financial assets and liabilities, which are not measured at fair
value, is remeasured every period in accordance with the actual increase/decrease in
the CPI.
(5) Options for the acquisition of shares of the Company and/or a subsidiary
Receipts from the issuance of options to acquire shares in the Company or in a
subsidiary, which confer upon their holder the right to acquire a fixed number of
ordinary shares in consideration for a fixed amount of cash, are presented in equity
under “receipts on account of options”. For this purpose, an exercise amount that varies
by date of exercise, where the exercise price on any date of exercise can be determined
on issuance date, is deemed as a fixed amount.
(6) Splitting of consideration from the issuance of a package of securities
The consideration received from the issuance of a package of securities that
comprises several equity instruments allocated in proportion to their fair values. The
fair value of each component in the package that is measured at fair value, as above,
is determined based on the market prices of the securities shortly after their issuance.
Issuance costs are allocated among each of the components of the package in
proportion to the fair value determined for each of the issued components. Issuance
costs that were attributed to financial liabilities that are measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss on the date of issuance. Issuance costs
that were attributed to other financial liabilities are deducted from the liability and
recognized in profit or loss by the effective interest method. Issuance costs that were
attributed to equity instruments are presented as a deduction from equity.
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D. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash that is available for immediate use, call deposits
as well as term deposits that are not restricted in use, for which the original maturity date
does not exceed three months. Cash which is restricted by the Group with respect to credit
agreements, or which is restricted to use for projects only, within the framework of
accompaniment accounts for those projects.
E.

Fixed assets
(1)

Recognition and measurement
Items of fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Cost includes payment that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials
and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for their intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located. For details regarding the timing of
recognition of costs that are capitalized to fixed assets in respect of projects in the
initiation stage - see Note 3o.
The cost of qualifying assets also includes borrowing costs that are capitalized to the
asset. In this regard, see Note 3g.
Spare parts, auxiliary equipment and backup equipment are classified as fixed assets to
the extent that they meet the definition of fixed assets in IAS 16, otherwise they are
carried to inventory. When major parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components)
of fixed assets. Gains and losses on disposal of a fixed asset item are determined by
comparing the net consideration from disposal with the carrying amount of the asset,
and are recognized net within “other income” or “other expenses”, as relevant, in profit
or loss.

(2)

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of a fixed asset item and other subsequent costs are
capitalized if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with them will
flow to the Group and their cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part of a fixed asset item is derecognized. The costs of day-to-day servicing
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

(3)

Write-down of fixed assets
Depreciation is a systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its
useful life. The depreciable amount is the cost of the asset, or another amount
substituted for cost, less its residual value.
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Components of a depreciable fixed asset item with a significant cost compared to the
total cost of the item are depreciated separately. Depreciation is systematically applied
(as detailed below) over the estimated useful lives of each part of the fixed asset item
from the date on which the asset is ready for use, i.e. it has reached the location and the
condition that are necessary for it to be used as intended by management, taking into
consideration the anticipated residual value at the end of the useful life.
The method of depreciation of the fixed assets reflects the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits that are embodied in the asset. The Group
depreciates its photovoltaic systems by the decreasing output method.
The estimated useful lifetimes and the rates of depreciation that are used in calculating
the depreciation are as follows:

A. Wind projects
B. Photovoltaic projects:
Projects over 5MWp

% of
depreciati Depreciation
Useful life
on
method
Decreasing
30 years
~3
output

20 years

Medium and small projects - converters 10 years
Medium and small projects - panels and
infrastructure
20 years
C. Office furniture and equipment
3-16 years
F.

~5
~10
4.63-5.37
6-33

Decreasing
output
Decreasing
output
Decreasing
output
Straight-line

Inventory of green certificates
Green certificates in respect of the Company’s wind farms in Poland, which have accrued
for the Company and are yet unsold, are recognized as an inventory of green certificates,
based on the price of green certificates at the end of the month in which they accrued.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the inventory of green certificates is measured at its
original value less impairment, as appropriate. Impairment and impairment reversals are
recognized in the expense or revenue items under profit and loss, as applicable. Upon the
sale of green certificates, the Company writes off the inventory of certificates according to
the weighted average method. The certificates inventory price is determined according to a
quote from the green certificate exchange.

G.

Discounting of borrowing costs
Specific borrowing costs are discounted for qualifying assets throughout the period required
for completion and construction until they are ready for their intended use. The foreign
currency differences from credit in foreign currency are capitalized if they are considered an
adjustment of interest costs. Other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred.
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Income earned on the temporary investment of specific credit received for investing in a
qualifying asset is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.
H.

Liability for the costs of dismantling and removal of an item and rehabilitation of
its location

The cost of a fixed assets item includes, inter alia, the costs of dismantling and removal of
the item and the restoration of the site on which it is located, which give rise to a liability for
the entity upon acquisition of the item or as a result of the use of the item over a specific
duration, other than for the creation of inventory in such period. Subsequent to initial
recognition:
Changes in the estimate of the aforesaid liability until the end of the depreciation period of
the item are added to or detracted from the property in the current period. Changes in the
aforesaid liability due to the passage of time are recognized in profit or loss as financing
expenses.
I.

Impairment

(1) Non-derivative financial assets
With respect to trade receivables, the Group adopts the lenient approach to the
measurement of a provision for impairment, according to the probability of insolvency
throughout the instrument’s entire lifetime. The expected credit losses throughout the
instrument’s entire lifetime are the projected credit losses due to all possible default
events during the expected lifetime of a financial instrument. The evaluation regarding
whether to recognize a provision for impairment according to the expected credit losses
throughout the instrument’s entire lifetime is based on the risk of default after the initial
recognition date, and not only when objective evidence of impairment exists on the
reporting date, or when a default has actually occurred.
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of a default
event, the amount of loss in case of a default event, and the maximum exposure to loss
in a default event. The estimated probability of a default event, and the amount of loss,
are based on historical data, adjusted according to forward looking information.
With respect to financial assets, the maximum exposure to loss in a default event is the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset on the reporting date. Expected credit
losses are the difference between the contractual cash flows which the Group is entitled
to receive in accordance with the agreement, and all of the cash flows which the Group
expects to receive, discounted by the original effective interest rate.
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The Group recognizes impairment loss (profit from reversal of impairment) in the
statement of income for all financial instruments, against an adjustment to their
carrying amount through an impairment provision account.
Israel:
The standard adds presentation guidelines and disclosures in connection with the
impairment of financial instruments. The Company has a single customer in Israel,
Israel Electric Corporation (the “IEC”). The Company evaluated the historical
collection data from the IEC, and did not identify any cases of losses which the
Company incurred due to unsettled debts.
The Company also took into account the IEC’s characteristics and the routine ratings
which are given for its bonds, including, inter alia, the monopolistic status in the
electricity sector, the importance of the IEC to the electricity sector, and as a result, the
support which the IEC has received over the years from the state, the existence of liquid
balances as a result of maintaining a well-defined and clear financial policy. The
Company therefore believes that the probability of the IEC’s insolvency throughout the
instrument’s entire lifetime is negligible.
Poland:
The sale of electricity and of green certificates in Poland is done through power
exchanges and green certificate exchanges, or through sale to traders. The Company’s
evaluation of the characteristics of the Polish market included evaluating the risk of
discontinuation of trading activities in Poland, which would cause the Company to be
unable to sell its electricity or green certificates. The above evaluation including
examining the scope of market trading, the current arrangement in Poland in connection
with maintaining an active market for electricity and green certificates, the Company’s
internal payment collection history, and the historical scopes of supply and demand for
electricity and for green certificates. In light of the fact that the Polish market is
advanced, and of a significant scope, the Company believes that the probability of a
market failure in the Polish market for electricity or for green certificates, which would
cause the Company to be unable to sell its electricity or green certificates, is negligible.
(2) Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax
assets, are reviewed at each Reporting Date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the Group discounts the estimated
future cash flows to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the
assessments by market participants of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset, for which the estimated future cash flows from the asset were not adjusted.
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An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount and is carried to profit or loss.
J. Employee benefits
The Group has a number of post-employment benefit plans. The plans are usually financed
by deposits with insurance companies or with funds managed by a trustee and are classified
as defined contribution plans and as defined benefit plans.
(1) Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further amounts. The Group’s obligations for contributions to a
defined contribution plan are recognized as an expense in profit or loss in the periods
during which related services are rendered by employees.
(2) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
are expensed as the related service is provided or upon the actual absence of the
employee when the benefit is not accumulated (such as maternity leave).
A provision for short-term employee benefits is created in respect of the amount that is
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
The employee benefits are classified, for measurement purposes, as short-term benefits
or as other long-term benefits depending on when the Group expects the benefits to be
wholly settled.
(3)

Shared-based payment transactions
The fair value on the granting date of share-based payment bonuses to employees is
carried as a salary expense, in parallel with an increase in equity, over the period when
the unconditional entitlement to bonuses is obtained. The amount which is carried as
an expense with respect to share-based payments which are subject to vesting
conditions which constitute performance conditions that are not market conditions is
adjusted in order to reflect the number of bonuses which are expected to vest. Such
benefits are recognized as expenses in the income statement against an increase in
retained earnings under equity, on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods of the
equity instrument which was granted, with each sub-grant being treated as a separate
series (graded vesting).
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K. Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is more likely than not that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provision for legal claims
A provision for legal claims is recognized when the Group has a present legal obligation or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, where it is more likely than not that an
outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the
obligation can be reliably estimated.
L. Revenue recognition
(1) Revenues from the sale of electricity
Revenues from the sale of electricity are carried to the income statement as they accrue
over the period in which the electricity is produced.
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable by
the Group and are recognized in the Financial Statements to the extent that their
collection is believed to be probable on the date of their recognition and provided that
the amount of the revenues can be measured reliably.
(2) Revenues from the sale of green certificates
The revenues are measured based on the market price of the certificate at the end of the
month in which they accrued against the production of electricity and were recorded
against the inventory of green certificates, and are presented in a separate revenue item.
When realizing the certificate, revenues from the sale of green certificates are
recognized according to the actual selling price and the profit or loss, as applicable, is
recorded under the items for others revenues or expenses with respect to the period
when the certificates were sold. Impairment of green certificates appears under the item
for other expenses, and reversal of impairment appears under the item for other income.
The certificates inventory price is determined according to a quote from the green
certificate exchange.
(3) Revenues from maintenance and operation services contracts
Revenue from engagements for the provision of maintenance and operation services
for photovoltaic electricity production systems is measured at the fair value of the
consideration from the engagement. Revenue recognition is subject to the following
conditions:
a. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
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b.

The economic benefits relating to the engagement are likely to flow to the
Company.
Revenues are recognized upon the provision of the service over the period of the service
contract.
(4) Revenues from construction contracts
Revenues and expenses from contracts for the construction of electricity production
facilities are recognized in profit or loss by reference to the stage of completion of
contract activity where the outcome of the construction contract can be estimated
reliably. Revenues from construction contracts include the original amount specified in
the contract with the addition of amounts relating to alterations in the original contract
work, claims and incentives, to the extent that is highly likely to be collected and that
can be reliably measured. Contractual costs are recognized as they arise, unless they
create an asset that is attributed to a future activity that is provided for in the contract.
The stage of completion of the contract is determined based on the percentage of
contract costs incurred in respect of the work performed as compared to total estimated
costs or based on the physical progress of the project. If the outcome of the construction
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognized only to the extent of costs
incurred that are likely to be recovered. An anticipated loss on a construction contract
is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
M. Leases
The Group customarily leases building rooftops and lands for the installation and operation
of photovoltaic systems and wind farms. Such lease arrangements are classified as an
operating lease, i.e.: the leased assets are not recognized in the statement of financial
position, since all of the risks and rewards of ownership substantively remain in the hands
of the lessor of the rooftops or the owner of the land. Lease payments in respect of rooftops
are calculated as a percentage of the receipts of the Company from the provision of the
electricity to the Israel Electric Corporation and recognized in profit or loss when the
eligibility for the receipts from Israel Electric Corporation is established. For projects where
the Group pays the lease fees in advance, this payment is recognized as an asset and expensed
in a straight line over the lease period. For details regarding standards and interpretations
which have not yet been adopted, including IFRS 16 - Leases, and their impact on the
Company’s financial statements, see Note 3t(1).
N. Financing income and expenses
Financing income comprises interest income on funds invested and changes in the fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Interest income is recognized as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Changes in
the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss also include interest
income.
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Financing expenses comprise bank commissions and interest expenses on loans received and
changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Borrowing costs, which are not capitalized to qualifying assets, are recognized in profit or
loss using the effective interest method. Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets
and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either financing income or financing
expenses depending on the foreign currency movements.
O. Initiation expenses
The Company recognizes in profit or loss all of the initiation expenses in respect of projects
that is develops until the stage in which management believes the feasibility of construction
of the project has been proven. Once the project becomes feasible, the development and
construction costs are capitalized to the cost of the project. A project is considered feasible
when the Company predicts that future economic benefits will arise from the project, and
when, according to the assessment of Company management, the chance of the project is
more likely than not to materialize.
P. Taxes on income
(1)

General
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are
recognized in profit or loss or are recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income to the extent they relate to items recognized directly in equity
or in other comprehensive income.

(2)

Current taxes
Current tax is the expected tax payable (or receivable) on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the Reporting Date. Current
taxes also include taxes in respect of prior years.

(3)

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes. The Group does not recognize deferred taxes in respect of
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements, to the extent
that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future, either by way of
selling the investment or by way of distributing dividends in respect of the investment.
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The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the Reporting Period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the Reporting Date.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax benefits and deductible
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
Reporting Date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realized.
(4) Offsetting of deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities,
but they intend to settle deferred tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their deferred
tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
Deferred tax in respect of inter-company transactions in the Consolidated Financial
Statements is recognized according to the tax rate applicable to the buying company.
Q. Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
Reporting Period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share
options granted to employees and investors.
R. Transactions with controlling shareholder
Assets and liabilities included in a transaction with a controlling shareholder are measured
at fair value on the date of the transaction.
Since the transaction is on the equity level, the Company recognizes the difference between
the fair value and the consideration from the transaction to equity.
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S. Classification of interest, dividends and tax paid/received in the statement of cash flows
The Group classifies cash flows in respect of interest and dividends that it receives as well
as cash flows from interest received and paid by the Group as cash flows used in or provided
by operating activities, excluding borrowing costs which were paid and capitalized to
qualifying assets, which are presented as fixed assets, which are presented under cash flows
from investing activities, consistently with the other expenses which are paid with respect to
those assets. Cash flows in respect of taxes on income and indirect taxes are generally
classified as cash flows used in operating activities, unless these are readily identifiable as
cash flows used in investing or financing activities. Dividends that are paid by the Group are
classified as cash flows from financing activities.
T. New standards and interpretations which have not yet been adopted
Described below are new standards and amendments that have not yet been adopted, which
may be relevant to the Group and have an effect on the Financial Statements:
(1) IFRS 16 - Leases
The new standard that was published in January 2016 cancels IAS 17, Leases, and its
related interpretations, and prescribes principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a transaction, i.e. the customer
(‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’). The standard does not alter the current accounting
treatment in the accounts of the lessor.
The new standard cancels the current distinction for a lessee between financing leases
and operating leases and sets a uniform accounting model for all types of leases. In
accordance with the new model, for any leased property, the lessee is required to
recognize, on the one hand, an asset in respect of the usage right and, on the other hand,
a financial liability in respect of the lease fees. A right-of-use asset is amortized in a
straight line throughout the lease period, and the financial liability with respect to the
lease fees is amortized using the effective interest method, according to the
amortization schedule of the lease fees.
The provisions concerning the recognition of an asset and a liability do not apply to
assets that are leased for a period of up to 12 months as well as in relation to the lease
of low-value assets (e.g. personal computers).
The standard becomes binding for annual periods commencing on January 1, 2019 or
thereafter. Early adoption is permitted, provided that IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, is also applied.
The Group intends to adopt the standard beginning on January 1, 2019, according to
the partial retrospective application approach, whereby the cumulative effect of the
standard’s initial adoption will be recognized as a correction of retained earnings as of
that date. The comparative figures pertaining to the years ended December 31, 2018
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and 2017 will be presented in accordance with the provisions of IAS 17, and its
accompanying interpretations.
The Group estimates that it will choose to adopt the standard, while adopting the
easements which are permitted in the standard’s transitional provisions, as follows:
A. The Group expects that it will not adopt the standard’s provisions regarding leases
in which the lease period ends within 12 months after the date of initial adoption.
The Group customarily leases building rooftops and lands for the installation and
operation of photovoltaic systems and wind farms. For the purpose of estimating the
impact of the initial adoption of the standard, the Company evaluated the component
in its non- production -dependent lease agreements. With respect to production dependent lease agreements with minimum amounts, the minimum amounts were
evaluated. With respect to fixed cost contracts, that cost was used.
According to the assessment of Group management, presented below are the main
expected effects on the date of the standard’s initial adoption:
Main expected effects on the Group’s statement of financial position as of January 1,
2019:

Leased asset
Lands and rooftops Israel
Lands - Poland
Total

Addition
of right-ofuse asset

47,517
61,790
109,307

Addition of
lease
liability

(48,890)
(65,308)
(114,198)

Change in
deferred
taxes

316
668
984

Total net
change in
capital (*)

1,057
2,850
3,907

(*) Not including effects with respect to a held partnership accounted by the equity
method, for which an additional amendment is expected in the amount of
approximately NIS 350 thousand.
The discount rates which were used in the above calculations are based on the lessee’s
debt price in each lease, as a function of the lease amount, its average lifetime, and the
characteristics of the leased property. The range of discount rates is 3.8% to 6.3% in
Israel and 4.9% in Poland.
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Main expected effects on the statement of income for 2019, due to adoption of the
standard:

Leased asset
Lands and
rooftops Israel
Rental Poland
Total

Decrease
in rental
expenses

Increase
in
deprecia
tion
expenses

(4,543)

3,108

(4,325)
(8,868)

2,370
5,478

Total
increase in
profit
before
financing
and taxes

Total
decrease
in profit
for the
year

Increase
in
financing
expenses

Decrease
in tax
expenses

(1,435)

2,212

(179)

598

(1,955)
(3,390)

3,030
5,242

(204)
(383)

871
1,469

Main expected effects on the statement of cash flows for 2019:

Leased asset
Lands and rooftops Israel
Lands - Poland
Total

Increase in
cash flows
from
operating
activities

2,331
1,293
3,624

Decrease in
cash flows from
financing
activities

(2,331)
(1,293)
(3,624)

(*) In addition to the above, as of the Reporting Date, the Company’s balance sheet has
an asset balance in the amount of approximately NIS 24.9 million, with respect to
prepaid rental expenses. The annual depreciation expenses with respect to this asset
amount to a total of approximately NIS 1,561 thousand, which will be depreciated as
depreciation expenses, and not as rental expenses, as was done in previous years.
The Group has no financial covenants the fulfillment of which could be affected by the
adoption of the new standard, and therefore, the adoption of the standard is not expected
to have an effect on the Group’s engagements.
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(2) International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9 (2014), Financial
Instruments
General
IFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments (hereafter: “the Standard”) is the final standard
in the financial instruments project. The standard cancels the previous stages of IFRS
9 that were published in the years 2009, 2010 and 2013. The final standard includes
provisions for the classification and measurement of financial assets that have been
amended in relation to the first stage that was published in 2009. In addition, the
standard includes the provisions for the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities as published in the second stage in 2010. It proposes a more updated and
principle-based model of hedge accounting and presents a new model for the testing of
an anticipated impairment loss, as described below. Furthermore, the standard cancels
IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives.
According to the standard, financial assets are to be recognized and measured as
follows:
•

After initial recognition, debt instruments will be classified and measured using
one of the following alternatives: amortized cost, fair value through profit or loss,
or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement model will
be selected based on the business model of the entity pertaining to the management
of financial assets and on the characteristics of the contractual cash flows deriving
from such financial assets.

•

A debt instrument which, in accordance with the tests, is measured at amortized
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income can be designated to fair
value through profit or loss, only to the extent that the designation cancels a
mismatch in recognition and measurement that would arise had the asset been
measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

•

As a rule, equity instruments will be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

•

On initial recognition, equity instruments may be designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Instruments designated as aforesaid will no longer
be tested for impairment and gains or losses deriving from them will not be carried
to profit or loss, including upon disposal.

•

Debt instruments will only be reclassified to the extent that the entity changes its
business model for the management of financial assets.

•

Investments in equity instruments for which a quoted price in an active market is
not available, including derivatives on such instruments, will be measured at fair
value. The alternative of measurement at cost under certain circumstances was
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canceled. Nevertheless, the standard states that, under certain circumstances, cost
may serve as an appropriate estimate of fair value.
Financial liabilities
The Standard also sets out the following provisions in relation to financial liabilities:
•

The change in the fair value of a financial liability that at the time of initial
recognition is designated at fair value through profit or loss, which is attributed to
changes in the credit risk of the liability, is to be recognized directly in other
comprehensive income unless such recognition creates or increases an accounting
mismatch.

•

When the financial liability is settled or discharged, amounts recognized in other
comprehensive income will not be classified to profit or loss.

Hedge Accounting
The standard sets out new provisions with regard to hedge accounting, whereunder the
entity may select as its accounting policy to either apply the new hedging provisions
that are briefly described below, or alternatively to implement those that are prescribed
in IAS 39. Upon the future completion of the hedging project, the IASB will revisit the
aforesaid optional policies. The Company is continuing to apply the hedging model in
accordance with IAS 39 as its accounting policy.
Furthermore, certain criteria for determining the effectiveness of hedging were replaced
with a more fundamental criterion that is based on the existence of an “economic
relationship”. The retroactive assessment of the effectiveness of hedging is no longer
required.
The disclosure requirements relating to the risk management activities of the Company
are expanded under the new standard.
Impairment
The new impairment model, which is based on expected credit losses, will be applied
to debt instruments which are measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, receivables with respect to lease, contract the agreement
recognized in accordance with IFRS 15, and written commitments to provide loans and
financial guarantee contracts.
The provision for impairment will apply to expected losses according to the probability
of insolvency in the coming 12 months (in the coming year), or according to the
probability of insolvency throughout the entire lifetime of the instrument. Evaluation
throughout the entire lifetime of the instrument is required if the credit risk has
significantly increased since the date of the asset’s initial recognition. Another
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approach applies if the financial asset was created or purchased when it was creditimpaired.
The standard entered into binding effect with respect to annual periods commencing on
January 1, 2018 or thereafter.
The standard’s initial adoption had no significant impact on the Financial Statements.
(3) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The new standard prescribes a comprehensive and uniform mechanism that provides
for the accounting treatment of revenue from contracts with customers. The standard
cancels IAS 18, Revenue, and IAS 11, Construction Contracts and their related
interpretations. The core principle of the standard is that revenue recognition is to
reflect the transfer of the goods or the services to the customer in an amount that
represents the economic benefits that the entity expects to receive in return. For this
purpose, the standard determines that revenue will be recognized when the entity
transfers to the customer the goods and/or the services that are specified in the contract
with such customer, to the effect that the customer gains control of such goods or
services.
The standard prescribes a five-step model for the implementation of this principle:
•
•
•
•
•

Identification of the contract(s) with a customer.
Identification of the performance obligations in the contract.
Determining the price of the transaction.
Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations.
Recognition of revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The implementation of the model depends on the facts and circumstances that are
specific to a contract and at times require the exercise of judgment.
Additionally, the standard prescribes extensive disclosure requirements for contracts
with customers, the significant estimates, and changes therein, that were used in
implementing the provisions of the standard, this in order to allow the users of the
Financial Statements to understand the nature, the amount, the timing and the reliability
of the revenues and the cash flows from the contracts with customers.
The standard entered into binding effect with respect to annual periods commencing on
January 1, 2018 or thereafter.
(4) IFRIC 23, Uncertain Tax Positions
The interpretation clarifies the provisions for recognition and measurement of taxes on
income when there is uncertainty regarding the position of the tax authorities. The
interpretation determines that the entity is required to determine whether the uncertain
tax positions should be estimated separately or as part of a group of uncertain tax
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positions. Additionally, the entity is required to estimate whether the tax authorities are
likely to accept the treatment which the Company has adopted, or is expected to adopt,
in connection with the uncertain tax positions, assuming that the tax authorities will
evaluate the entity’s reports, and all of the relevant information which was available to
them (100% risk exposure). If yes, the entity is required to determine the accounting
treatment regarding the uncertain tax positions in a manner which is consistent with the
tax position which it adopted, or is expected to adopt. If not, the entity is required to
reflect the impact of the uncertainty using the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, according to the method which best predicts the result of the
uncertainty.
The amendment will be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. The amendment can be adopted retrospectively in full, or without the
adjustment of comparative figures, while the cumulative impact of the initial adoption
will be recognized as a correction of retained earnings as of January 1, 2019.
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Note 4

- Cash and Cash Equivalents
A. Composition:
Interest rate

December 31

December 31
2018
%

2018
2017
NIS in thousands

Balances in banks and money market funds (*)
Short-term bank deposits

0.01 - 0.08

82,890
9,093
91,983

91,967
4,477
96,444

(*) Investment in short-term NIS mutual funds, where the average lifetime to maturity on
the investment date does not exceed 3 months.
B. The Group’s exposure to credit risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk and a
sensitivity analysis of financial assets are presented in Note 31, Financial Instruments.
Note 5

- Long-Term Restricted Deposit and Restricted Cash
The balance of long-term restricted cash in the amount of approximately NIS 48 million as of
December 31, 2018 (approximately NIS 43 million as of December 31, 2017), represents cash
that was deposited by the Group in reserves for the servicing of the debt as required under the
financing agreements in connection with loans received from financial institutions. For additional
information, see Note 13.Short term pledged deposits include cash deposited in banks for the
provision of letters of credit to suppliers, with respect to projects under construction, and
guarantees in connection with tenders in which the Group participated, and which it won.

Short-term restricted deposit
Long-term pledged deposit and restricted cash

Note 6

December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
13,397
93,208
48,405

43,023

- Trade Receivables

IEC (Israel Electric Corporation)
Electricity companies and electricity traders in Poland
Income receivable from IEC
Income receivable from the sale of electricity in Poland

December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
1,959
870
4,750
1
3,650
2,546
8,550
8,564
18,909
11,981
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Note 7

- Inventory of Green Certificates and Impairment (Reversal of Impairment) Thereof

Opening balance
Production of green certificates
Sale of green certificates (*)
Reversal of impairment
(impairment)
Closing balance (**)

Closing balance inventory in PLN

December 31, 2018
Value of
green
Average certificate
certificat
s in
e price in thousands
MW
Zloty
of Zloty
187,225
44.10
8,257
388,192
103.41
40,141

December 31, 2017
Value of
green
Average certificate
certificat
s in
e price in thousands
MW
Zloty
of Zloty
278,118
37.34
10,385
445,430
37.86
16,866

(491,029)

73.44

(36,063)

(536,324)

36.80

(19,739)

-

135.20

(913)

-

45.29

745

84,388

135.35

11,422

187,225

44.10

8,257

11,422

8,257

0.999

0.995

Closing balance inventory in NIS

11,413

8,218

Reversal of impairment
(impairment) of green certificates
in PLN

(913)

745

Average weighted exchange rate
for the year

0.996

0.957

Reversal of impairment
(impairment) of green certificates
in NIS

(909)

713

Exchange rate at year end

(*)

The actual average selling price during the Reporting Period was 89.51. The difference between the cost of sold
inventory and the selling price appears under the item for other income.
(**) With respect to green certificates which were produced in the months when the price was higher than the closing
price, impairment was calculated.
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Note 8

- Receivables and Debit Balances

Institutions
Derivative financial instruments
Prepaid expenses
Investee companies (*)
Other

December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
20,626
6,265
844
1,831
1,780
52
86
8,526
4,028
31,879
12,159

(*) Represents balances of current accounts. See also note 25f.
Other long-term receivables
As of the Reporting Date, the Company has a balance of long-term other receivables in the
amount of approximately NIS 5,276 thousand. The balance is comprised of loans which were
given within the framework of project finance transactions in the amount of approximately NIS
4,627 thousand, and prepaid expenses in the amount of approximately NIS 622 thousand.
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Note 9

- Electricity Production Systems Connected and Under Construction, and Other Fixed Assets
A. Connected systems (commercially active) - composition and movement:

Photovoltaic
systems
Cost
Balance as of January 1, 2018
Additions during the year
Effect of changes in exchange rate (*)
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Accumulated depreciation
Balance as of January 1, 2018
Additions during the year
Effect of changes in exchange rate (*)
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Amortized cost
Balance as of December 31, 2018

Wind
Fixed
systems
assets
NIS in thousands

Total

368,348
268,185
636,533

807,434
32
3,108
810,574

4,655
1,954
6,609

1,180,437
270,171
3,108
1,453,716

55,402
17,110
72,512

46,735
25,623
288
72,646

1,657
854
2,511

103,794
43,587
288
147,669

564,022

737,928

4,098

1,306,048

(*) Changes in exchange rates due to the activities of the Company’s wind farms in Poland. The
change in the exchange rates is accumulated under capital reserves.

Photovoltaic
systems
Cost
Balance as of January 1, 2017
Additions during the year
Derecognitions during the year
Effect of changes in exchange rate
Balance as of December 31, 2017
Accumulated depreciation
Balance as of January 1, 2017
Additions during the year
Derecognitions during the year
Effect of changes in exchange rate
Balance as of December 31, 2017
Amortized cost
Balance as of December 31, 2017

Wind
Fixed
systems
assets
NIS in thousands

Total

368,242
106
368,348

750,078
61
(3,721)
61,016
807,434

3,490
1,422
(257)
4,655

1,121,810
1,589
(3,978)
61,016
1,180,437

39,363
16,039
55,402

19,195
25,039
2,501
46,735

1,167
610
(120)
1,657

59,725
41,688
(120)
2,501
103,794

312,946

760,699

2,998

1,076,643

For information regarding the depreciation rates, depreciation methods and residual values, see
Note 3e(3).
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The Group presents is connected systems and systems under construction as fixed assets. Presented below are main details regarding the connected
projects and project under construction as of the Reporting Date:
Electricity
production projects

Neot Hovav Project

Medium and small
projects

Granot Partnership

Photovoltaic
Israel
Commercially active
since July 2010 November 2015

Photovoltaic
Israel
Commercially active
since March 2013 May 2015

Photovoltaic
Israel

Photovoltaic
Israel

Photovoltaic
USA

Wind
Israel

Status

Photovoltaic
Israel
Commercially active
since December
2014

Commercially active
since Q4 2018

Under construction

Under development

Installed capacity

37.5MWp

8.2MWp

3.4MWp

90MWp

65MWp

Under development
Approximately
85MW

% holding

100%

50.1%-100%

50%

94%

70%(ᶧ)

Company’s share

37.5MWp

5.7MWp

1.7MWp

84.7MWp

20-year fixed feed in
tariff of NIS 0.642
per kWh, CPI-linked

20-year fixed feed in
tariff per system of
NIS 0.50-2.19 per
kWh, CPI-linked

20-year fixed feed in
tariff per system of
NIS 0.55-1.43 per
kWh, CPI-linked

243(*) 1

54.2

12(**) 5

Connected electricity
production systems

Connected electricity
production systems

43.4

Technology
Country

Revenue structure
Amortized cost
(NIS in millions)

Presented under
balance sheet item
Income in 2018
(NIS millions)
Income in 2017
(NIS millions)
Additional
information
Financing

(*)
(**)
(***)
(ᶧ)

Projects 2
(First Tender)

Projects 3
(Second Tender)

Caden Energix

Clean Wind Energy
Project

Iława Project

Banie Project
Wind
Poland
Commercially active
since December
2015 - June 2016

Wind
Poland

106MW

13.2MW

58%

130-150MW
73% (100% of
control rights)

100%

100%

45.5MWp

49MW

95-110MW

23-year fixed feed in
tariff of NIS 0.199
per kWh, CPI-linked

23-year fixed feed in
tariff of NIS 0.1978
per kWh, CPI-linked

Revenues from the
sale of electricity and
green certificates in
accordance with long
term agreement

20-year fixed feed in
tariff of
approximately NIS
0.33 per kWh, CPIlinked

106MW
Revenues from the
sale of electricity and
green certificates,
based on the price on
the Electricity
Exchange in Poland

13.2MW
Revenues from the
sale of electricity and
green certificates,
based on the price on
the Electricity
Exchange in Poland

266.7

79. 3

36. 9

31. 4

658.9

79.0

Investment in equity- Connected electricity
accounted investees
production systems

Systems under
construction and
initiation

Systems under
construction and
initiation

Systems under
construction and
initiation

Connected electricity
production systems

Connected electricity
production systems

12.8

3 (**)

2.3 (***)

-

-

-

99.2

11.8

44.1

13.3

3.4

-

-

-

-

74.8

9.0

See Note 9b(2)
See Note 13

See Note 9b(3)
See Note 13

See Note 10b
See Note 13

See Note 9(b)1
See Note 13

See Note 9c
See Note 13

See Note 9d
See Note 13

See Note 9e
See Note 13

See Note 9f(1)
See Note 13

See Note 9f(2)

Commercially active
since June 2016

-

Excluding prepaid rent on land, amounting to approximately NIS 24.9 million as of the date of the report
The data are in accordance with the Company’s share in the rights to the Granot Partnership (50%)
Partial operating year
The Company allows the land owners who engaged in the partnership with the Company to invest their share in capital at a rate of up to 26% of each project; the Company’s stake
in the projects may decrease accordingly.
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Presented below is additional information regarding the Company’s significant projects in the
Photovoltaic Segment and in the Wind Energy Segment, which are recognized as fixed assets:
B. Commercially active projects in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel:

The Company’s systems in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel, which are in the commercial
operation stage as of the Reporting Date, were built by virtue of a quota-based arrangement
which entitles them to a fixed tariff for periods of 20-23 years, CPI-linked, and in reliance
on the arrangement by virtue of which the projects were built (a “feed in tariff” quota or
winning a fixed tariff for a quota in a competitive process over tariffs).
(1)

Winning Projects in the first competitive tender (projects 2)
The Company has 9 high voltage photovoltaic facilities with a total capacity of 90
MWp, which are located in Southern Israel, and which were built and connected during
the Reporting Period. The Company’s share in these projects is 94% (the minority
interests are attributed to the land owners in the projects, who invested equity with
respect to the project which was built on their land). The projects were built within the
framework of the competitive process as part of which was published by the Electricity
Authority in 2017, by virtue of which the projects are entitled to a guaranteed and CPIlinked tariff of NIS 0.199 per produced 1KWh for a period of 23 years after the date of
commercial operation.
The projects were built by a designated contractor partnership, which is held 70% by
the Company, which was formed as part of the activity of the Joint Venture, with which
the Company engaged in a construction and operation agreement. The projects were
built using the most advanced equipment in the world for facilities of this kind, and
within with the original timetable which was determined for this purpose in the
competitive process.
Financing of the projects: For information regarding a financing transaction with
respect to the Projects 2, in the total amount of NIS 240 million, of which NIS 206.5
million has been withdrawn as of the Reporting Date, see Note 13.

(2)

Neot Hovav Project
The Neot Hovav Project is a photovoltaic project with a capacity of 37.5 MWp that is
located in the area of the Eco-Industrial Council in Neot Hovav (hereinafter: the
“Land” and the “Council”, respectively). The project, which commenced commercial
operation in December 2014, is wholly owned (100%) by the Company through a
special purpose project company that was acquired by the Company in 2013
(hereinafter: the “Neot Hovav Project”). The project was built within the framework
of a tender which was published by the Neot Hovav Local Committee, in accordance
with which, for the right to rent the land in the Neot Hovav project, the Project
Company paid advance payments to the committee in the amount of approximately NIS
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35 million. The balance of the asset, which is presented under the item for prepaid land
leasing expenses, as of the Reporting Date, amounts to approximately NIS 24.9 million.
Financing of the projects: For information regarding a financing transaction with
respect to the Neot Hovav project, in the total amount of NIS 370 million, see Note 13.
(3) Small and medium projects that are wholly owned by the Group
The Company has an accumulation of 30 small systems and 2 medium systems with a
total capacity of 3.2MWp, which are in the commercial operation stage, and which are
installed on the rooftops of Amot. The Company rents the rooftops on which the
systems from Amot are installed, within the framework of long term lease agreements
for a period of 20 years commencing on the facility’s date of commercial operation, in
return for monthly rent at the rate of 10% of the receipts which the Company actually
receives from Israel Electric Corporation for the electricity which is produced in respect
of each of the systems. The agreement includes a minimum rental mechanism.
Financing of the projects: For information regarding a financing transaction in the
amount of NIS 42 million with respect to these projects, see Note 13.
C. Projects under construction in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel:
Winning Projects in the second competitive tender (projects 3): The Company has
projects under construction in the Photovoltaic Segment with a capacity of 65 MWp
throughout the country (the Company’s share - approximately 70%.19 The projects are
under construction by virtue of and subject to the terms of the second competitive
tender which was published by the Electricity Authority, as part of the new
arrangement in the Photovoltaic Segment. As part of this tender, the Company won 52
MWp, and the Company also purchased an additional 13 MWp from another
entrepreneur, in an immaterial amount. The projects are being promoted by the Joint
Venture (Israel), which won a quota for a guaranteed, CPI-linked tariff of NIS 0.1978
per produced 1KWh, for a period of 23 years after the date of commercial operation.
Similarly to Projects 2, the projects will be built through a designated contractor
partnership, which is held 70% by the Company, and which was formed as part of the
activities of the Joint Venture (Israel), using the most advanced equipment in the world
for facilities of this kind. This partnership will also provide operation (O&M) services
for projects during the operating period.
As part of the Company’s preparations for the construction of the aforementioned
projects, during the Reporting Period, the Company entered into the required
agreements for the construction of the projects, including a financing agreement,
agreements for the acquisition of the main equipment for the projects with equipment
suppliers (with whom the Company has engaged in the past), as well as engagements
with various contractors.
19

The Company allows the land owners who entered the partnership with the Company to invest their share in capital at a rate of up
to 26% of each project, and therefore, the Company’s holding rate in the Company’s holding rate may decrease accordingly.
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The Winning Projects are accounted by the fixed assets model, in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy, which is described in Note 3.
Financing of the projects: For information regarding a financing transaction for the
construction of these projects, in the amount of up to NIS 145 million, see Note 13.
For additional details regarding the activities of the Company and of the Joint Venture
(Israel), see Note 14a(1).
D. Pre-construction projects in the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States
4 projects with a capacity of approximately 85 MWp - Within the framework of the
Company’s activity in the United States, as part of the Joint Venture which was formed
with a local partner to promote a series of photovoltaic projects in various stages of
initiation and development in the United States, with a total capacity of hundreds of
megawatts, the Company is preparing for the construction of four projects which are
located in Virginia, with a capacity of approximately 85 MWp (the Company’s share
- 58%) in 2019. All four projects are near financial closing as of the Approval Date of
the Report, and have received the primary permits and approvals. As part of the above,
the Company is in advanced negotiations towards signing binding agreements with two
of the world’s leading financial institutions, towards singing (i) a long term (13 year)
agreement for the sale of the electricity which will be produced in the for projects, and
all of the green certificates will be allocated to it. The electricity will be sold by pegging
the price of electricity relative to the market price of electricity; and (ii) a set of
agreements for the purpose of engaging with the financial institution as the tax partner
in the project.
In parallel, the Company entered into an agreement with First Solar, regarding the
provision of the panels for the projects, and is preparing to engage with contractors and
various equipment suppliers for the purpose of building the projects.
For additional details regarding the Company’s activity in the United States, and the
terms of the activity within the framework of the Joint Venture, see Note 14a(2).
E. Projects in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel
Clean Wind Energy Project
The Company holds 100% of the shares which confer management rights (including the
appointment of all Board members) and 73% of the shares which confer rights to receive
dividends in a private company which holds the initiation and development rights with
respect to a project involving the construction of a wind farm in the Golan Heights, with a
capacity of approximately 130-150MW (hereinafter: the “Project Company” and the
“Clean Wind Energy Project”, respectively). For details regarding the arrangements under
which the Company is promoting the Clean Wind Energy Project, see Note 14b(1).
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As part of the Company’s activities to advance and develop the project, the Company is
continuing to work on advancing the project’s planning and licensing processes vis-à-vis the
Electricity Authority and the National Infrastructure Committee. As part of the above, in
February 2019, subsequent to the Reporting Date, the National Infrastructure Committee
approved the submission of the plan for comments and objections before it is deposited. The
project has valid feasibility surveys and approval from the Ministry of Defense for the height
and distribution of the turbines.
The construction of the project is conditional upon the completion of the licensing processes
and of the statutory process vis-à-vis the National Infrastructure Committee, and the
arrangement (and financing) of a technological solution which is required by the IDF due to
the installation of the turbines of wind farms which will be built throughout the country.
Material engagements: As of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company is conducting
negotiations with several turbine suppliers. The link to the land which is required to build
the project is based on a broad series lease agreements which were signed with the land
owners.
According to the creditors’ arrangement that was approved for the Project Company in
September 2014, the Project Company has liabilities in the amount of NIS 12.7 million,
which are all contingent on the project maturing into a financial close. In light of the receipt
of approval from the Ministry of Defense, which constituted the main barrier in the
advancement of the project, and in light of the progress which has been made on the statutory
process with the National Infrastructure Committee, the Electric Corporation and other
entities, the Company discounts the related costs and the current liabilities to advance the
project for the asset, also before tariff approval or a financing undertaking has been given
for the project. Accordingly, the Company recognized an asset in the amount of NIS 31.4
million, against current costs and its contingent debts.
F. Projects in the commercial operation stage in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland
As of the approval date of the Financial Statements, the Company has two projects which
are in the commercial operation stage in the Wind Energy Segment in Poland, which are
subject to the regulatory directives which were in effect in Poland until the end of June 2016
(the “Previous Arrangement”). Accordingly, the Company’s wind farms in Poland generate
revenues from the sale of electricity and from the sale of green certificate which are traded
on the power exchange and on the green certificate exchange in Poland, respectively. In
accordance with the terms of the arrangement, the eligibility to receive green certificates
applies for a period of 15 years after the commencement date of the project’s commercial
operation.
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(1) Banie Project
The Banie project is a commercially active wind farm with a capacity of 106 MW,
wholly owned by the Company, and located in Northwest Poland.
Material engagements pertaining to the activity of the Banie project:
(a) Agreement for the sale of electricity and green certificates
Beginning in January 2018, the project company sells all of the electricity which
is produced in the project to a local electricity trader. In accordance with the
agreement, the Company has the right to sell the electricity according to the price
of electricity on the local power exchange, or according to a fixed price which will
be determined as part of a selling price pegging transaction which will be executed
between the parties, after deducting the adjustments as specified in the agreement,
which reflects, inter alia, the wind farm’s electricity production profile (depending
on, inter alia, capacity and actual production hours). Additionally, during the
Reporting Period, the Project Company had an agreement with the same
electricity trader for the sale of the green certificates, in consideration of their
price on the green certificate exchange in Poland. Beginning in January 2019,
subsequent to the Reporting Date, the services of selling green certificates is
performed independently by the Group.
(b)

Project financing
For information regarding the financing transaction with respect to the Banie
project, in the total amount of PLN 346.5 million, see Note 13.

(c) Land rights
The Project Company holds leasehold rights in the land on which the Project is
being constructed through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Project Company.
The leasehold rights are mostly for a period of 29 years from the date of signing
of the lease agreements. The total anticipated annual lease fees for the project
amount to PLN 4.1 million.
(d) Operation of the project
The project company has a long term agreement for the receipt of operating
services from the turbine manufacturer Vestas, which was initially determined for
15 years. As part of the process of reducing the project’s current costs, in July
2017, the operating agreement was amended in a manner whereby the operating
period was extended by five years, for a total of 20 years (until June 30, 2036),
and the cost of the operating services with respect to the original operation period
(first 15 years) was reduced in the total amount of approximately NIS 15 million.
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(2) Iława Project
The Iława project is a commercially active wind farm with a capacity of 13.2 MW,
which, as of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, is wholly
held by the Company.After the Company’s engagement, in May 2018, in an agreement
for the acquisition of the entire stake of the other partners in the project (which jointly
held 25% of the ownership rights in the project before the acquisition), and all of their
rights in subordinate shareholder’s loans which were provided to the project, in the
amount of approximately PLN 10.4 million, in consideration of a total of PLN 3.6
million (approximately NIS 3.5 million). As a result of the transaction, the Company
recorded non-recurring income from (before tax) in the amount of approximately PLN
6.8 million (approximately NIS 6.9 million).
The project was formed within the framework of the old arrangement which applied in
Poland with respect to wind farms that were built until June 30, 2016, which entitles
the wind farm to receive green certificates, in addition to its revenues from the sale of
electricity.
Material engagements pertaining to the project activity:
(a) Financing and construction of the project
The project was financed through shareholder’s loans, which the Group provided
for the construction of the project.
(b) Operation of the project

The project has a long term agreement with the turbine manufacturer Vestas with
respect to turbine operating services for 15 years.
(c) Sale of electricity and green certificates

The project company has a set of agreements for the sale of electricity, similarly
to the Banie project. For details regarding the sale of electricity and certificates,
and regarding pegging the prices of electricity and of the certificates, see Section
F(1)(a) and Section (3) of this note.
(3) Transactions to peg the price of electricity and the price of green certificates
In light of the increase in the prices of black electricity and of green certificates in
Poland during the Reporting Period, the Company entered into transactions to peg the
selling price of black electricity at a total scope of 170.4 GWh, at a weighted price of
PLN 215 per produced 1MWh, before adjustments according to the actual production
profile. The Company’s revenues from these transactions constitutes a part of the
revenues from the sale of electricity during the Reporting Period, as applicable.
In addition to transactions which were performed in order to peg the selling price of
electricity and of green certificates with respect to 2018, the Company also engaged in
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transactions to peg the selling price of electricity in the Company’s 2 wind farms in
Poland, with respect to approximately 75% of the expected scope of electricity
production in the project for 2019, at a price of approximately PLN 267 per produced
1MWh, and with respect to approximately 25% of the expected scope of electricity
production in 2020, at a price of approximately PLN 285 per produced 1MWh. It is
hereby clarified that the final electricity price which will be taken into account as part
of pegging transactions will be determined subject to adjustment of the price according
to the wind farm’s actual profile of electricity production hours. The Company also
entered into transactions to peg the price of green certificates for 2019 with respect to
approximately 50% of the expected scope of green certificates which will be issued for
the wind farm in that year, at a price of approximately PLN 152 per certificate.
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Note 10 -

Investments in Investees
A.

Subsidiaries
(1) Details of subsidiaries
(a) Following is a list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated

partnerships:
Ownership rights of
the Company in the
subsidiary /
partnership

Name of investee

Principal
location
of the
operation
s of the
Company
/
partnersh
ip

Technology

Fieldon investments Sp. z o.o
Wiatromill Sp. k. (Banie Project)

Poland

Wind

Glavent Investments Sp. z o.o Orlik
Sp. k. (Iława Project)

Poland

Wind

Caden Energix LLC

USA

Photovoltaic

Energix Neot Hovav Ltd.
Energix Projects 1, Limited
Partnership
Energix Projects 2, Limited
Partnership
Energix Projects 3, Limited
Partnership

Israel

Photovoltaic

Israel

Photovoltaic

Israel

Energix South Har Hevron, Limited
Partnership
Clean Wind Energy Ltd.
Solaer Energix Renewable Energies,
Limited Partnership
Solaer Energix Engineering, Limited
Partnership

Year ended
December 31
2018

2017

Compan
y’s share

Compan
y’s share

Note
referen
ce

03/2015 100%

100%

9f(1)

01/2016 100%

75%

9f(2)

-

9d

07/2013 100%

100%

9b(2)

-

100%

100%

9b(3)

Photovoltaic

-

94%

100%

9b(1)

Israel

Photovoltaic

-

70%

-

9c

Israel

Photovoltaic

-

50.1%

50.1%

Israel

Wind

Israel

Photovoltaic

Israel

Photovoltaic

Acquisitio
n date

58%

09/2014 73%

73.0%

9e

- 70%

70%

9c

- 70%

70%

9c
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(b) Presented below are details regarding loans which were provided by the Group to the
Company’s material subsidiaries and consolidated partnerships:

Name of loan recipient
Energix South Har Hevron, Limited Partnership
Clean Wind Energy Ltd.
Solaer Energix Renewable Energies, Limited Partnership
Energix Projects 2, Limited Partnership
Solaer Energix Engineering, Limited Partnership
Glavent Investments Sp. z o.o Orlik Sp. k. (Iława Project)
Fieldon investments Sp. z o.o Wiatromill Sp. k. (Banie
Project)
Caden Energix LLC (*)

Interest
%
4.25%
17%
8%-10%
8%-10%
8%
9%
8%
8.5%10%

Balance of the
loan as of
December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
7,570
7,937
21,064
15,676
17,470
4,132
83,752
61,177
56,865
5,960
85,709
77,274
416,347

431,506

36,504

-

(*) 3M LIBOR interest rate plus 7%, but no less than 8.5%.
(2) Significant restrictions on the transfer of resources between entities in the Group
(a) Dividend distributions and the performance of current payments to shareholders in

the various project companies in the Group who received financing from an
external entity are subject to restrictions on the number of distributions which can
be performed in a year, and with respect to the first distribution, they are subject
to a lock-up period as well - usually for a period of at least 6 months after the date
when the borrower paid the principal payments with respect to the financing.
Additionally, the project companies are required to fulfill conventional financial
covenants, in accordance with the financing agreements. For the terms and
additional information, see Note 13.
B.

Equity-accounted investees
Presented below are details regarding the Company’s equity-accounted investments:

Name of investee
Granot Amot Energy Solar Projects,
Limited Partnership (*)

Principal
location
of the
operation
s of the
Partnersh
ip
Israel

Scope of
investment in
investee

The Company’s
share in equity

December 31

December 31

2018

2017

NIS in thousands
11,685

14,200

2018

2017

Company’s share
50%

50%
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(*) The scope of investment in an investee is calculated as a net amount of total assets less
total liabilities of the investee that is attributable to the equity holders of the Company,
as presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, out of the total balance of investment in the Granot
Partnership, an amount of NIS 13,442 thousand is attributed to partners’ equity and the
remaining balance to partners’ loans.
During the Reporting Period, the Granot Partnership repaid a shareholder’s loan in the
amount of NIS 3,7 million (Company’s share - NIS 1,85 million).
Note 11

- Trade Payables

Trade payables
Expenses payable
Notes payable

December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
9,619
24,511
22,775
13,389
158
361
32,552
38,261

Note 12 - Payables and Credit Balances

Institutions
Related companies (*)
Payroll and related institutions, including short-term benefits to
employees and
bonuses
Transaction
in the
United States (**)
Liabilities with respect to hedging financial
instruments
Payables
and credit balances (***)

December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
3,608
3,634
1,181
1,066
2,510
1,937
17,335
6,496
6,975
12,758
5,366
26,553
36,313

(*) Balances of current accounts with the parent company and related companies - for details
see Note 25a(1).
(**) For details regarding the engagement in a Joint Venture in the United States, with respect to
the construction, financing and operation of projects
See Note 14a(2).
(***) For details regarding a non-recurring provision for RET, see Note 30.
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Note 13 - Loans and Credit from Financial Institutions and Other Liabilities
Presented below are details regarding credit facilities, credit from banking corporation and other credit
providers:

Annual
interest
rate (**)
December
31, 2018
%

Amount of
facility

Loan amount
utilized out of
facility

December 31

December 31

2018

2017

-

Facility
expiration
date
November 17,
2019

-

November 30,
2019

-

-

October 21,
2019

-

-

2018

2017

NIS in thousands
Credit facility from a banking
corporation

2.1%

30,000

30,000

Credit facility from a banking
corporation

2.1%

32,000

32,000

2.1%

20,000

-

82,000

62,000

Credit facility from a banking
corporation
Total utilized and unutilized credit
facilities

-

(*)

The weighted interest rate on withdrawals from the Company’s facilities during the Reporting
Period was approximately 2.1%.
(**) The interest rate does not include a non-usage fee.
(***) As of the Reporting Date, out of the credit facilities, the Company used a total of approximately
NIS 71.8 million, which is being used, in its entirety, to provide guarantees within the
framework of the Group’s operating activities.
Presented below are details regarding the expected flow of credit from banking corporations and
financial institutions:

Loans from financial
institutions
Loan from foreign bank
Total credit from
banking corporations
and other credit
granting institutions

December 31

December 31

December 31

2018

2018
Current
maturiti
es and
shortLongterm
term
credit
loans
Total
NIS in thousands

2017
Current
maturiti
es and
shortLongterm
term
credit
loans
Total
NIS in thousands

Annual
interest rate
%
2.82%-4.6%,
CPI-linked
4.53%-5.34%

36,203

25,910

376,336

402,246

301,010

17,587

299,849

317,436

887,108

43,497

676,185

719,682

549,895

586,098

18,592 282,418

54,795 832,313
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Note 13 - Loans and Credit from Financial Institutions and Other Liabilities (Cont’d)

135

Financial Statements

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Banie Project
Consortium of foreign
banks
May 2016

Granot project
Private corporation

First competitive
process
(Projects 2)
Institutional investor

June 2016

September 2017

Second
competitive
process
(Projects 3)
Institutional
investor
December 2018

June 2016

In 2018

-

NIS 32.5 million

PLN 270 million in June
and July 2016, PLN 76.5
million in August 2017
NIS 325.1 million

NIS 13.5 million

-

-

NIS 31.5 million

NIS 31.3 million

NIS 307.9 million

NIS 12.5 million

NIS 209.3 million

-

Quarterly payments over 18 years

Semi-annual payments
over 16 years

Quarterly payments over
17 years

Fixed quarterly payments
over a period which will
not exceed 15 years

Quarterly payments
over 12 years

Quarterly payments over
21.5 years, beginning
from commercial
operation

End of loan term

December 2032

January 2030

December 2032

December 2030

June 2028

2nd quarter of 2040

Annual interest rate

Original financing amount - 3.2%, CPIlinked; Additional financing - 3.05%
CPI-linked

4.6% CPI-linked

4.25% CPI-linked

3-month Wibor-linked
annual interest rate plus a
2.8% margin 1

3.2% CPI-linked

2.885% CPI-linked

Quarterly payments
over 21.5 years,
beginning from
commercial
operation
21.5 years after the
commercial
operation date of
each project
2.635% CPI-linked

Name of project
Lender

Neot Hovav Project
Consortium of institutional investors

Small and medium
systems (Projects 1)
Institutional investor

Medium system
(Meitarim Project)
Banking corporation

Date of engagement
in the financing
agreement
Date of provision of
the financing

December 2014

September 2013

January 2016

February 2015 original facility,
September 2017 financing expansion

February and June 2014

January 2016

Balance of the loan
as of December 31,
2017 6

NIS 325 million

NIS 34.3 million

Balance of the loan
as of December 31,
2018 6

NIS 305.8 million

Amortization
schedule
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Restrictions on
payments and
distributions to
equity holders

Semi-annual payments based on
compliance with financial covenants and
other conditions as customary in this
type of transactions

Up to 4 payments a year
based on compliance with
covenants and other
conditions as customary in
this type of transactions

Semi-annual payments
based on compliance with
financial covenants and
other conditions as
customary in this type of
transactions

Semi-annual payments
based on compliance with
financial covenants and
other conditions as
customary in this type of
transactions

-

Lock-up period of 9
months from the
commercial operation
period of the last project
which will be built as
part of this financing
transaction. Semi-annual
payments based on
compliance with
financial covenants and
other conditions as
customary in this type of
transactions

Lock-up period of 9
months from the
commercial
operation period of
the last project
which will be built
as part of this
financing
transaction. Semiannual payments
based on
compliance with
financial covenants
and other
conditions as
customary in this
type of transactions

6 months of debt servicing
(approximately NIS 19.5 million)

6 months of debt servicing
(approximately NIS 3.2
million) 2

6 months of debt servicing
(approximately NIS 1.5
million) 2

6 months of debt servicing
(approximately NIS 17.6
million)

-

6 months of debt
servicing (approximately
NIS 10.3 million)

Higher than 1.1

Higher than 1.1

Higher than 1.25

Higher than 1.15

-

Higher than 1.1

6 months of debt
servicing
(approximately NIS
6.2 million)
Higher than 1.1

Higher than 1.05

-

-

Higher than 1.15

-

-

-

Minimum LLCR to
debt ratio 5

-

Higher than 1.1

-

Higher than 1.15 (based on
P90)

-

-

-

Minimum equity

Higher than 20% of the amortized
cost of construction recognized by
financier

Higher than 20% of the
amortized cost of
construction recognized
by financier

Higher than the equity
required by the
Electricity Authority
(approximately NIS 9
million)

Positive equity
Debt to equity ratio of
no more than 65/35

At least 20% of the
construction cost
which is recognized
by the financing entity

At least 20% of
the construction
cost which is
recognized by the
financing entity

The financing was provided on a
non-recourse basis, except with
respect to a guarantee that the
Company provided against the
provision of the Additional
Financing, which will be reduced, in

Financing was provided
on a non-recourse basis.
Financing is secured by
a lien on all of the
assets of Energix
Projects 1, Limited

The financing was
provided on a nonrecourse basis, and is
secured by a charge on
all of the assets of the
Meitarim Partnership,

The financing was
provided under nonrecourse terms, except
with respect to a total of
PLN 33.3 million, for
which a guarantee was

The financing was
provided on a nonrecourse basis, except
for the construction
period, during which
the Company fully

The financing was
provided on a nonrecourse basis,
except for the
construction period,
during which the

Financial
covenants:
Minimum reserves

Minimum annual
ADSCR to debt
ratio 3
Minimum quarterly
DSCR to debt ratio
4

Securities:
Securities

Energix’s rights
in the Granot
Partnership and
its share of the
partnership’s
projects which
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Carrying amount
of the charged
asset in the
accounts of the
Project Company
(NIS in millions)
Type of lien
Reference to
additional
information

installments, beginning 3 years after
the provision of the Financing,
according to the balance of the
Additional Financing, and excluding
several liabilities, restricted by
amount, which the Company
accepted upon itself. Financing is
secured by a lien on all of the assets
of the Project Company and the
rights of the Company in the Project
Company

Partnership and on the
rights of the Company
in this partnership

and the Company’s
rights in the
partnership. The
Company accepted a
limited guarantee for
cases involving statelevel changes, which
cause the state to be
unable to fulfill its
liabilities to lenders.

given by the Company,
whose amount will be
reduced upon each
payment of the loan
principal, except for
several liabilities,
restricted in amount,
which the Company
accepted upon itself.
Financing will be
secured by a lien on the
rights in the Project
Company and its assets
and the rights in the
Project Company

were charged in a
first ranking lien
as security for its
liabilities
pursuant to the
loan agreement.

guarantees the
financing amount. The
financing amount is
secured by all of the
rights in the projects
which are the subject
of the financing
transaction, and the
assets thereof.

Company fully
guarantees the
financing amount.
The financing
amount is secured
by all of the rights
in the projects
which are the
subject of the
financing
transaction, and the
assets thereof.
Additionally, until
the completion of
the due diligence
process with respect
to all of the
projects, a
guarantee will also
be provided on
behalf of Alony
Hetz

285.1

30.8

41.8

651.5

12.5

297.9

17.2(*)

First-ranking fixed lien

First-ranking fixed lien

First-ranking fixed lien

First-ranking fixed lien

First-ranking
fixed lien

For information regarding the
system, see Note 9b(2).

For information
regarding the systems,
see Note 9b(3).

For information
regarding the system,
see Note 9b(3).

For details regarding
the system, see Note
9f(1); for details
regarding the financing,
see Note 9f(1)(b).

First-ranking fixed
lien
For information
regarding the systems,
see Note 9c.

First-ranking
fixed lien
For information
regarding the
system, see Note
9c.

(*) An asset under construction has not yet been pledged.
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Note 13 - Loans and Credit from Financial Institutions and Other Liabilities (Cont’d)

1.

2.
3.

4.

5.

6.
7.

Comments regarding the table
The loan interest for at least 75% of the amount of the loan will be hedged to a fixed rate for periods
of five (5) years (unless otherwise agreed between the parties), against quoted cost, plus a margin
of 0.19%. The Wibor interest rate as of the Approval Date of the Report is 1.72%.
Not including reserves in respect of equipment.
Annual Debt Service Cover Ratio (ADSCR) - The ratio of the surplus cash flow that is available
for debt servicing in the one-year period that precedes or follows the date of the calculation to the
balance of the principal and interest of the loan in such period.
Debt Service Cover Ratio (DSCR) - The ratio of the surplus cash flow that is available for debt
servicing in the quarter that precedes or follows the date of the calculation to the balance of the
principal and interest of the loan in such period.
Loan Life Cover Ratio (LLCR) - The ratio between the present value of the debt servicing surplus
cash flow and the cash balances in the accounts of the Company in the loan period, to the balance
of the loan on the date of calculation.
The balance of the loan does not include a discount.
The Group, through companies and partnerships that it controls, has received long-term loans and
credit facilities from financial institutions that prescribe customary financial covenants. As of the
Reporting Date and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Group is in compliance with the
aforesaid covenants, by significant margins.

A. Financing for Projects 2 (90 MWp photovoltaic projects as part of the winning quota in the first
competitive process):
On September 19, 2017, the Project Partnership entered with financial entities into an agreement for
the receipt of financing in the amount of up to NIS 240 million (the “Financing Transaction”) for
the construction of the Winning Projects in the first process (the “Construction Financing”). The
Construction Financing was provided to the project partnership as a framework loan to finance the
construction of the projects, and will be provided under the customary conditions for project finance
transactions. The financing amount will be secured, by all of the rights in the Project Partnership and
its assets, on a non-recourse basis, except with respect to the construction period, during which the
Company provided a guarantee to secure the liabilities of the Project Partnership, with respect to the
entire amount of financing which was provided. Upon the commercial operation of all the facilities,
the Company is working to complete all of the required conditions for the expiration of the guarantee.
The Construction Financing will be repaid during the commercial operation period of the projects
which will be built by virtue thereof.
The loans by virtue of the financing transaction were provided throughout the construction period,
depending on the fulfillment of conditions for withdrawal, according to the standard practice in
transactions of this kind (including the provision of equity at a rate of 20% of the total project
construction cost).
The loan is CPI-linked and bears interest of approximately 2.9% per year, and will be repaid on a
proportionate basis over a period of up to 21.5 years from the commercial operation date of each
project (on a quarterly basis). The financing agreements includes a wide set of representations and
breach events as customary in project financing agreements.
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Until the Reporting Date, the Company withdrew a total of approximately NIS 206.5 million.
B. Financing for Projects 3 (65 MWp photovoltaic projects under construction as part of the winning
quota in the second competitive process):
On December 18, 2018, the Project Partnership entered with financial entities into an agreement for
the receipt of financing in the amount of up to NIS 145 million (the “Financing Transaction”) for
the construction of the Winning Projects in the second process (the “Construction Financing”), with
respect to a capacity of approximately 52MWp. The Construction Financing will be provided to the
project partnership as a framework loan to finance the construction of the projects, and will be
provided under the customary conditions for project finance transactions. The financing amount will
be secured, by all of the rights in the Project Partnership and in its assets, on a non-recourse basis,
except with respect to the construction period, during which the Company will provide a guarantee
in favor of the financing entities for the liabilities of the Project Partnership, with respect to the entire
amount of financing which will be provided, which will be decreased gradually in proportion to the
commercial operation of each facility. The Construction Financing will be repaid during the
commercial operation period of the projects which will be built by virtue thereof.
The loans by virtue of the financing transaction will be provided throughout the construction period,
depending on the fulfillment of conditions for withdrawal, according to the standard practice in
transactions of this kind (including the provision of equity at a rate of 20% of the total project
construction cost).
The loan is CPI-linked and bears interest of approximately 2.6% per year, and will be repaid on a
proportionate basis over a period of up to 21.5 years from the commercial operation date of each
project (on a quarterly basis).
The financing agreements includes a wide set of representations and breach events as customary in
project financing agreements.
C. Other liabilities

Liabilities in connection with a project under
construction
Loan to previous shareholders
Liabilities with respect to financial instruments
Undertaking of clearing and restoration with
respect
farm in Poland
Interest to
to wind
the minority

December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
10,987
10,652
8,560
10,791
9,432
7,721
7,473
1,453
29,499
37,570
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Note 14 - Engagements and Additional Information Regarding the Company’s Initiation and
Development Activities
A. Details regarding initiation and development activities in the Photovoltaic Segment
and regarding relevant engagements
(1) Project initiation activities in Israel
(a) The Company’s initiation activity in Israel is generally done within the framework
of the Joint Venture (Israel), which the Company founded in July 2016 jointly
with Solaer Israel Ltd., a local entrepreneurial company. The venture, in which
the Company holds 70% (and the entrepreneurial company 30%), operates by
virtue of a system of agreements, as amended from time to time, through which
the Limited Partnership works on the initiation, construction, operation and
maintenance of projects in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel. The main terms of
the understandings between the parties are as follows:
(i) The parties shall act to finance the activity of the Joint Venture (Israel)
according to their relative share. Nonetheless, the entrepreneur has the right
to request from the Company to provide its share of the financing for the
investment and development activity of the Joint Venture (Israel), against the
provision of a CPI-linked loan bearing annual interest of 8%-10%.
(ii) In the framework of the agreement, the parties undertook that throughout a
period of 4 years, any project that is advanced by either one of them in the
area of activity (photovoltaic activity in Israel, excluding net meter and
dedicated tenders), shall be executed in the framework of the Joint Venture
(Israel) and on its behalf. Furthermore, the agreement includes provisions
regarding payments to the limited partners and preference in the repayment
of shareholders’ loans granted to the partnership, plus a return as agreed
between the parties. The agreement also includes additional provisions as
customary in agreements of this type, with respect to, inter alia, aspects of
corporate governance, representations and indemnity commitments on the
part of the entrepreneur.
(iii) Establishment of projects originating from the Joint Venture (Israel),
depending on the fulfillment of the regulatory terms, will be done through a
designated contractor partnership which the Company holds 70%, and the
entrepreneurial company 30% (the “Contractor Partnership”).
In light of the entrepreneurial company’s breaches of its undertakings in
accordance with the Joint Venture Agreement, on all matters pertaining to the
initiation of activity in the Joint Venture (Israel), in February 2019, subsequent to
the Reporting Date, the Company filed a monetary claim against the
entrepreneurial company.
(b) As of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the
Company, through the Joint Venture (Israel), is working to expand the series of
projects in initiation and development stages which can be built within the
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framework of the competitive processes which were published and which are
expected for publication by the Electricity Authority, which amounts to over 300
MWp as of the Approval Date of the Report.
For details regarding the Group’s active systems which are in the commercial operation
and construction stages in the Photovoltaic Segment in Israel, see Note 9b. For details
regarding financing which was given for the Group’s systems which are classified as
fixed assets in the Photovoltaic Segment, see Note 13.
(2)

Project initiation activities in the United States
Beginning in December 2017, the Company is working, through a Joint Venture
which it formed with an American entrepreneur, to promote projects in the
Photovoltaic Segment in the United States (the “US Venture” and the “Venture
Agreement”). In accordance with the understandings between the parties, the Joint
Venture was given exclusivity with respect to the entrepreneur’s series of projects in
the Photovoltaic Segment in the United States, with a total capacity of hundreds of
megawatts.
Under the venture agreement, the Company provided financing to the Joint Venture
in the amount of USD 5 million, which was paid to the entrepreneur as an advance on
account of the initiation fees which it will be entitled to receive with respect to the
first four projects which will be added to the venture. The advance payment was
transferred to the partner in January 2018 (the “Advance Payment”).
The payment of the advance was financed by a shareholder’s loan bearing interest of
approximately 9.65%, which was provided by an American company wholly owned
by the Company, and against the provision of collateral in favor of the US Venture
and the Company, including the recording of a pledge on all of the partner’s projects.
Shortly before the Approval Date of the Report, the Venture Agreement was amended
such that the US Venture will acquire the entrepreneur’s entire series of projects in
Virginia and Arizona, with a total capacity of hundreds of megawatts, which are in
various stages of initiation and feasibility, of which the four Projects in Virginia, with
a capacity of approximately 85 MWp, are in pre-construction.
The portfolio will be acquired against a total sum of USD 13 million (of which USD
5 million was against offsetting the advance payment which was already paid to the
entrepreneur upon the signing of the venture agreement, and the Company will transfer
the remainder to the venture against equity), depending on the completion of the
transfer of all of the assets, and reaching a financial close with respect to the four
Projects in Virginia.
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Following the amendment to the agreement, the Company’s share in the venture, in
the projects which it will hold, will amount to 58%, and the remainder will be held by
the entrepreneur.
As part of the amendment to the venture agreement, the Company accepted an
undertaking to provide the financing which is required for the development and
initiation activities of the US Venture, by providing capital or shareholder’s loans
which entitled it to receive returns of 3M LIBOR + 7% (but no less than 8.5%),
calculated quarterly, with priority in the distribution of retained earnings by the US
Venture to the partners.
For additional information regarding the projects in Virginia, see Note 9d to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

B. Information regarding activities in the Wind Energy Segment and relevant
engagements
(1)

Initiation activities in the Wind Energy Segment in Israel:
As of the Reporting Date, and as of the Approval Date of the Report, the Company has
activity in this field in the development and initiation stage only.
In addition to the promotion of the Clean Wind Energy Project, with a capacity
of approximately 130-150MW, as specified in Note 9e, the Company has
several projects in the preliminary stages of initiation, with a total capacity of
dozens of megawatts. The Company’s development of the projects is
performed depending on wind quality, regulatory and statutory feasibility, and
restrictions of the Ministry of Defense.

(2)

Initiation activities the Wind Energy Segment in Poland:
The Company has 2 wholly owned wind farms with a total capacity of up to 120
MW, in which the initiation and development stages have been completed, and
which are ready for construction, and which are also entitled to participate in
tenders that are published within the framework of the tariff tenders arrangement,
as follows:
Wind farm with a capacity of up to 40 MW (the “Sepopol Project”): A wind
farm located in Northwest Poland, which the Company acquired from a local
entrepreneur in 2016, for a total consideration of PLN 1 million. In accordance
with the agreement which the Company signed with an entrepreneur, as amended
during the Reporting Period, the Company will be required to pay to the
entrepreneur, with respect to its services in promoting and developing the project,
upon the commencement of construction, a total of EUR 1.2 million.
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Wind farm with a capacity of up to 84MW - Stage C of the Banie project: In
accordance with the agreement for acquiring the project from the project
entrepreneur, as amended during the Reporting Period, with respect to this stage
only, the Company undertook to pay a total of EUR 60,000 with respect to each
actually installed MW, which will constitute a part of Stage C, upon the earlier
of either the winning of the tender, or the commencement of construction works
in the project.
In light of the currently positive trend in the Polish market, the Company is
evaluating the construction of the aforementioned wind farms (or any part
thereof), within the framework of long term agreements for the sale of electricity,
or as part of winning tenders which will be published within the framework of
the tariff tenders arrangement, depending on actual market conditions, while
maintaining an appropriate rate of return for the Company’s activities and
objectives.
Note 15 - Capital and Reserves
A. Presented below are the composition of and movement in the Company’s share capital,

in nominal NIS:
Registered

Issued &paid-up

Ordinary shares of
Date

Change

December 31, 2015

December 31, 2016

Closing balance
Exercise of share options by
employees
Exercise of share options (series
2)
Closing balance

In January 2017
In September 2017

In 2016
In 2016

In 2017
December 31, 2017
In 2018
December 31, 2018

NIS 0.01 par
value

NIS 0.01 par
value

500,000,000

307,669,599

-

5,061,451

-

10,000,000 (*)

500,000,000

322,731,050

Public issuance of shares

-

34,500,000

Private issuance of shares
Exercise of share options by
employees
Closing balance
Exercise of share options by
employees
Closing balance

-

15,000,000

-

2,037,300

500,000,000

374,268,350

-

5,554,684

500,000,000

379,823,034

(*) Exercised by Alony Hetz. The consideration from the exercise of the options amounted to a
total of NIS 30 million.
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B. Share-based payment
For information regarding share options granted to the CEO, an corporate officer and
employees of the Company in 2016-2018, see Note 26. For details regarding options which
were provided subsequent to the Reporting Date, see Note 32d.
C. Capital raising

a. In May 2016, the Company published a shelf prospectus, under which it may
initiate another capital raising within a period of up to three years from the date
of publication of the prospectus, to the extent required for its operations. The
Company intends to work towards the publication of a new shelf prospectus,
depending on the Company’s fulfillment of the required conditions for this
purpose, including the receipt of approval from the Israel Securities Authority.
b. On January 10, 2019, subsequent to the Reporting Date, the Company
completed a capital raising through a private issuance in the net amount of
approximately NIS 103.4 million, against an issuance of shares by the
Company. Due to the capital raising, the Company’s issued and paid-up capital
increased by 22,000,000 shares.
D. Exercise and expiration of options

During the Reporting Period, 5,555 non-marketable options were exercised by
Company employees. The immediate consideration from the exercise of said options
amounted to approximately NIS 12,192 thousand (an exercise price of NIS 2.99 - 1.48
per option, partly linked to the CPI) with a corresponding increase in the equity of the
Company. From the Reporting Date until the publication date of the report, additional
employee options were exercised in the amount of 1,377 thousand options. The
immediate consideration with respect to the exercise of the additional options amounted
to approximately NIS 4.1 million.
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Note 16 -

Revenues from the Sale of Electricity and from the Production of Green Certificates
The total revenues of the Group from the sale of electricity during the Reporting Period amounted
to approximately NIS 162.7 thousand, as specified below:

Large photovoltaic systems
Medium photovoltaic systems
Small photovoltaic systems
Wind farms in Poland
Sale of green certificates

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
43,429
44,144
44,375
10,635
8,661
8,580
4,437
4,626
4,703
64,728
63,758
37,782
39,451
15,580
15,924
162,680
136,769
111,364

* For details regarding income from medium photovoltaic systems in the Granot Partnership,
which are presented according to the equity method, see Note 9a.
Note 17 - Other Revenues, Net

Profit from the sale of green certificates, beyond
reversal
Reversalofofimpairment
impairment(*)
of green certificates
O&M revenues in respect of small and medium
systems
Compensation from suppliers and sundry income

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
7,760
3,730
713
139
137
137
55
18
1,439
7,954
4,598
1,576

(*) Other income from green certificates includes receipts from the sale of green certificates which
exceed the value of the certificates on the date of their production.
Note 18 - Rental Expenses

Large photovoltaic system
Medium and small photovoltaic systems
Wind farms in Poland

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
1,561
1,561
1,561
1,111
860
888
4,233
4,108
1,753
6,905
6,529
4,202
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Presented below is information regarding the future minimum rent that is payable in
respect of rent contracts that may not be canceled by the Company in respect of systems
that were connected to the electricity grid as of December 31, 2018:
The aforesaid amounts do not include the future minimum rental that is payable for connected
facilities in the equity-accounted Granot Partnership.
NIS in
thousands
7,463
29,852
131,412
168,726

Up to one year
Second to fifth year
More than five years

Total rent expenses recorded in respect of the Company’s connected systems in 2018 amounted
to approximately NIS 6,905 thousand (in 2017 and 2016 rent expenses amounted to
approximately NIS 6,529 thousand and NIS 4,202 thousand, respectively). For details regarding
the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Company’s financial statements, see Note 3t(1).
Note 19 - System Maintenance Expenses

Maintenance and communication expenses - Israel
Maintenance and communication expenses - Poland
(*)
System insurance
Operation wages
Other

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
3,167
6,171
6,319
21,849
1,176
1,234
3,819
31,245

11,588
1,358
733
5,394
25,244

5,469
1,457
1,187
9,305
23,737

(*) For details regarding a non-recurring provision for RET (real estate tax in Poland), see Note
30c.
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Note 20 - Payroll and Related Expenses
Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
Payroll and related expenses (*)
5,367
4,261
5,699
Vehicle maintenance
260
261
300
Share-based payment (see Note 26)
3,372
3,781
1,975
8,999
8,303
7,974
(*) For details regarding the terms of employment of the CEO of the Company, see Note 25c.
(**) For information regarding payroll expenses carried to initiation expenses, see Note 21.
Note 21 -

Initiation Expenses
Include expenses in respect of investments in projects for which the conditions for capitalization
to systems under construction have not yet been fulfilled. For details regarding the capitalization
policy, see Note 3o. The initiation expenses include wages, and amounted to approximately NIS
343 thousand (2017: NIS 795 thousand; 2016: NIS 798 thousand).

Note 22 - Administrative, Headquarters and Other Expenses
Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
Management fees to the parent company (*)
4,178
3,789
3,763
Professional fees
3,139
3,605
2,515
Office and other (**)
3,647
3,073
2,709
10,964
10,467
8,987
(*) For information regarding a management agreement with the parent company, see Note
25a(1).
(**) For details regarding the engagement in an office rental transaction with Amot, see Note 25f.
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Note 23 - Financing Income

Exchange differences, net
Profit from the acquisition of loans (**)
Interest on loans granted (*)
Interest on bank deposits, deposits and marketable
securities

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
943
267
6,907
687
696
332
642
785
146
9,179
1,748
478

(*) Of which, interest income of approximately NIS 149 thousand in 2018 with respect to a loan
granted to the equity-accounted Granot Partnership (2017: NIS 244 thousand; 2016: NIS
332 thousand).
(**) Profit created with respect to the acquisition of the entire stake of the other partners in the
Iława project, and their entire rights in subordinate shareholder’s loans which were provided
to the project. For additional details, see Note 9f(2).
Note 24 -

Financing Expenses

Fees
Interest on loans
Exchange and linkage differences, net
Loss on the fair value revaluation of derivatives
Other financing expenses

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
733
828
655
30,924
27,026
20,055
2,246
867
218
6,360
1,188
1,318
709
35,091
29,390
28,646

During the Reporting Period, borrowing costs were discounted in the amount of approximately
NIS 1,841 thousand for systems under construction.

Note 25 - Transactions with Related and Interested Parties
A.

Transactions with the controlling shareholder or in which the controlling shareholder
has a personal interest, as listed in section 270(4) of the Companies Law - 1999.

(1) Management agreement with Alony Hetz
In July 2017, the general meeting of the Company’s shareholders approved, following the
approval of the Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors, the Company’s
engagement in an extension of the management agreement with Alony Hetz from July 1,
2011, for an additional period of three years (commencing on July 1, 2017). Along with the
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extension of the agreement, the terms of the total consideration, and the method used to
calculate it, were updated as follows: (1) Reduction of the fixed annual amount such to a
total of NIS 125 thousand, instead of NIS 150 thousand per quarter, CPI-linked; (2)
Reduction of the variable amount to 0.3% (instead of 0.5% on an annual basis) of the original
cost in the Company’s books of its electricity production facilities which actually produce
electricity (calculated according to the Company’s share in the facilities); (3) The maximum
variable amount will amount to NIS 4.3 million per year, instead of NIS 3 million (CPIlinked), and accordingly, the maximum limit of annual management fees will amount to NIS
4.8 million per year, instead of NIS 3.6 million per year, CPI-linked; (4) An update of the
base index for the calculation of the amounts presented above, from the index for December
2010 to the index for January 2017. For details regarding the amounts of management fees
for Alony Hetz, see Note 22. Pursuant to the agreement, Alony Hetz is to provide the
Company with management, consulting and professional support services. Additionally,
Alony Hetz will make its employees available to the Company, without additional payment,
to serve as directors (subject to the approval of nominations by the general meeting),
including the office of Mr. Nathan Hetz, CEO of Alony Hetz, Company’s Chairman of the
Board.
(2) Employment of a relative of a controlling shareholder
The Company employs Mr. Omer Tosh, the son-in-law of Mr. Nathan Hetz, a controlling
shareholder in Alony Hetz, pursuant to the employment agreement that was signed with him
and that is updated from time to time. In November 2017, Mr. Tosh was appointed as the
Company’s Construction Manager.
In accordance with the terms of Mr. Tosh’s employment agreement, as updated from time
to time, Mr. Tosh’s gross monthly salary amounted to a total of NIS 25,000, gross. In
addition, Mr. Tosh is entitled to social benefits, according to the Company’s customary
practice, as well as a mobile telephone, 16 days of vacation, company car and the bearing of
the car maintenance expenses by the Company, as well as to an annual bonus of up to 4
monthly salaries, which is calculated on the basis of a fixed formula that is derived from the
ratio of the operating profit of the Company to its revenues in Israel. The Company may also
grant to Mr. Tosh, from time to time, in its discretion, an equity bonus in the amount of up
to 4 monthly salaries (gross), in accordance with the standard practice for all Company
employees. The employment agreement of Mr. Tosh expires on February 28, 2021, or
earlier, subject to the provision of a 30-day advance notice by either of the parties. The
Company’s CEO has the discretion, subject to the approval of the Compensation Committee,
to raise the salary of Mr. Tosh by up to 10% a year.
Mr. Tosh’s monthly employment cost for the Company (employer’s cost, excluding
bonuses) during the Reporting Period amounted to a monthly total of approximately NIS 42
thousand.
Additionally, as part of the Company’s equity compensation plan for employees, shortly
before the Approval Date of the Report, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved, in
accordance with the general meeting’s approval of Mr. Tosh’s employment agreement on
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May 2, 2018, to allocate to Mr. Tosh 38 thousand options, worth a total of approximately
NIS 25 thousand, which are subject to the terms of the Company’s options plan (for details
regarding the options plan, see Note 26).
(3) Release, insurance and indemnification for the Chairman of the Board, Mr. Nathan
Hetz - see Note 25d(2).
(4) Receipt of a guarantee from Alony Hetz for the purpose of complying with the
conditions for the withdrawal of external financing (eligible transaction) - On December
12, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved (after receiving approval from the
Audit Committee on December 10, 2017), as an eligible transaction in accordance with
Regulation 1(2) of the Easement Regulations, the receipt of a guarantee from Alony Hetz in
the amount of up to NIS 96 million, for the purpose of complying with the conditions which
are required to perform an early withdrawal within the framework of the financing
transaction for the construction of the Winning Projects in the first competitive process
(90MWp), in accordance with the terms of the aforementioned financing transaction. In
February 2018, the Company withdrew NIS 96 million from the financing facility, which
was backed by the guarantee of Alony Hetz. During the Reporting Period, the Company
fulfilled the conditions of the financing transaction regarding the withdrawals, and the Alony
Hetz guarantee expired.
(5) Engagement with Alony Hetz in forward transactions to hedge its exposure to foreign
currency
In May 2017, the Board of Directors approved, in accordance with Regulation 1(5) of the
Easement Regulations, following the approval of the Audit Committee, the engagement,
from time to time, with Alony Hetz, the Company’s controlling shareholder, in forward
transactions to hedge its exposure to the USD/NIS exchange rate, or to other currency rates
vis-à-vis the NIS, in order to hedge the Company’s expected currency exposure, as part of
the advancement of projects in the Photovoltaic Segment. The total amount of all hedges
with respect to all transactions vis-à-vis Alony Hetz will not exceed USD 60 million. As part
of the above, in June 2017, the Company implemented forward transactions to hedge the
USD exchange rate vs. the NIS, with the hedged amount amounting to a scope of
approximately USD 35.7 million. The transactions were made vis-à-vis Alony Hetz, based
on market price quotes, and without imposing on the Company any additional costs, or any
requirement to provide securities. During the Reporting Period, all of the hedging
transactions were settled, and as of the Reporting Date, no forward transactions are in effect.
In May 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved, with the Audit Committee’s
recommendation, the period for implementation of the engagement in transactions until May
2019.

151

Financial Statements

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B.

Other transactions with the controlling shareholder or in which the controlling
shareholder has a personal interest

(1) Rooftop rental agreements with Amot
For details regarding the engagements of the Company and its wholly owned limited
partnership in agreements for the rent of rooftops that are owned by Amot, in the ordinary
course of business of the Group, see Note 9b(3).
(2) Agreements for the rental of offices from Amot
The Company’s offices are located in Amot Atrium Tower, at 2 Jabotinsky St., Ramat Gan
(the “Company’s Offices”). The Company engaged with Amot, the owner of the property,
in a lease agreement for the new offices, as amended, with an area of 575.5 square meters.
The engagement is in effect for a period of 5 years, beginning in June 2016, with an option
for the Company to extend the period by an additional 5 years. The aforementioned
engagement, including the amendments enacted pursuant thereto, was approved by the Audit
Committee on March 8, 2016 and November 9, 2016, and by the Company’s Board of
Directors on March 8, 2016 and November 21, 2016, which approved the engagement as a
“non-extraordinary transaction”, as defined in the Companies Law - 1999.
The cost of renting the offices and the parking spaces from Amot in the years 2018 and 2017,
amounted to NIS 980 thousand and NIS 977 thousand, respectively.
(3) Provision of bookkeeping services to Alony Hetz (negligible transaction)
Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors from June 2014, the
Company charges to Alony Hetz 10% of the cost of employment of an employee in the
Company that provides bookkeeping services to the Company and to companies in the Alony
Hetz Group. The transaction was approved as a negligible transaction.
(4) Purchase of beverages (negligible transaction)
From time to time, the Company purchases beverages for refreshment purposes from the
Central Bottling Company Ltd. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Central
Bottling Company Ltd. is a related party of the controlling shareholder in the Company. The
transaction was approved as a negligible transaction.
(5) Engagement with Value Base (negligible transaction)
On January 10, 2019, subsequent to the Reporting Date, the Company’s Board of Directors,
after obtaining the approval of the Audit Committee, approved the engagement of the
Company with Value Base Underwriting and Securities Distribution Ltd. (“Value Base”).
The shareholders of the parent company of Value Base include, inter alia, Nathan Hetz
(19.95%) and M. Wertheim (Holdings) Ltd. (19.95%), which are the controlling
shareholders in Alony Hetz. The transaction was approved as a negligible transaction.
Accordingly, as part of the issue of shares which was performed in January 2019, subsequent
to the Reporting Date (see Note 15c(2) above), the Company engaged with several
distributors, including Value Base, for consulting and management of the issuance under
terms that are identical for all managers of the issuance and for the distribution of the
issuance.
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(6) Agreement for the provision of usage rights to Alony Hetz, with respect to storage areas
which the Company leases within the framework of a lease agreement with Amot
(negligible transaction)
On November 21, 2016 (following the approval of the Audit Committee), the Company’s
Board of Directors confirmed it as a negligible transaction, and accordingly, the Company
engaged with Alony Hetz in an agreement for the provision of usage rights to Alony Hetz,
with respect to storage areas which the Company leases within the framework of the lease
agreement with Amot, beginning on October 1, 2016 (on the same date, an engagement
which was in effect until October 1, 2016, to allow cross-use of the office areas, was ratified).
(7) Purchase of crime insurance together with Amot and Alony Hetz (negligible
transaction)
The Company has co-insurance together with Alony Hetz and Amot, which was approved
by the Audit Committee on August 2, 2017, and by the Company’s Board of Directors on
August 9, 2017, as a transaction of negligible scope, which does not constitute an
extraordinary transaction, as defined in the Companies Law - 1999. The renewal of this
insurance policy was approved on August 8, 2018 by the Company’s Audit Committee, and
by the Company’s Board of Directors on August 19, 2018.
(8) O&M agreements with partnerships under joint control
The Company provides O&M services for photovoltaic systems that are owned by Granot
Partnership. Pursuant to the agreement between the Company and partnership, the Company
is entitled to fixed operation fees in the amount of 277 thousand a year (the Company’s share
in the Consolidated Financial Statements - NIS 139 thousand), for repairs and handling of
malfunctions as well as other services that are required for the proper functionality of the
facilities, including current checkups, inspection by an electrical engineer and a technician,
monitoring and supervision of the performance of the systems. The fixed payments are
linked to the CPI.
(9) Donation to the NPO “Hetz Umatara”, which was founded and is managed by the
controlling shareholder’s daughter (insignificant transaction)
The Company granted a donation in a negligible amount to the NPO “Hetz Umatara”, which
was founded and is managed (without consideration) by Dr. Adva Sharbit, daughter of
Nathan Hetz, Alony Hetz’s controlling shareholder, after the Company’s Audit Committee
and Board of Directors evaluated the NPO’s activities, and the event’s status as synergistic
with the Company’s activities.
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C.

Engagement with the Company’s CEO
Mr. Asa (Asi) Levinger, the Company’s CEO, is employed in the Company under a signed
employment agreement that is updated from time to time. In May 2016, according to the
decisions of the Company’s Compensation Committee and Board of Directors from
February and March 2016, the Company’s general meeting approved the new compensation
package and the updated terms of employment of the Company’s CEO. According to the
terms of the compensation package, the employment terms of the Company’s CEO, in effect
for three years after July 1, 2016, are as follows:
(1)

(2)

The (gross) salary of the Company’s CEO is NIS 76 thousand. The monthly salary of
the Company’s CEO will be linked (on a monthly basis) to the last known index which
was published on the approval date of the general meeting, provided that it is no less
than NIS 76 thousand.
The Company CEO will be entitled to an annual bonus of up to the cost of 3 monthly
salaries, performance-based, as part of the measurable component. In addition, the
Board of Directors of the Company, at the recommendation of the Compensation
Committee, has the power to grant an additional discretionary bonus to the Company
CEO at of up to the cost of 3 months of salary cost.

(3)

The CEO will be entitled to a medium-term annual equity compensation in an amount
equal to 3 months of salary cost. The medium-term equity compensation will be
granted under the option plan of the Company from 2014, which is based on annual
allotment, vesting within two years and expiration at the end of 3 years.

(4)

The CEO will be entitled to long-term equity compensation of NIS 900 thousand per
year, over a period of 6 years (an aggregated total of NIS 5.4 million). In this
framework the Company’s CEO was granted 15,682,636 options according to a
special options plan, as approved by the general meeting of the Company’s
shareholders in May 2016, that will vest in three equal portions over 4, 5 and 6 years.
The exercise of the options is in accordance with a cashless mechanism, and depends
on reaching a share price of NIS 5.6 (which reflects an average IRR of 15% per year)
as from the end of the fourth year. An exercise price of NIS 4.7 was set for each
option.

Additionally, the Company’s CEO is entitled to social benefits, as customary (with the
employee’s and employer’s contributions to the pension fund and study fund being limited
to the tax-exempt ceiling), a company car, including payment of the vehicle maintenance
expenses by the Company, and a monthly payment with respect to his services to the
Company’s, in the amount of NIS 6,000. The employment agreement of the Company’s
CEO expires on July 1, 2019, or earlier, subject to the provision of a 90-day advance notice
by the Company or 6 months advance notice by the Company’s CEO. Upon the termination
of employment of the Company CEO by the Company (other than under circumstances that
revoke the entitlement to severance pay), the Company CEO shall be entitled to an
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adaptation period of 3 months, during which he will be entitled to full salary, including the
related benefits.
The monthly employment cost of the Company’s CEO (employer’s cost, excluding bonuses)
in 2018 amounted to a total of approximately NIS 110 thousand per month.
Presented below are details regarding the annual bonus to which the Company’s CEO is
entitled, as approved by the Compensation Committee and the Company’s Board of
Directors, in their meetings on March 4, 2019 and March 11, 2019, respectively -

Type of
compensation
Component A
of measurable
bonus

Component B
of measurable
bonus

Component C
of measurable
bonus

Discretionary
bonus

Maximum bonus
as per
compensation plan
and based on the
employment
agreement of the
Company’s CEO

Up to 3 months
of salary cost.
The annual
ceiling and the
weights in
relation to each
component is
determined in
advance by the
Compensation
Committee and
the Board of
Directors
Up to 3 months
of salary cost.
Determined
shortly before
the date of
approval of the
Financial
Statements
(retrospectively)

Maximum
bonus for
2018 as per
the
resolutions of
the
Company’s
Compensation
Committee
and Board of
Directors

Actual
eligibility

Value in NIS

Actual
grant

0.9 months
of salary
cost (30%
of 3
months)
0.9 months
of salary
cost (30%
of 3
months)

2.73
months
of salary
cost

1.2 months
of salary
cost (40%
of 3
months)

Up to 3
months of
salary cost.

2.74
months
of salary
cost

The total
bonus, in
the amount
of NIS 600
Approximately
thousand,
NIS 300
was
thousand
converted to
854
Discretionary
thousand
bonus:
options,
Approximately
which
NIS 300
vested
thousand
immediately
For the
measurable
component:

As part of medium term capital compensation, 470 thousand option were granted to the
Company’s CEO, worth NIS 330 thousand. For additional details, see Note 32d.

155

Financial Statements

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
D.

Directors and corporate officers
(1) Insurance of directors and corporate officers
The insurance arrangement for directors and corporate officers in the Company is part
of an umbrella arrangement for the entire Alony Hetz Group. The arrangement is for a
period of 6 years commencing on July 1, 2018 and ending at the end of June 2023.
Pursuant to this arrangement, the liability limit is USD 75 million per instance and for
the period, plus coverage of legal expenses, and the maximum premium shall not
exceed USD 112,500 (for the entire Group) (with an option of a maximum increase of
an additional 50% in the event of price hikes), while the Company has the option to
increase the liability limit up to a total of USD 25 million (with the addition of a
premium at its own expense). According to the aforesaid arrangement, Alony Hetz
purchased a policy for the period from July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2023 with a liability
limit of USD 75 million with the addition of coverage of legal expenses in accordance
with Section 66 of the Insurance Contract Law - 1981. In accordance with the policy
terms, there is no deductible for the corporate officer themselves, and the Company
will be the entity which bears the deductible in an amount which will be agreed upon
vis-à-vis the insurer. Insurants under the policy. The annual premium for the period
from July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 (the Company’s share) is approximately NIS 8.6
thousand (the amount was divided equally among the Group’s member companies).
On May 2, 2018, the general meeting of the Company’s shareholders approved (after
receiving approval from the Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors) the
aforementioned arrangements, including the Company’s participation. The Audit
Committee, Compensation Committee and Board of Directors also approved the
application of all of the aforementioned arrangements also to corporate officers who
are controlling shareholders, or their relatives, from time to time, in accordance with
Regulations 1b(5) and 1a1 of the Easement Regulations.
(2) Indemnity and release of directors and corporate officers
On October 4, 2011, the general meeting approved a change in the Articles of
Association of the Company, and the corresponding inclusion of the changes in the
letter of indemnity, and to the extent required the expansion of the insurance policy, of
corporate officers in the Company, to the effect that the Company is permitted to
indemnify and insure directors and corporate officers in the Company (including from
among the controlling shareholders or their relatives) in respect of events and expenses
that are permitted in indemnity and insurance under the Law for the Efficiency of
Enforcement Proceedings in the Securities Authority (Legislation Amendments) - 2011
(“the Administrative Enforcement Law”).
On May 2, 2018, and after approval was received from the Company’s Compensation
Committee and Board of Directors, the Company’s general meeting approved the
replacement of the Company’s standard letters of indemnity with a new and updated
version of the letters of indemnity (the “General Meeting’s Decision”). As part of the
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above, and in order to best adjust the wording of the letter of indemnity to the
Company’s activity, and to legislative amendments, the wording of the letter of
indemnity was improved by adding sections to the body of the letter of indemnity, and
the scope of the indemnity was expanded to include additional events.
In accordance with the general meeting’s decision, the new version of the letter of
indemnity was provided to the Company’s the Company’s corporate officers and
directors, including to corporate officers who are among the controlling shareholders
or their relatives, and the Company’s CEO (on the condition that the letter of indemnity
for Mr. Nathan Hetz remains in effect for a period of 3 years after the date of the general
meeting’s decision, and will be extendable subject to the provisions of the law).
The amount of indemnity that shall be payable by the Company to all or any of the
officers in the Company in the aggregate under all of the letters of indemnity that have
been or will be issued to them, will be limited to a total amount that shall not exceed
25% of the equity of the Company as per the most recent consolidated financial
statements published by the Company prior to the actual payment of the indemnity.
Additionally, the corporate officers in the Company were provided with letters of
release in the format that is customary in the Company, in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Law and the of the general meeting of the Company’s
shareholders on July 9, 2017.
(3)

Directors’ compensation
Pursuant to a resolution that was passed by the Company, directors in the Company
will be paid an annual compensation and a compensation for their participation in
meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees in the sum of the “fixed amount”
within its meaning in the Companies Regulations (Rules regarding Compensation and
Expenses of an Outside Director) - 2000 (“the Compensation Regulations”). In
accordance with the Compensation Regulations and based on the equity of the
Company as per its financial statements as of December 31, 2017, in the Reporting
Period the Company has a D rating. Accordingly, during the Reporting Period, the fixed
annual compensation was approximately NIS 69 thousand and the fixed compensation
for participation in a meeting is approximately NIS 2.6 thousand (these amounts are
updated from time to time based on the updating mechanism that is set out in the
Compensation Regulations).
The total aggregate payments that were received by the two outside directors and an
independent director amounted to NIS 337 thousand.
It is hereby clarified that, as long as the management agreement with Alony Hetz is in
effect, directors in the Company who are employed by the Alony Hetz Group shall not
be entitled to directors’ compensation.
On July 9, 2017, the general meeting of the Company’s shareholders approved the
granting of options to directors who are not the controlling shareholders and who are
not employees of the Company and/or corporate officers of Alony Hetz, including to
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outside directors, who will hold office in the Company from time to time. The options
will be granted once per year by the Company’s Board of Directors, to each director,
as stated above, who serves on the grant date, in each of the years 2018 and 2019,
proximate to the approval of the Company’s periodic annual report. The value of the
options will be equal to 50% of the annual compensation which is paid to that director
(excluding compensation for participation in the meetings of the Board of Directors
and its committees), and the exercise period, exercise date, exercise price and other
terms of the options will be determined in accordance with the Company’s
compensation policy and options plan which will be in effect at the time.
Accordingly, on March 11, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to grant
to Linda Ben Shushan, Alona Shefer Caro and Miriam Gez, 52 thousand ordinary
Company shares, worth approximately NIS 35 thousand each, in accordance with the
Company’s options plan from March 2014.
E.

Benefits to key management personnel of the Company who are employed in the Group
(with the exception of directors’ fees and share-based payment, all amounts pertain to
the Company’s CEO, CFO, VP Legal and Company Secretary, VP Business
Development and VP Engineering)
Number of recipients
2018
2017
2016
Directors’ fees
Short-term employee
benefits
Post-employment
benefits
Other long-term benefits
Share-based payment

3
5
5
5
5

3
4
4
4
5

3
4
4
4
4

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
337
377
410
3,963
3,331
3,370
345
322
284
341
315
303
3,020
3,350
2,350
8,006
7,695
6,717

The total payments which were paid by the Company for internal audit services in 2018
amounted to a total of NIS 99.8 thousand, with respect to internal audit services which were
provided to the Company during the year.
During the Reporting Period, no benefits were paid to key management personnel that are not
employed in the Group other the directors’ compensation as described above.
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F.

Additional information regarding balances and transactions with related parties
(1) Balances with related parties
December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
Current assets
Receivables and debit balances - limited partnership
Liabilities
Other long term liabilities - Loans from non-controlling
interests
Trade payables and other payables and credit balances
(Amot Investments)
Trade payables and other payables and credit balances other related companies
Trade payables and other payables and credit balances
(Alony Hetz)
Accrued expenses - directors’ compensation
Hedging financial instruments (Alony Hetz)

52

86

-

10,013

16

3

86

117

1,088

965

97

95

-

1,526

(2) Transactions with related parties

Revenues from the construction of a project
Expenses for the rent of rooftops from Amot or
its subsidiaries
Office rental expenses and management fees
from Amot
Expenses in respect of management fees to the
parent company
Expenses for directors’ compensation
Financing income received from a limited
partnership
Revenues from operation services to a limited
partnership

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
279
806

832

842

1,101

1,101

723

4,175

3,789

3,763

337

377

410

149

244

332

139

137

137
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Note 26 - Share-Based Payment
A. Presented below are the plans for the compensation of corporate officers and employees

in effect as of December 31, 2018
Economic
value on Balance of
Of which
grant
options as
Number Number of Of which
to
date, NIS
of the
of
granted
to the
corporate
in
Reporting
recipients options
CEO
officers thousands
Date
2016
2016
(**)

16

3,655,000

769,000

1

15,682,636 15,682,636

2017

22

5,199,000

2018

30

5,905,000

Exercise
addition
per
option
in NIS

Expiration date

1,898,000

1,270

1,377,516 2.99 (*)

07/03/2019

-

5,400

15,682,636 4.66 (*) 21/03/2021-21/03/2022

1,790,000 2,401,000

1,956

4,974,000

2.81

01/04/2020

1,937,000 2,339,000

2,537

5,650,000

3.60

15/04/2021

(*)

The exercise addition per option in NIS is after adjustments to the price of the dividend which was distributed in
2016.
(**) Long-term plan for the Company’s CEO. For additional details, see Note 25c. The options will vest in 3 tranches:
2/3 of the options (first and second tranches) will expire on March 21, 2021, and the remaining options (the third
tranche) will expire on March 21, 2022.

For details regarding the allocation of options to employees, to the Company’s CEO, and to
corporate officers, after the balance sheet date (including instead of a cash bonus), see Note
32d.
B.

Parameters used in calculating the benefit embodied in the options:

Plan
Share price (in NIS)

2014 (3)
2.26-2.49

2015 (3)
1.86-1.87

2016 (3)
2.81

2016 (4)
2.81

2017 (3)
2.60

2018 (3)
3.34

Exercise price (NIS)

2.44-2.68

2.01-2.02

3.03

4.70

2.81

3.60

Weighted expected
volatility (1)

31.80%32.77%

34.97%

22.69%

31.70%

24.80%

22.83%

2.75-3

2.75-3

2.75-3

4-6

2.83-3.08

2.83-3.08

1.01%1.25%

0.43%-0.5%

0.36%0.46%

1.13%

0.62%0.70%

0.44%0.48%

Expected dividend
rate

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total benefit
(NIS in thousands)

679

1,592

1,270

5,400

1,956

2,537

Average life of the
options (in years) (2)
Risk-free interest
rate

Amortized balance
(NIS in thousands):
2018

-

-

79

1,084

562

510

2017

-

85

424

1,084

1,198

1,000

2016

45

430

601

885

-

-

160

Financial Statements

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

Determined based on the historic volatility of the share prices of the Company.
The life of the options is determined according to management’s projections as to the period of
holding by the option recipients, based on their position in the Company and the Company’s past
experience concerning the employee turnover rate.
The options will vet at the end of two years from their granting date, with the exception of options
granted in lieu of a cash bonus that had vested immediately by resolution of the Company’s Board
of Directors.
Long-term plan for the Company’s CEO. For additional details, see Note 25c.
C. Presented below are developments in the options granted to the corporate officers in the
Company and its employees:
2018
2017
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
Number
exercise
Number
exercise
of options
price
of options
price
Balance as of January 1
2.67
2.35
12,041,181
Granted during the year
5,905,000
3.60 10,175,500
5,199,000
2.81
Forfeited during the year
(390,000)
3.33 (1,296,000)
2.67
Exercised during the year
2.19 (2,037,319)
1.83
(5,554,684)
Balance as of December 31
3.32
2.67
12,001,497
12,041,181
Options exercisable as of December 31 5,625,516
3.18 8,142,181
2.19
Anticipated consideration from the
exercise of the outstanding options as
of December 31 (NIS in thousands)

39,899

32,108

(*) The share price proximate to the publication date of the report was NIS 5.08.
The table presented above does not include the granting of approximately 15 million options
through a cashless mechanism, which were provided to the Company’s CEO within the
framework of the long-term compensation plan. For additional details regarding the
compensation plan, see Note 25c.
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Note 27 - Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
Profit attributable to the holders of ordinary
shares
Profit for the year used in calculating basic and diluted
loss per share
31,373
17,055
6,225
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in computing the basic and diluted earnings per
share from continuing operations
Balance at beginning of year
374,268,369
Effect of shares issued in the period (*)
3,012,333 322,731,050
38,177,049 307,669,599
7,522,029
Weighted average for the year ended December 31
377,280,702 360,908,099 315,191,628
Dilutive effect of options which were issued during
the
period
Diluted
weighted average for the year ended
December 31

2,700,542

1,965,274

3,700,597

379,981,244 362,873,373 318,892,225

(*) After taking into account the exercise of options of the Company’s CEO and the Company’s
employees (in 2016 - also including exercise of options (Series 2) into shares during the period.
Note 28 - Income Tax
A.

Details regarding the Group’s tax environment
The provision for current taxes of the Company and its investee entities in Israel was
determined based on the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance (New Version), 1961
(hereinafter: “the Ordinance”).
As to the share of the Company in investee partnerships - in accordance with the provisions
of Section 63 of the Income Tax Ordinance (New Version), 1961, the share of the
partnership’s income to which each partner is entitled in the tax year will be deemed as the
income of such partner and will be included in its tax return.
The Income Tax Regulations (Depreciation) - 1941 set a depreciation rate of 25% for all
facilities that produce electricity from solar energy using photovoltaic technology, which is
applicable to projects with operation dates from January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2015. In
2018, the Finance Committee submitted an update to the articles of association, according
to which the accelerated depreciation will be given for photovoltaic systems which produce
electricity for self use. Therefore, the depreciation rate for systems which were connected to
the power grid since January 1, 2016, is 7%.
With respect to the tax environment in countries outside of Israel, the provision for current
tax of corporations in the Group (in Poland and in the Netherlands, through which the
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Company controls its projects in Poland) was determined in accordance with the directives
of the tax authorities in those countries.
B.

Tax rates applicable to the Group
Tax rates applicable to the companies in Israel:
2017 - 24%
2018 and thereafter - 23%
The tax rates applicable to the companies in Poland and in the Netherlands are 19% and
20%-25%, respectively.
On December 29, 2016, the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments to Meet
Budgetary Targets for the Years 2017 and 2018) - 2016, was published in the Official
Gazette, according to which the corporate tax rate will be reduced from 25% to 24% in 2017,
with respect to income produced or arisen on or after January 1, 2017, and will be further
reduced to 23% in 2018 and thereafter, with respect to income produced or arisen on or after
January 1, 2018.
Current taxes for the Reporting Period are calculated according to the tax rates presented
above.

C.

Income tax expense (income) components
Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
Current tax expense (income)
For the current year
Adjustments in respect of previous years, net

1,588
1,588

1,617
(240)
1,377

252
14
266

Deferred tax expense (income)
Creation and reversal of temporary differences
Changes in tax rate
Amortization (reversal of amortization) of deferred
tax assets

10,960
(360)
10,600

23,419
(19,738)
3,681

18,538
155
(17,306)
1,387

Total tax on income expenses from continuing
operations

12,188

5,058

1,653
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D.

Deferred taxes
The deferred tax balances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were calculated according to
the new tax rates specified in the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments to
Meet Budgetary Targets for the Years 2017-2018), according to the tax rate which is
expected to apply on the date of reversal.
Presented below are the composition and movement of the deferred taxes in the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018
Carryforward tax losses
Small and medium photovoltaic
systems
Large photovoltaic system
Wind farm
Financial instruments
Employee benefits
Deferred revenues (*)
Investment in investee
Other
Unrealized gains on inter-company
transactions
Balance of deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and tax assets
available for offsetting
Deferred tax liabilities available for
offsetting
Deferred tax asset in the
statement of financial position as
of December 31, 2018
Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax asset available for
offsetting
Deferred tax liability in the
statement of financial position as
of December 31, 2018

December
31, 2017
52,305
(14,030)
(45,345)
(267)
3,431
239
(1,562)
(7,909)
3,091
12,162
2,114

Carried to
Amount
other
carried to comprehen
profit or
sive
December
loss
income
31, 2018
387
2,084
54,776
(527)
(14,557)
(14,480)
(59,825)
3,326
3,059
(82)
328
3,677
28
267
(1,791)
(3,353)
(2,721)
(10,630)
51
3,142
5,208
(10,600)

2,412

17,370
(6,074)

33,125
(23,740)

9,385
(15,457)
-

(15,457)

(*) The movement during the year was primarily due to the creation of a tax reserve with
respect to profit from the acquisition of loans.
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2017
Carryforward tax losses
Small and medium photovoltaic
systems
Large photovoltaic system
Wind farms
Financial instruments
Employee benefits
Deferred revenues
Investment in investee
Other
Unrealized gains on inter-company
transactions
Balance of deferred tax asset
Deferred tax assets and tax assets
available for offsetting
Deferred tax liabilities available for
offsetting
Deferred tax asset in the
statement of financial position as
of December 31, 2017
Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax liability in the
statement of financial position as
of December 31, 2017

December
31, 2016
30,845
(10,543)
(30,368)
1,882
(4,099)
197
(1,953)
362
10,233
(3,444)

Carried to
Amount
other
carried to comprehen
profit or
sive
December
loss
income
31, 2017
19,880
1,580
52,305
(3,487)
(14,030)
(14,977)
(45,345)
(2,149)
(267)
(127)
7,657
3,431
41
238
391
(1,562)
(7,909)
(7,909)
2,729
3,091
1,929
(3,679)

9,237

12,162
2,114

36,574
(23,810)

12,765
(10,651)

(10,651)
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E.

Theoretical tax
The difference between the amount calculated at the ordinary tax rates and the amount of
provision for taxes is explained as follows:

Profit (loss) before taxes on income
Primary tax rate of the Company
Tax increment (saving) in respect of:
With respect to subsidiaries operating outside of
Israel
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of the change in the tax rate
Decrease in deferred taxes due to losses for
which deferred taxes were not created in excess
Interest income and expenses with respect to
inter-company transactions
Taxes in respect of previous years
Other differences
Income tax expense (income) from continuing
operations
Effective tax rate
F.

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
43,080
21,078
6,714
23.0%
24.0%
25.0%
9,908
5,058
1,679

958
815
-

485
952
-

(1,150)
517
155

(24)

(43)

197

512
19
2,280

(6)
(927)
(461)
-

200
14
41
(26)

12,188
28%

5,058
24%

1,653
25%

Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, a deferred tax liability pertaining to associate companies
and subsidiaries was not recognized, because the decision as to whether to sell those
company rests with the Group, which does not intend to sell in the foreseeable future, except
for deferred tax liabilities with respect to the companies that hold the Group’s project
companies in Poland, for which a liability of this kind was recognized, due to the Company’s
estimate that it will distribute the receipts of those companies to the Company in the
foreseeable future.

G.

Tax assessments
The Company has been issued tax assessments that are considered as final through tax year
2013. Subsidiaries in Israel have not yet been issued final tax assessments since their
inception. The consolidated companies in Poland have been issued tax assessments which
are considered final up to and including tax year 2012.
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Note 29 - Information Regarding Operating Segments
As of the Reporting Date, the Group has two reportable segments, as specified below, which
constitute strategic business units of the Group. These business units include various operations
and the allocation of resources and evaluation of performance are managed separately because
they require different technology and modes of operation. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s operating segments:
Photovoltaic Segment (in Israel and in the United States) - Initiation, development, and
connection of photovoltaic systems for the sale of electricity to the power grid, and operation
thereof over their active periods.
Wind Energy Segment (in Israel and in Poland) - initiation, development, and connection of
projects for the sale electricity produced using wind energy and their operation over their active
period.
The Company has no other activities.
Although the strategic business units are similar at core and belong to the renewable energy sector
(licensing proceedings, structure of engagement with EPC contractors and financing bodies), each
unit constitutes an independent market and is subject to different arrangement. Additionally, the
business units possess different characteristics, both as regarding the nature of development, the
manner of operation, the equipment and the suppliers of the equipment as well as the complexity
of the activity itself. For each strategic business unit, the chief operating decision maker and
management of the Company review, at least once every quarter, the internal management reports.
The results of the Granot Partnership and results of the Energix A.H. South Har Hevron
partnership are reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker, in accordance with the
Company’s share in the rights in those partnerships (50%).
Segment profits are measured based on the profit (loss) before financing, taxes, depreciation and
amortization as included in the reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker and management. This indicator is used to measure the segment results since the chief
operating decision maker and management believe that such information is the most relevant in
evaluating the results of the segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.
Segment results reported to the chief operating decision maker include items directly attributable
to the field on a reasonable basis. Additionally, the attributed amounts include depreciation
expenses in respect of the connected systems in each of the fields as well as financing expenses
incurred by the Group in respect of outside financing.
Segment assets comprise connected facilities and projects under construction, whereas field
liabilities comprise loans taken, as included in reports provided regularly to the chief operating
decision maker and to management of the Company.
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Note 29 - Information Regarding Operating Segments (Cont’d)
Year ended December 31, 2018

Photovoltaic
Israel

Total
reportable
segments

Wind

USA (*)

Poland

Unallocated Adjustme
nts
expenses

Total
consolida
ted

Israel (*)
NIS in thousands
(Audited)

Revenues from the sale of
electricity
Revenues from the
production of green
certificates
Other revenues, net
Other shared expenses
Profit (loss) before
financing, taxes,
depreciation and
amortization
Depreciation and
amortization
Profit from the acquisition
of loans
Financing expenses, net
Profit (loss) before taxes
on income
Taxes on income
Company’s share in the
results of equityaccounted investees
Net profit (loss)

59,235

-

64,727

-

123,962

-

(733)

123,229

39,974

-

39,974

-

(523)

39,451

195
(10,079)

-

7,760
(22,911)

(776)

7,955
(33,766)

(27,292)

(1)
1,740

7,954
(59,318)

49,351

-

89,550

(776)

138,125

(27,292)

483

111,316

(17,886)

-

(25,620)

(112)

(43,618)

(742)

773

(43,587)

(13,792)

-

(17,405)

-

(31,197)

6,907
(1,049)

(573)

6,907
(32,819)

17,673

-

46,525

(888)

63,310

(22,176)

683

41,817

-

-

-

-

-

(12,188)

-

(12,188)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,263

1,263

17,673

-

46,525

(888)

63,310

(34,364)

1,946

30,892

Assets of reportable
segments and other
operations
Other amounts
Total consolidated assets

634,557

36,883

741,474

31,409

1,444,323

-

23,707

1,468,030

107,097

-

71,658

5,653

184,408

71,201

-

255,609

741,654

36,883

813,132

37,062

1,628,731

71,201

23,707

1,723,639

Liabilities of reportable
segments and other
operations
Total consolidated
liabilities

580,040

379

338,307

12,817

931,543

32,619

27,368

991,530

580,040

379

338,307

12,817

931,543

32,619

27,368

991,530

(*) Projects under development.
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Note 29 - Information Regarding Operating Segments (Cont’d)
Year ended December 31, 2017
Total
reportabl Unallocat
e
ed
Wind
segments expenses
Poland Israel (*)
NIS in thousands
(Audited)

Photovoltaic
Israel
USA (*)

Revenues from the sale of
electricity
Revenues from the
production of green
certificates
Other revenues, net
Other shared expenses
Profit (loss) before
financing, taxes,
depreciation and
amortization
Depreciation and
amortization
Financing expenses, net
Profit (loss) before taxes on
income
Taxes on income
Company’s share in the
results of equity-accounted
investees
Net profit (loss)

Adjustm
ents

Total
consolida
ted

58,682

-

63,758

-

122,440

-

(1,251)

121,189

137
(10,016)

-

16,132
4,461
(25,713)

(610)

16,132
4,598
(36,339)

(17,061)

(552)
904

15,580
4,598
(52,496)

48,803

-

58,638

(610)

106,831

(17,061)

(899)

88,871

(16,977)
(12,186)

-

(24,968)
(14,358)

(112)
-

(42,057)
(26,544)

(499)
(636)

868
(462)

(41,688)
(27,642)

19,640
-

-

19,312
-

(722)
-

38,230
-

(18,196)
(5,058)

(493)
-

19,541
(5,058)

19,640

-

19,312

(722)

38,230

(23,254)

1,537
1,044

1,537
16,020

Assets of reportable
segments and other
operations
Other amounts

404,013
80,032

17,974
-

762,666
73,296

24,407 1,209,060
6,284
159,612

150,234

8,582 1,217,642
309,846

Total consolidated assets

484,045

17,974

835,962

30,691 1,368,672

150,234

8,582 1,527,488

Liabilities of reportable
segments and other
operations
Total consolidated
liabilities

413,541

17,747

366,792

11,845

809,925

16,742

16,227

842,894

413,541

17,747

366,792

11,845

809,925

16,742

16,227

842,894

(*) Projects under development.
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Note 29 - Information Regarding Operating Segments (Cont’d)
Year ended December 31, 2016
Total
reportable Unallocate
Wind
segments d expenses

Photovoltaic
Israel

USA (*)

Poland

Adjustme
nts

Total
consolidat
ed

Israel (*)
NIS in thousands
(Audited)

Revenues from the sale of
electricity
Revenues from the production
of green certificates
Revenues from the construction
of facilities

58,940

-

37,784

-

96,724

-

(1,284)

95,440

-

-

16,276

-

16,276

-

(352)

15,924

279

-

-

-

279

-

-

279

137

-

1,420

-

1,557

19

-

1,576

(241)

-

-

(241)

-

-

(241)

Other shared expenses
Profit (loss) before financing,
taxes, depreciation and
amortization
Reversal of provision for
doubtful debt

(11,123)

-

(19,676)
(**)

(544)

(31,343)

(15,877)

429

(46,791)

47,992

-

35,804

(544)

83,252

(15,858)

(1,207)

66,187

-

-

-

3,594

3,594

-

-

3,594

Depreciation and amortization

(16,961)

-

(19,774)

-

(36,735)

(520)

855

(36,400)

Financing expenses, net

(12,390)

-

(14,124)

-

(26,514)

(1,301)

(353)

(28,168)

18,641

-

1,906

3,050

23,597

(17,679)

(705)

5,213

-

-

-

-

-

(1,653)

-

(1,653)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,501

1,501

18,641

-

1,906

3,050

23,597

(19,332)

796

5,061

352,211

-

730,889

16,161

1,099,261

-

9,096

1,108,357

Other revenues, net
Facility construction costs

Consolidated profit (loss)
before taxes on income
Taxes on income
Company’s share in the results
of equity-accounted investees
Net profit (loss)
Assets of reportable segments
and other operations
Other amounts

60,972

-

83,095

4,805

148,872

9,729

-

158,601

Total consolidated assets

413,183

-

813,984

20,966

1,248,133

9,729

9,096

1,266,958

Liabilities of reportable
segments and other operations

330,213

-

304,586

14,154

648,953

77,048

17,010

743,011

Total consolidated liabilities

330,213

-

304,586

14,154

648,953

77,048

17,010

743,011

(*)
Projects under development.
(**) Reclassified.
(***) Systems with a capacity of 69.2MW, out of a total amount of 119.2MW, were connected to the power
grid in Poland in June 2016.
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Note 30 - Contingencies, Guarantees and Liens
A. Contingencies

During the Reporting Period, and as of the Reporting Date, there are no claims in material
amounts pending against the Company.
B.

Liens and guarantees
(1) As of the Reporting Date, the Company has bank guarantees in connection with its
connected projects in the amount of approximately NIS 11 million, and bank guarantees
in connection with projects under construction, for the construction period only, and in
connection with tenders for which it has applied, in the amount of approximately NIS
73.9 million. subsequent to the Reporting Date, guarantees in the amount of
approximately NIS 43 million, with respect to the projects of the first competitive
tender, which were connected to the power grid, were released. The Company also
provided company guarantees within the framework of the Group’s financing
transactions in the total of approximately NIS 320 million, of which a total of
approximately NIS 206 million was provided with respect to the construction period
only.
(2) For information regarding charges and guarantees against financing agreements, see
Note 13.
(3) For information regarding restricted deposits, see Note 5.

C.

Provision for RET (real estate tax) in Poland
Following the ruling by the Polish High Court of Administrative Affairs in October 2018,
which was given with respect to a specific case for a wind farm in Poland which is not owned
by the Company, regarding the interpretation of the provisions of the law with respect to the
basis for calculation of the real estate tax (municipal tax) which can be charged to a wind
farm for 2017, the Company performed, during the Reporting Period, a non-recurring
provision for real estate tax payments in the amount of NIS 7.8 million. It is hereby clarified
that, effective beginning on January 1, 2018, the Polish Renewable Energy Law was
amended by way of cancellation of the possibility to expand the tax base which applied in
2017, and which was discussed in the aforementioned ruling, and therefore, the impact of
the ruling applies to 2017 only.
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Note 31 - Financial Instruments
A.

General
This note presents quantitative and qualitative information about the Group’s exposure to
each of the following risks.
The financial instruments of the Group consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted deposits and restricted cash, trade receivables, derivatives, other receivables and
payables and credit balances, trade payables, short-term credit, loans and other long-term
liabilities. The Group believes that the carrying amount of the aforesaid financial assets and
liabilities, as presented in the Financial Statements, is close or identical to their fair value,
with the exception of long-term loans bearing fixed interest. For additional information, see
Note 31b(3)(b).

B.

Financial risks and the management thereof
As part of its activities, the Group is exposed to risks pertaining to various financial
instruments, such as:
•
•
•

Credit risk;
Liquidity risk;
Market risk (including foreign currency risk, index risk and interest rate risk - fair value
risk with respect to interest and cash flow risk with respect to interest);

The Group’s risk management program focuses on actions that are designated to minimize
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The risk management
is carried out primarily by the CEO of the Company and its CFO by constantly keeping
track of developments in the relevant markets. As part of the overall risk management of
the Group, the Company’s Board of Directors has determined that the CEO of the
Company will regularly report to the Chairman of the Board of Directors on the existing
level of exposure. In the event of extraordinary developments in the currency and interest
markets, they review the data and occasionally the modes of operation in the derivatives
market is reviewed in order to hedge interest rate and currency risks.
Presented below are risks pertaining to the financial instruments and the management
thereof:
(1)

Credit risks
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally
from the Group’s trade and other receivables as well as from loans granted to third
parties.
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The overall theoretical exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2018 amounts to
approximately NIS 31,353 thousand (2017: NIS 19,097 thousand).
In the opinion of management of the Company, as of the date of the report the credit
risk of the Group is low, for the following reasons:
•
•

•

(2)

Most of the Group’s revenue from the sale of electricity in Israel is received from
the critical service provider, the Electric Corporation.
The revenues of the Company from the sale of electricity and green certificates in
Poland are received through an international broker. The Company can opt
between selling the electricity to the local electric corporation under the existing
arrangement or, alternatively, to several other brokers on the market or,
alternatively, directly on the Exchange.
Cash and cash equivalents, deposits, money market funds and hedging financial
instruments (derivatives) are held in banks and in financial institutions, which,
according to the Company’s assessment, have significant financial stability.

Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the
obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to the management of its liquidity
risk is to ensure, to the extent possible, a liquidity level that is sufficient for duly
meeting its obligations, under ordinary and stressful conditions, without incurring
unwanted losses or damage to its reputation.
The surplus cash held by the companies in the Group that are not required for the
financing of operating activities are invested in interest-bearing investment channels,
such as short-term deposits. These investment channels are selected by Company
management based on future projections of the cash flow that would be required for
the companies in the Group to meet their obligations. The cash flow projection is
determined both on the basis of the various entities in the Group and on a consolidated
basis. The Company examines current projections of its liquidity requirements in
order to verify that sufficient cash is available for operating needs, while ensuring the
availability of sufficient unutilized credit facilities at all times, so that the Company
remains within the bounds of its allocated credit facilities and the related binding
covenants. These projections take into account factors such as the Company’s plan to
use debt to finance its operations as well as compliance with binding covenants,
specific target liquidity ratios and external requirements, such as laws or
arrangements.
The responsibility for the management of the liquidity risks lies with management of
the Company, which conducts a program for the management of financing and
liquidity risks in the short, medium and long terms, depending on the needs of the
Company. The Company manages the liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
surpluses of cash and credit facilities, performing current and future financial
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forecasts and by comparing the future yields on the financial assets and the financial
liabilities. The Group aims to maintain the existing ratio between the obtaining of
ongoing financing and the flexibility that is afforded by the use of credit.
The ultimate responsibility for the management of a liquidity risk lies with the Board
of Directors, within the framework of the management of the liquidity risk in relation
to management’s financing and liquidity requirements in the short, medium and long
term.
Analysis of the projected maturities of financial liabilities
The following table presents the flow of financial liabilities (principal and projected
interest) in undiscounted amounts that do not constitute derivative financial
instruments, based on the contractual maturities:
December 31, 2018
Interest
rate
%
Trade payables,
other payables and
credit balances
Hedging financial
instruments
Long-term liabilities
Long-term loans
from financial
2.82%institutions (*)
4.6%, linked
Long-term loan from 4.48%foreign bank (*)
4.53%

Carrying
amount

Projected
Up to
cash
one year 1-3 years
flows

Over 3
years

NIS in thousands

35,640

35,640

35,640

-

-

17,287
10,987

17,287
10,987

6,496
-

10,791
10,987

-

590,416

743,077

55,007

109,776

578,294

308,694
963,024

407,230

33,737
130,880

67,527
199,081

305,966
884,260

1,214,22
1
(*) Securities - for information regarding the carrying amount of the financial assets which are
used as securities for the aforementioned liabilities, see Note 13.
The overall theoretical exposure to the liquidity risk amounts to approximately NIS
1,214 million. Company management estimates that the liquidity risk is low.
According to the Company’s estimate, its share in the receipts from the sale of
electricity and green certificate from 2019 onwards, in the amount of approximately
NIS 240 million per year, guarantee the Company’s ability to service its current
liabilities.
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December 31, 2017
Carrying
amount

Projected
cash
Up to one
flows
year

1-3 years

Over 3
years

NIS in thousands
Trade payables,
other payables and
credit balances
Hedging financial
instruments
Long-term liabilities
Long-term loans
from financial
2.82%institutions
4.6%, linked
Long-term loan from 4.48%foreign bank
4.53%
(3)

59,591

59,591

59,591

-

-

16,407
20,665

16,407
25,276

6,975
-

9,432
10,652

14,624

405,264

507,556

39,730

80,120

387,706

325,941
827,868

451,781

34,263
140,559

68,674
168,878

348,844
751,174

1,060,61
Market risks
1
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices to which the Group is exposed,
such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and the CPI, will affect the Group’s
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return.
Presented below are the types of market risks:
(a) Foreign currency and linkage risks

Foreign currency - The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks as a result
of changes in the exchange rates of foreign currencies, primarily the Zloty and
the Dollar. The foreign currency risk results from the performance of
transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency as well as the existence
of financial assets and financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency other than the functional and reporting currency of the Company (NIS).
The Group customarily reduces its exposure to foreign currency as follows:
1.

Following the connection of the Company’s wind projects in Poland to the
power grid, the Company is exposed to changes in the value of its
investment and in its results with respect to its activities in Poland, due to
changes in the PLN vs. the NIS. Such changes in the exchange rate directly
affect the Company’s equity, and its results. Accordingly, the Company
considers and enters into various transactions, as necessary, in order to
reduce the currency exchange risk. Accordingly, the Company adopted a
hedging policy according to which, during the commercial operation period
of the Company’s projects in Poland, the Company will hedge its net
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2.

investment (after the receipt of external financing in Zloty), in the projects,
such that the unhedged part of the aforementioned equity will not exceed
NIS 20 million of its equity. As of the Reporting Date, the Company has
hedging transactions in the amount of approximately PLN 320 million, out
of the Company’s total exposure to foreign currency, which amounted to a
total of approximately PLN 470 million. Hedging is effected by acquiring
hedging instruments that protect from a decline in the NIS value of the
investment.
Engagements with foreign suppliers in foreign currency for the purchase of
systems and equipment for projects that are denominated in NIS expose the
Group to changes in the exchange rates of currencies in which it intends to
purchase the equipment. Such exposure is limited to the timespan from the
date of purchase of the equipment to the date of payment of the full
consideration in its respect. As necessary and in order to fix the purchase
cost of systems and equipment that are purchased overseas, the Company
considers and carries out, to the extent necessary, forward or swap
transaction to hedge the foreign currency risk. For details regarding NIS /
USD hedge transactions with Alony Hetz, see Note 25a(5).
The Company’s CEO and CFO monitor the net position of activities in
foreign currency, and as required, perform forward transactions on that
currency. From time to time, the Group has or positive negative cash flows
from the settlement of these transactions.

The following table specifies the foreign currency forward contracts as of December 31,
2018:

Year of
settlement

Type of
transactio
n

Sale

Foreign
currenc
y

Thousan
ds

Purchase

Foreign
currenc
y

Average
exchange
rate

Thousan
ds

Fair
value

Type of
settleme
nt

NIS in
thousands

Derivatives designated as hedging components:

Short-term

Forward

145,000 PLN

137,403 NIS

0.950

(5,653) Gross

Long-term

Forward

175,000 PLN

161,373 NIS

0.922

(8,691) Gross
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Consumer Price Index The CPI-linked loans expose the Group to a cash flow risk in respect of
changes in the CPI rate that are not accompanied by a corresponding
change in the fair value of the financial instruments. It should be noted that
the revenues of the Company from IEC are linked to the CPI in a manner
that is updated one a year and are secured for the arrangement period.
Accordingly, an increase in the rate of the CPI will result in an increase in
revenues from the production of electricity, thereby reducing this exposure.

Presented below is an analysis of the Group’s linkage and foreign currency sensitivity.
The effect of a 5% change in the exchange rate / a 2% change in the CPI on the profit or
loss in respect of financial liabilities that are exposed to said risk (before the tax effect) is
as follows:
December 31, 2018

Foreign currency sensitivity - 5% change
In Euro (cash and cash equivalents)
In Euro (trade payables and other payables and
credit
balances)
In Zloty
(cash and cash equivalents)
In Zloty (trade and other accounts receivable
and
debit(long-term
balances) pledged deposit and
In Zloty
restricted
cash)
In Zloty (derivative
financial instruments)
In Zloty (short and long-term loans from
financial institutions)
In Zloty (trade payables and other payables and
credit
balances)
In USD
(cash and cash equivalents)
In USD (trade payables, other payables and
credit balances)
In USD (other long-term liabilities)

Increase
Decrease
of 5%
of 5%
Profit
Profit
and loss Carrying and loss
/ equity
amount
/ equity
NIS in thousands
41
813
(41)
(315)
1,254
665
883

(6,303)
25,089
13,300
17,667

315
(1,254)
(665)
(883)

(821)

(16,416)

821

(15,435)
(382)
14
(20)

(308,694)
(7,632)
280
(409)

15,435
382
(14)
20

(187)

(3,748)

187
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December 31, 2018

Linkage sensitivity - 2% change
In the CPI (loans from financial institutions)

Increas
Decreas
e of 2%
e of 2%
Profit
Profit
and loss Carrying and loss
/ equity amount / equity
NIS in thousands
(11,808)

(590,416
)

2,664

(*) The impact of the decrease of the CPI on some of the aforementioned loans is
restricted to the amount of the base index.
December 31, 2017

Foreign currency sensitivity - 5% change
In Euro (cash and cash equivalents)
In Euro (trade payables and other payables and
credit
balances)
In Zloty
(cash and cash equivalents)
In Zloty (trade and other accounts receivable
and
debit(long-term
balances) pledged deposit and
In Zloty
restricted
cash)
In Zloty (derivative
financial instruments)
In Zloty (short and long-term loans from
financial institutions)
In Zloty (trade payables and other payables
and credit balances)

Increas
Decreas
e of 5%
e of 5%
Profit
Profit
and loss Carrying and loss
/ equity amount / equity
NIS in thousands
1,974

39,471

(1,974)

(151)

(3,019)

151

1,724

34,478

(1,724)

428

8,565

(428)

868

17,366

(868)

(731)

(14,620)

731

(16,297) (325,940)

16,297

(521)

(10,419)

521

December 31, 2017

Linkage sensitivity - 2% change
In the CPI (loans from financial institutions)

Increas
Decreas
e of 2%
e of 2%
Capital Carryin Capital
gains /
g
gains /
loss
amount
loss
NIS in thousands
(8,105) (405,26
889
4)
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(b) Interest rate risk

Fair value risk - the Group has investments in financial instruments which bear
fixed interest, as well as financial liabilities classified as long-term loans which
bear fixed interest. The Group is not exposed to risk with respect to changes in the
fair value of these financial instruments, which will affect the Group’s profit and
loss or equity, due to the fact that these financial instruments are measured at
amortized cost.
As of December 31, 2018, the Group has loans in the amount of NIS 809,917
thousand, which bear fixed interest, and therefore do not create exposure to the
aforesaid interest rate risk. The fair value of the loans as of the Reporting Date
(measured according to level 2) is NIS 822,947 thousand.
Cash flow risk - financial liabilities bearing variable interest rates expose the
Group to cash flow risk due to changes in interest rates.
The Company’s loan in PLN is variable rate. According to the financing
agreement the Company is obligated to fix 75% of the loan to a fixed rate by
means of hedging instruments (swap), and accordingly the hedged part of the loan
is presented as a fixed rate instrument, such that 25% of the loan is at variable
interest of 3 month WIBOR.
The following table specifies the impact of the addition or subtraction of 3% to
the WIBOR interest rate on the profit and loss with respect to the financial
liabilities which are exposed to cash flow risk due to changes in interest rates
(before tax effect):

Loan in PLN (*)

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

Change of
3% (+/-)
Carrying Profit and
amount loss
NIS in thousands

Change of
3% (+/-)
Carrying Profit and
amount loss
NIS in thousands

77,191

2,316

81,485

2,445

(*) Refers only to 25% of the principal which is exposed to interest rate changes.

(3)

Financial instruments presented in the Financial Statements at fair value
For the purpose of measuring the fair value of financial instruments, the Group
classifies its financial instruments, which are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value. Forward contracts which were designated for foreign currency
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hedging, whose fair value as of the Reporting Date amounts to a net liability balance
of approximately NIS 14,343 thousand, as well as financial derivatives designated for
hedging of the interest rate on the Company’s loans in PLN, in the amount of
approximately NIS 2,073 thousand, are measured at level 2.
C.

Changes in liabilities due to financing activities
The table presented below specifies the changes in the Group’s liabilities due to
financing activities, including both changes due to cash flows, and non-cash changes.
Liabilities due to financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows have been
classified, or future cash flows will be classified, in the statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

Balance
as of
January
1, 2018

Cash
flows
from
financing
activities
Price
(a)
differences

Other
changes

NIS in thousands
Loans from
financial institutions (731,204) (161,816)
(3,298) (2,792)
(731,204) (161,816)

(3,298)

(2,792)

Balance as of
December 31

(899,111)
(899,111)

* During the Reporting Period, credit facilities were withdrawn and repaid in the
total amount of NIS 3,300 thousand.
(a) Cash flows from financing activities include the net cash flows which are

presented, in the consolidated statements of cash flows, as cash flows from
financing activities.
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Note 32 - Additional Information Regarding Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date
A.

Capital raising
For details regarding capital raisings after the Reporting Date, see Note 15c(1).

B.

Update to salary of controlling shareholder’s relative
For additional details regarding bonuses to a relative of the controlling shareholder who is
an employee of the Company, see Note 25a(2).

C.

Financing for the construction of the Winning Projects in the second competitive
process
For additional details regarding the financing transaction facility for Projects 3, see Note
13c.

D.

Options granted to employees, to the Company’s CEO and to corporate officers
On March 12, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved, a new options framework
plan for employees and corporate officers of the Company, in accordance with the principles
of the Company’s compensation policy, at a scope of 20 million options, as expanded. For
details regarding outstanding options from these plans, see Note 26.
The options are not listed for trading and are exercisable into ordinary shares of NIS 0.01
par value each of the Company (subject to adjustments), within the framework of section
102 of the Income Tax Ordinance, through a capital gains track with a trustee by virtue of
Section 102(b)(2) of the Income Tax Ordinance (the “2014 Plan”).
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Note 32

-

Additional Information Regarding Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date (Cont’d)

On March 11, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the allotment of an annual
batch under the 2014 plan, as follows:
Equity
Equity
compensation
Equity
compensation
to the
compensation to corporate
Company’s
to employees
officers (*)
CEO

Number of options
Including fully accelerated options in lieu
of cash bonus
Number of recipients
Share price (in NIS)
Exercise price (in NIS) (**)
Fair value of option
Expected volatility
Lifetime of the option (in years)
Last exercise date
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend rate

1,312,000

2,927,000

1,324,000

232,000
27
5.096
5.504
0.6611
22.91%
2.83
36 months
after the
actual grant
date
0.708%
-

832,000
8
5.096
5.504
0.6611
22.91%
2.83
36 months
after the
actual grant
date
0.708%
-

854,000
1
5.096
5.504
0.7022
22.91%
3.08
36 months
after the
actual grant
date
0.769%
-

(*) 3 directors of the Company who are not among the controlling shareholders and are not
employees of the Company and/or corporate officers of Alony Hetz, as well as the
CFO, VP Legal, VP Business Development and Company Secretary, VP Business
Development, VP Engineering and VP Construction of a subsidiary of the Company.
(**) The exercise price was determined based on the share price plus 8%.
The fair value is estimated using the Black and Scholes model. The total economic value of
the options amounts to approximately NIS 3,733 thousand. Out of said total, an amount of
approximately NIS 1,303 thousand was deducted in 2018 (due to their granting in lieu of a
cash bonus) and the remaining NIS 2,430 thousand is expected to be deducted over 25
months, in a straight line.
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Attn.:
Shareholders of Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Dear Sir / Madam,
Re:

Special Auditor’s Report Regarding the Separate Financial Information, in Accordance with
Regulation 9C of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) - 1970

We have audited the separate financial information which is presented in accordance with Regulation 9C of the
Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) - 1970, of Energix Renewable Energies Ltd. (hereinafter:
the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and for each of the three years the last of which ended
December 31, 2018. The Company’s Board of Directors and management are responsible for the separate financial
information. Our responsibility is to express an opinion regarding the separate financial information, based on our
audit.
We have not audited the separate financial information from the Financial Statements of an investee, the total
investment in which amounted to a total of approximately NIS 67,606 thousand as of December 31, 2017, and where
the profit (loss) from that investee amounted to a total of approximately NIS (2,807) thousand and approximately
NIS 3,037 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. The Financial Statements of that company
were audited by other auditors, whose reports were submitted to us, and our opinion, insofar as it refers to the
amounts which were included with respect to that company, is based on the reports of the other auditors.
We have conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel. In accordance with
these standards, we are required to plan and conduct our audit with the aim of obtaining a reasonable measure of
assurance that the separate financial information includes no material misrepresentation. An audit includes
examining, on a sample basis, evidence to support the amounts and the details separate financial information i the
separate financial information. An audit also includes an evaluation of the accounting principles which were applied
in the preparation of the separate financial information, and of the significant estimates which were made by the
Company’s Board of Directors and management, as well as an evaluation of the adequacy of presentation in the
separate financial information. We believe that our audit and the reports of the other auditors provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audit and on the reports of the other auditors, the separate financial information has
been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of Regulation 9C of Securities Law
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Statements) - 1970.
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
Tel Aviv, March 11, 2019

184

Financial Statements

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Separate Statements of Financial Position
December 31
2018
2017
NIS in thousands
(Audited)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged deposit
Trade receivables and income receivable from customers
Receivables - investee companies
Receivables and debit balances
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Pledged deposit
Connected electricity production systems
Systems under construction and inventory
Fixed assets
Investment in investee companies
Loan to an investee company
Other receivables
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term loans
Trade payables
Payables and credit balances
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Liabilities with respect to financial instruments
Liability for employee severance benefits, net
Loans from financial institutions
Loans from investee companies
Payables – investee companies
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Total non-current liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Capital reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company
Total liabilities and equity

44,688
12,896
125
4,750
5,270
67,729

43,970
90,009
148
2,578
652
137,357

52
3,405
244
4,098
779,810
3,339
5,017
795,965
863,694

3,728
18,218
2,998
654,158
5,964
4,528
689,594
826,951

1,147
1,958
10,725
13,830

1,098
2,044
27,906
31,048

8,718
361
11,380
84,918
2,157
3,500
15,063
126,097

9,432
417
12,378
81,814
809
3,500
5,024
113,374

3,798
677,783
42,186
723,767
863,694

3,743
669,422
9,364
682,529
826,951

March 11, 2019
Date of signing of the
Financial Statements

Nathan Hetz
Chairman of Board of
Directors

Asa Levinger
CEO

Elad Cohen
CFO

The accompanying supplementary information is an integral part of the separate financial information.
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2018

Revenues
Revenues from the sale of electricity
Revenues from the construction of facilities
Operating and other income, net
Expenses
Rental expenses
Maintenance of systems
Facility construction costs
Initiation expenses
Payroll and related expenses
Administrative, headquarters and other
Loss before financing, taxes, depreciation and
amortization
Reversal of provisions for doubtful debts
Depreciation and amortization
Loss before financing and taxes
Financing income
Financing expenses
Financing income, net
Loss after financing, net
Company’s share in the results of equity-accounted
investees
Profit before taxes on income
Tax benefit (taxes on income)
Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company
Net earnings per share attributable to the equity
holders of the Company (NIS):
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average share capital used to compute
the earnings per share (thousands of shares):
Basic
Diluted
Other comprehensive income items that after
initial recognition in comprehensive income were
or will be transferred to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign
operation
Loss from foreign currency differences with respect to
derivatives which were designated for the hedging of
investments in subsidiaries which constitute foreign
operations, net of tax
Net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instruments
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year
equity attributable to the equity holders of the
Company

Year ended December 31
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)

869
1,690
2,559

493
6,990
7,483

90
279
3,663
4,032

87
2,960
1,205
8,999
8,933
22,184

49
1,653
1,792
8,146
8,255
19,895

9
1,702
411
1,342
7,825
7,577
18,866

(19,625)
(1,191)
(20,816)

(12,412)
(790)
(13,202)

(14,834)
3,594
(542)
(11,782)

17,551
(3,136)
14,415
(6,401)

6,116
(2,191)
3,925
(9,277)

6,088
(7,796)
(1,708)
(13,490)

48,022
41,621
(10,248)

32,768
23,491
(6,436)

17,229
3,739
2,486

31,373

17,055

6,225

0.083
0.083

0.047
0.047

0.020
0.020

377,281
379,981

360,908
362,873

315,192
318,892

4,820

40,323

(41,422)

(6,564)

(29,632)

13,470

(1,892)

(208)

459

27,737

27,538

(21,268)

The accompanying supplementary information is an integral part of the separate financial information.
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Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)
Cash flows - operating activities
Income for the year
Expenses not involving cash flows
(Appendix A)
Changes in working capital (Appendix B)
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows - investing activities
Investment in electricity production systems
Release of cash in trust
Decrease (increase) in pledged deposit
Repayment of loans given to investee companies
Repayment of investment in investee companies
Investment in other fixed assets
Long-term loans granted to investee companies
Settlement of financial instruments
Investment in partnerships and investees
Consideration from sale of fixed assets
Payment related to the acquisition of a project
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows - financing activities
Consideration from exercise of share options
Consideration from issuance of shares
Loans received from investee companies
Transaction with non-controlling interests
Long-term loans received from financial institutions
Repayment of long-term loans from financial institutions
Short-term loans received from banking institutions
Repayment of short-term loans from banking institutions
Dividend paid to Company shareholders
Net cash from financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of fluctuations in exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at end of year

31,373

17,055

6,225

(25,167)
6,206
700
6,906

(14,912)
2,143
1,711
3,854

(1,894)
4,331
3,399
7,730

(15)
77,862
106,221
3,700
(1,954)
(9,062)
(195,378)
(18,626)

(445)
(90,009)
69,630
9,474
(1,424)
(616)
(6,582)
(78,759)
107
(98,624)

10,000
5,023
138,313
2,650
(1,887)
(3,193)
(193,474)
(56,879)
(99,447)

12,632
(1,106)
3,300
(3,300)
11,526
(194)
43,970

3,262
127,921
71,737
(1,000)
(1,323)
(65,501)
135,096
40,326
3,359

38,034
7,486
15,000
(259)
108,901
(69,400)
(12,763)
86,999
(4,718)
9,204

912
44,688

285
43,970

(1,127)
3,359

The accompanying supplementary information is an integral part of the separate financial
information.
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Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
(Audited)
Appendix - Adjustments Required to Present Cash Flows from
Operating Activities
a. Income (expenses) not involving cash flows:
Financing income, net
Capital loss
Revaluation of loans, deposits, marketable securities and hedging
instruments, net
Tax income recognized in profit (loss) for the period

(15,597)
-

(6,402)
29

(2,000)
-

109
10,248

260
6,436

6,377
(2,667)

(24,434)
1,191
(56)
3,372
(25,167)

(19,876)
790
70
3,781
(14,912)

(544)
542
(3,594)
103
1,975
(2,086)
(1,894)

(61)

349

681

214

871

5,503

547
700

491
1,711

(2,785)
3,399

Non-cash activity
Investment in investee companies against supplier credit and
payables

-

4,500

-

Non-cash exercise of share options

-

441

-

Additional information
Interest received in respect of operating activities

355

5,988

3,792

Interest paid in respect of operating activities

433

737

1,332

23,589

12,892

16,685

-

-

409

Company’s share in the results of equity-accounted investees
Depreciation and amortization
Reversal of provision for doubtful debt
Change in provision for employee severance pay
Share-based payment
Other non-cash income

b. Changes in asset and liability items (changes in working
capital):
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables and other receivables and
debit balances
Decrease in receivables and debit balances in respect of investee
companies
Increase (decrease) in trade payables and other payables and credit
balances

Dividend received from investee companies
Taxes paid

The accompanying supplementary information is an integral part of the separate financial
information.
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Note 1

- General:
A.

Presented below are financial data from the Group’s consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2018 (hereinafter: the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) that are
published within the framework of the periodic reports and are attributable to the Company
itself (hereinafter: the “Separate Financial Information”), which are presented in
accordance with Regulation 9C (hereinafter: the “Regulation”) and the tenth addendum of
the Securities Regulations (Periodic and immediate Reports) - 1970, concerning the
Corporation’s separate financial information.
The separate financial information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
B.

Definitions
Company - Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Investee

C.

- As defined in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company as of the date of the report.

Significant accounting policies applied in the separate financial information
The separate financial information was drawn up in accordance with the accounting policies
that are set out in note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company, with the
exception of the amounts of the assets, the liabilities, the income, the expenses and the cash
flows in respect of investees, as described below:
a. Financial position data - The assets and liabilities reflect the assets and liabilities
that are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and that are attributable
to the Company itself as a parent company (excluding investments in investees).
b. Investments in investees are presented in the financial position data based on the
share of the Company in the net amount of the total assets less the total liabilities
that are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company.
c. Comprehensive income data - The amounts of income and expenses reflect the
income and the expenses that are included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements, divided into profit or loss and other comprehensive income, which
are attributable to the Company itself as a parent company (excluding amounts of
income and expenses in respect of investees).
d. The share of the Company in the results of investees is presented in the profit or
loss data at the net amount of the Company’s share of total revenues less total
expenses that are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company and that present the operating results of investees.
e. Cash flow data - The amounts of cash flows reflect the amounts that are included
in the Consolidated Financial Statements that are attributable to the Company
itself as a parent company, including cash flows from transactions between the
Company and the investees that were eliminated in the Consolidated Financial
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Statements, and with the exception of the amounts of cash flows deriving from
activities and transactions that were carried out in the investees, divided into cash
flows from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities,
including a description of their components.
f. Loans granted to and/or received from investees are presented in the amount that
is attributable to the Company itself as a parent company.
g. Balances (including loans granted and received) and income and expenses in
respect of transactions with investees, which were eliminated in the Consolidated
Financial Statements, are measured and presented under the relevant items in the
financial position data and the profit or loss data, in the same manner that would
have been applicable to the measurement and presentation of such transactions
had they been carried out with third parties.
h. Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the Company and its
investees are presented under the balance in respect of investees and under the
profit (loss) in respect of investees.
Note 2

- Financial Instruments
A.

General
The financial instruments of the Company consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade receivables, other receivables and debit balances, derivatives,
receivables in respect of investees, loans to investees, trade payables, payables in respect of
investees and loans and credit received.
B.

Financial risks and the management thereof
For information regarding the financial risks of the Company, see Note 31 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

C.

Presented below are risks pertaining to the financial instruments and the
management thereof
(1)

Credit risks
(a) For information regarding the credit risks of the Company, see Note 31 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.
(b) Analysis of the contractual maturities of financial assetsFinancial assets - As of December 31, 2018, the anticipated maturity dates of the
Company in respect of non-derivative financial assets are up to one year, with the
exception of a long-term loan to an investee partnership in the amount of
approximately NIS 3.3 million, and the balance of the loan in the amount of
approximately NIS 4.6 million which was given within the framework of a project
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financing transaction. For additional information, see Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
(2)

Liquidity risks
(a) For information regarding the liquidity risks of the Company, see Note 31 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(b) Analysis of the contractual maturities of financial liabilitiesDecember 31, 2018

Interest rate
%
Trade payables, other payables and
credit balances
Hedging financial instruments
Related party payables
Long-term loans from financial
institutions
Loans from investee companies

Carrying Projected
Up to
amount cash flows one year 1-3 years
NIS in thousands

Over 3
years

-

3,877
15,214
5,657

3,877
15,214
5,657

3,877
6,496
-

8,718
3,500

2,157

3.2% linked
2.61%

12,527
84,918
122,193

14,577
96,433
135,758

1,534
11,907

3,069
15,287

9,974
96,433
108,563
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Note 2

- Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
(3)

Market risks
For information regarding the market risks of the Company, see Note 31 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Presented below are the types of market risks:
(a) Foreign currency and linkage risks
Foreign currency and index - see Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The linkage and foreign currency exposure of the Company is as follows:
December 31, 2018

EUR
Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged deposit
Trade receivables
Receivables and debit balances
Receivables - investee companies
Loan to an investee company
Hedging financial instruments

Trade payables, other payables and
credit balances
Loans from investee companies
Other long-term liabilities
Hedging financial instruments
Loan from financial institutions
Total surplus of assets over
liabilities (assets over liabilities)

PLN

Unlinked
USD
NIS
NIS in thousands
268
37,216
12,948
125
4
4,750
3,339
268
58,382

50
50

7,154
871
8,025

6
-

-

29
-

6

15,214
15,214

44

(7,189)

CPIlinked
NIS

Total

4,627
4,627

44,688
12,948
125
4,631
4,750
3,339
871
71,352

3,842
84,918
5,657

-

3,877
84,918
5,657

29

94,417

12,527
12,527

15,214
12,527
122,193

239

(36,035)

(7,900)

(50,841)
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- Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
December 31, 2017

EUR
Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged deposit
Trade receivables
Receivables and debit balances
Receivables - investee companies
Loan to an investee company

Unlinked
Other
NIS
NIS in thousands
74
3,637
90,009
148
441
2,578
5,964
74 102,777

38,694
38,694

1,565
1,565

-

-

-

-

14,881
14,881

38,694

(13,316)

Short-term credit from financial
institutions
Trade payables, other payables and
credit balances
Loans from investee companies
Other long-term liabilities
Hedging financial instruments
Loan from financial institutions
Total surplus of assets over
liabilities (assets over liabilities)

PLN

CPIlinked
NIS

Total

4,087
4,087

43,970
90,009
148
4,528
2,578
5,964
147,197

-

-

-

17,335
1,526
18,861

3,682
81,814
4,316
89,812

13,476
13,476

21,017
81,814
4,316
16,407
13,476
137,030

(18,787)

12,965

(9,389)

10,167

Presented below is an analysis of the Group’s linkage and foreign currency sensitivity:
The effect of a 5% change in the exchange rate / a 2% change in the CPI on the profit
or loss in respect of financial liabilities that are exposed to said risk (before the tax
effect) is as follows:
December 31, 2018

Foreign currency sensitivity - 5% change
In Zloty (cash and cash equivalents)
In Euro (cash and cash equivalents)
In USD (cash and cash equivalents)
In Zloty (derivative financial instruments)

Increase
Decrease
of 5%
of 5%
Profit and
Profit and
loss /
Carrying
loss /
equity
amount
equity
NIS in thousands
358
7,154
(358)
3
50
(3)
13
268
(13)
(717)
(14,343)
717
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- Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
December 31, 2018

Linkage sensitivity - 2% change
In the CPI (loans from financial institutions)

Increase
Decrease
of 2%
of 2%
Profit and
Profit and
loss /
Carrying
loss /
equity
amount
equity
NIS in thousands
(251)
(12,527)
198

(b) Interest rate risk
For details regarding fair value risk and cash flow risk, see Note 31 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Note 3

- Taxes on Income
For information regarding the tax rate that is applicable to the Company, see Note 28 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
A. Income tax expense (income) components
Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
Current tax expense (income)
For the current year
Adjustments in respect of previous years, net

(1,752)
(1,752)

(167)
(167)

167
14
181

Deferred tax expense (income)
Creation and reversal of temporary differences
Changes in tax rate
Write-down (reversal of write-down) of
deferred tax assets

3,269
8,731
12,000

11,288
(4,685)
6,603

5,085
(633)
(7,119)
(2,667)

Total income tax expense (income) from
continuing operations

10,248

6,436

(2,486)
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Note 3

- Taxes on Income (Cont’d)
A. Deferred taxes
The deferred tax balances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were calculated according to
the new tax rates specified in the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments to
Meet Budgetary Targets for the Years 2017-2018), according to the tax rate which is
expected to apply on the date of reversal.
Presented below are the composition and movement of the deferred taxes in the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018
Carryforward tax losses
Small and medium photovoltaic
systems
Financial instruments
Employee benefits
Other
Balance of deferred tax asset
(liability)
Deferred tax liability available for
offsetting
Deferred tax assets available for
offsetting
Deferred tax liability in the
statement of financial position
as of December 31, 2018

Amount Carried to
carried to
other
December profit or comprehen December
31, 2017
loss
sive income 31, 2018
13,203
(8,731)
2,084
6,557
(14,030)
3,472
240
(7,909)
(5,024)

(527)
(49)
28
(2,721)
(12,000)

(124)
1,960

(14,557)
3,299
268
(10,630)
(15,063)

(25,187)
10,124

(15,063)
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2017
Carryforward tax losses
Small and medium photovoltaic
systems
Financial instruments
Employee benefits
Other
Balance of deferred tax asset
(liability)
Deferred tax liability available for
offsetting
Deferred tax assets available for
offsetting
Deferred tax liability in the
statement of financial position
as of December 31, 2017

Amount Carried to
carried to
other
December profit or comprehen December
31, 2016
loss
sive income 31, 2017
6,934
4,689
1,580
13,203
(10,543)
(4,000)
186
-

(3,487)
50
54
(7,909)

7,422
-

(14,030)
3,472
240
(7,909)

(7,423)

(6,603)

9,002

(5,024)
(21,939)
16,915

(5,024)
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- Taxes on Income (Cont’d)
B. Theoretical tax
The difference between the amount calculated at the ordinary tax rates and the amount of
provision for taxes is explained as follows:

Profit (loss) before taxes on income
Primary tax rate of the Company
Tax increment (saving) in respect of:
Neutralization of tax calculated in respect of the
Company’s share in profits of equity-accounted
investees
Company’s share in the results of partnerships
Non-deductible expenses
Taxes in respect of previous years
Effect of the change in the tax rate
With respect to subsidiaries operating outside of
Israel
Decrease in deferred taxes due to losses for
which deferred taxes were not created in excess
Other differences
Income tax expense on income from continuing
operations
Effective tax rate

Year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
NIS in thousands
41,621
23,491
3,739
23.0%
24.0%
25.0%
9,573
5,638
935

(11,058)
3,292
815
-

(7,864)
740
952
(848)
-

(4,307)
820
517
14
(633)

7,681

7,909

-

(55)
675
10,248
25%

(91)
798
6,436
27%

153
15
(3,421)
(2,486)
-66%

C. Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, a deferred tax liability which is attributed to associated
companies was not recognized because the decision as to whether to sell those companies
rests with the Company, which does not intend to sell in the foreseeable future, excluding a
deferred tax liability with respect to companies which hold the Group’s project companies
in Poland, for which a liability of this kind was recognized in 2017, due to the Company’s
estimate that it will distribute the receipts of those companies to the Company in the
foreseeable future.
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Note 4

- Material Engagements and Transactions with Investee Companies
A. Bank Guarantees

For details regarding bank guarantees of the Company, see Notes 5 and 30b to the
Consolidated Financial Statements that are published together with this separate financial
information.
B.

C.

Loans and credit facilities
(1)

For details regarding credit facilities of the Company, and the use thereof as of the
Reporting Date, see Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements which are
published with this separate financial information.

(2)

For details regarding loans that the Company granted to subsidiaries and consolidated
partnerships, see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements that are published
together with this separate financial information.

Agreement for the provision of services
(1)

The Company provides O&M services for photovoltaic systems that are owned by the
Projects 1 Partnership. Pursuant to the agreement, which is for a period of 20 years
commencing in November 2013 with exit points every five years, the Company is
entitled to fixed operation fees in the amount of approximately NIS 422 thousand a year
(actual payment of NIS 416 thousand in 2018), linked to the CPI, for repairs and
handling of malfunctions as well as other services that are required for the proper
function of the facilities, including - cleaning the panels, current checkups, inspection
by an electrical engineer and a technician, monitoring and supervision of the
performance of the systems. The fixed payments are linked to the CPI and payable
every six months. The Company is also entitled to annual management fees in the
amount of approximately NIS 384 thousand, which are paid on an annual basis.

(2)

For details regarding O&M services provided to Granot Partnership, see Note 25b(8)
to the Consolidated Financial Statements that are published together with this financial
information.

(3)

Since February 2018, the Company has provided operating services for a photovoltaic
system owned by Neot Hovav Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company. Under the agreement,
which applies for the duration of the operating period, the Company is entitled receive
fixed operating fees in the amount of approximately NIS 1,500 thousand per year.

(4)

Beginning from the date of commercial operation of projects 2 (the Winning Projects
in the first competitive process, with a capacity of 90MWp), the Company is entitled
to receive annual management fees in the amount of NIS 300 thousand.

198

Financial Statements

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
Supplementary Information to the Separate Financial Statements
Note 4

- Material Engagements and Transactions with Investee Companies (Cont’d)
D.

E.

Dividend and distributions from subsidiaries
During the Reporting Period, wholly owned companies and partnerships of the Company
distributed dividends in the amount of approximately NIS 23.6 million.
Share capital
For details regarding a capital raising which was performed by the Company subsequent to
the Reporting Date, and regarding options which were exercised during the Reporting
Period, see Notes 15c and 15d to the Consolidated Financial Statements which are published
along with this financial information.

F.

Additional information
For supplementary information regarding investee companies, engagements with them,
projects developed by the Company and information regarding transactions with related
parties, see Notes 9, 10, 14 and 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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March 11, 2019
Attn.:
Board of Directors of
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
2 Jabotinsky St.
Ramat Gan
Dear Sir / Madam,
Re: Letter of consent in connection with the shelf prospectus of Energix Renewable Energies
Ltd. Dated May 2016
We hereby affirm that we consent to the inclusion (including by way of reference) of our reports, as
specified below, in connection with the shelf prospectus from May 2016.
1. The auditors’ report dated March 11, 2019, with respect to the Company’s consolidated

financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2018.
2. The auditors’ report dated March 11, 2019, with respect to the audit of the Company’s internal

controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.
3. The auditors’ report dated March 11, 2019, with respect to the Company’s separate financial

information in accordance with Regulation 9C of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and
Immediate Reports), - 1970 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2018.

Sincerely,
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Additional Details Regarding the Corporation for 2018
Company name:

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.

Company Number in the Registrar: 51-390137-1
Address:

2 Jabotinsky St., Ramat Gan 5250501

Telephone:

03-5668855

Facsimile:

03-5668822

Email:

asi@energix-group.com

Balance sheet date:

December 31, 2018

Approval date of the report:

March 11, 2019

Reporting period:

The year ended December 31, 2018

All of the data in this report are presented in reported NIS, as defined in Note 2b of to the
Financial Statements, unless noted otherwise.
Regulation 8A - Description of the Corporation’s business
See Chapter A of the Report - Description of the Corporation’s Business
Regulation 9 - Financial statements
See Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements.
Regulation 9b - Report regarding the effectiveness of control over financial reporting and over
disclosure
See the report which is attached as Appendix A to this chapter.
Regulation 9C - Separate financial statements
See Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements, after the Consolidated Financial Statements
Regulation 9D - Report regarding liabilities by repayment dates
See Form T-126, which was published concurrently with the report
Regulation 10 - Board of Directors’ report regarding the state of the Corporation’s affairs
See Chapter B of the Report - Board of Directors’ Report
Regulation 10A - Condensed quarterly statements of comprehensive income
Attached as part of the Board of Directors’ Report regarding the state of the Corporation’s affairs

201

Additional Details Regarding the Corporation

Regulation 10C - Use of consideration for securities which were offered in the prospectus
The consideration which the Company received with respect to the issuance of shares on January 10,
2017, in accordance with the shelf offering report dated January 8, 2017, which was published in
accordance with the shelf prospectus dated May 30, 2016, is being used by the Company to continue
the Company’s activity involving the initiation, construction, and operation of systems for the
production of electricity from renewable energy, and for its operating activities, in accordance with
the resolutions of the Company’s Board of Directors, from time to time. In accordance with the
decision of the Israel Securities Authority, the period for the offering of securities in accordance with
the Company’s shelf prospectus was extended to May 29, 2019. The Company intends to publish a
new shelf prospectus, which will replace the Company’s previous shelf prospectus, subject to the
receipt of approval from the Israel Securities Authority, and all of the required permits.
Regulation 11 - Investments in material subsidiaries and in associate companies as of the date
of the statement of financial position
Carrying
Rate of
amount as of ownership and
December 31, control as of
2018
the date of the
statement of
NIS in
financial
Rate of right to
Name of company
thousands
position
appoint directors
Fieldon Investments Sp. z o.o. Wiatromill Sp. k.
387,104
100%
100%
Glavent Investments Sp. z o.o. Orlik Sp. k.
81,043
100%
100%
100% of the
Caden Energix LLC
36,504
58% management rights
Energix Neot Hovav Ltd.
64,615
100%
100%
Energix Projects 1, Limited Partnership
2,666
100%
100%
Energix South Har Hevron, Limited Partnership
- (*)
50.1%
50%
Clean Wind Energy Ltd.
26,164
73%
100%
Solaer Energix Renewable Energies, Limited
Partnership
24,312
70%
67%
Granot Amot Energy Solar Projects, Limited
Partnership
11,685
50%
50%
Energix Projects 2, Limited Partnership
67,182
100%
100%
Solaer Energix Engineering, Limited Partnership
73,102
70%
100%
(*) - The loans were given by a company in the Netherlands which is wholly owned by the Company.
(**)- The partnership has a capital deficit.
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Material loans and capital notes which were given (received) by the Company to subsidiaries
and associate companies

Interest
Name of the company / partnership to which the
loan / capital note was given
Linkage terms
(*) Fieldon Investments Sp. z o.o. Wiatromill Sp. k. Unlinked
(*) Glavent Investments Sp. z o.o. Orlik Sp. k.
Unlinked
Linked to the
LIBOR interest
Caden Energix LLC
rate
Energix Neot Hovav Ltd. - capital notes (*)
Unlinked
Energix South Har Hevron, Limited Partnership
CPI-linked
Clean Wind Energy Ltd.
Unlinked
Solaer Energix Renewable Energies, Limited
Unlinked
Partnership
Granot Amot Energy Solar Projects, Limited
Partnership (**)
Unlinked
Energix Projects 2, Limited Partnership
Unlinked
Solaer Energix Engineering, Limited Partnership
Unlinked

%
8%
9%

Balance as of
December 31,
2018
NIS in
thousands
416,347
85,709

8.5-10%
0
4.25%
17%
8%-10%

36,504
38,543
7,570
21,064
17,470

Prime + 2%
8%-10%
8%

2,522
83,752
56,865

(*) The loan repayment dates have not yet been determined.

203

Additional Details Regarding the Corporation

Regulation 12 - Changes in investments in material subsidiaries and associate companies during
the Reporting Period

Name of company /
partnership
Date
Fieldon Investments Sp. z January 2018 to December
o.o. Wiatromill Sp. k.
2018

Description

Cost
(consideration)
NIS in
Par value
thousands

Investment

-

1,100

Fieldon Investments Sp. z January 2018 to December
o.o. Wiatromill Sp. k.
2018

Repayment of
investment (*)

-

(51,186)

Glavent Investments Sp.
z o.o. Orlik Sp. k.

January 2018 to December
2018

Investment

-

3,585

Glavent Investments Sp.
z o.o. Orlik Sp. k.

January 2018 to December
2018
Beginning in January 2018

-

(8,281)

-

36,504

-

(10,000)

-

(1,000)

Caden Energix LLC

Energix Neot Hovav Ltd. December 2018

Repayment of
investment (*)
Investment
Dividend
distribution
Dividend
distribution

Energix Projects 1,
Limited Partnership

October 2018

Clean Wind Energy Ltd.

January 2018 to December
2018

Investment

-

9,690

January 2018 to December
2018

Investment

-

14,384

January 2018 to December
2018

Repayment of
investment

-

(3,700)

January 2018 to December
2018

Investment

-

26,272

January 2018 to December
2018

Investment

-

57,096

Solaer Energix
Renewable Energies,
Limited Partnership
Granot Amot Energy
Solar Projects, Limited
Partnership
Energix Projects 2,
Limited Partnership
Solaer Energix
Engineering, Limited
Partnership

(*) Including inter-company interest returns.
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Regulation 13 - Income of material subsidiaries and associate companies and the Corporation’s
income from them for the year ended December 31, 2018 (NIS in thousands)

Name of company
Fieldon Investments Sp. z
o.o. Wiatromill Sp. k.
Glavent Investments Sp. z
o.o. Orlik Sp. k.
Energix Neot Hovav Ltd.
Energix Projects 1,
Limited Partnership
Energix South Har
Hevron, Limited
Partnership
Clean Wind Energy Ltd.

Profit (loss)
before tax

Profit (loss)
after tax

Management
fees and
participation
in expenses

Dividend

Interest
income
(expenses),
net

(1,544)

(1,544)

-

-

-

(2,504)

(2,504)

-

-

-

15,056

11,617

10,000

680

-

1,204

1,204

1,000

799

-

(306)

(306)

-

-

332

-

-

-

-

3,670

(**) (90)

-

-

3,669

(*) 2,538

-

277

149

3,387

-

-

4,215

(**) 12,386

-

-

3,983

Solaer Energix
Renewable Energies,
(**) (90)
Limited Partnership
Granot Energix Solar
Projects,
(*) 2,538
Limited Partnership
Energix Projects 2,
3,387
Limited Partnership
Solaer Energix
Engineering, Limited
(**) 12,386
Partnership
(*) The Company’s share is 50%.

(**) The Company holds 70% of the rights in the partnership.

Regulation 14 - Balances of loans, if the provision of loans was one of the Corporation’s main
activities
N/A.
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Regulation 20 - Trading on the stock exchange - securities listed for trading - dates and reasons
for suspension of trading
During the Reporting Period, 5,554,665 ordinary shares with a par value of NIS 0.01 each were listed
for trading (“Ordinary Shares”), following the exercise of non-marketable options of the Company,
of the following series: 5/2013, 3/2015 and 3/2016. Subsequent to the Reporting Date, the Company
allocated, as part of a private allocation, 22,000,000 ordinary Company shares, with a par value of
NIS 0.01 each, to a number of institutional entities, against the payment of a total sum (gross) of
approximately NIS 103,400,000. For additional details, see the immediate report which was published
by the Company on January 13, 2019, reference no. 2019-01-005307. The information provided in
the aforementioned immediate report is included herein by way of reference.
During the Reporting Period, a suspension of trading did not take place, excluding conventional
suspensions of trading due to the publication of financial statements and immediate reports regarding
an event or matter which is not in the Corporation’s ordinary course of business.
Regulation 21 - Compensation to interested parties and corporate officers
Presented below are details regarding the compensation which was given during the reporting year,
as recognized in the Company’s financial statements, which was paid to the corporate officers of the
Company or of a corporation under its control, and which was given in connection with their tenure
in the Company or in a corporation which is under the Company’s control (data are in thousands of
NIS). The Company’s corporate officers during the Reporting Period included the Company’s
Chairman of the Board, the Company’s CEO, the Company’s CFO, the Company’s VP Legal, the
Company’s VP Business Development, the VP Construction and Engineering, and the Comptroller
and Budgetary Control Supervisor, and two other accountants of the Company. The Company’s
Chairman of the Board (Mr. Nathan Hetz), who is a director, CEO and controlling shareholder of
Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd., which is the Company’s controlling shareholder, does
not receive any compensation from the Company, but rather, his services are given within the
framework of a variety of services which are provided by Alony Hetz to the Company (for details
regarding the management agreement, see Regulation 22 below).
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Name
Position
Asa
Levinger
CEO
Elad Cohen CFO
Legal
Counsel and
Dafna
Company
Reznick
Secretary
Moran
VP Business
Birman
Development
VP
Constructio
Israel
n and
Aviram
Engineering

Holding in
the
Scope of Company’
Bonus
(9)
position s capital (3) Payroll

Total

Full
Full

Application
of benefit
with respect Value of
to shareadditiona
based
l benefits
(2)
Total
payment (1)

(4) 0.05%
(5) -%

1,177
700

-

1,177
700

1,971
358

137
77

3,285
1,135

Full

(6) 0.05%

(10)
646

-

646

285

74

1,005

Full

(7) -%

649

-

649

314

24

987

Full

(8) -%

653

180

833

93

67

993

(1) The application of the benefit is presented in accordance with accounting principles. As of December
31, 2018, the share price on the stock exchange was NIS 4.783, and was approximately 58% higher
than the option exercise price in the 2017 plan (NIS 2.812, unlinked), and approximately 33% higher
than the option exercise price in the 2018 plan (NIS 3.604, unlinked). The share price on the stock
exchange proximate to the Approval Date of the Report was NIS 5.096, and is higher by approximately
81% and 41% than the option exercise price in the plans for 2017 and 2018, respectively.
(2) Benefit of exclusive vehicle / participation in travel expenses.
(3) The holding rate in the Company’s capital as of December 31, 2018 (without taking into account the
outstanding options of each corporate officer).
(4) The CEO’s holding rate in the Company’s capital as of December 31, 2018, at full dilution, is 1.83%.
(5) The CFO’s holding rate in the Company’s capital as of December 31, 2018, at full dilution, is 0.37%.
(6) The holding rate of the VP Legal and Company Secretary in the Company’s capital as of December
31, 2018, at full dilution, is 0.49%.
(7) The holding rate of the VP Business Development in the Company’s capital as of December 31, 2018,
at full dilution, is 0.37%.
(8) The VP Engineering and Operation’s holding rate in the Company’s capital as of December 31, 2018,
at full dilution, is 0.14%.
(9) A bonus to the Company’s CEO, CFO, VP Legal and Company Secretary is comprised of a measurable
component and a discretionary bonus. The maximum bonus limit, with respect to the measurable
component, was determined in advance in a resolution of the Board of Directors from March 2018
(with the recommendation of the Compensation Committee), and with respect to the discretionary
bonus, in accordance with a discussion and approval of the Compensation Committee, on March 3,
2019, and the Company’s Board of Directors, on March 11, 2019, proximate to the approval of the
Financial Statements.
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21.1.

Additional details regarding the employment terms of corporate officers
21.1.1. For details regarding the employment terms of the Company’s CEO, in accordance
with the compensation package which was approved by the general meeting in May
2016, see Note 25c in Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements.
21.1.2. For details regarding the granting of options to the CEO, see Notes 25c and 32d in
Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements.
21.1.3. Compensation policy for corporate officers
The Company has a compensation policy for corporate officers which was updated
in May 2016, with the approval of the general meeting (the “Compensation Policy”),
and which is in accordance with Amendment 20 to the Companies Law - 1999 (the
“Companies Law”). For details regarding the terms of the compensation policy, see
the reports dated April 23, 2016 (2016-01-054856), and regarding the results of the
meeting, see the immediate report dated May 4, 2016 (2016-01-059254). The
information presented in the immediate reports is included herein by way of
reference.
21.1.4. CFO
Elad Cohen, CFO, is employed by the Company in accordance with an employment
agreement from March 2014, as updated from time to time, according to which the
CFO is entitled to the customary social benefits and fringe benefits (food and lodging
expenses, as well as a cellphone, in accordance with the Company’s conventional
practice), a company vehicle, and payment of the vehicle maintenance costs. The
monthly employment cost of the CFO (employer’s cost) in 2018 amounted to a total
of approximately NIS 65 thousand per month (excluding bonuses). In 2018, 427
thousand options, worth NIS 180 thousand, were allocated to the CFO, within the
framework of the annual allocation for 2018, according to the capital compensation
plan for the Company’s employees, as well as 297 thousand options worth NIS 125
thousand, as equity compensation instead of cash, within the framework of the
options plans for the Company’s employees, whose vesting was fully accelerated,
such that they were immediately exercisable.
On March 5, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved (following the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee) the implementation of an
amendment to the employment agreement of the CFO, for a three year plan, in a
manner whereby, beginning on March 1, 2017, the monthly salary (gross) of the CFO
amounted to a total of NIS 42 thousand per month; beginning on March 1, 2018, the
monthly salary (gross) amounts to a total of NIS 43.5 thousand per month; and
beginning on March 1, 2019, the salary of the CFO will amount to a total of NIS 45
thousand per month. The CFO’s salary was updated accordingly.
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In addition, the employment agreement of the Company CFO entitles the Company
CFO to an annual bonus and to equity compensation in accordance with the
Company’s compensation policy. For details regarding the compensation
components for the CFO with respect to 2018, in accordance with the compensation
policy, see the following table:

Type of
compens
ation
Compone
nt A of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt B of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt C of
measurabl
e bonus

Discretion
ary bonus

Equity
compensa
tion for
2019

Maximum bonus
Maximum bonus
for 2018 as per
as per
the resolutions of
compensation plan the Company’s
and based on the
Compensation
employment
Committee and
agreement of the
Board of
CFO
Directors
Up to 4 months of
salary cost. The
annual ceiling and
the weights in
relation to each
component is
determined in
advance by the
Compensation
Committee and the
Board of Directors
Up to 2 months of
salary cost.
Determined
proximate to the
Approval Date of
the Report
(retroactively)

Annual allocation,
up to 6 months of
salary cost

Actual
eligibility

Value in
NIS

2.73
months of
salary
cost

For the
measurable
component:
Approximate
ly NIS 177
thousand
Discretionar
y:
Approximate
ly NIS 13
thousand (*)

A total of NIS
190 thousand
was converted
to 287 thousand
options, which
vested
immediately (*)

Approximate
ly NIS 180
thousand (*)

272 thousand
options (2014
plan), with an
economic value
of
approximately
NIS 180
thousand
(according to
the B&S
formula)

Actual grant

0.9 monthly
salaries (30% of 3
months)
0.9 months of
salary cost (30%
of 3 months)
1.2 months of
salary cost (40%
of 3 months)

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

0.2
months of
salary
cost

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

Equity
compensa
tion in the
amount of
approxim
ately 2.78
months of
salary
cost
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(*) With the Board of Directors’ approval on March 11, 2019, following the recommendation
of the Compensation Committee on February 28, 2019.
21.1.5. VP Legal
Dafna Reznick, the Company’s VP Legal, has been considered a corporate officer
since January 13, 2016 (the “VP Legal”). The VP Legal has been employed in the
Company in accordance with an employment agreement since May 2013, as updated
from time to time. In accordance with the employment agreement, the VP Legal is
entitled to the conventional social benefits and fringe benefits (food and lodging
expenses and a cellphone, in accordance with the Company’s conventional practice),
a company vehicle, and payment of vehicle maintenance costs. The monthly
employment cost of the VP Legal (employer’s cost) for 2018 amounted to a total of
approximately NIS 60 thousand per month (excluding bonuses). In 2018, 285
thousand options, worth NIS 120 thousand, were allocated to the VP Legal, within
the framework of the annual allocation of equity compensation for 2018, according
to the equity compensation plan for the Company’s employees, in accordance with
the compensation policy, as well as 380 thousand options worth NIS 160 thousand,
as equity compensation instead of cash, within the framework of the Company’s
options plan, whose vesting was fully accelerated, such that they were immediately
exercisable.
On March 12, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved (following the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee) the implementation of an
amendment to the employment agreement of the VP Legal, in a manner whereby,
beginning on March 1, 2018, the monthly salary (gross) of the VP Legal will amount
to a total of NIS 40 thousand per month.
The employment agreement of the Company’s VP Legal determines that she is
entitled to an annual bonus and to equity compensation in accordance with the
Company’s compensation policy. For details regarding the compensation
components for the VP Legal with respect to 2018, in accordance with the
compensation policy, see the following table:
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Type of
compens
ation
Compone
nt A of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt B of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt C of
measurabl
e bonus

Maximum bonus
Maximum bonus
for 2018 as per
as per
the resolutions of
compensation plan the Company’s
and based on the
Compensation
employment
Committee and
agreement of the
Board of
VP Legal
Directors
Up to 4 months of
salary cost. The
annual ceiling and
the weights in
relation to each
component is
determined in
advance by the
Compensation
Committee and the
Board of Directors

Up to 2 months of
salary cost.
Determined
Discretion
proximate to the
ary bonus
Approval Date of
the Report
(retroactively)

Equity
compensa
tion for
2019

Annual allocation,
up to 6 months of
salary cost

Actual
eligibility

Value in
NIS

1.82
months of
salary
cost

For the
measurable
component:
Approximate
ly NIS 109
thousand
Discretionary
:
Approximate
ly NIS 51
thousand (*)

The total bonus,
in the amount of
NIS 160
thousand, was
converted to 242
thousand
options, which
vested
immediately (*)

Approximate
ly NIS 120
thousand (*)

182 thousand
options (2014
plan), with an
economic value
of NIS
approximately
120 thousand
(according to
the B&S
formula)

Actual grant

0.6 monthly
salaries (30% of 2
months)
0.6 monthly
salary (30% of 2
months)
0.8 months of
salary cost (40%
of 2 months)

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

0.84
months of
salary
cost

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

Equity
compensa
tion in the
amount of
approxim
ately 2
months of
salary
cost

(*) With the Board of Directors’ approval on March 11, 2019, following the recommendation
of the Compensation Committee on February 28, 2019.
21.1.6. VP Business Development
Moran Birman, the Company’s VP Business Development, is considered a corporate
officer since November 21, 2016 (“VP Business Development”). The VP Business
Development is employed by the Company in accordance with an employment
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agreement from September 2012, as updated from time. In accordance with the
employment agreement, the VP Business Development is entitled to the conventional
social benefits and fringe benefits (food and lodging expenses and a cellphone, in
accordance with the Company’s conventional practice), and an additional NIS 1,000
of vehicle maintenance expenses, as well as up to NIS 1,000 reimbursement of travel
expenses. The monthly employment cost of the VP Business Development
(employer’s cost) for 2018 amounted to a total of approximately NIS 56 thousand per
month (excluding bonuses). In 2018, 285 thousand options, worth NIS 120 thousand,
were allocated to the VP Business Development, within the framework of the annual
allocation for 2018, according to the capital compensation plan for the Company’s
employees, as well as 380 thousand options worth NIS 160 thousand, as equity
compensation instead of cash, within the framework of the options plans for the
Company’s employees, whose vesting was fully accelerated, such that they were
immediately exercisable.
On March 11, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved (following the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee) the implementation of an
amendment to the employment agreement of the VP Business Development, in a
manner whereby, beginning on March 1, 2018, the monthly salary (gross) of the VP
Business Development will amount to a total of NIS 46 thousand per month.
The employment agreement of the VP Business Development entitles the VP
Business Development to an annual bonus and to equity compensation in accordance
with the Company’s compensation policy. For details regarding the compensation
components for the VP Business Development with respect to 2018, in accordance
with the compensation policy, see the following table:
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Type of
compens
ation
Compone
nt A of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt B of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt C of
measurabl
e bonus

Maximum bonus Maximum bonus
as per
for 2018 as per
compensation plan the resolutions of
and based on the
the Company’s
employment
Compensation
agreement of the
Committee and
VP Business
Board of
Development
Directors
Up to 4 months of
salary cost. The
annual ceiling and
the weights in
relation to each
component is
determined in
advance by the
Compensation
Committee and the
Board of Directors

Up to 2 months of
salary cost.
Determined
Discretion
proximate to the
ary bonus
Approval Date of
the Report
(retroactively)

Equity
compensa
tion for
2019

Annual allocation,
up to 6 months of
salary cost

Actual
eligibility

Value in
NIS

1.82
months of
salary
cost

For the
measurable
component:
Approximate
ly NIS 97
thousand
Discretionary
:
Approximate
ly NIS 103
thousand (*)

The total bonus,
in the amount of
NIS 200
thousand, was
converted to 303
thousand
options, which
vested
immediately (*)

Approximate
ly NIS 200
thousand (*)

303 thousand
options (2014
plan), with an
economic value
of
approximately
NIS 200
thousand
(according to
the B&S
formula)

Actual grant

0.2 monthly
salaries (10% of 2
months)
0.6 monthly
salary (30% of 2
months)
1.2 monthly of
salary cost (60%
of 2 months)

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

1.83
months of
salary
cost

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

Equity
compensa
tion in the
amount of
approxim
ately 3.57
months of
salary
cost

(*) With the Board of Directors’ approval on March 11, 2019, following the recommendation
of the Compensation Committee on February 28, 2019.
21.1.7. VP Construction and Engineering
Israel Aviram, the Company’s VP Construction and Engineering, has been a
corporate officer since the commencement date of this employment, and is employed
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in accordance with an employment agreement as of January 2017 (the “VP
Construction and Engineering”). In accordance with the employment agreement,
the VP Construction and Engineering is entitled to the conventional social benefits
and fringe benefits (food and lodging expenses and a cellphone, in accordance with
the Company’s conventional practice), a company vehicle, and payment of vehicle
maintenance costs. The monthly employment cost of the VP Construction and
Engineering (employer’s cost) in 2017 amounted to a total of approximately NIS 60
thousand per month (excluding bonuses). In 2018, 285 thousand options, worth NIS
120 thousand, were allocated to the VP Construction and Engineering, within the
framework of an annual allocation for 2018, according to the equity compensation
plan for the Company’s employees, and in accordance with the compensation policy.
On March 11, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors (following the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee) approved the implementation of
an amendment to the employment agreement of the VP Construction and
Engineering, in a manner whereby, beginning on March 1, 2018, the monthly salary
(gross) of the VP Construction and Engineering will amount to a total of NIS 42
thousand per month.
The employment agreement of the VP Construction and Engineering entitles the VP
Construction and Engineering to an annual bonus and to equity compensation in
accordance with the Company’s compensation policy. For details regarding the
compensation components for the VP Engineering and Construction with respect to
2018, in accordance with the compensation policy, see the following table:
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Type of
compens
ation
Compone
nt A of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt B of
measurabl
e bonus
Compone
nt C of
measurabl
e bonus

Maximum bonus Maximum bonus
as per
for 2018 as per
compensation plan the resolutions of
and based on the
the Company’s
employment
Compensation
agreement of the
Committee and
VP Construction
Board of
and Engineering
Directors
Up to 4 months of
salary cost. The
annual ceiling and
the weights in
relation to each
component is
determined in
advance by the
Compensation
Committee and the
Board of Directors

Up to 2 months of
salary cost.
Determined
Discretion
proximate to the
ary bonus
Approval Date of
the Report
(retroactively)

Equity
compensa
tion for
2019

Annual allocation,
up to 6 months of
salary cost

Actual
eligibility

Value in
NIS

1.87
months of
salary
cost

For the
measurable
component:
Approximate
ly NIS 112
thousand
Discretionary
:
Approximate
ly NIS 68
thousand (*)

Cash bonus in
the amount of
approximately
NIS 180
thousand.

Approximate
ly NIS 120
thousand (*)

182 thousand
options (2014
plan), with an
economic value
of NIS 120
thousand
(according to
the B&S
formula)

Actual grant

0.4 monthly
salaries (20% of 2
months)
1 monthly salary
(50% of 2
months)
0.6 monthly
salary (30% of 2
months)

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

1.14
months of
salary
cost

Maximum in
accordance with
the compensation
policy

Equity
compensa
tion in the
amount of
approxim
ately 2
months of
salary
cost

21.2. Presented below are details regarding the compensation which was given to interested
parties in the Company who are not listed in section 21.1 above, by the Company or by a
corporation under its control.
21.2.1. Directors’ compensation - For details regarding the compensation to which the
Company’s directors are entitled, and the amounts which were paid to them during
the Reporting Period, and regarding equity compensation which will be provided
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to directors who are not employed by the Company and Alony Hetz, see Note 25d
in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
21.2.2. Release, indemnity and liability insurance for corporate officers - after the Board
of Directors’ approval was received on June 12, 2014, and after the general
meeting’s approval was received on July 30, 2014, the Company granted letters of
indemnity and release to each of the directors holding office in the Company,
excluding the Company’s Chairman of the Board, to whom was given only a letter
of indemnity. In July 2017, the general meeting approved the provision of letters
of release, in an updated wording, to all directors, and as part of the above, approval
was given to provide a letter of release in the aforementioned wording also to the
Chairman of the Board. With respect to corporate officers, in accordance with the
Company’s compensation policy, as approved by the Company’s general meeting
in May 2016, the Company is authorized to grant indemnity and release to its
employed corporate officers, in accordance with the Company’s conventional
practice. As part of the general meeting’s decision from July 2017 (see Regulation
29J below), the letters of release for the Company’s corporate officers were also
replaced, such that, beginning from the date of their provision by the Company, the
Company’s undertaking to release applies in the updated wording. In the general
meeting which was held in May 2018, the Company replaced the current and
standard wording of the Company’s letters of indemnity which the Company
provided to the Company’s directors and corporate officers, who hold office from
time to time, including to corporate officers who are among controlling
shareholders or their relatives, and the Company’s CEO. The Company also has
insurance policies for corporate officers. For additional information, see Note 25O
in Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements.
Regulation 21A - The Company’s controlling shareholders
The Company’s controlling shareholder is Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd. (hereinafter:
“Alony Hetz”). The controlling shareholders in Alony Hetz are Mr. Wertheim (Holdings) Ltd. and
the Company’s Chairman of the Board, Mr. Nathan Hetz (directly and indirectly through private
companies wholly owned by him, in equal parts with his wife, Mrs. Clara Hetz).
M. Wertheim (Holdings) Ltd. is a private company registered in Israel which, to the best of the
Company’s knowledge, is held by David Wertheim (100%), through a private company which is
wholly owned by him; a voting agreement is in place between the aforementioned two controlling
shareholders, regarding their voting in the general shareholders’ meetings of Alony Hetz.

Regulation 22 - Transactions with controlling shareholders or transactions in which the
controlling shareholders have a personal interest
For details regarding any transaction with the controlling shareholder, or regarding which the controlling
shareholder has a personal interest in its approval, in which the Company, companies under its control, and its
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related companies engaged during the reporting year or after December 31, 2018 and until the publication date
of this report, or which is still in effect as of the publication date of this report, including a distinction between
transactions in accordance with section 270(4) of the Companies Law, and other transactions, see Note 25a in
Chapter C of the Report - Financial Statements.

On April 6, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors determined that transactions with the controlling
shareholder, or in which the controlling shareholder has a personal interest, which will be considered
negligible for the purpose of Regulation 22(a) of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate
Reports) - 1970, will be transactions which fulfill all of the following conditions:
(1) The transaction is performed in the Company’s ordinary course of business.
(2) The transaction is performed under market conditions, and the terms of the engagement are
conventional terms in the relevant market.
(3) The expected contribution of the transaction to the statement of income, in annual terms (before
tax impact), or its annual financial scope, in the event that the transaction is not recorded through
the statement of income, does not exceed a total of NIS 50 thousand, or 0.125% of the Company’s
equity according to its audited consolidated financial statements which were published as of
December 31 of the year preceding the date when the transaction is reported; whichever is higher,
regardless of whether it is implemented in a single transaction, or in a series of transactions on
the same matter during that year. For this purpose, if the Company does not have all of the rights
and obligations with respect to the transaction, the transaction will be evaluated according to the
Company’s relative share in the transaction.
(4) The transaction was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors, and the interested party
notified the Board of Directors regarding its interest in that transaction.
The Company performed, during the Reporting Period, or during the period after the end of the
Reporting Period, and until the publication of this report, negligible transactions, as defined above,
with controlling shareholders, or in whom the controlling shareholders have a personal interest, as
specified in Note 32 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.
Regulation 24 - Shares and convertible securities which are held by interested parties in the
Corporation
For a list of interested parties and corporate officers who hold, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, as of December 31, 2018, shares and options of the Company, see the immediate report
which was published by the Company on January 24, 2019, reference no. 2019-01-009420. The
information which is provided in the aforementioned immediate report is included herein by way of
reference.
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Regulation 24a - Registered capital, issued capital and convertible securities as of March 11,
2019
Number of shares /
convertible securities
Registered capital
500,000,000
Issued capital
403,200,550
Non-marketable options to the Company’s CEO
05/2016
15,682,636
Non-marketable options to employees and corporate
officers 04/2017
4,974,000
Non-marketable options to employees and corporate
officers 04/2018
5,564,000

Regulation 24b - Register of shareholders as of March 11, 2019
All ordinary shares (403,200,550 ordinary shares with a par value of NIS 0.01 each, security number
1123355) are held at the Registration Company of Bank Hapoalim Ltd. (Private Company No.
510356603), at 62 Yehuda HaLevy St., Tel Aviv.
Regulation 25A - Registered address and telephone number of the Corporation
See the introduction to this chapter.
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Regulation 26 - Directors in the Corporation:
Name

Nathan Hetz Chairman of the
Board

Aviram Wertheim

Oren Frankel

Alona Shefer
(Caro)

Linda Ben Shushan

ID No.

51673192

555852770

023944176

022972749

059279224

Date of birth

7.10.1952

25.10.1958

24.7.1968

19.5.1967

26.5.1965

1.10.1968

12 Litvinsky St., Ramat
Gan

8 HaTarbut St., Ramat
HaSharon

11 HaPardes St., Avihayil

4 Mishmar
HaYarden St.,
Givatayim

16 Geffen St.,
Maccabim 71799

8/14 HaMishna St.,
Tel Aviv 6291006.

Israeli

Israeli

Israeli

Israeli

Israeli

Israeli

No

No

No

Yes - Audit and
Compensation
Committee, and
Financial
Statements Review
Committee

Yes - Audit and
Compensation
Committee, and
Financial Statements
Review Committee

Yes - Audit and
Compensation
Committee, and
Financial
Statements Review
Committee

No

No

No

Yes - outside director

No

Address

Citizenship
Membership in
committees of the
Board of Directors

Independent
director / outside
director

Yes - outside
director

Miriam Gez *

051743800
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Name

Employee of the
Corporation, a
subsidiary, a related
company, or an
interested party

Commencement
date of tenure as a
director in the
Company
Education

Nathan Hetz Chairman of the
Board

Aviram Wertheim

Oren Frankel

Alona Shefer
(Caro)

Linda Ben Shushan

Miriam Gez *

Since January 1, 1993,
has served as the CEO
of Alony Hetz
Properties and
Investments Ltd., the
Company’s controlling
shareholder.

Chairman of the Board,
for a salary, of Alony
Hetz Properties and
Investments Ltd., the
Company’s controlling
shareholder.

CFO of Alony Hetz properties and
investments Ltd., director
in the Company and in the
Company’s consolidated
companies, and in private
companies of Alony Hetz
Properties and
Investments Ltd.

No

No

No

7.12.2006

18.1.2011

30.7.2014

1.8.2014

1.8.2017

2.5.2018

BA in Economics and
Business Administration
- Bar Ilan University,
BA in Accounting - Tel
Aviv University,
Certified Public
Accountant.

Bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration
and Accounting Academic Track of The
College of Management
Academic Studies,
Certified Public
Accountant.

BA in Business
BA in Law - Bar
BA in Economics,
Administration and
Ilan University, MA Sociology and Social
Accounting - The College
in Law Anthropology from The
of Management Academic Commercial Law,
Hebrew University,
Studies, MST - University Tel Aviv University.
Jerusalem.
of San Jose, California,
MBA (Finance),
MBA (Finance and
Certified Public
Business School of Banking) - The Hebrew
Accountant.
The College of
University, Jerusalem
Management
Academic Studies.

BA in Economics
and Political
Science - The
Hebrew University
of Jerusalem,
Master’s degree in
Economics,
Specialization in
international Trade
- The Hebrew
University of
Jerusalem.
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Name

Occupation during
the last five years

Nathan Hetz Chairman of the
Board
Since January 1, 1993,
has served as the CEO
of Alony Hetz Properties
and Investments Ltd.,
the Company’s
controlling shareholder,
the Company’s
Chairman of the Board,
the Chairman of the
Board of Amot
Investments Ltd., and
the Chairman of the
Board of Carr.

Aviram Wertheim

Oren Frankel

Alona Shefer
(Caro)

Chairman of the Board of
CFO of Alony Hetz
General Director of
Alony Hetz Properties and Properties and Investments
the Ministry of
Investments Ltd. and
Ltd.
Environmental
subsidiaries in the Group
Protection.
of Alony Hetz Properties
General Director of
and Investments Ltd.,
the umbrella
Chairman of A. Dori
agreement between
Construction Ltd.
the Israel Land
Authority and
Netivot
Municipality.

Linda Ben Shushan

Miriam Gez *

Lecturer in the
academic track of The
College of
Management
Academic Studies,
partner in “Forma” private investment
fund, member on the
consulting committee
of Alto Investment
Fund, CEO of
Aluminium
Construction Pro Ltd.

CEO - Goren
Capital Group.
Lecturer in project
finance
Positions held in
Bank Hapoalim
Ltd. - Manager of
the Infrastructure,
Energy and Project
Finance Sector,
Manager of the
Project Finance
Department,
Director in Bank
Hapoalim
Luxembourg.
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Corporations in
which serves as a
director

Family member of
another interested

Energix - Renewable
Energies Ltd.
(Chairman),

Alony Hetz Properties and
Director in Brockton
Investments Ltd.
Everlast Inc., in
(Chairman)
consolidated companies of
the Company, and in
Alony Hetz Properties
Amot Investments Ltd.,
consolidated companies of
and Investments Ltd.,
Energix Renewable
Amot Investments Ltd. Energies Ltd., PSP Swiss Alony Hetz Properties and
Investments Ltd.
(Chairman), Carr
Property AG, and a
Properties Corporations director in consolidated
(hereinafter: “Carr”),
companies of Alony Hetz
PSP Swiss Property AG, and of Carr, and in private
Brockton Everlast AG, companies owned by him
director in consolidated
and by his family
companies of Alony
members.
Hetz, of Energix, of
Carr, of Oxford
Properties , and director
in private companies
owned by him and by
his family members.

No

No

No

-

No

Outside director in
Taro Pharmaceutical
Industries Ltd.,
outside director in
Rom Study Fund
(chair of the
investment committee
and member of the
Audit Committee),
outside director in the
provident fund of El
Al employees (chair
of the investment
committee and
member of the Audit
Committee), outside
director in the
provident fund for
academics (chair of
the investment
committee and
member of the Audit
Committee), director
in Priortech
(appointment
proximate to the
Approval Date of the
Report).

-

No

No
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Name

Nathan Hetz Chairman of the
Board

Aviram Wertheim

Oren Frankel

Alona Shefer
(Caro)

Linda Ben Shushan

Miriam Gez *

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

party in the
Corporation
Considered by the
Company as having
accounting and
financial expertise
for the purpose of
meeting the
minimum number
determined by the
Board of Directors
in accordance with
section 92(a)(12) of
the Companies Law

(*) Until the appointment of Ms. Miriam Gez as a director on May 2, 2018, Ms. Dorit Ben Simon served as an outside director in the Company.
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Regulation 26A - Corporate officers in the Corporation
Name

Asa
Levinger

Elad Cohen

Dafna
Reznick

Moran
Birman

Israel Aviram Inbal
Rabinovitz

Tanya
Friedman

Ido Luzon

Israel Gvirtz

ID No.

033515958

035910157

034926345

301112959

028548253

036760320

309279859

039441514

33762139

Date of birth

20.11.1976

14.12.1978

17.2.1978

23.10.1987

11.5.1971

13.4.1985

5.2.1984

26.7.1984

19.2.1977

Position held
in the
Corporation

CEO, Market
Risks
Manager

CFO

VP Legal

VP Business
Development

VP
Construction
and
Engineering

Comptroller
and
Budgetary
Control
Supervisor

Comptroller

Comptroller

Internal
Auditor

Position held Director in
in a
the
subsidiary of subsidiaries
the
Corporation
or in an
interested
party thereof

Director in
some
subsidiaries
of the
Company

Director in a
subsidiary of
the Company

None

None

None

None

None

Internal
Auditor of
Alony Hetz

Independent
authorized
signatory in
the
Corporation

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Interested
party in the
Corporation

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No
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Name

Asa
Levinger

Elad Cohen

Dafna
Reznick

Moran
Birman

Israel Aviram Inbal
Rabinovitz

Tanya
Friedman

Ido Luzon

Israel Gvirtz

Family
member of a
corporate
officer or
interested
party

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Education

BA in
Computer
Engineering Technion
(Department
of Electrical
Engineering),
MBA Technion.

BA in
Accounting
and
Economics Tel Aviv
University,
Certified
Public
Accountant

Attorney, BA BA in Business
in Law and
Administration,
Economics,
IDC Herzliya
MBA with a
specialization
in finance,
Tel Aviv
University

BA in Civil
Engineering,
Specialization
in
Construction
and
Management Technion.

BA in
Accounting
and
Economics The Hebrew
University of
Jerusalem,
Certified
Public
Accountant

BA in
Accounting
and
Economics Tel Aviv
University,
Certified
Public
Accountant;

BA in
Accounting
and
Economics Bar Ilan
University,

Certified
Public
Accountant,
BA in
Economics and
Accounting,
Certified
Internal
Auditor

Certified
Public
Accountant;

and MBA
with a
specialization
in finance,
Tel Aviv
University
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Name

Asa
Levinger

Elad Cohen

Dafna
Reznick

Moran
Birman

Israel Aviram Inbal
Rabinovitz

Tanya
Friedman

Ido Luzon

Israel Gvirtz

Main
occupations
in the last
five years

Current
position

Current
position, and
previously
comptroller
of Alony
Hetz
Properties
and
Investments
Ltd.

Current
position, and
previously
legal advisor

Current and
previous
position various
positions in the
Company.

Current and
previous
position Manager of
Mar Telecom
Israel Ltd.
CEO of Mar
Renewable
Energies Ltd.,
CEO of Rotel
Networks
Ltd., CEO and
Business
Development
Manager of
Mar
Renewable
Energies Ltd.

Current and
previous
position Accountant
at Somekh
Chaikin

Current and
previous
position Accountant
at Deloitte

Current
position:

Partner in
Fahn Kanne
Monitoring
Management
Ltd.

March 18,
2014

January 13,
2016

January 1,
2017

June 1, 2013

Start date of
tenure

October 2009

November 21,
2016

Assistant
Comptroller
in the
Company
Previously Accountant at
Deloitte
accounting
firm

August 1,
2017

November 18,
2018

July 5, 2016
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Regulation 26B - Independent authorized signatories
There are no independent authorized signatories in the Company.
Regulation 27 - The Corporation’s Accountant
Deloitte, Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co., of 132 Menachem Begin Rd., Azrieli Center 1, Tel Aviv.
Regulation 28 - Changes to memorandum or articles of association
In 2018, as part of the general meeting which was held on May 2, 2018, the Company’s articles of
association were amended. For details, see the immediate report dated May 2, 2018 (reference no.
2018-01-044008).
Regulation 29 - Recommendations and resolutions of the Board of Directors, special general
meetings
A.

During 2018, the general meeting did not pass any resolutions which were not in accordance
with the recommendations of the directors, in accordance with Regulation 29a(a) of the
Regulations.

B.

For details regarding issuances within the framework of the exercise of options granted to
Company employees, see Note 15 in Part C of the Report - Financial Statements.

C.

For details regarding a private allocation of 22,000,000 ordinary Company shares with a par
value of NIS 0.01 each, to a number of institutional entities, which took place subsequent to
the Reporting Date in January 2019, see the immediate report which was published by the
Company on January 13, 2019, reference no. 2019-01-005307. The information which is
provided in the aforementioned immediate report is included herein by way of reference.

D.

For details regarding an amendment to sections 137,138 and 140 of the Company’s articles
of association, regarding insurance and indemnification for corporate officers, see the
immediate report which was published by the Company on May 2, 2018, reference no.: 201801-044008. The information presented in the aforementioned immediate report is included
herein by way of reference.

E.

For details regarding the approval of a new insurance arrangement, as part of a framework
transaction in which Alony Hetz acquired umbrella insurance to cover the directors and
corporate officers who serve in the Company from time to time, regarding the approval of a
new letter of indemnity which was provided to the Company’s corporate officers (including
the controlling shareholders and their relatives) who hold office in the Company from time to
time, and regarding the replacement of the letters of indemnity which were provided to the
currently serving corporate officers (including the controlling shareholders and their
relatives), see Section 21.1.2 above and Note 25D in Part C - Financial Statements.
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Additionally, on May 2, 2018, the Company’s general meeting approved, in accordance with
the Board of Directors’ recommendation: (1) An update to the employment agreement of Mr.
Omer Tosh, an employee of the Company and a relative of the controlling shareholder,
effective retroactively beginning on March 1, 2018, and the extension thereof for an additional
period of three years, beginning on March 1, 2018; (2) Approval of the appointment of Ms.
Miriam Gez as a director in the Company, and approval of her terms of tenure and
employment.
Regulation 29A - The Company’s resolutions
A. For details regarding the Company’s resolutions with respect to indemnity, release and
insurance, see Regulation 29E above, and Section 21.1.7 above and Note 25d in Part C Financial Statements.

Nathan Hetz
Chairman of Board of Directors

Asa Levinger
CEO
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Appendix A - Report Regarding the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting and Disclosure
Annual Report for 2018 Regarding the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting and Disclosure Pursuant to Regulation 9B(a)
Management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors of Energix Renewable Energies Ltd. (hereinafter:
the “Corporation”), is responsible for designing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure in the Corporation.
In this respect, the members of management are:
1. Asa Levinger, CEO;
2. Elad Cohen, CFO;
Internal control over financial reporting and disclosure includes controls and procedures in place in the
Corporation, which were planned by the CEO and the most senior finance corporate officer or under their
supervision, or by whoever actually performs such duties, under the supervision of the Corporation’s Board of
Directors, with the aim of providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of the Financial Statements in accordance with law, and to assure that information the
Corporation is required to disclose in the Financial Statements it issues according to law has been collected,
processed, summarized and reported at the time and in the manner required by law.
Internal control includes, inter alia, controls and procedures that were designed in order to assure that
information the Corporation is required to disclose is accumulated and transferred to management of the
Corporation, including the CEO and the most senior finance corporate officer or to whoever performs such
duties, so that timely decisions may be made concerning the disclosure requirement.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting and disclosure is not designed to
provide absolute certainty that a misstatement or omission of information will be prevented or detected.
Management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors, performed an evaluation and assessment of
internal control over financial reporting and disclosure in the Corporation, and of the effectiveness thereof.
The evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure which was
performed by management under the supervision of the Board of Directors included the implementation of the
guiding principles which were published by the Israel Securities Authority in November 2010, in connection
with the implementation of the evaluation regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure by the Board of Directors and management, with reference to the following controls:
Entity-level controls, general controls over information systems, controls over the process of drawing up and
finalizing the Financial Statements, and controls over processes which are highly material to financial reporting
and disclosure. Based on this evaluation, the Board of Directors and management of the Corporation reached
the conclusion that the internal control over financial reporting and disclosure in the Corporation, as of
December 31, 2018, is effective.
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Corporate Officers’ Declarations:
(a) CEO’s declaration according to Regulation 9B(d)(1)
Declarations of Corporate Officers
Declaration of the CEO
I, Asa Levinger, declare that:
1. I have reviewed the periodic report of Energix Renewable Energies Ltd. (hereinafter: the
“Corporation”) for 2018 (hereinafter: the “Reports”);
2. Based on my knowledge, the reports do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact which is necessary in order to make the statements which were made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by the reports;
3. Based on my knowledge, the Financial Statements and other financial information included in
the reports, fairly present in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the Corporation as of the dates and for the periods presented in the reports.
4. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation regarding internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure, to the Corporation’s Auditors, Board of Directors, and Audit and
Financial Statements Review Committees:
A.

Any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting and disclosure, which could reasonably adversely affect the
Corporation’s ability to collect, process, summarize or report financial data so as to cast
doubt on the reliability of financial the reporting and the preparation of the Financial
Statements in accordance with law; and -

B.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the CEO or anyone directly subordinated
to the CEO or that involves other employees who have a significant role in internal control
over financial reporting and disclosure;

5. I, alone or together with others in the Corporation, state that:
A.

I have designed such controls and procedures, or caused such controls and procedures to be
designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
Corporation, including its consolidated corporations within their meaning in the Securities
Regulations (Annual Financial Statements) - 2010, is made known to me by others in the
Corporation and within those consolidated corporations, particularly during the period in
which the reports are being prepared; and -
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B.

I have designed such controls and procedures, or caused such controls and procedures to be
designed and applied under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of the financial reporting and the preparation of the Financial Statements in
accordance with the provisions of the law, including in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

C.

I have evaluated the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure,
and have presented in this report the conclusions of the Board of Directors and management
with respect to the effectiveness of internal control, as stated above, as of the Reporting Date.

Nothing in the aforesaid derogates from my responsibility or from the responsibility of any other
person under the law.
_____________

__________

March 11, 2019

Signature
Asa Levinger, CEO
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(b) Declaration of the most senior finance corporate officer according to Regulation 9B(d)(2)
Declaration of the most senior finance corporate officer
I, Elad Cohen, declare that:
1. I have reviewed the Financial Statements and the other financial reports which is included in the
reports of Energix Renewable Energies Ltd. (hereinafter: the “Entity”) for 2018 (hereinafter: the
“Reports”);
2. Based on my knowledge, the Financial Statements and the other financial information which is
included in the reports do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by the
reports;
3. Based on my knowledge, the Financial Statements and other financial information included in the
reports, fairly present in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash
flows of the Corporation as of the dates and for the periods presented in the reports.
4. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation regarding internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure, to the Corporation’s Auditors, Board of Directors, and Audit and
Financial Statements Review Committees:
A.

Any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting and disclosure to the extent it relates to the Financial
Statements and other financial information included in the reports, which could reasonably
adversely affect the Corporation’s ability to collect, process, summarize or report financial
data so as to cast doubt on the reliability of the financial reporting and the preparation of the
Financial Statements in accordance with law; and –

B.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the CEO or anyone directly subordinated to
the CEO or that involves other employees who have a significant role in internal control over
financial reporting and disclosure;

5. I, alone or together with others in the Corporation, state that:
A.

I have designed such controls and procedures, or caused such controls and procedures to be
designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
Corporation, including its consolidated corporations within their meaning in the Securities
Regulations (Annual Financial Statements) - 2010, insofar as it is relevant to the Financial
Statements and to the other financial information which is included in the reports, is made
known to me by others in the Corporation and within those consolidated corporations,
particularly during the period in which the reports are being prepared; and -
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B.

I have designed such controls and procedures, or caused such controls and procedures to be
designed and applied under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of the financial reporting and the preparation of the Financial Statements in
accordance with the provisions of the law, including in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

C.

I have evaluated the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure,
insofar as it refers to the Financial Statements and to the other financial information which is
included in the reports, as of the Reporting Date; My conclusions with respect to my
aforementioned assessment were presented to the Board of Directors and management, and
are included in this report.

Nothing in the aforesaid derogates from my responsibility or from the responsibility of any other
person under the law.
_____________

__________________

March 11, 2019

Signature
Elad Cohen, CFO
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Corporate Governance Questionnaire 20

Independence of the Board of Directors

Correct
1.

Incorrect

In each reporting year, two or more outside directors served in the Corporation.

This question can be answered “Correct” if the time period during which two outside directors
did not serve does not exceed 90 days, as specified in section 363a.(b)(10) of the Companies
Law. however, in any response (Correct / Incorrect), the time period must be specified (in days)
during which two or more outside directors did not serve in the Corporation during the reporting
year (including also a tenure period which was approved retroactively, through separation
between the various outside directors);

V

Director A: Linda Ben Shushan.

20

Published within the framework of proposed legislation regarding the improvement of the reports, on March 16, 2014.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Director B: Alona Shefer (Caro).
Number of outside directors serving in the Corporation as of the publication date of this
questionnaire: 2.

2.

Rate21 of independent directors22 serving in the Corporation as of the publication date of this
questionnaire: 2/6.

Rate of independent directors as determined in the Corporation’s articles of association2324:
______.

_____

_____

N/A (No provision has been established in the articles of association).
3.

During the reporting year, an evaluation was conducted with the during the outside directors
(and the independent directors), and it was found that they fulfilled, During the reporting year,
the provisions of section 240(b) and (f) of the Companies Law, regarding the absence of any
connection between the outside (and independent) directors serving in the Corporation, and that
all of the required conditions for tenure as an outside (or independent) director have been met.

V
[a]

In this questionnaire, “rate” means a certain number out of the total. For example, 3/8.
Including “outside directors”, as defined in the Companies Law.
23 With respect to this question - “articles of association”, including in accordance with a specific provision of the law which applies to the Corporation (for example, in a banking corporation - directives
of the Commissioner of Banks).
24 A bond company is not required to comply with this section.
21
22

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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4.
All of the directors who served in the Corporation during the reporting year are not subordinate
to25 the CEO, directly or indirectly (excluding a director who is a representative of employees,
if an employees representation exists in the Corporation).

V

If your answer is “Incorrect” (i.e., the director is subordinate to the CEO, as aforesaid) - specify
the rate of directors who did not fulfill the aforementioned restriction: _____.
5.

All of the directors who announced the existence of their personal interest in the approval of a
transaction on the agenda of the meeting were not present in the discussion, and did not
participate in the aforementioned vote (excluding the discussion and/or vote in the
circumstances specified in section 278(b of the Companies Law):

V
[b]

If your answer is “Incorrect” Was it for the sake of their presentation of a certain issue, in accordance with the provisions at
the end of section 278(a):
Yes

No (Mark X in the appropriate box).

Specify the rate of meetings in which the aforementioned directors were present in the
discussion and/or participated in the vote, except in the circumstances specified in
subsection A: _____.

respect to this question - the very fact of tenure as a director in an investee corporation which is under the control of the Corporation will not be considered “subordinacy”, while on the other
hand, the tenure of a director in the Corporation who serves as a corporate officer (excluding a director) and/or an employee of an investee corporation which is under the control of the Corporation will
be considered “subordinacy” for the purpose of this question.
25With

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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1.

6.

The controlling shareholder (including his relative and/or any other party on his behalf) who is
not a director or another corporate officer in the Corporation, was not present in the meetings of
the Board of Directors which were held during the reporting year.

V

If your answer is “Incorrect” (i.e., the controlling shareholder and/or his relative and/or any
other party on his behalf who is not a Board member and/or another corporate officer in the
Corporation, was present in the aforementioned meetings of the Board of Directors) - Specify
the following details with respect to the presence of any additional person in the
aforementioned meetings of the Board of Directors:

Identity: Mr. Moti Barzilay - VP Business Development in Alony Hetz Properties and
Investments Ltd. (“Alony Hetz”).

Position in the corporation (if any): Mr. Moti Barzilay is not an employee of the Company, and
his participation was within the framework of the provision of management services to the
Company [c].
Details of the connection to the controlling shareholder (if the person in attendance was not the
controlling shareholder himself): Mr. Moti Barzilay is an employee of the controlling
shareholder.
Was it for the sake of his presentation of a certain issue: Yes
appropriate box).

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

No (Mark X in the
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Attendance rate26 in the meetings of the Board of Directors which were held during the
reporting year, for the sake of their presentation of a certain issue: Mr. Moti Barzilay attended 3
meetings. Other attendance: none.
N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder).

26

Including a separation between the controlling shareholder, his relative and/or any other party on his behalf.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Qualifications and skills of the directors

Correct
7.

The Corporation’s articles of association does not include any provision which restricts the
possibility of immediately terminating the tenure of all directors in the Corporation who are not
outside directors (for this purpose - a determination through an ordinary majority is not
considered to be a restriction)27.

Incorrect

V

If your answer is “incorrect” (i.e., a restriction of this kind does exist), specify -

27A

a.

The period of time determined in the articles of association for the tenure of a director:
_____.

_____

_____

b.

The required majority which was determined in the articles of association for the
conclusion of the directors’ tenure: _____.

_____

_____

c.

The quorum which was determined in the articles of association in the general meeting, in
order to terminate the directors’ tenure: _____.

_____

_____

d.

Majority required to amend these provisions of the articles of association: _____.

_____

_____

bond company is not required to comply with this section.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

239

Additional Details Regarding the Corporation

8.

The Corporation has ensured to prepare a training program for new directors, in the field of the
Corporation’s business, and in the field of law which applies to the Corporation and the
directors, and has also ensured to prepare a continuing program to train serving directors, which
is adapted, inter alia, to the position which the director corporation holds in the Corporation.

V

If your answer is “Correct” - specify whether the program was implemented during the
reporting year: Yes No (Mark X in the appropriate box).

9.

a
.a.

The Corporation has established the minimum number of directors required in the Board
of Directors who are required to have accounting and financial expertise.

V

If your answer is “Correct”, specify the minimum number established: 2.

b.

Number of directors who served in the Corporation during the reporting year:
With accounting and financial expertise:285.
With professional qualifications29: 1.

_____

_____

If changes were made to the number of said directors in the reporting year, the figure
including the lowest number will be given (excluding within the time period of 60 days
from the occurrence of the change) of directors of any type who served during the
reporting year.

Following the Board of Directors’ evaluation, in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Regulations (Conditions and Tests for Directors with Accounting and Financial Expertise and for
Directors with Professional Qualifications) - 2005.
29 See footnote 9.
28

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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10.

a.

During the entire reporting year, the composition of the Board of Directors included
members of both genders.

V

If your answer is “Incorrect” – Specify the period of time (in days) during which the
aforementioned condition was not fulfilled: _______.
In this question, one can answer ‘Correct’ if the period of time in which directors of both
genders did not serve does not exceed 60 days, but in either answer (Correct/Incorrect),
note the period of time (in days) in which directors of both genders did not serve in the
Corporation: 0.
_____
b.

Number of directors of all genders serving in the Corporation’s Board of Directors as of
the date of publication of this questionnaire:

_____

Men: 3, Women: 3.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Board of Directors meetings (and convening of the general assembly)

11.

a.

Number of Board of Directors meetings held during each quarter of the reporting
year: 9

Correct

Incorrect

_____

_____

_____

_____

Q1 (2018): 1.
Q2: 2.
Q3: 2.
Q4: 4.

b.

Alongside the name of each director who served in the Corporation during the
reporting year, specify their rate of participation30 in Board of Directors meetings (in
this sub-section – including meetings of Board of Directors committees in which the
director was a member, as noted below) that convened during the reporting year (and
with respect to the director’s term):
(Add additional lines according to the number of directors).

30See footnote 2.
Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Name of
director

Participation
rate in
meetings of
the Board of
Directors

Participatio
n rate in
meetings of
the
Compensat
ion and
Audit
Committee

Participatio
n rate in
meetings of
the
Financial
Statements
Review
Committee

31

32

_____

_____

Participation rate in meetings of
additional Board of Directors
committees of which they are a member
(specify the committee name)

Nathan
Hetz

9/9

Aviram
Wertheim

9/9

Oren
Frankel

8/9

Alona
Shefer
(Caro)

8/9

4/4

4/4

_____

Dorit Ben
Simon

2/2

1/1

1/1

_____

_____
_____

_____

_____

_____

_____

_____

(Until May
2, 2018)

31
32

With respect to a director who is a member of this committee.
With respect to a director who is a member of this committee.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Linda Ben
Shushan

9/9

4/4

4/4

Miriam
Gez
(beginning
on May 2,
2018)

7/7

3/3

3/3

_____

1.
12.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

During the reporting year, the Board of Directors held at least one discussion on the
management of the Corporation’s business affairs by the CEO and his subordinate
corporate officers, in their absence, after they were given the opportunity to express their
position.

V
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Separation of roles between the CEO and of the Chairman of the Board of Directors

Correct
13.

A Chairman of the Board of Directors served throughout the entire reporting year.

Incorrect

V

Regarding this question, one may answer ‘Correct’ if the period of time in which a
Chairman of the Board did not serve does not exceed 60 days, as specified in section
363a.2 of the Companies Law, however, in either answer (Correct/Incorrect), specify
the period of time (in days) in which a Chairman of the Board did not serve in the
Corporation: 0 days.

14.

A Chief Executive Officer served throughout the entire reporting year.

V

Regarding this question, one may answer ‘Correct’ if the period of time in which a
CEO did not serve does not exceed 90 days, as specified in section 363a(6) of the
Companies Law, however, in either answer (Correct/Incorrect), specify the period of
time (in days) in which a CEO did not serve in the Corporation: 0 days.

15.

In a corporation in which a Chairman of the Board of Directors also serves as CEO of
the Corporation, and/or wields his authorities, said dual capacity is approved
according to the provisions of section 121(c) of the Companies Law.33

_____

_____

Not relevant (as long as no dual capacity exists in the Corporation).
16.

33

The CEO is not a relative of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

V

In a bond company - approval in accordance with section 121(d) of the Companies Law.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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If your answer is “Incorrect” (i.e., the CEO is a relative of the Chairman of the Board
of Directors) –
a.
b.

Specify the familial relationship between the parties: __________.
The tenure was approved according to section 121 (c) of the Companies Law34:

_____

_____

_____

_____

Yes
No
(Mark X in the appropriate box)

17.

The controlling shareholder or his relative does not serve as CEO or as corporate

V

officer in the Corporation, except as a director.
N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder).

34

In a bond company - approval in accordance with section 121(d) of the Companies Law.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Audit Committee

18.

In the Audit Committee, the following did not serve during the reporting year –
a.

Incorrect

_____

_____

The controlling shareholder or his relative.
N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder).

b.

Correct

V

Chairman of the Board.
V

c.

A director who is employed by the Corporation or by the controlling
shareholder of the Corporation, or by a corporation under his control.

d.

A director who provides to the Corporation or to the controlling shareholder of
the Corporation or of a corporation under his control services on a routine basis.

e.

V

V

A director whose livelihood is primarily dependent on the controlling
shareholder.

V

N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder).
19.

Anyone who is not entitled to be a member of the Audit Committee, including the

V

controlling shareholder or his relative, was not present during the reporting year at

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Audit Committee meetings, except in accordance with the provisions of section 115(e)
of the Companies Law.
20.

The quorum required to discuss and make decisions in every meeting of the Audit

V

Committee which took place during the reporting year was a majority of Committee
members, with the majority present being independent directors, at least one of whom
was an outside director.
If your answer is “Incorrect” – specify the rate of meetings in which the aforementioned
requirement was not fulfilled: _______.
21.

The Audit Committee held, during the reporting year, at least one meeting in the presence of
the Internal Auditor and Auditor, and without the presence of corporate officers in the

V
[d]

Corporation who are not Committee members, with respect to deficiencies in the
Corporation’s business management.
22.

All Audit Committee meetings attended by a party who is not entitled to be a Committee

V

member were convened with the approval of the Committee Chairperson and/or at the request
of the Committee (concerning the legal counsel and Corporation secretary who is not a
controlling shareholder or their relative).

23.

In the reporting year, arrangements were in effect which were set forth by the Audit

V

Committee with respect to the handling of complaints by employees of the Corporation, in

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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connection with deficiencies in the management of its business affairs, and regarding the
protection which will be given to employees who have complained, as stated above.
24.

The Audit Committee (and/or the Financial Statements Review Committee) is satisfactorily

V

convinced that the Auditor’s scope of work and professional fees with respect to the Financial
Statements during the reporting year are adequate to perform satisfactory audit and review
work.

The role of the Committee is to review the Financial Statements (hereinafter: the “Committee”) in their preliminary
work before the approval of the Financial Statements.

25.

a.

Correct

Incorrect

_____

_____

_____

_____

Specify the period of time (in days) established by the Board of Directors as a
reasonable period for submitting the committee’s recommendations in advance of the
Board of Directors’ discussions regarding the approval of the Financial Statements
(annual and quarterly): 3.

b.

Actual number of days that have passed from the date of submission of the
recommendations to the Board of Directors until the date of the Board of Directors’
discussion regarding the approval of the Financial Statements:
First quarter report (2018): 5.

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)
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Second quarter report: 6.
Third quarter report: 5.
Annual report: 5.
c.

Number of days that have passed from the date of submission of the draft financial
statements to the Board of Directors until the date of the Board of Directors’
discussion regarding the approval of the Financial Statements:
First quarter report (2018): 5.
Second quarter report: 6.
Third quarter report: 5.
Annual report: 5.

26.

The Auditor of the Corporation was invited to participate in all meetings of the Committee and

V

Board of Directors, in which were discussed the Financial Statements of the Corporation
pertaining to the periods included in the reporting year.
If your answer is “Incorrect”, specify their participation rate: ________
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27.

During the entire reporting year until the publication of the annual report, the Committee met all
of the conditions listed below:
a.

c.

_____

The number of members will not be less than three (on the said date of the Committee’s
discussion and approval of statements).

b.

_____

All of the conditions set forth in section 115(b) and (c) of the Companies Law
(concerning the tenure of Audit Committee members) were fulfilled.

V

V

The Chairman of the Audit Committee is an outside director.
V

d.

All of its members are directors and the majority of its members are independent

V

directors.
e.

All of its members have the ability to read and understand financial statements, and at
least one of the independent directors has accounting and financial expertise.
V

F.

The Committee members approved the appointments.

V

G.

The quorum required for discussion and for the passing of resolutions in the Committee
is a majority of its members, provided that the majority of those present are
independent directors, including at least one outside director.

V

Energix - Renewable Energies Ltd.
(Of the Alony Hetz Group)

251

Additional Details Regarding the Corporation

If your answer is “Incorrect” concerning one or more of the subsections of this question, specify
with respect to which (periodic/quarterly) report the aforementioned condition was not fulfilled,

_____

_____

and the unfulfilled condition: ___________.
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Correct
28.

Incorrect

The committee appointed, during the reporting year, at least three members, of which the
outside directors constituted a majority (on the date of the committee’s discussion).

V

N/A (no discussion was held).
29.

The terms of tenure and employment of all members of the Compensation Committee in the
reporting year are in accordance with the Companies Regulations (Rules Regarding

V

Compensation and Expenses of Outside Director) - 2000.

30.

The following persons did not serve on the Compensation Committee during the reporting year

_____

_____

–
a.

The controlling shareholder or his relative.
V
N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder).
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b.

Chairman of the Board.
V

c.

A director who is employed by the Corporation or by the controlling shareholder of the
Corporation, or by a corporation under his control.

d.

A director who provides to the Corporation or to the controlling shareholder of the
Corporation or of a corporation under his control services on a routine basis.

e.

V

V

A director whose livelihood is primarily dependent on the controlling shareholder.
V
N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder).

31.
V
The controlling shareholder or his relative did not attend, during the reporting year, meetings
of the Compensation Committee, save if the Committee Chairman determined that the
attendance of any of them is required, for the purpose of the presentation of a certain issue.

32.
V
The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors have not exercised their authority under
sections 267a(c), 272(c)(3) and 272(c1)(1)(c) to approve a authorization or compensation policy, despite
the objection of the general meeting.
If your answer is “Incorrect”, specify:
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Type of transaction which was approved, as stated above: ______
Number of times when their authority was exercised during the reporting year: ______

Internal Auditor

Correct
33.

The Chairman of the Board or the CEO of the Corporation is the organizational supervisor of

Incorrect

V

the Internal Auditor in the Corporation.
34.

The Chairman of the Board or the Audit Committee have approved the work plan in the
reporting year.

Additionally, details will be given regarding the audit issues addressed by the Internal Auditor
in the reporting year: corporate governance and administrative enforcement, construction and

V

purchasing for projects in Israel, follow-up regarding the recommendations in the 2017 audit
reports.
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_____
35.

_____

Scope of Internal Auditor’s employment in the Corporation during the reporting year (in
hours35): 380.
In the reporting year, a discussion was held (by the Audit Committee or the Board of Directors)

V

regarding the Internal Auditor’s findings.
36.

The Internal Auditor is not an interested party in the Corporation, nor are any of his relatives,

V

auditors or any other party on his behalf, and there are no material business relations with the
Corporation, the controlling shareholder, any of his relatives, or any corporations under their
control.

Transactions with interested parties

Correct
37.

Incorrect
V

The controlling shareholder or his relative (including a company under his control) is not

[e]

employed by the Corporation or provides it with management services.

35

Including work hours which were spent in investee companies and in auditing outside of Israel, as applicable.
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If your answer is “Incorrect” (i.e., the controlling shareholder or his relative is employed by
the Corporation or provides it with management services), specify –
- Number of relatives (including the controlling shareholder) who are employed by the
Corporation (including companies under their control and/or through management
companies): 2.
- Have the aforementioned employment and/or management service agreements been
approved by the organs prescribed by law:
 Yes
No
(Mark X in the appropriate box)
N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder). _____.
38.
To the best of the Corporation’s knowledge, the controlling shareholder does not have

V

other businesses in the Corporation’s area of operations (in one or more areas)
If your answer is “Incorrect” – Note whether an arrangement to delimit the activities
between the Corporation and its controlling shareholder was established:
Yes
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No
(Mark X in the appropriate box)
N/A (the Corporation has no controlling shareholder).

[a] With respect to question 3, it is noted that this evaluation was conducted shortly after the reporting year, with respect to the reporting year.
[b] With respect to question 5, it should be noted that the Company instructed the Board members that before commencing the discussion in the Board meeting, each
will disclose their personal interest, if any, and insofar as the matter is relevant in light of the circumstances.
[c] Within the framework of the management services which Alony Hetz Properties and Investments Ltd. provides to the Company, in accordance with the
management agreement which was signed between the Company and Alony Hetz, and which was approved by the general meeting, from time to time, various
representatives of Alony Hetz are required to participate in the meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors, for the purpose of presenting various issues.
[d] With respect to question 21, it is noted that this meeting was held shortly after the reporting year, with respect to the reporting year.
[e] With respect to question 37, a relative of the controlling shareholder was employed in the Company during the reporting year, and the Company has a
management agreement with its controlling shareholder, the aforementioned two engagements were approved in accordance with the provisions of section 275 of the
Companies Law - 1999.

Chairman of the Board of Directors: ___________

Chairman of the Audit Committee: __________

Chairman of the Financial Statements Review Committee: __________
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